Duquesne University

Duquesne Scholarship Collection

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Spring 5-6-2021

An Ethical Foundation for Genetic Therapy and Gene Editing (CRISPR)

Nikolija Lukich

Follow this and additional works at: https://dsc.duq.edu/etd

Part of the Bioethics and Medical Ethics Commons

Recommended Citation

Lukich, N. (2021). An Ethical Foundation for Genetic Therapy and Gene Editing (CRISPR) (Doctoral dissertation, Duquesne University). Retrieved from https://dsc.duq.edu/etd/1985

This One-year Embargo is brought to you for free and open access by Duquesne Scholarship Collection. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Duquesne Scholarship Collection.

AN ETHICAL FOUNDATION FOR GENETIC THERAPY AND GENE EDITING (CRISPR)

A Dissertation

Submitted to the McAnulty College and Graduate School of Liberal Arts

Duquesne University

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for

the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

By

Nikolija Lukich

May 2021

Copyright by

Nikolija Lukich

AN ETHICAL FOUNDATION FOR GENETIC THERAPY AND GENE EDITING (CRISPR)

By

Nikolija Lukich

Approved April 1, 2021

Gerard Magill, Ph.D. The Vernon F. Gallagher Chair Professor, Center for Global Health Ethics (Dissertation Director) Joris Gielen, Ph.D. Director, Center for Global Health Ethics Associate Professor, Center for Global Health Ethics (Committee Member)

Joris Gielen, Ph.D. Associate Professor, Center for Global Health Ethics (Committee Member) Peter Ikechukwu Osuji, C.S.Sp., Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Center for Global Health Ethics (Committee Member)

Kristine Blair, Ph.D. Dean, McAnulty College and Graduate School of Liberal Arts

ABSTRACT

AN ETHICAL FOUNDATION FOR GENETIC THERAPY AND GENE EDITING (CRISPR)

By Nikolija Lukich May 2021

Dissertation supervised by Dr. Gerard Magill

There are many steps involved in the process of introducing CRISPR-Cas9 into the current health care system. This dissertation provides an ethical foundation for the uses of CRISPR-Cas9 genetic therapies and editing techniques, which organizations can utilize when implementing these new technologies. Multiple components must be examined, including the practical application of the concept of autonomy, which benefits from the inclusion of personalism and care ethics as it aims to provide a more effective method upholding the right to independent decision-making. In addition to individual considerations, population-based decisions and public health tools are explored, connecting the human right to health care with the challenges that are experienced in implementing an expensive treatment. These considerations are especially important when working with vulnerable populations in research, as well as when genetic therapies are used at the beginning and end of life, when patients can be most at risk. Reflecting on how an organization currently implements new technologies as well as Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis, is immensely useful and can provide further guidelines when

iv

considering genetic editing. Taking practical implications into account is crucial so that organizations can begin the process of considering their use of CRISPR-Cas9 and the education of stakeholders. The dissertation also mentions fears about future uses of genetic editing, which could allow individuals to enhance their unborn children and promote transhumanism and eugenics.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	1: Introduction	1
Chapter	2: Autonomous Health Decisions	
A: Re	elational Decisional Autonomy	
i.	Substitute Decision-Making	
ii.	Provider-Patient Relationships	
B: Pa	rental Decision Making for Children	65
i.	Parental Autonomy and Values	67
ii.	Socioeconomic Considerations in Decision-Making	77
iii.	Fetal Decision-Making Considerations	
Chapter	3: Population Health Decisions	96
A: Th	e Right to Health Care Across Populations	96
i.	Standards of Health Care	97
ii.	Access to and Affordability of Genetic Therapies and Editing Techniques	
iii.	Medical Tourism	
B: Di	sease Prevention Across Populations	116
i.	Public Health Models of Prevention	117
ii.	Decision Making for Communities	
Chapter	4: Vulnerability in Health Decisions	
A: Vı	Inerability in Research Subjects	
i.	Informed Consent and Relationships between Researchers and Participants	
ii.	Vulnerable Research Participants and Safety Measures	
B: Vulnerability at the Beginning and End of Life		
i.	Established religious beliefs about the beginning and end of life	166
ii.	Uses of genetic therapies and editing techniques to maintain autonomy	
Chapter	5: The Integration of Clinical and Organizational Issues in Genetics	
A: Cl	inical Issue: Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis (PGD)	214
i.	Ethical Principles associated with Parental Decisions to use PGD	
ii.	Parental Control and Sex Selection	
B: Or	ganizational Issue: Emerging Genetic Technologies	
i.	Patient Safety	

ii.	Organizational Accountability	
iii.	Organizational Value Conflicts	243
iv.	Cost of New Genetic Technologies	
Chapter		
A: Ge	ne Therapy and Gene Editing	
i.	Uses of CRISPR-Cas9 Technique in Practice	
ii.	Organizational and Ethical Oversight	
B: Human Enhancement and Transhumanism		
i.	Does Enhancement Interfere with 'Human Nature?'	
ii.	A New Set of 'Human Rights'	
iii.	Potential of Eugenics	
Chapter '	7: Conclusion	
Bibliogra	aphy	

Chapter 1: Introduction

With the advances being made in genetic therapies and genetic editing techniques involving CRISPR-Cas9 technology, health care organizations are faced with the task of safely and ethically making decisions about and using these interventions. The thesis of this dissertation is to present an ethical foundation for genetic therapy and gene editing (CRISPR) that organizations can utilize to guide decision making.

The ethical foundation is presented in chapters two to five in which key aspects of bioethics that must be considered when engaging genetic interventions are discussed. Chapter two will discuss the principle of autonomy and the important requirements that need to be met in order to accept a patient's or a substitute decision maker's autonomous decision. Chapter three will review population health resolutions that reflect public health needs. Chapter four will explore the methods by which vulnerable populations and those who cannot consent for themselves are approached for research. Specific religious considerations contributing to vulnerability in decision-making will also be discussed. Chapter five will explore the integration of clinical and organizational issues in genetics. Finally, chapter six will describe the future of genetic therapy and gene editing in order to explain the implications that CRISPR-Cas9 has for human enhancement and transhumanism.

When an advancement in science is announced, it generates excitement, as well as doubt. Research is conducted before a new technology or intervention is implemented within the medical field, and if the findings are generally positive, society accepts the advancement as a new step toward curing disease or furthering our knowledge of medicine. Few discoveries have sparked as much controversy and enthusiasm as the CRISPR-Cas 9 tool has recently, both for its uses in genetic therapies as well as genetic editing. Particular attention was paid to the CRISPR-

Cas9 tool due to a Chinese scientist's admission to using the tool to edit the genes of an embryo resulting in the birth of genetically-modified twins, a feat never accomplished before.¹ Currently, much of the literature about CRISPR-Cas 9 falls into one of two categories: scientific research or predictions and high-level philosophical discourse often leading to the discussion of eugenics. Both research and discourse are valid and necessary as they will continue as genetic therapies and editing techniques using CRISPR become a real option for health care patients. This dissertation aims to provide guidance to organizations undertaking the implementation of these new practices, and sets to provide foundational information which considers various ethical and practical aspects of this new technology.

The scientific literature on this topic is abundant due to ongoing research studies and clinical trials being conducted around the world. Investigations have described CRISPR-Cas9 and the impact that it has had on specific diseases. Many genetic therapy projects have been allowed to proceed because they involve somatic cell therapies, as opposed to others that affect the germline. The process of how CRISPR-Cas9 can edit a genome will be explained briefly in this dissertation. While many studies demonstrate the positive outcomes of this new technology, other experiments have garnered intense criticism. In 2018, a Chinese scientist, (He Jiankui, 2018) made headlines after announcing that he had modified the genome of two embryos, and allowed them to gestate until babies could be born. The concept of modifying an embryo's genome is forbidden around the globe, and the research that emerged was met by collective shock and criticism. Many ethical questions were raised, not only about that particular scientist, but also about the idea of the door now being open for genetic editing to proceed. Currently there is a gap in the literature with regard to how an organization or community should consider the eventual provision of this type of medical service.

This dissertation acknowledges that genetic editing and therapeutic techniques are occurring and will one day be a possible option for many patients. It will take the information acquired from the scientific research and combine it with ethical analysis in order to establish how the introduction of these techniques can be acceptable and effective. Ethicists debating the implementation of CRISPR-Cas9 either argue that it can be used as a helpful technology to reduce disease prevalence and further the control we have over our own genetics, and, by extension over humanity, or focus on the negative consequences we could face as a society if and when the use of CRISPR-Cas9 extends to modifying germ lines. Once the technology becomes available, it is commonly predicted that it will result in a resurgence of the eugenic movement, which promotes, in turn, to the creation of a morally superior human race based on 'superior' traits. As a result, the concept of humanity would have to be re-examined and human rights may have to be modified within a eugenic framework. Furthermore, vulnerable or impoverished populations would see the gap between themselves and the wealthier class widen.

Although these concerns are valid and potentially realistic, we cannot ignore that the use of CRISPR-Cas9 is increasing among scientists and researchers, and will continue to evolve and demonstrate further benefits. With the recent development of work in China described above, organizations and societies must be prepared to determine the best way to implement these new technologies. This dissertation will provide that foundation which will include considerations regarding how vulnerable populations are included in the discussion, and how organizations determine and align their values to the implied goals of genetic therapies and editing techniques. It is expected that the dissertation will contribute to the ongoing discourse in this subject area and provide a practical approach to considering and implementing this new technological advance.

Introduction

Scientific developments have now presented the health care field with the possibility of genetic editing for both humans and embryos. Although science is a long way from perfecting the techniques involved, ethical analysis that focuses on a practical approach to healthcare implementation must be conducted as soon as possible, so that both patients and medical professionals will be prepared to deal with this new breakthrough once it is safe to use. Numerous issues, such as decision-making, public and population health, and vulnerable patients in clinical practice and research, must be considered in order to gain an extensive understanding of how genetic therapies and genetic editing will affect them. Techniques such as Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis and the implementation of research studies using CRISPR are already being employed, and it is crucial that the medical field examines how the ethical implications of these practices affect patients, families, staff, and society.

Chapter 2: Autonomous Health Decisions

A: Relational Decisional Autonomy

It has been determined in Western health care that patients who receive medical care have the right to autonomy.² This translates into capable patients being able to make their own decisions regarding their health care. These choices must be respected, even if a medical professional disagrees with them.³ Autonomy is best manifested when a patient provides informed consent. It is important to recognize that autonomy in the context of health care is a negative right, in that a patient can either give consent or refuse it when offered a particular medical intervention. This right does not, however, always give patients the opportunity to demand a specific treatment.⁴ With regard to genetic editing, for instance, the possibility for patients to request this new technology as a treatment may become more common, blurring the line between the positive and negative aspects of the right of autonomy. Informed consent is considered to be valid when a capable patient provides it. A capable patient is able to understand the treatment options available to them, and appreciate the impact that their choice would have on their individual life.⁵ A physician or other health care provider is responsible for determining whether their patient is capable of making decisions, and to evaluate their ability to communicate their choices.⁶ In situations that deal with sensitive and controversial information, such as those considering the use of new genetic therapies or editing techniques, the relationship between a physician and their patient is crucial. It would be beneficial to apply the concepts of personalism and care ethics to these relationships to demonstrate the ideal manner in which to foster a positive relationship between a patient and their health care provider. Positive and open relationships lead to better healthcare, proving the need for the examination of the ethics of care and its utility.⁷

If a patient lacks the capacity to make their own autonomous decisions, a substitute decision maker (SDM) is appointed to make choices on their behalf and provide consent when necessary.⁸ SDMs are frequently spouses or family members, or individuals who have been assigned Power of Attorney by the patient while they were still considered to be capable. It is crucial for substitute decision makers to understand the nature of their role, and to think about the patient's choices as opposed to their own. SDMs are required to provide consent for treatments that are in accordance with previously-expressed wishes of the patient, or make decisions that are in the patient's best interest. How best interests are determined can vary from person to person, especially when a physician and a SDM, or patient, disagree with each other. ⁹ When discussing genetic therapies and editing technologies, for instance, SDMs must be very careful when providing consent on behalf of an incapable patient. They must have detailed

conversations with the medical or research team to ensure that these types of interventions would satisfy the goals of the patient, and would be in line with the patient's core values and beliefs.¹⁰

B: Parental Decision Making for Children

Children are typically considered to be incapable patients due to their inability to appreciate many of the choices surrounding medical care. In the United States, the age of consent is 18, with the exception of some situations in which the age of consent is lowered for mature minors.¹¹ In other countries with similar health care principles, such as Canada, specifically in the province of Ontario, there is no formal age of consent, but children are often deemed incapable at a young age. When children are considered to be incapable, their substitute decision maker is usually one or both parents. A relationship between a parent and their child's physician should be the same as that between a doctor and their patient. Health care providers who need to get consent for treatment must still discuss all relevant information about a child's diagnosis, prognosis and treatment.¹² A parent has an autonomous right to make decisions on behalf of their child which are in their best interest. Providers need to always practice caution when accepting consent from parents. Even though it is assumed that parents will make choices that are in the best interest of their child, and are able to make decisions that comply with their child's lifestyle, that may not always be the case.¹³ Issues arise when there is a disagreement between a child and their parents regarding a medical decision. There are methods that physicians can employ to attempt to come to a consensus, but providers must always consult the appropriate legal guidelines in order to determine whose choice to follow.¹⁴

Another aspect that frequently influences parental decision making, particularly with regard to experimental treatments, is the family's economic status. In the United States, health

care is not 'free' and parents may have to determine if they can afford their child's medical care.¹⁵ Other needs, such as buying groceries or paying home bills, may take priority over health care, resulting in inadequate access to medical services.¹⁶ Poverty and other socioeconomic factors, however, cause more than just financial problems, and providing necessary health care to children has become an important priority to health care systems, global organizations.¹⁷

Added pressure for parents comes with having to decide about the life of an unborn child. When undergoing genetic testing, or procedures such as amniocentesis, future parents are typically seeking information that will help them make a decision about their unborn child's medical care.¹⁸ Parents could also choose preventative measures, such as Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis to ensure that their future child is not subjected to living with a particular disease, such as Huntington's.¹⁹ Any form of seeking information or risk management in which parents engage is a form of non-maleficence and beneficence. Their main goal is to reduce or eliminate harm, and thereby, increase the benefit that a child experiences.²⁰

It is important to recognize, however, that parents who choose to undergo genetic testing or therapies for their unborn children are imposing their own values onto their children, which may be very stressful for a parent.²¹ Added stress occurs when parents are faced with choices that go beyond disease prevention. With new genetic editing technologies becoming more popular and accessible, parents may be presented with the option of manipulating their embryo's genome to enhance certain traits that would ideally benefit their child.²² While some parents may choose to edit whatever they can, other parents may feel selfish for choosing and imposing their own opinions of what is beneficial on their future children.

Chapter 3: Population Health Decisions

A: Right to Health Care across Populations

Whether new and innovative technologies that may be able to cure disease and prevent it should be available as part of any citizen's right to health care may be open to discussion. While a new technique may be accessible in certain hospitals, for example, its cost may prevent most people from being able to afford it. It may be more beneficial for a country or government to focus on ensuring that all of its citizens have access to basic health care resources, and to reallocate their funding for this purpose, rather than provide more services to a smaller number of people. A government or policy maker has to decide how to either reduce the cost of procedures while maintaining a high level of quality, or only allow those individuals who can afford expensive medical care to attain these services.²³ Therefore, it may be determined that humans have a right to healthcare, but not a universal right to costly treatment. While cost plays a significant part in how individuals access health care resources, standards of healthcare need to be determined by each country, since it seems to be impossible to create a universal level of healthcare.²⁴ Each country or region must base their decision on the amount of money, the number of resources and staff that are available, as well as accessibility when determining the standard of health care that will be available to all of its citizens.²⁵

While genetic editing tools can be immensely helpful for parents in order to identify anomalies or improve the life of their unborn child, there are significant hardships in accessing these tools.²⁶ Access and affordability can be difficult features to deliver for any new technology or treatment, especially while they are still in experimental phases. Accessibility and affordability of health care in general is an ongoing problem in the United States, even though it is agreed upon that health care is a basic human right. The WHO released its definition of health as complete physical, mental, and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease and

infirmity.²⁷ This definition is morally pure and ideal, but may not be totally realistic in all parts of the world, due to factors such as poverty, economic distress, or environmental concerns. The same issues still exist in developed countries, as well, and are cause for concern. As a result, medical tourism may increase, which entails people from developed countries seeking care in countries that provide care at a lower cost.

B: Disease Prevention across Populations

As explained previously, new genetic therapies may be used as preventative measures for individuals who wish to eliminate a certain disease from their genome. Disease prevention has been practiced throughout the world in diverse ways, and while this new technology varies in terms of what it targets, it accomplishes the same goals as other methods of prevention. Public health interventions exist in order to reduce or eliminate the prevalence of serious medical conditions and to promote a healthier society, making prevention the highest priority for public health units.²⁸ Numerous diseases have become easily preventable with ongoing scientific innovation. For example, vaccinating young children can avoid fatal illnesses, such as polio and rubella, and increased awareness and screening capabilities can catch cancer early, leading to better health outcomes. While a government may have a goal of curing diseases, it would be equally beneficial to invest in disease prevention efforts which would preclude many individuals requiring curative measures in the future. This would ultimately benefit individuals physically, and society, economically.²⁹

Disease prevention techniques have been successful in improving the health of a population. However, it can be challenging to decide how to implement these efforts, and to determine who is responsible for doing so. Public health inherently focusses on a community,

which removes any individual decision-making, and considers how to collectively improve the health of a large group of people. Public health efforts are frequently considered to be paternalistic and employ the ethical theory of utilitarianism, which promotes the best outcome for the most number of people, or whatever is best for the greater good.³⁰ This implies that individual citizens should be required to do what is best for all those around them, such as receiving a flu shot in order to encourage herd immunity.³¹ Nonetheless, we live in a culture deeply rooted in autonomy, as explained previously, which usually results in individuals making choices that only affect themselves.³² In order to balance an individual's interests with those of their community, libertarian paternalism, or a paternalistic "nudge" may be exercised. This is a theory that values the autonomous rights of an individual to make their own decisions, but also includes a small level of government influence that takes into account the overall best interests of a community.³³

The potential to use genetic therapies as a preventative measure is still in its early stages, but perhaps public health officials and agencies should begin to consider how they might use these technologies to benefit the community as a whole. Since techniques, such as PGD and the use of CRISPR are solely focused on individual concerns at the moment, it will take some time to be able to make the use of these procedures common and accessible enough to eliminate diseases or disabilities from an entire community.

Chapter 4: Vulnerability in Health Decisions

A: Vulnerability in Research Subjects

With any new technology or treatment, research and clinical trials must be conducted to ensure the safety and efficacy of the intervention.³⁴ Individuals who consent to research are

inherently vulnerable, since they are accepting a reasonable or sometimes high level of known possible risk with no guarantee of benefit.³⁵ While clinical trials are subject to rigorous process to ensure safety, there must be additional safeguards in place to monitor the level of risk and the response from participants along the way. This is especially true when conducting research on vulnerable populations, such as children, the elderly, or disadvantaged individuals.³⁶

In order to address the inherent vulnerability of taking part in a clinical trial, researchers must obtain informed consent from the patient or their SDM, the same way that consent is required for a medical treatment. Participants must understand all of the potential risks and benefits associated before providing consent.³⁷ When conducting a clinical trial, an investigator must also explain how the experimental treatment may specifically affect the patient, both physically and mentally.³⁸ Informed consent makes it evident that a respondent or their substitute decision maker has made an autonomous decision to participate in research, based on all the required information having been provided. ³⁹ By offering their consent, a research participant indicates that they fully understand any possible harm that could occur and that they are able to appreciate the purpose of the research as well as the possible impact of their contribution.⁴⁰

Another factor that affects the vulnerability of research subjects is whether a positive and trusting relationship with their researcher is in place. An investigator has an obligation to communicate with trial subjects in a manner that makes information meaningful and clear, since they may not have the same understanding of the purpose and benefits of the study. In addition, a scientist has the duty to present significant and troubling risks for participants. By demonstrating that a risk-benefit analysis has been done, the researcher can predict safe and ethical research, and assure their patients that vigorous preparation was undergone in advance.⁴¹ The success of high risk research, where the results are unknown, depends significantly on a positive and honest

relationship between the physician and their patient, or the researcher and their subject.⁴² Maintaining communication and sharing progress demonstrates to the participant that their vulnerability is known to the researcher and that it is being considered throughout the clinical trial.⁴³

Particular populations are more vulnerable than others, either because of their inability to consent to participation, or because of their current life circumstances.⁴⁴ Examples include pregnant women and economically-disadvantaged populations. These groups deserve to be part of research that may benefit them, although they are often excluded due to their vulnerabilities. In the case of pregnant women, they will be the target population for some genetic research when it eventually involves fetuses.⁴⁵ Additional safeguards must be put in place for this population in order to ensure safety as much as possible. In this situation, the relationship between the researcher and a pregnant woman should be a strong and trusting one, which leaves no doubt that both the woman and her unborn child will be cared for.⁴⁶ It can also be difficult to conduct studies with minorities and ensure that the research remains ethical. Usually, minority populations experience a lower quality of care, poorer healthcare outcomes, and have less access to health care than normalized populations, making it the mission of research to learn why these inequities occur.⁴⁷ Improvements that could be made in order to encourage economically disadvantaged populations to take part in research include simple modifications to a research study to ensure that all participants feel comfortable. This can include simpler language explaining the medical facts, or translating the information into other languages.⁴⁸

Additional safeguards must be put into place with vulnerable populations who are not capable of making their own decisions, such as children and patients with dementia. Both of these populations have the same rights as capable patients do.⁴⁹ They are able to autonomously

withdraw from an experiment at any time if they feel uncomfortable, and they are not required to provide a specific reason.⁵⁰ In these situations, substitute decision makers must be well-versed in the risks and benefits of a study and how it could impact their loved one. Along with their medical status, the patient's values should also be taken into account.⁵¹

B: Vulnerability at the Beginning and End of Life

Individuals at the beginning and end of their lives are more vulnerable, mostly due to their inability to make decisions and care for themselves. The requirement for a substitute decision maker to make choices on behalf of a patient increases, which amplifies the vulnerability of the incapable patient, since they cannot speak for themselves and an autonomous wish directly from the patient cannot be heard. ⁵² When discussing these populations in the context of decision making for genetic editing or genetic therapies as research or treatments, certain factors influence how choices are made, as well as the reasons behind them. The substitute decision makers have to carefully consider them to ensure that appropriate choices are being made – choices that are in line with previously expressed wishes or values, or that are in the best interest of the patient.

A patient or SDM is often influenced by their religion when making decisions about the beginning and end of life. Islam and Catholicism, specifically, have very clear directives regarding procedures at both of these times, which can guide the choices that are being made by patients or SDMs. Parents, for example, may have to consider terminating a pregnancy for a variety of reasons, and would turn to their faith for guidance. Islamic and Catholic views outline how to proceed in these scenarios, as well as what exceptions can be made. They also have detailed discourse regarding when a life begins, which could assist a couple in making a decision

that is in accordance with their values. Both of these religious doctrines can also provide some information on the acceptability of genome editing, particularly using embryos. Since IVF is strongly prohibited, the use of embryos for research, or in the context of Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis (PGD), it is implied that genetic editing would also be condemned. However, there may be an opportunity to eliminate the need for some abortions if this technique was more widely accepted.

These religions also have extensive beliefs pertaining to the end of life, and can further assist patients and families when making choices about death. In particular, SDMs for patients nearing death typically have more information on which to base decisions, as most family members are aware of their loved ones' values, wishes and religious beliefs. Sometimes this is not the case, however, and a choice has to be made that is in the best interest of a patient. At the end of life, there is always caution taken not to hasten death, so that an individual is not tasked with being responsible for another's death, but rather that a patient either dies naturally or on their own terms (in the case of withholding or withdrawing treatment). The ability to choose one's own terms by which to die extends to the practice of physician-assisted death that is available in some states. Currently, a patient must be capable to choose this procedure, but in the future, incapable patients may be able to indicate in an advance directive that they would like a loved one to decide for them to die. Physicians are generally against this provision, since it is always difficult to predict what one's own wishes will be in the future.

Genetic therapies and editing techniques may be able to solve some of the issues that patients or their substitute decision makers face in the situations described above. These therapies may be able to correct an anomaly in a fetus or slow the progression of a fatal disease, making the choices easier for an SDM. Genetic therapies and technologies may be able to alleviate guilt for parents who are faced with a known genetic anomaly. For example, if a couple knows that their unborn fetus has a particular genetic disorder, they may be able to correct the abnormality before birth, thereby avoiding the need for abortion.⁵³ This may require a religious couple to make a compromise and use artificial reproductive techniques. At the end of life, it is difficult to implement any sort of reversal process for aging, but a genetic therapy may provide hope to a patient that is dealing with a serious illness. An adult with cancer who previously believed they were facing a death sentence, may be able to be treated using a genetic therapy, which would prolong their life and cure their disease. Genetic therapies would not address the vulnerability of these populations, but they would provide assistance to patients and families when making decisions, and ensure that autonomous wishes would be upheld as much as possible.

Chapter 5: Integration of Clinical and Organizational Issues in Genetics

A: Clinical Issue: Pre-Implantation Genetics Diagnosis (PGD)

A procedure that is being used more frequently in medicine is Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis (PGD). Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis is a technique used to examine an embryo's genes ex-vivo, in order to identify whether it carries a gene for a specific disease.⁵⁴ Often PGD is used when parents have an autosomal recessive or X-linked disorder, a familial history of one, or when mothers are over the age of 35. In all of these examples, parents want to know that any of their future children will not have the same disease or will be healthy.⁵⁵ PGD is carried out using of In-vitro Fertilization (IVF).⁵⁶ In most circumstances, a specific disorder is being targeted, and if an embryo is shown not to contain a gene that codes for that illness, it will be implanted into the uterus, with the certainty that the child will not have the disease.⁵⁷

When using PGD, the autonomy of both the parents and the unborn children should be considered. An embryo is unable to communicate its wishes, therefore, informed consent from the embryo's perspective cannot be provided. There is also a question about whether an embryo is considered to be a person with rights, and, as such, have moral status.⁵⁸ As a result, the autonomy of the parents is most relevant.⁵⁹ Individuals typically choose PGD to prevent their child from having a particular disease which they deem harmful.⁶⁰ Some critics of PGD claim that doing this is selfish. Individuals have the right to reproduce, but when parents begin to interfere with natural development, they may be doing it for their own interests.⁶¹ However, it could be argued that parents actually do have the right to employ PGD if they believe that it will free the child's life from suffering and improve the overall quality of it.⁶²

In addition to autonomy, beneficence and non-maleficence should be considered. Proponents of PGD believe that the use of the technique also promotes both of these principles, since a child would benefit from not having a potentially debilitating disease, and future suffering would be eliminated. In the future, when the uses of PGD may change to choosing non-medical traits, further ethical questions may arise. This will be considered in chapter six. Non-maleficence is also promoted due to the elimination of harm when parents choose to prevent an illness from occurring in their child.⁶³ Moreover, some scholars believe that by not using PGD to avoid known genetic diseases, parents are actually causing their children harm.⁶⁴ Similarly, non-maleficence is supported through the present uses of PGD, but future uses for genetic enhancement may change this viewpoint and require additional oversight and management.

Once PGD becomes more accessible and affordable, parents will gain more control over their child's genetics which will, in turn, influence their future. Many scholars discourage the use of this technique to manipulate social traits, in order to avoid the advancement of forms of eugenics and the rise of discrimination. Gene editing is faced with similar concerns and numerous scholars are concerned that the use of gene editing and genetic therapies to create "designer babies" will become the norm. This topic will be discussed in a chapter six.

B: Organizational Issue: Emerging Genetic Technologies

A prominent issue for organizations with regard to genetic therapies and editing techniques has revolved around creating a plan for implementation within their institution. Since gene therapy is a relatively new technology, its implementation into healthcare has been limited. Clinical trials are the main source of access to gene therapies.⁶⁵ In the course of experiments (if they occur in the medical facility) or once clinical trials are completed, it would be necessary to apply appropriate steps to ensure a smooth and effective process of implementation. Primarily, an organization would need to be certain that the appropriate staff was highly trained in gene therapy techniques and had the ability to discuss the implications with their patients. This may require the creation of skills clinics in order to teach physicians and technicians how to perform techniques, as well as how to analyze results. It is expected that researchers who are conducting the clinical trials would be able to share their knowledge with their colleagues; to make the technology widely available.⁶⁶

In the initial discussions surrounding possible implementation of a new technology such as genetic therapy, patient safety must be considered. Patient safety must be implemented at all levels of an organization, both institution-wide and among the individual employees who are directly responsible for preventing errors when possible, and creating a safe environment. All employees, but especially those in direct contact with patients, must have an increased level of knowledge in order to maintain patient safety. A patient always assumes that their health care

providers have been trained in safety measures which allow them to treat their patients appropriately, as well communicate effectively so that the patient can make an informed decision.⁶⁷ Keeping patients safe also includes evaluating the risks involved in medical treatments, especially novel technologies. While clinical trials provide information about medical risks, an organization should think about how a patient or community may be exposed to risk in other ways.⁶⁸ Not only individuals can make errors that may endanger patients. Patient safety should be dealt with at an institutional level through the implementation of strategies and mechanisms to control the various risks associated with medical practices.⁶⁹ This also promotes the organization's accountability to the community it serves.

An organization will also have to determine whether a new technology aligns with their core values and is able to achieve its institutional goals.⁷⁰ The primary priority of medical organizations is to provide excellent care to its patients, and this is often reflected through a mission statement. In addition to this main focus, an organization's mission statement is able to reflect other values it has, such as religious abidance or outreach.⁷¹ Upholding the mission statement at all levels of the institution allows the community to hold it accountable and to ensure that its values are being upheld as well.⁷² By insisting that all levels of the organization follow the mission statement and associated guidelines, it can be ensured that ethical decision making will be encouraged in order to create a positive moral culture, both internally and externally.⁷³ This also implies that any procedures or interventions offered within the hospital uphold these values and are considered to be morally acceptable..⁷⁴

Although gene therapy shows immense promise in treating and curing disease, the most significant issue preventing its full realization is its high cost. Gene therapies that are on the current market cost approximately between \$500 000 and \$1.2 million for a single treatment.⁷⁵

As a result, there is fear that individual patients will not be able to afford this life-saving technology. One option that may help patients is a personal payment plan, where the organization can make arrangements with patients to pay in installments.⁷⁶ It would also be helpful if health care institutions encourage insurance companies to cover such treatments as these, since they could help cure disease and save lives.⁷⁷ This is an important aspect for organizations to consider when implementing a new technology, and it should explore options that can be made available to patients in order to uphold its values of providing excellent care.

Chapter 6: Genetic Therapy and Gene Editing (CRISPR)

A: Genetic Therapy and Gene Editing

This dissertation has explored the many aspects of genetic therapy and gene editing interventions that must be considered before and during the implementation into health care institutions. It is evident that genetic editing is becoming a realistic method of treating a variety of patients. Research using gene editing within gene therapies is showing positive results, and illnesses such as childhood cancers, could be cured in the near future.⁷⁸ The use of the CRISPR-Cas9 or Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats, is the easiest and most cost-effective method of editing the DNA of mammalian cells. CRISPR was discovered as an immune system in archaea and bacteria designed to fight viruses, and was modified to act in human or mammalian cells.⁷⁹

Since this technique is still in its beginning phases, research is still being conducted all over the world. It is primarily being studied using ex-vivo cells in laboratories, using pluripotent stem cells or somatic cells.⁸⁰ Embryos are also beginning to be used to study hereditary cells, but researchers can only manipulate embryos for a certain number of days due to common protocols

and legislation.⁸¹ Destroying them early before development reaches a state ready for implantation ensures that research abides by the international agreement that germline edited embryos not be implanted with the goal of a successful pregnancy. As previously mentioned, one researcher in China, Dr. He, did not follow this rule and used the CRISPR technique to alter the genome of multiple embryos, resulting in twin infants being born.⁸² While this was heavily frowned upon by other scientists, it is expected that this course of study will reach that point in the future. Although the CRISPR technique is mainly being used in laboratories, it is becoming more common to conduct research and use the technique in hospitals with patients, bringing hope to many individuals suffering from incurable diseases.⁸³

It is more accepted and straightforward to conduct research using somatic cell therapies. Somatic cells are those that are not passed on between generations, and only affect the individual whose cells they are in the present. Editing somatic cells is often referred to as gene therapy. During cell replication, a person's DNA can experience small changes and the body's mechanism of recognizing these mistakes does not always catch each difference. If multiple genes have some sort of alteration, it can lead to the emergence of a disease, such as cancer or haemophilia.⁸⁴ Illnesses that are caused by one single mutation are easier to target, as opposed to others that are created by multiple gene mutations.⁸⁵ Targeting somatic cells ensures that no future generations are affected by the changes from gene therapy, and cause fewer ethical challenges.⁸⁶ From an ethical perspective, a medical treatment that only affects an individual and not their descendants avoids the issue of advanced consent regarding hereditary gene therapy. A patient who seeks out gene therapy can make an autonomous decision based on their beliefs and values.⁸⁷ The informed consent process would be the same as with all other treatment choices.

Hereditary Cell Therapy, however, poses some more challenging ethical questions.

Unlike somatic cell gene therapy, which allows an individual to decide whether to manipulate their genome for themselves, heritable genome editing requires prospective parents to choose a specific genetic path for their future children.⁸⁸ Hereditary gene therapy also uses the CRISPR-Cas9 technique to edit the genes of an embryo. This then alters all of the embryo's genes as well as any genes that would be passed on to future descendants. For example, parents may choose to edit a gene that causes Huntington's Disease if a family history exists, so that no future generations, including their child, will suffer from Huntington's.⁸⁹ Concerns have been voiced with regard to this form of human intervention. For example, some have questioned the effects of a novel technology on humanity, and whether humans should be able to intervene in the genetic path of future generations. This may alter the way that we uphold human dignity and view an individual's unique qualities.⁹⁰ A significant ethical concern with regard to hereditary gene editing is how to balance individual benefits with potential benefits of the general public, once children with edited genomes begin to be born. While individual children and parents may benefit, the utilization of this editing mechanism may cause social and cultural harm.⁹¹

As this new technology becomes more readily accessible, it is crucial that organizational oversight, as well as public engagement occurs. Organizational oversight ensures safety and efficacy. A mechanism should be put into place for appropriate follow-up procedures to be instituted for each patient, in order to track side effects and general status.⁹² Organizations must also perform frequent cost-benefit analyses to reflect on how the technology is being used, and which patients have the best access. If gene therapies prove to be immensely successful at treating cancer, it may be valuable for hospitals to invest in the technique to make certain that their patients have access to this treatment, despite its higher cost.⁹³ Since this intervention

directly involves patients and the public, they should be involved in the decision making process. A community member may have questions or need clarification about how the hospital plans to implement policies for a new technique, and whether everyone will have access to it. This promotes trust and transparency between the hospital and the community it serves.⁹⁴ It also allows the institution to clarify any misconceptions that the media may have reported.⁹⁵ As genetic therapy and editing become more common and transition to being used for enhancement, the public will need to collaborate with scientists and health care centers to hold them accountable for the choices they are making that will impact society.⁹⁶

B: Human Enhancement and Transhumanism

As it becomes possible for researchers to alter or edit an embryo's genome through germline modification, the possibility of genetic enhancement will become more plausible. Once embryonic research is better understood and accepted, scientists may be able to target specific genes that are not solely medical.⁹⁷ Since scientific research has proven that genes affect personality and character traits, such as intelligence, empathy, and athletic ability, there may come a time when parents who can afford it will be able to choose which genes their offspring will have, in the hopes that their child will grow up exhibiting the desired qualities.⁹⁸ This could lead to "designer babies," but there is scientific evidence that children are not pre-destined to a specific future based on their genetic makeup. Environments and parenting styles seem to have more of an influence on children than their genes do.⁹⁹ Nevertheless, serious concerns persist.

It was brought up earlier that eventually the CRISPR technique will be improved and the possibility for all parents to have access to it for both medical and social reasons is entirely plausible. This concept, that a significant population of people could be genetically modified,

frightens both academics and the general public alike. Some philosophers believe that enhancing human beings should be prohibited because it would change 'human nature.' It is also feared that gene editing will only be available to parents who can pay for it, further increasing the gap between the wealthy and the poor.¹⁰⁰ Others believe there may not be as many threatening concerns relating to gene editing, and that it should be allowed and promoted so that more effective human beings can be created.¹⁰¹

Many bioethicists that do not support enhancement believe that pursuing it will interfere with human nature, and that any threat to a human's makeup should be avoided at all cost.¹⁰² Human nature is an inherent part of the identity of all humans, one which dictates how we act and make decisions.¹⁰³ As a result, enhancing the genes of future children, an unnatural act, may disturb this human nature.¹⁰⁴ In order to truly modify human nature, the human species as a whole would have to change. While this concern is valid, it is expected that the feared outcome of a new set of human beings in our lifetime in unrealistic, since only a small number of humans will be able to afford this new technology.¹⁰⁵

However, if enhanced humans do become more prevalent, scholars are unsure about what this enhanced human's moral status would be compared to unedited individuals. We would need to alter our conception of morality in order to accommodate enhanced individuals. It would have to be determined whether allowing the creation of 'post-humans' would be morally acceptable, and whether it should eventually be made mandatory. Few scholars agree with this line of thought and most believe that society would collapse if this line of research continues.¹⁰⁶ If post-humans become a reality, however, there is the potential for some people to have a higher moral status than we currently have, which would lead to concerns about human rights. Scientists and philosophers would have to question whether post-humans would be entitled to their own set of

human rights, different from the ones we have now.¹⁰⁷ They fear that 'mere' humans would not be able to exercise the same level of moral reasoning as post-humans, which would reduce their status to disposable humans, akin to animals, and would certainly result in little respect being shown to them.¹⁰⁸ The current scientific literature frequently ignores this concept of a changed morality, but it is important for these discussions to take place to ensure that we are prepared when enhancement becomes a reality.

In addition to the moral and philosophical concerns that must be considered with regard to germline editing, practical concerns should also be addressed. The majority of literature discussing genetic enhancement and transhumanism expresses worries that genetic editing will lead to eugenic acts, which would create significant justice issues around the world. Eugenic practices can be detrimental and highly unethical, but they may not be as negative as they are often considered to be.¹⁰⁹ In any case, an attempt to avoid them should be made through organizational and ethical oversight so that further risks, such as creating a wider divide between the rich and the poor do not occur.¹¹⁰ A neutral group should be formed that is able to consider multiple perspectives and determine the risks and benefits associated with the creation of posthumans. This group must also include representatives from the public, which ensures that scientists, philosophers, and politicians do not make unilateral decisions without appropriate stakeholder engagement.¹¹¹ Ideally this would address much of the discomfort regarding the potential of genetic enhancement and bring assurance that the practice will be conducted safely and fairly.

Chapter 7: Conclusion

When a new technology that has the potential to change the manner in which we cure disease emerges, its many facets warrant close examination. Genetic therapies and editing techniques are

providing hope with regard to a range of medical issues, including the elimination of cancers, and the improvement of children's lives before birth. However, there are many issues associated with such applications that also need to be considered, such as how these developments will affect organizations, public health initiatives, and populations around the globe. Despite concerns held by scientists and philosophers alike, these technologies will undoubtedly become part of the health care system. ¹ Jon Cohen, "Did CRISPR help – or harm- the first ever gene-edited babies?" Science, August 1, 2019, <u>https://www.sciencemag.org/news/2019/08/did-crispr-help-or-harm-first-ever-gene-edited-babies</u>
² Winifred J. Ellenchild Pinch, "Advance Directives and End-of-Life Decision Making in

² Winifred J. Ellenchild Pinch, "Advance Directives and End-of-Life Decision Making in Alzheimer Disease: Practical Challenges," in Purtilo, Ruth B. and Henk ten Have. *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004,) 187-188.

³ Rund ter Meulen, "Ethics of Care," in Chadwick, Ruth, Henk ten Have, and Eric Meslin (eds.): *The SAGE Handbook of Healthcare Ethics: Core and Emerging Issues,* (SAGE, Los Angeles, 2011,) 43-44.

⁴ Tuija Takala, "Concepts of "person" and "liberty," and their implications to our fading notions of autonomy," *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 33, no.4 April 2007): 225-228, doi: 10.1136/jme.2006.016816.

⁵ David F. Kelly, *Medical Care at the End of Life: A Catholic Perspective* (Washington D.C.: Georgetown University Press, 2006), 29-32.

⁶ David F. Kelly, Gerard Magill, and Hank ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic Health Care Ethics* (Washington: Georgetown, 2013), 146-148.

⁷ Virginia Held, *The Ethics of Care: Personal, Political and Global*, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006): 36-38.

⁸ Kelly, *End of Life*, 37-39.

⁹ Kelly, *End of Life*, 43-52.

¹⁰ Jean Lau Chin, "Culturally Competent Health Care," *Public Health Reports* 115, no.1 (Jan-Feb, 2000):25-33. doi: 10.1093/phr/115.1.25.

¹¹ Lainie Friedman Ross, *Children in Medical Research: Access versus Protection*, (New York: Oxford, 2006), 91-95.

¹² Friedman Ross, *Children in Medical Research*, 87-88.

¹³ Friedman Ross, *Children in Medical Research*, 17-22., Giles Birchley, "Harm is all you need? Best interests and disputes about parental decision-making," *Journal of Medical Ethics* 42, no.2 (Feb 2016):111-116. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2015-102893.

¹⁴ Julie Samuël, Bartha Maria Knoppers and Denise Avard, "Medical Research Involving Children: A Review of International Policy Statements," In Chadwick, Ruth, Henk ten Have, and Eric Meslin (eds.): *The SAGE Handbook of Healthcare Ethics: Core and Emerging Issues*. SAGE, Los Angeles, 2011, 266-270.

¹⁵ Friedman Ross, *Children in Medical Research*, 138-140.

¹⁶ Matthew S. Liao, "Health (care) and human rights: a fundamental conditions approach." *Theoretical medicine and bioethics*. 37, no.4 (August 2016):259-272, doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9373-9.

¹⁷ Esther Chung et.al., "Screening for Social Determinants of Health Among Children and Families Living in Poverty: A Guide for Clinicians," *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care* 2016. Published electronically April 18, 2016 doi: 10.1016/j.cppeds.2016.02.004.

¹⁸ "Amniocentesis," American Pregnancy Association, last modified April 25, 2017, accessed December 1, 2016, http://americanpregnancy.org/prenatal-testing/amniocentesis/

¹⁹ Ruth E. Groenhout, *Connected Lives: Human Nature and an Ethics of Care*, (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers Inc., 2004), 146-150.

²⁰ Janice Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas in Genetics and Genetic Counseling: Principles through Case Scenarios*. (Oxford University Press, 2014), 53-56.

²¹ Inge Van Nistelrooij and Carlo Leget, "Against Dichotomies: On Mature Care and Self-Sacrifice in Care Ethics." *Nursing Ethics* 24, no.6 (September 2017): 5-8, doi: 10.1177/0969733015624475.

²² Van Nistelrooij and Leget, "Against Dichotomies," 2-5.

²³ Sarah Conly, "The Right to Preventative Health Care" *Theoretical medicine and bioethics*. 37, no.4 (August 2016):307. doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9374-8.

²⁴ Gopal Sreenivasan, "Health care and human rights: against the split duty gambit," *Theoretical medicine and bioethics* 37, no.4 (August 2016):355-359, doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9375-7.

²⁵ John Tasioulas and Effy Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights and the common good in global health policy." *Theoretical Medicine and bioethics*. 37, no.4 (August 2016):373. doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9372-x.

²⁶ Robert Klitzman et.al., "Anticipating issues related to increasing preimplantation genetic diagnosis use: a research agenda." *Reproductive Biomedicine Online*. 17, (2008): 36, doi: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60188-5.

²⁷ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 370.

²⁸ Marcel Verweij and Angus Dawson, "The Meaning of 'Public' in 'Public Health'" in *Ethics*, *Prevention, and Public Health*, eds. Angus Dawson and Marcel Verweij (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007), 22-27.

²⁹ Steven H. Woolf, Steven Jonas and Evonne Kaplan-Liss. *Health Promotion and Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice*. (Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008), xxix-xlv.
³⁰ Verweij and Dawson, "The Meaning of 'Public' in 'Public Health," 13-25.

³¹ Stephen Holland, *Public Health Ethics*, (Cambridge: Polity Press, 2015), 201-206.

³² Andrew Fagan, "Challenging the Bioethical Application of the Autonomy Principle within Multicultural Societies," *Journal of Applied Philosophy* 21, no.1 (2004):18-20. doi: 10.1111/j.0264-3758.2004.00260.x.

³³ Holland, *Public Health Ethics*, 63-65.

³⁴ Robert J. Levine, "The Nature, Scope, and Justification of Clinical Research: What Is Research? Who Is a Subject?" in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008, 215-216.

³⁵ Paul S. Appelbaum and Charles W. Lidz, "The Therapeutic Misconception," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008, 640-642.

³⁶ Mary Jane Welch et.al., "The ethics and regulatory landscape of including vulnerable populations in pragmatic clinical trials." *Clinical Trials*. 12, no.5 (October 2015):503-504 Accessed April 10, 2017. doi:10.1177/1740774515597701.

³⁷ Ezekiel Emanuel, David Wendler and Christine Grady, "An Ethical Framework for Biomedical Research," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. (Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008), 130-131.

³⁸ Alexander M. Capron, Legal and Regulatory Standards of Informed Consent in Research." in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008, 617-620.

³⁹ Emanuel, Wendler and Grady, "An Ethical Framework," 131.

⁴⁰ James H. Flory, David Wendler, and Ezekiel J. Emanuel, "Empirical Issues in Informed Consent for Research," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008, 646-648.

⁴¹ Emanuel, Wendler and Grady, "An Ethical Framework," in *Oxford Textbook*, 129.

⁴³ Vilhjálmur Árnason, Hongwen Li, and Yali Cong, "Informed Consent," In Chadwick, Ruth, Henk ten Have, and Eric Meslin (eds.): *The SAGE Handbook of Healthcare Ethics: Core and Emerging Issues*, 107-108. (Los Angeles: SAGE, 2011).

⁴⁴ Welch, et.al., "Vulnerable Populations", 504.

⁴⁵ Ronald M. Green, Research With Fetuses, Embryos, and Stem Cells." in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008, 489-491.

⁴⁶ Anna Galle et.al., "Expectations and Satisfaction with Antenetal Care Among Pregnant Women with a Focus on Vulnerable Groups: a Descriptive Study in Ghent." *BMC Women's Health*. 15 (December 2015):112. accessed Dec. 1, 2019. doi: 10.1186/s12905-015-0266-2.

⁴⁷ Bernard Lo and Nesrin Garan, "Research with Ethnic and Minority Populations," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008, 426-428.

⁴⁸ Carol Levine, Research Involving Economically Disadvantaged Participants," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008,431-435.

⁴⁹ Jonathon Sargeant and Deborah Harcourt, *Doing Research with Children* (New York: Open University Press, 2012), 28-31.

⁵⁰ Sargeant and Harcourt, *Doing Research with Children*, 77.

⁵¹ Donald L. Rosenstein and Franklin G. Miller, "Research Involving Those at Risk for Impaired Decision-Making Capacity," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008, 438.

⁵² Kelly, *End of Life*, 66-74.

⁵³ "In Vitro Fertilization," Magee Women's Hospital of UPMC, accessed December 1, 2016, http://www.upmc.com/locations/hospitals/magee/services/center-for-fertility-and-reproductiveendocrinology/treatment/Pages/in-vitro-fertilization.aspx

⁵⁴ Boran Jiang, Arnold S.C. Tan, and Samuel S. Chong. "Molecular Strategies for preimplantation genetic diagnosis of single gene and chromosomal disorders." *Best Practice and Research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. 26, no.5(October 2012):551 accessed February, 1, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2012.06.007.

⁵⁵ Klitzman, et.al., "Anticipating Issues," 33-34

⁵⁶ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 75.

⁵⁷ "In Vitro Fertilization," Magee Women's Hospital of UPMC.

⁵⁸ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 48.

⁵⁹ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 106-108.

⁶⁰ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 50-53.

⁶¹ Michelle L. McGowan, Richard R. Sharpe. "Justice in the context of family balancing."

Science Technology and Human Values 38, no.2 (March 2013):7-8. doi:

10.1177/0162243912469412.

⁴² Levine, "Clinical Research," in Oxford Textbook, 215-216.
⁶² Leslie M. Whetstine, "Ethical challenges in assisted reproduction: the place of preimplantation genetic diagnosis in a just society." *Journal of Child Neurology*. 30, no.5 (April 2015):547 doi: 10.1177/0883073813511151.

⁶³ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 53-56.

⁶⁴ Whetstine, "Ethical Challenges," 548.

⁶⁵ Eve Hanna et.al., "Gene Therapies Development: Slow Progress and Promising Prospect," *Journal of Market Access and Health Policy* 2017 5, no.1 (January 2017): 2-6, Doi: 10.1080/20016689.2017.1265293.

⁶⁶ Mohamed Abou-El-Enein, Gerhard Bauer, and Petra Reinke, "Gene Therapy: A Possible Future Standard for HIV Care," *Trends in Biotechnology* 2015 33, no.7 (July 2015):376. Doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2015.03.006.

⁶⁷ Sidney Dekker, *Patient Safety: A Human Factors Approach*, (Boca Raton: CRC Press, 2011), 33-61.

⁶⁸ Niclas E. Bengtsson Jane T. Seto, John K. Hall, Jeffrey S. Chamberlain, and Guy L. Odom,
 "Progress and Prospects of Gene Therapy Clinical Trials for the Muscular Dystrophies," *Human Molecular Genetics* 2016 25, R1 (April 2016) R9-17, doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv420.
 ⁶⁹ Dekker, *Patient Safety*, 128-136.

⁷⁰ Mary V. Rorty, "Introduction to Ethics," in *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, eds. Filerman, Mills, and Schyve. (Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014), 10-11.

⁷¹ Ann E. Mills, "Ethics and the Healthcare Organization," in *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, ed. Filerman, Mills, and Schyve. (Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014), 22-25.

⁷² Patricia H. Werhane, "The Healthcare Organization, Business Ethics, and Stakeholder Theory," in *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, ed. Filerman, Mills, and Schyve. (Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014), 82-86.

⁷³ Craig E. Johnson, *Organizational Ethics: A Practical Approach*, (California: SAGE Publications Inc., 2016), 67-89.

 ⁷⁴ Christopher Cowley, "A Defence of Conscientious Objection in Medicine: A Reply to Schuklenk and Savulescu," *Bioethics* 30, no.5 (June 2016):358-364, doi: 10.1111/bioe.12233.
 ⁷⁵ David R. Carr and Steven E. Bradshaw, "Gene Therapies: The Challenge of Super-High-Cost

Treatments and How to Pay For Them," *Regenerative Medicine* 11, no.4 (June 2016):381. doi: 10.2217/rme-2016-0010.

⁷⁶ Hanna et.al., "Gene Therapies Development," 7.

 ⁷⁷ Eve Hanna et.al., "Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products: Current and Future Perspectives." *Journal of Market Access and Health Policy* 4 (April 2016):1-10. doi: 10.3402/jmahp.v4.31036.
 ⁷⁸ Patrice P. Denèfle, "Introduction to Genetic Therapy: A Clinical Aftermath," in *Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy: Methods and Protocols*, ed. Otto-Wilhelm Merten and Mohamed Al-Rubeai, (New York: Humana Press, 2011), 27-30.

⁷⁹ Jennifer Doudna, "Genome-editing revolution: My whirlwind year with CRISPR," *Nature*, 528, no.7583 (December 2015):470, doi:10.1038/528469a.

⁸⁰ National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, *Human Genome Editing: Science, Ethics and Governance*, (Washington: National Academies Press, 2017), 69-70. ⁸¹ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 70-72.

⁸² Antonio Regalado, "Chinese Scientists are creating CRISPR Babies," *MIT Technology Review*, Nov. 25, 2018. <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/s/612458/exclusive-chinese</u>-scientists-are-creating-crispr-babies/

⁸⁸ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 111.

⁹⁰ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 112-113.

- ⁹² National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 103-105.
- ⁹³ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 127-128.

⁹⁵ Claudia L. Schur and Marc L. Berk, "Views on Health Care Technology: Americans Consider the Risks and Sources of Information." *Health Affairs* 27, no.6 (Nov-Dec 2008):1659-1664. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.27.6.1654

⁹⁶ John J. Mulvihill et.al., "Ethical Issues of CRISPR Technology and Gene Editing Through the Lens of Solidarity," *British Medical Bulletin* 122,no.1 (June 2017):8-10. Doi: 10.1093/bmb/ldx002.

⁹⁷ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 128-130.

⁹⁸ Benjamin Capps et.al., "Falling Giants and the Rise of Gene Editing: Ethics, Private Interests, and the Public Good," *Human Genomics* 11, no.1 (August 2017): 1-3, doi: 10.1186/s40246-017-0116-4.

⁹⁹ David Wasserman, "Better Parenting through Biomedical Modification: A Case for Pluralism, Deference, and Charity," *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal* 27, no.2 (2017): 226, doi: 10.1353/ken.2017.0016.

¹⁰⁰ Allen Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity?* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011), 13-15.
¹⁰¹ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity?* 215-216.

¹⁰² Russell Powell, "In Genes We Trust: Germline Engineering, Eugenics, and the Future of the Human Genome," *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* 40, no.6 (December 2015): 672-673. Doi: 10.1093/jmp/jhv025.

¹⁰³ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity?* 117-119., David DeGrazia, *Creation Ethics: Reproduction, Genetics, and Quality of Life*. Oxford University Press, 2014, 75-78.

¹⁰⁴ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity?* 115-117.

¹⁰⁵ Timothy F. Murphy, "The Ethics of Impossible and Possible Changes to Human Nature." *Bioethics* 26, no.4 (May 2012):191-192. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8519.2010.01851.x.

¹⁰⁶ Russell Powell, "The Biomedical Enhancement of Moral Status," *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no.2 (February 2013):65-66, doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-101312.

¹⁰⁷ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 227-236.

¹⁰⁸ Nicholas Agar, "We Must Not Create Beings with Moral Standing Superior to Our Own," *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no.11 (November 2013):709, doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-101257.

⁸³ Rebecca A. Gardner et.al., "Intent-to-treat leukemia remission by CD19 CAR T cells of defined formulation and dose in children and young adults," *Blood* 2017 129, no.5 (June 2017): 3322-3331. Doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-769208.

⁸⁴ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 84-85.

⁸⁵ National Academies, Human Genome Editing, 85-86.

⁸⁶ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 83.

⁸⁷ Michael Fuchs, "Ethical Consideration," in *Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy: Methods and Protocols*, eds. Otto-Wilhelm Merten and Mohamed Al-Rubeai, (New York: Humana Press, 2011), 413-414.

⁸⁹ Denèfle, "Introduction to Genetic Therapy," 32-34.

⁹¹ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 118-120.

⁹⁴ Nancy Kraetschmer, et.al., "Hospitals' Internal Accountability." *Healthcare Policy* 10, spec issue (September 2014):38-42.

¹⁰⁹ Christopher Gyngell and Simon Easteal, "Cognitive Diversity and Moral Enhancement," *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.1 (January 2015): 66-69, doi: 10.1017/S0963180114000310. ¹¹⁰ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity?* 51-54. ¹¹¹ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity?* 255-258.

Chapter 2: Autonomous Health Decisions

Decision making in Western healthcare revolves around autonomy, the right of individual patients to choose what they feel is best for them. Autonomy is realized through the need for informed consent from a patient or their substitute decision maker. Capable patients have the right to choose whether they accept a treatment or not, but substitute decision makers have a more difficult role, because they are acting on someone else's behalf. Being a parent further increases this often-stressful process when a child's life is at risk. Making decisions, however, can be challenging, especially when considering the implications of an experimental technology, such as genetic editing treatments. Ultimately, genetic editing and CRISPR-Cas9 research requires autonomy and informed consent to proceed and for knowledge to be gained. This supports the need to examine the concept of autonomy theoretically, as well as in practice, as it differs in various geographic regions. For example, decision making may look slightly different between the USA and Canada, both developed Western nations.

A: Relational Decisional Autonomy

The roots of decision-making are in the principle of autonomy and, in practice, informed consent provides an ethically sound process for making choices. There are other ethical components that must also be included in the scope of autonomous decision making in order for it to be executed more appropriately. This discourse is also required so that substitute decision-making can be performed ethically. In the process of exploring autonomy, it will become evident that autonomy and substitute decision making are better understood and practiced with the addition of the concepts of care ethics and personalism, because they are more respectful of an individual as well as those around them. The dichotomy of autonomy and care ethics also applies to health care providers and their relationships with their patients, describing how physicians, in

particular, should communicate with their patients during decision-making, as well as how the relationship between physician and patient can thrive.

The concept of autonomy is the right of an individual to speak for themselves and to make their own informed decisions, based on their own reasons and needs. These decisions must be acknowledged and adhered to, even though some may disagree with them. Each country, state, or province may have their own legislation outlining the concept of autonomy in health care, as well as the preferred definitions and associated stipulations that health care providers must follow. For example, the United States and Canada are both developed nations with similar health care resources, but have each implemented different legislation regarding informed consent. In the US, each state dictates the criteria for informed consent and substitute decision makers, most often stating that an individual must be 18 years of age in order to make their own decisions unless they are deemed a mature minor¹. In Canada, various provinces make these distinctions. In Ontario, there is no legal age of consent for making a treatment decision – a patient must simply be capable of understanding and appreciating their treatment options, as judged by their physician.²

It is considered a human right to have the autonomy to make your own decisions. A capable individual is able to choose how they treat their body and for which interventions they provide their informed consent. Autonomy differs from the human right to liberty, in that a person can have unlimited liberty, but little decision-making autonomy, and vice versa. The simple distinction between liberty and autonomy is that liberty is a political concept, whereas autonomy is a moral one.³ Furthermore, autonomy is the act of free will, and liberty is freedom without the interference of a third party. It is difficult to compare the two concepts when it comes to medical decision-making, as autonomy is more applicable than liberty as a general concept.⁴

Historically, autonomy stems from past research trials that have exploited individuals without their knowledge or consent. As a result, laws exist that protect subjects from exploitation or harm. Policies are created to avoid repeating historically unethical research events.⁵ Documents, such as the Nuremberg code and the Declaration of Helsinki, were put into effect to ensure that the human rights of all individuals were upheld.⁶ They also emphasize the importance of the responsibility that investigators have to educate themselves about what makes research ethical and legal.⁷ Outside of the research context, history has seen the field of healthcare ethics evolve and focus greatly on autonomy and informed consent, and the concerns associated with those concepts. The Kennedy and Mondale hearings resulted in the formation of commissions and new laws that would protect patients, as well as doctors and medical staff.⁸ Furthermore, the National Commission and the Kennedy Commission provided guidance to create a specific set of codes, but allowed for flexibility for particular patients. The published documents outlined how the United States as a country thought the issues should be handled, as well as how the medical community ought to act, but still allowed for freedom within a healthcare setting for each individual patient to receive specialized and personal care. They addressed the concerns of both society and government, and set the stage for future policy creation.⁹

As suggested by Beauchamp and Childress, in order for an autonomous decision to be accepted, three conditions must be met: proper intention, a complete understanding of the situation, and the making of choices free of external deciding influences. If these stipulations are met, a decision can be deemed thorough and valid. It can, therefore, be respected and honored.¹⁰ There are also situations, however, where autonomy may not dominate in decision-making, primarily if an autonomous decision will directly harm another individual. In these cases, autonomy can be overridden by a physician or healthcare provider, and another choice can be

made that is more appropriate and not harmful.¹¹ Before making another choice, however, the provider should consult with the necessary legislation and protocol about overriding autonomy. A healthcare worker must respect autonomy when they are sure that a patient is capable of making a decision, and has done so free of coercion.

In order for a patient's autonomous decision to be respected, an individual must be deemed to have adequate decision-making capacity with which to provide their informed consent. A capable patient is able to understand simple medical facts about the procedure or treatment to which they are consenting, and able to appreciate the effect that the medical intervention will have on their body and on their life.¹² This definition allows a physician to easily evaluate a patient's capacity and clearly affirm the role that autonomy plays in the decision-making process. There are, however, situations in which a doctor can judge a particular patient's decision to be irrational and, therefore, overturn or not follow the autonomous decision of a seemingly capable patient. An example would be if a patient requested a leg amputation with no signs of distress or infection to the leg – they simply state that they have no more use of their leg. This case would allow for autonomy to be overruled because of an irrational desire, and the same could apply to an irrational fear.¹³

Furthermore, some authors believe that rationality should be combined with competency in order to view a patient's decision about a medical intervention as valid and acceptable. It is argued that an individual who makes a rational decision is considered capable.¹⁴ In practice in the United States, these theories are combined and a system with three levels is used to deem a patient capable: a patient's ability to understand, a patient's ability to evaluate, and a patient's ability to communicate.¹⁵ These three steps demonstrate that a patient has the appropriate

capacity to make their own medical decisions, and it also shows that they can make a rational decision that works best for their lifestyle and adheres to their personal values.¹⁶

A healthcare worker who is assessing a patient's capacity must keep all of the above mentioned elements in mind when determining whether an individual is capable of making treatment decisions. In addition to these theories, there are certain tasks that a patient must complete to show a provider that they are capable. In order to demonstrate that a patient truly understands their condition and all possible treatment options, they are asked to paraphrase their situation, or recap any discussion they have had with their physician. This proves that they have been able to process all of the medical facts associated with their condition, and rephrase them in a personal and meaningful way. To express an appreciation for their circumstances, a patient is asked to articulate all of their treatment options, and the subsequent expected result of each. This includes the recommended treatment, as well as alternative methods, and what would occur with no treatment at all. A patient's ability to evaluate their diagnosis is demonstrated through their personal ability to weigh the risks and benefits of all of their options, and decide on the best treatment that corresponds to their values. If a patient can make the same choice repeatedly and maintain a level of consistency over a period of time, they demonstrate their ability to evaluate. In addition, when a patient can recognize and articulate all of their options and decide upon one of them, it shows their ability to communicate.¹⁷

A capable patient's decision is only accepted, however, if they provide their informed consent. An individual has the right to receive all the necessary information associated with their diagnosis, and to discuss all of their options with their health care team. This ensures that a final treatment choice is an autonomous one. An effective and honest discussion leads to a more trusting relationship between a physician and their patient, which presumably would result in a higher standard of care in which both the patient and their physician have some level of control. There is a sense of equality between the two main participants, as they both share a common goal of providing relief to a patient.¹⁸ Informed consent also ensures that doctors are legally covered, as they allow a patient to make a decision for themselves, free of coercion and seemingly with no level of paternalism.¹⁹

When assessing a patient's capacity, a common issue may arise when dealing with informed refusal of a treatment or procedure. A patient can decline a treatment for personal reasons that do not correspond with a doctor's opinion, or even a "reasonable person's" preferences. These reasons can be religious or value-based, and should be respected. If a patient can prove that they have decision-making capacity, by being able to understand, evaluate, and communicate their choices, they should be able to make their own decision regarding care. Informed refusal is often mistaken for incompetency, especially if a physician disagrees with the patient's choice. To have to prove to an excessive degree that they are making an informed choice free of coercion, and, for good reason, is disrespectful and harmful to the doctor/patient relationship. Although it can be difficult for a physician to accept a patient's decision, they must do so in order to uphold the patient's autonomy.²⁰

Healthcare is currently heavily influenced by Beauchamp and Childress' theory of principlism. Autonomy, one of their four principles, now drives decision-making and hospital policy to ensure that a patient's rights are upheld, as was described above.²¹ Therefore, the field of healthcare has become primarily focused on the individual patient, to ensure that they are making their own choices and providing their consent for interventions with which they agree. Many proponents of principlism agree that autonomy should be the major driving force within healthcare, in order to ensure that basic human rights are being maintained.²² For example, a

capable patient has the right to consent to experimental treatment, regardless of their physician's opinion or preference for a safer option. Autonomy, however crucial it may be, cannot be the only concept on which healthcare relies, however. It needs other theories or tools to ensure that patients are receiving the best care possible.²³

Introducing care ethics may be helpful for patients when considering their options and allowing others to help them make decisions. Further detail on shared and substitute decision making will be explained below. Since autonomy is one of the most prominent components of medical decision making, it must be acknowledged, and it may, in fact, need to be re-established to include care ethics and personalism. This enhances the currently known concept of autonomy and makes it stronger in practice. By adding a relational component, autonomy becomes more applicable to individuals and results in well-rounded decision making.

When we think about autonomy and the effect it has on individuals within the health care system, we must also consider the types of care that influences choices being made. Care ethics can be a useful concept and tool when discussing relational decisional autonomy. The ethics of care focusses on particular individual and community relationships.²⁴ It emphasizes the importance of dealing with situations that do exist, such as the bond between a patient and physician, a mother and her child, or the government and individuals diagnosed with AIDS.²⁵ These relationships are specific, and all of them require explicit and varied types of care. Similarly, bioethics deals with particular connections between people, society, and states. By recognizing who is involved in the work being done, either those doing the work or those benefiting from it, bioethics incorporates care ethics within its methodology to ensure that requisite services and theories are being implemented. Many ethical theories that are used to guide clinical decision making usually apply to humans in general, are frequently hypothetical,

and do not take into account particularities. However, healthcare cannot be an abstract construct, nor can care be provided in an abstract manner. A level of particularity is required to provide appropriate and targeted care.²⁶

Furthermore, care ethics emphasizes the importance of care, on both an individual and societal level. Every human being requires care at some point in their life and relies on the care of others in order to shape them into functioning human beings.²⁷ People also expect a level of care from the medical field, when they seek aid for an illness. There is an assumption that hospitals, clinics, or physicians will all be able to provide an adequate level of attention to maintain or re-establish a suitable level of health. Our dependence on such medical support throughout our lives demonstrates its importance, and the value that care theory can provide. While autonomy is the driving force in healthcare today, patients and providers must also acknowledge a human's need for dependence. Ironically, autonomy would not be possible without the care of others.²⁸ The ethics of care allows individuals to analyze situations from the perspective of care and to confirm a human being's reliance on care.

Care ethics is, therefore, a compulsory component within healthcare designated to ensure that services are effective and useful. Providing care, either for one individual or for the population of an entire country, does sometimes require referral to abstract or general moral theories, but its application must always be implemented with an aim to provide specific care.²⁹ Even though those who are discussing bioethical theory may not be responsible for the care themselves, they must ensure that their theories are applicable to a field that is accountable for the medical wellbeing of numerous citizens.³⁰ This may be difficult, however, since it has been proven that not all bioethical discourse can be applied to all patients or individuals around the world, even though they are human beings, and as such, moral agents. This implies that care ethics may be

more suitable for specific healthcare situations, as opposed to common bioethical theories, such as deontology and utilitarianism.

i. Substitute Decision-Making

Any individual who is deemed not to have adequate decision-making capacity must be appointed a substitute decision maker (SDM) who provides consent for them. A substitute decision-maker acts on behalf of a patient, making decisions based on how the patient would have, and the surrogate's own autonomy should not be considered when providing consent. It must be understood that acting as a proxy entails simply being a voice for an individual, often a loved one, who is unable to speak for themselves.³¹ However, it is not uncommon for an SDM to consider the effects of a decision on their own life when considering the autonomous wishes of an incapable patient. This is common at the end of life, when choosing whether to forgo or withdraw life support; when a surrogate must also think about how a significant decision, such as this, will impact a family. Withdrawing life support can be difficult, but if it is in conjunction with a patient's previously-expressed wishes, the act of withdrawing can also be beneficial for a family as it brings closure to a loved one's life and the burden of care disappears. It is never permissible for an SDM to act solely based on their own wishes, especially if their opinions differ from the patient on whose behalf they are acting.³²

The way that a substitute decision-maker is chosen can vary, depending on whether the patient chooses an individual or whether one is appointed after the patient loses capacity. For example, a patient has the right to appoint a durable power of attorney for health care to make any decisions on behalf of the patient if they are deemed incapable. This is a form of advance directive, and the selected individual does not need to be a family member.³³ This can be done to

ensure that the elected SDM shares the same values as the patient or has been made aware of the patient's values and wishes, and that they are able to make decisions for the patient in a stressful and potentially emotional time.³⁴ Without the selection of a specific individual, the surrogate automatically becomes a family member or loved one (in accordance with a hierarchy in local legislation) or is appointed by the court or government.

A completely incapable patient is one who lacks any capacity to make a decision. For the most part, this includes patients who are permanently unconscious, such as those in a persistent vegetative state. It also includes patients who may be conscious, but are heavily sedated, or individuals who are mentally unstable and not aware of their surroundings or able to make any decisions regarding their care. Substitute decision makers who act on behalf of completely incapable patients must be careful to ensure that they are acting based on what their loved one would have wanted while they still possessed a level of decision-making capacity.³⁵

It is hoped that patients, especially completely incapable ones, had the opportunity to discuss their preferences with their friends and family while they were able to express their wishes clearly. It is helpful if a patient has an advance directive which provides healthcare workers and families with guidance about an individual's wishes.³⁶ This almost completely eliminates the need for a substitute decision maker to make major decisions about a patient's health. Although it is essential that there is an appointed individual able to provide consent for less significant treatments, or any not listed in the advance directive, there is no question as to what the patient wants. The document acts as a representation of the patient's informed consent and, as Kelly explains, acts as an "ace of trump" in that the directive is the first and only indication of the patient's autonomous choices.³⁷ However it should be remembered that an advance directive may not be a legal document in some jurisdictions, and an SDM is still required to confirm a

final decision. Information should also be gathered about when an advance directive was created (does the patient still hold the same beliefs in the current moment?) and whether the patient was capable when creating the document. If the SDM can prove that the patient had since changed their mind from the instructions on the advance directive, or was not in sound mind when it was created, physicians have a duty to act on a choice made by the SDM in accordance to the patient's new wishes.

When a formal advance directive does not exist, a substitute decision-maker must make decisions on behalf of the patient. There are standards to which a surrogate must adhere, in order to ensure proper health care for an incapable individual. The 'Substituted Judgement' standard emphasizes that a proxy is only voicing the previously expressed opinions and wishes of the incapable patient. The SDM, in this instance, is able to provide some forms of proof of what the patient preferred which demonstrates to a physician what a patient would have done for themselves. This can be difficult, especially in circumstances where an SDM is unsure of the patient's wishes in a specific situation. This is solved using the 'Best Interests' standard which stipulates that a surrogate is able to make a decision based on the best interests of the individual patient, or of a reasonable person. Ideally, a substitute decision maker would be able to combine these two standards to make a suitable decision on behalf of the patient. Based on values and an evaluation of a patient's lifestyle, a decision can be made that is best for that specific patient.³⁸ There may also be legal resources, such as the Health Care Consent Act in Ontario, Canada, which specifically outlines how an SDM should use the "Best Interests" Standard to make a decision.39

A patient can have a limited capacity, however, and still be deemed incapable of making their own medical decisions. One example of a patient with limited capacity is an individual suffering from dementia, who only experiences lucid thoughts and awareness some of the time. Patients with these diseases often have advance directives that explicitly state their wishes for the future, but without this type of document, a substitute decision-maker has a difficult role.⁴⁰ These patients sometimes have the ability to be aware of their surroundings, and make small decisions about everyday tasks, such as meals or activities, but they are not aware of their condition or able to make any decisions regarding proper medical care.⁴¹ A proxy not only has to consider the wishes of the patient before the progression of their disease, but also how they would react to a treatment or choice in the present time. They must still act in the patient's best interests, but also keep in mind that although the patient may be confused, they are able to feel pain and be aware of the people around them.⁴²

When dealing with situations that involve patients with limited capacities, but who are aware of their condition and surroundings, such as mentally disabled patients, it is best if a surrogate works with the patient to make medical decisions.⁴³ Even if the incapable patient is unable to rationalize or process their condition and their options, they are able to understand the words and facts that are provided. The dual decision-making is most effective, because the incapable patient feels included and respected, and that their autonomy is being acknowledged. By using a substitute decision-maker, it is ensured that a proper decision will be made that is in the best interests of the patient. If both of these individuals agree, proper consent can be provided for effective medical care.⁴⁴

There is an importance in maintaining autonomy in these types of situations as much as possible, since it is considered a human right and promotes human dignity. When an incapable patient, such as the one with dementia just mentioned, who is progressing into the late stages of the illness, becomes unable to speak for themselves, they are still a human being who deserves to

be respected. While they may not be able to make their own decisions, their autonomy should be considered.⁴⁵ This is where care ethics may be helpful because it does not revolve around autonomy. It emphasizes that particular relationships should be considered, as opposed to one blanket theory that can be identically applied to the general public.⁴⁶ These particular relationships between patients and their SDMs should ensure that patients are treated as individual human beings, who have specific values and needs, and not simply as a set of symptoms that need curing. This is an important component of compassionate patient care, leading to a trustworthy and effective relationship between care-giver and recipient.⁴⁷ The relations with their care-givers must include trust and compassion, which raises the notion that SDMs, as well as patients when they are capable, should rely on those around them for support in decision making.

Autonomy is often regarded as solely focusing on what an individual chooses for themselves, but it is almost impossible for any person to be completely autonomous and independent. All human beings are dependent on others for at least a part of their lives.⁴⁸ Autonomy allows patients to make their own choices, but it also requires that they accept care and support from those around them. The care from others allows autonomy to be as prominent as it is in healthcare today. Bioethics promotes autonomy and principlism, since it puts patients in charge of their own care, but it fails to acknowledge dependence as being part of autonomy. The ethics of care recognizes this relationship and stipulates that the two must rely on each other to ensure the ultimate goal of adequate healthcare.⁴⁹

In reality, many patients might include their family or close friends in the decision-making process. While this is expected, it is important to understand the role of a support system – they are not acting as substitute decision-makers for the patient, nor should they be coercing the

patient into making a particular choice. The concept of coercion can seriously impact a capable individual's ability to make a decision that is reflective of their own wishes. If a patient is coerced, their consent is not considered autonomous, and is, therefore, invalid, since an outside party has influenced their decision. Coercion directly removes an individual's freedom to make their own choices. Extreme coercion involves direct threats towards a patient, such as a physician threatening to stop treating the patient if they do not follow their orders.⁵⁰ It is crucial that informed consent is free of external pressure and that doctors are aware of any ways coercion can be present in the decision-making process.

Furthermore, patients may feel coerced and pressured by their family, or certain sections of society when making decisions regarding medical treatments or procedures. It is possible for family members to coerce a loved one with a direct threat, for example that care will not be provided unless a certain procedure or treatment is undergone.⁵¹ Usually, however, there can be external pressure from a family, by which the patient is persuaded to choose an option, because they want to please their family. This can occur with elderly patients in nursing homes wanting to please their grown children, or feeling that their own autonomous decision is not as valued as their children's.⁵² It can also be applied to children wanting to please their parents by undergoing something that they feel uncomfortable taking part in, even if they are above the legal age to make their own decisions, or have the capacity to consent on their own.⁵³ Although a healthcare worker must still accept consent from a patient who has been pressured by an outside influence, they are able to acknowledge this pressure and try and counsel their patient to do what is truly their autonomous choice.⁵⁴

Society also uses coercive techniques in various forms to try and influence the general public to make certain healthcare decisions. For example, the FDA requires that cigarette

packaging has images and warning labels about the serious harmful effects of smoking. They believe that these powerful visuals may influence people to stop smoking in the hope that they think about their health.⁵⁵ Offering monetary rewards for participating in studies, such as ones aimed at weight loss is another example of coercion.⁵⁶ Although an individual may believe that they are making an autonomous choice, there is a level of outside influence that persuades them to make a decision with which society or higher organizations agree and encourage. These types of tactics are not direct coercion, as they do not pose direct threats, and allow a level of autonomy for each individual. They still, however, include a level of manipulation hoping that a patient will conform to society's goals and wishes.⁵⁷

It is of great concern to researchers and medical practitioners that vulnerable patient populations exist and are being coerced or heavily influenced as they make certain medical decisions that do not truly reflect their personal values or wishes. Vulnerable populations can be comprised of children, the impoverished, or prisoners, among other vulnerable groups.⁵⁸ This concern also extends to participation in medical research in which these groups are manipulated or studied in which they are convinced to participate and which may not be directly therapeutic, or solely for the common good of society.⁵⁹ This is a problem, because all individuals have autonomous rights if they are deemed capable, and persuasion or direct coercion from outside influences should not be allowed to interfere. Children are an example of a vulnerable population, because their decision-making capacity is not considered developed enough to provide informed consent. Other vulnerable populations may be influenced by insurance companies, access to healthcare institutions, or by elements of society to conform to a certain standard of care, even though they may feel they deserve better, or they prefer another method of

treatment. For example, a patient with depression may feel as though therapy would be beneficial, but most settle solely for a prescribed medication. ⁶⁰

Ideally, an SDM or a capable patient would partake in shared decision-making with their healthcare team. This method, where doctors and substitute decision-makers/patients collaborate to make medical decisions, is effective, because it combines the scientific knowledge and recommendations of a physician, with the personal values and preferences of the patient (by means of their surrogate). By using a shared decision-making model, SDMs and patients are able to use the support of physicians or nurses or other healthcare workers to guide them into making a suitable proxy decision.⁶¹ Shared decision-making is especially useful when a substitute decision-maker is appointed by the courts or government. This would occur if the incapable patient did not have any family or close friends that could act as a proxy decision-maker. A court-appointed guardian has no prior relationship with the patient, and relies on the 'best interests' standard to make decisions. By interacting with physicians, who are more familiar with the patient, the guardian is able to make appropriate decisions for the incapable individual. Sharing information and recommendations would lead to what is ultimately best for that specific patient.⁶²

It is also important to think about a potential power imbalance between and a patient and their substitute decision-maker, for example, between parents and children, or those with dementia and their caregivers. As an individual with Alzheimer disease (AD) progresses through their condition, for example, care becomes more and more necessary. Often a son or daughter feels responsibility to care for their parent with AD until it becomes too much of a burden. At this stage, many patients with Alzheimer Disease are transferred to a nursing home or hospice, where they can receive constant care and support.⁶³ In either of these situations, patients become

less and less aware of their true surroundings, which can tire out their care-giver as they become more responsible for their safety. This burn-out is common.⁶⁴ Tronto discusses four phases of caring, the fourth being care-receiving. This phase consists of patients, for example, being perceptive to the care they are receiving and understanding its necessity.⁶⁵ In the case of an AD patient, they may not realize why they require care and do not demonstrate appreciation, but frustration instead. A patient may not understand why there is another individual helping them get from one place to another, when they believe they are capable of doing it themselves.⁶⁶ In reality, the patient does require extra support, but they are unable to understand this fact. The lack of acknowledgment of 'care-receiving' can make a care-giver feel as though they are not caring enough and make their job extremely difficult. In these situations, finding enough patience to uphold autonomy when making decisions for incompetent patients can be challenging, albeit necessary.

Although it may be difficult, respecting the autonomy of patients with Alzheimer disease, or others with incapacitating factors is essential. It is important to recognize that although they may be unable to make significant medical choices with regard to treatment, these individuals may still be able to communicate about treatment, such as indicating when they are in pain, and about daily activities, such as what time they would like to eat, which clothing they would like to wear, or with whom they would like to interact.⁶⁷ Allowing some liberties for these patients indicates to them that they are still being respected and that they are still leading meaningful lives with some level of control over their choices. This becomes progressively more challenging as their disease becomes worse, but there should always be some effort to provide opportunities for autonomous decision making. This also strengthens the relationship between a patient and their caregiver, and leads to better care. While there may be some level of risk involved if a

patient is allowed to walk around a nursing home alone, for example, it may be worth a possible minor physical injury if a patient can recognize that they are being cared for as a person, and not as a patient in an institution.⁶⁸

These freedoms also indicate that the patient is simply a person with a mental disability, and not a patient in need of curing. Often medicine focusses on cure as opposed to care, and in the case of dementia, cure is not possible.⁶⁹ A patient with Alzheimer disease will not improve mentally, and accepting that diagnosis can be difficult. Understanding that this disease is terminal can allow care-givers to recognize the necessity of their role. Therefore, care should be the primary goal of treatment. Treating the patient like a human being, and acknowledging their values and wishes demonstrates that their autonomy is being respected and their dignity is still intact. This personalist approach ultimately works best, so that these patients are able to maintain some control and attach meaning to their life.

When a decision must be made for an incapable patient, such as one with Alzheimer disease symptoms described above, a substitute decision maker must be appointed. The choice of who may act as a substitute decision-maker varies depending on the situation, but once chosen, they must always act on behalf of the patient and abide by their previously-expressed or presumed wishes.⁷⁰ The input of such individuals supersedes the simple solution of letting a physician determine the appropriate course of treatment. As explained by Shalowitz, a surrogate, who is a family member or friend is better able to predict and decide what a patient would have preferred than a doctor or healthcare worker.⁷¹ This implies that using a surrogate is the most ethical solution to the problem of a patient not being able to communicate for themselves. Ultimately, this is the best option to uphold autonomy and provide appropriate care for an incapable individual. It also requires a patient, if they are selecting this SDM, to acknowledge

that relationality is an integral part of autonomy, and that they will depend on the care of others in order for them to achieve their medical wishes.

An individual who has become accustomed to an individualistic society rooted in autonomy may find it difficult to re-frame their notion of autonomous decision making to include relationships beyond just having an appointed SDM. While needing care is universal among all humans, it can be challenging to acknowledge that as an adult, someone else will have to care for you and that you will be unable to care for yourself.⁷² Losing control over oneself is a common fear within society, and while appointing someone Power of Attorney or creating a living will or advance directive may comfort an individual through instructing others in what their autonomous choices would be, there must still be a sense of trust in others to do what is best in the event that their advance directive is not applicable to a particular situation.⁷³ Recognizing this need for care and accepting that it will become a reality is essential in order for autonomy to gain a new connotation that may be more applicable to real situations as opposed to hypothetical ones. Furthermore, even if a patient is not incapable, this new meaning of autonomy may encourage them to seek help from others in making a decision or gathering information, instead of adding stress to their own lives, carrying out every task, and making every choice alone.⁷⁴

ii. Provider-Patient Relationships

Care ethics, at its core, focusses on relationships, and can be aptly applied to the relationships between patients and their healthcare providers. Positive and open relationships lead to better healthcare, proving the need for the analysis of the ethics of care and its utility.⁷⁵ This relationship between patient and provider must include honesty, trust, and openness, to ensure that adequate medical services are being delivered. A patient should feel comfortable and autonomous, while a doctor must ensure that they are not being paternalistic, but, rather, honest

and helpful. Not all patient-physician relationships are so perfect, but striving towards this level of support should be a goal. By maintaining these components within a relationship, care is at the forefront, in addition to autonomy and trust. Trusting relationships rooted in care lead to a higher level of patient independence and may produce a better medical outcome, setting up both the patient and their physician for success.⁷⁶

It is certain that bioethics is based upon issues in healthcare, and that the ethics of care has always been a necessary component, even though it may not be formally identified as such. We need to care in order to work in or trust healthcare. Furthermore, by simply discussing the ethics of care and delving into how it is actualized in reality, all individuals who participate in the health sector may be able to truly understand the purpose of their work, and the motivations that drive them to do their job well.⁷⁷ It is obvious that healthcare professionals who do not truly 'care' about their patients or about what they are doing, do not provide successful or adequate service. Such an approach to their daily activity can damage the relationship with their patients and negatively affect their work. On the other hand, by recognizing that healthcare workers do, indeed, care and view their job as something beyond just earning a living, the ethics of care becomes a stronger theory that is a necessary component of effective healthcare.⁷⁸

The ethics of care maintains that everyone requires care in their daily lives, especially with regard to medicine. Joan Tronto presents a sequence of care that can be utilized when creating policy, or making a choice that must be focused on care and how it should be implemented or provided. She outlines four phases of caring, some of which were alluded to in the previous subsection: caring about, taking care of, care-giving, and care-receiving. This sequence includes separate steps that are all interconnected to make certain that the best level of care is provided.⁷⁹ While these phases describe how care should be approached, they fail to provide a normative

foundation upon which acts can be based. Simply having the responsibility to care does not constitute enough knowledge to understand how care should specifically be implemented.⁸⁰

While no ethical theory can provide specific guidelines regarding what to do in certain situations, Vanlaere and Gastmans present the idea that personalism may be the answer to the dilemma of normativity for care, and can, therefore, provide this vital component for this ethical approach.⁸¹ By combining personalism and care ethics, one is better equipped to provide effective healthcare. Care ethics already has contextual features that allow it to be applied to medicine, but personalism provides foundational methods with which to explain why individuals must be cared for, and why human beings must be considered as whole units. It is a characteristic of human nature to care, and by adding the component of what human nature entails, care theory becomes a more viable ethical foundation of healthcare.⁸² It may also give health care providers a deeper understanding of their responsibilities and duties that would influence the quality of care they provide and relationships with their patients.

The ethical theory of personalism, as the name suggests, focusses on the entirety of a person. It places emphasis, not only on a single aspect of an individual, but on the whole of the human being.⁸³ Louis Janssens outlines what it means to be a human being, in terms of what factors comprise each individual person. He postulates that there are eight dimensions that must be accounted for when considering an entire human being: a person is merely a subject, they possess corporeality, the material world consists of our body and the bodies of others, individuals are basically directed toward each other, humans are part of a greater social world, a person is called to know and worship God, we are all historical beings, and all human persons are fundamentally equal, but at the same time each is original.⁸⁴ While these components will not all be explained in detail, Janssens' theory will be referred to as an interpretation of personalism.

It is evident in Janssens' description that a human being has both subjective and objective dimensions, all of which must be considered. Personalism requires that an individual is a subject, but also that they are related to others, and require those relationships in order to flourish, survive, and sustain their status as a 'person.'⁸⁵ This all-encompassing method of thought is important to recognize. In Western medicine, autonomy is often cited as having the most value. Personalism acknowledges that a human being is a subject, but also puts forth that subjectivity, or autonomy, is not the most important factor. In fact, there is no single most important dimension; rather, all of the dimensions described by Janssens should be considered together. This point makes it clear that the entire human being is accounted for and considered when making decisions, and no single aspect of humanity is of higher value than the others.⁸⁶

Valuing all of the dimensions equally can be viewed as a positive way of thinking. However, personalism attracts some criticism because of its Christian roots. It is evident from Janssens' argument, as well as from that of other moral theologians, such as Augustine and Levinas, who was not truly religious, that God plays a significant role in the definition of a human being.⁸⁷ Christianity teaches that there is a human transcendence present in the lives of people, which influences the way they are perceived, as well as the decisions they make.⁸⁸ It is also clear, especially in the direct writings of Janssens, that there is a belief that all humans are creations of God, and that they should follow His teachings and guidance in order to live Christian lives.⁸⁹ Furthermore, this idea extends to the sacredness of human life, which can influence medical care. These religious considerations may be beneficial for Christians who are using personalism, but cannot be used as arguments for individuals and societies that do not believe in the Christian faith. While personalism does not rely on religion to enable it to stand as

its own theory, there may be hesitation to implement this theory on a global level, as the backlash against Christianity may overpower the non-religious ideas being put forward.

When care ethics and personalism work in tandem, the results are an ideal theory with which to approach and provide healthcare. Personalism can provide care ethics with a normative method for realistic implementation, and the two combined can enforce the notion that particular relationships must be acknowledged to provide patient-centered care. Care ethics and personalism must be added to autonomy in order for them to be applied in the medical world today, which heavily favors autonomy as the most important ethical theory for decision making.

Aside from caring for a patient and providing medical care, a physician's role when caring for their patients and aiding in the decision-making process is to provide proper guidance in order for a patient to make an autonomous choice.⁹⁰ To effectively fulfill their role, a doctor is expected to form a trustworthy relationship with their patient, to ensure that confidentiality and privacy are upheld and that the patient is comfortable enough to ask informative questions.⁹¹ This ultimately leads to better care, as a patient and their healthcare team work together towards the common goal of the patient finding relief. If a patient does not feel cared about or valued, they may not comply with medications, or may disregard any information given by their physicians.⁹² A trustworthy relationship is built upon proper communication and a doctor's ability to assess each individual's case in detail. A physician is expected to use prior knowledge to ensure that their relationship with patients is appropriate based on each specific patient.⁹³

Effective communication is the key to success for a patient-doctor relationship. One main role that a physician has is to educate their patient about their condition, provide a diagnosis and prognosis, and present any treatment options.⁹⁴ This can be stressful for a patient, and it is crucial

that their physician is able to present information in a way for the patient to properly understand and process their situation. It is also the doctor's responsibility to assess and tailor each relationship to fit the individual patient, to ensure that they are comfortable and able to provide their informed consent, should they choose to do so.⁹⁵ This promotes patient-centered care and demonstrates the use of care ethics described above. Usually, if a doctor is kind and forthcoming, and open to a discussion about goals and values with their patient, the relationship becomes a positive one, leading to successful care and future steps.⁹⁶ If a physician or resident seems burnt out and act as though they do not personally care for the patient, there may be a misinterpretation leading to problems in the future. It is important that physicians monitor themselves and also think about how they present themselves to their patients.⁹⁷

When providing necessary information, a physician should consider how a patient will react, and try and deliver the facts in a way that will make the patient most comfortable. When disclosing information, a doctor, for example, can either explain every last detail and risk related to a given procedure or treatment, or choose to omit certain facts that are either irrelevant or are thought to possibly cause more harm than good (by potentially scaring the patient unnecessarily).⁹⁸ However, physicians should be careful about making a subjective decision about what will harm their patient, and they should use their experience to make that determination. Problems could arise if the patient waives their autonomous rights, or does not trust the doctors sufficiently to have faith in their medical recommendations. It would then fall on the professional to use moral reasoning to make the best decision for their patient: either to explain differently, or to go to a substitute decision maker if the patient is incapable of making their own choice.⁹⁹

A physician may choose from one of three disclosure standards to present the proper information in order to obtain genuine informed consent. The "professional practice standard" involves outlining all information that a fellow professional would agree to be necessary; the "reasonable person standard" entails explaining what a reasonable person would find the most useful; and the "subjective standard" which requires the doctor to discuss information they feel is relevant to a specific individual patient. The best standard is one that combines the latter two which ensures that the proper facts are provided at a level that the patient can understand and which reflect their own lifestyle, and therefore allow them to make an informed decision.¹⁰⁰ A doctor must consider that a patient may not feel that all medical facts or drug chemistry will be relevant in their decision making process, and only significant and potential risks and benefits, as well as a simplified version of the science, are necessary. For example, patients who come from an impoverished community and who have little formal education will probably not be able to understand difficult medical terminology which will lead to an uninformed decision regarding their medical care if a physician does not simplify the language so the patient understands.¹⁰¹

It is also important that once a physician provides any necessary information and offers recommendations that they follow up with their patient and offer help in areas they can provide it. Although this is less applicable when discussing possible treatments and procedures, this practice should be implemented during general practitioner visits. For example, a physician can recommend to a patient that they stop smoking. They explain the risks of the action and the benefits of cessation, but it is rare for a physician to offer additional practical support. Although a doctor may be hesitant to prescribe withdrawal medication, it can still be beneficial for a patient who is trying to quit, to receive withdrawal support from their physician. Assistance of this kind results in the patient being more honest about their habits, and more likely to trust their

physician's advice. This ultimately motivates the cessation of smoking and improves the doctorpatient relationship.¹⁰²

In the past, paternalism was a common practice in medicine, where doctors made choices on behalf of their patients because a doctor's educated opinion was valued more than a patient's personal one. A physician knew what would provide the most benefit for a patient and that recommendation was accepted.¹⁰³ Now, patient autonomy takes priority over a doctor's opinion in making the ultimate decision. Nevertheless, paternalism is still present in society. Beauchamp and Childress emphasize the difference between hard and soft paternalism. Soft paternalism involves a doctor making a decision for someone who is unable to make one for themselves, such as a depressed patient who cannot clearly weigh their options or who gives uninformed consent. Hard paternalism consists of a medical professional directly interfering with a competent person's choice, because that choice differs from the medical suggestion. In other words, there is no respect for autonomy.¹⁰⁴ Soft paternalism can be morally justified. An extreme example is preventing a patient under the influence of drugs or alcohol from committing suicide. A presumably reasonable person would consider the interference morally acceptable, since the autonomy of the patient is compromised.¹⁰⁵

It is more difficult to justify hard paternalism. For instance, withholding a negative diagnosis because a doctor feels the patient would suffer from knowing their fate, is frowned upon, and discouraged. A physician's decision to withhold an aspect of the actual scenario from a patient in order to prevent unnecessary stress and resource overuse may be justified. For example, a patient with an anxious nature discovers he has a small thyroid nodule, which may or may not be cancerous. His general practitioner knows that these situations rarely end up being malignant, and does not believe the patient has any reason to be concerned, nor does he have any

reason to order extra tests at the present time. It can be accepted that the physician recommends yearly screening to ensure that cancer does not occur.¹⁰⁶ This case is one of paternalism, in that it involves a physician acting in a way that they believe will be most beneficial for their patient. It is also an example of how theory does not directly transfer to practical situations, as some would argue that a physician must explain all risks and possibilities to a patient, and that the patient then has an autonomous right to undergo further testing at any cost. This leads into the issue of futility, which will not be discussed at length.¹⁰⁷

There are additional definitions and interpretations of paternalism as well. Gert, Culver, and Clouser define paternalism as consisting of four parts: A physician must believe their actions will benefit their patient, a physician recognizes that their actions towards a patient are the kind that need moral justification, a physician does not believe that their action has the patient's past, present, or immediately forthcoming consent, and a physician regards the patient as believing that they can make their own medical decisions.¹⁰⁸ These four stipulations do not all have to be met for an action to be considered paternalistic, but it is important for doctors to reflect on their own thoughts and intentions before acting. This definition ensures that paternalistic behavior is always based upon good intentions that simply need to be justified. The definition also acknowledges that paternalism can be justified and unjustified and that there are certain situations where unjustified paternalism is permissible.¹⁰⁹

Paternalism should, indeed, need to be justified. A physician who is able to recognize that there is a possibility that a paternalistic action may be morally wrong, has the ability to analyze the action to determine if proper justification can render it permissible. A physician who can make judgements about morality can also judge whether they are being paternalistic, and try and avoid this kind of behavior. It is also up to each individual physician to determine how to deal with these actions and thoughts. If a doctor believes himself to be virtuous, he can decide whether a paternalistic act would violate a moral ideal or moral rule. Another physician may identify more intensely with casuistry, which does not evaluate morality, but simply compares a current case with others from the past, and uses those previous cases to decide on a conclusion in the present.¹¹⁰ Furthermore, when a physician considers which philosophical theory (if any) they identify with, they can use it to determine whether they are indeed acting paternalistically. An act consequentialist always justifies and deems permissible paternalistic actions that would benefit a patient. Conversely, a strict deontologist stipulates that these actions are never permissible, and a common moralist argues that they are sometimes justified and allowed.¹¹¹

Paternalism, however, can lead to negligence, if all the proper information is not given to a patient in the process of making a decision. If a physician does not feel the need to disclose all of the risks of a procedure, it can be catastrophic if those very risks occur. For example, if a doctor does not explain the risk of vaginal delivery to a woman with a high-risk pregnancy, the birth may have complications that could end up being fatal for the fetus and the mother. This could also lead to court cases in which doctors are sued for simply not providing all the necessary information.¹¹² To avoid these situations, doctors must disclose any general risks associated with a procedure, but also explain any risks associated with a particular patient. This ensures that a patient can make a properly informed decision that they feel will be best for them. This further emphasizes the need for proper discussion between a physician and a patient that includes all relevant and necessary information, but not too many technical facts to overwhelm the patient.¹¹³

All things considered, paternalism, although it is often disapproved of, is sometimes beneficial when it is executed as persuasion or a 'nudge' in the right direction. It can be useful

for patients who are overwhelmed and unable to make an appropriate decision for themselves. A physician's previous experience can aid in persuading a patient to choose what their physician believes to be the option which is in their best interest, and which offers the best possible outcome. It can be difficult for a patient to think rationally in an emotional state, and having another outside voice that still cares for the patient is beneficial.¹¹⁴ Furthermore, when physicians voice their own personal experiences as self-disclosure, it can demonstrate to their patient that they do care more than just about the medical interventions, and are willing to share their personal stories to help the patient make the best decision for themselves.¹¹⁵

It has been established that autonomy must include a relational component to make it complete. Within healthcare, the most common relationship experienced by an autonomous patient is the one with their physician. As explained above, physicians have a duty to properly interact with and communicate with their patients. While paternalism needs to be considered when providing patients with information, care ethics can also be used to improve and maintain a positive relationship between a physician and their patient. When discussing duty and doing what is right, bioethical discourse considers deontology to be in the realm of individualized healthcare. Healthcare itself relies on others, both on individuals and collective societies, in order to determine that there is a duty to care and to provide medical aid to everyone.¹¹⁶ According to the World Health Organization, all individuals have a right to healthcare, inferring that governments and individuals have a duty to provide care.¹¹⁷ This is an example of care ethics as well. The duty to care can be included both as a deontological statement, but also through the ethics of care, which focusses on the particular relationship, in this case, between patients and their care providers. The connection between deontology and care ethics may not be as clear as in other areas, such as politics, but within healthcare, it is obvious that both of these moral theories must

rely on each other to provide a service that has been deemed essential for all human beings.¹¹⁸ In this situation, there may not be a universal duty for all individuals to provide care, but there is definitely a duty to care by those who choose to pursue a health profession.

In an ideal situation, all healthcare workers would be selfless individuals who truly wish to aid their patients and provide them with care. Getting paid and having an occupation are only additional benefits. However, it can be questioned if those providing care have an actual duty to do so.¹¹⁹ Deontology, in a philosophical context, focusses on individual reasoning and doing what is right. An individual has a duty to act in a way that corresponds to them being a moral person.¹²⁰ In the context of healthcare, separating care and duty can be difficult, since individuals do have a duty to care in order for them to make a living.¹²¹ There is little tolerance for treating patients badly and without respect, which are signs of inappropriate care. However, while individuals working in healthcare are essentially paid to care about others, there is also a notion that they feel they have a duty to care as individuals, regardless of their job. Often people train in health professions because they feel a responsibility and desire to care for others. Their duty to care as individuals and their duty to care as workers merge into one unified motivation to care.

Simply having a duty to care, however, is not enough to be a successful healthcare provider in today's society. In order to provide the best care through a personalist approach, by acknowledging that a person is more than just a set of symptoms, a physician or healthcare provider must be compassionate. Compassion is a virtue that is experienced through an emotion. It demonstrates a level of humanity which connects with their patients' personal lives.¹²² When an individual feels the need to act on their notion of compassion, beneficence is being exhibited, as one is trying to bring about added benefit to the other person in need. While compassion is a virtue, beneficence is a supererogatory addition that is not required of all individuals.

Empathizing with someone else is considered humanly positive, but going one step further and taking action is not always necessary.¹²³ If this idea is applied to medicine, it may be argued that providing some sort of care, such as assistance with dying, may be going too far. However, compassion may motivate a doctor to do just that.

It is evident that compassion should have a place within medicine. Physicians have an obligation to be compassionate towards their patients, as it is necessary to provide meaningful healing. Compassion is a virtue that some individuals display better than others, but it is also a virtue that can be taught.¹²⁴ All healthcare professionals have a responsibility to be well-versed in their medical specialties, but also have a duty to be able to interact with patients on a personal level. Insisting on compassionate employees emphasizes the other duties that are expected of those working in the medical field. Physicians, primarily, have a fiduciary duty to put their patients first, a duty to provide due care, and a duty to maintain confidentiality within their patient-physician relationship. These duties all require compassion to ensure that a patient is appropriately treated.¹²⁵ This promotes providing 'good care' that treats symptoms, but also improves the patient's overall wellbeing.

Furthermore, the relationship between a doctor and their patient is strongly dependent on compassion. By demonstrating compassion, a physician is also recognizing the importance of a patient's feelings, and by extension, their values. By displaying a level of empathy and acknowledging the hardships a patient is facing, more trust is being built that should lead to better care. It is crucial that a physician has the skills to be authentically compassionate to make certain their patient feels comfortable and supported.¹²⁶ However, it should be noted that while compassion is able to create a more personal bond between a physician and their patient, the relationship should not be symmetrical. While there should not be a sense of superiority from the

physician, the patient should not feel as though their doctor is unable to help them. A physician must stay objective while engaging in the subjective world of their patient. This further emphasizes that a physician needs to empathize and try to feel the exact emotions of their patient, but must be able to acknowledge their hardship and evaluate their suffering at a deeper level.¹²⁷

It is important to discuss the role of a physician and the type of relationship they should create with their patient. While it is crucial that a healthcare professional is compassionate and demonstrates their desire to care, the patient must stay a client and the relationship has to remain professional. Finding a happy-medium can be challenging; a patient must feel that they are being treated kindly and with respect, but a physician must remain objective and not become involved in their personal life or coerce them into making a decision that does not coincide with their values. A physician should acknowledge that requiring care is a universal experience as this simple recognition encourages empathy toward a patient.¹²⁸

However, the previously-described power differential must be considered, and a physician does have a task to complete, resulting in the physician having to accept that they may not receive a reciprocal amount of care in return. Tronto's four phases of caring model does include a section that explains the need for an acceptance of care by a patient, for example, but a physician's duty is to sacrifice this potential return in order to do their job. Carol Gilligan describes this self-sacrifice as 'mature care,' and feels that it is crucial in healthcare. However, van Nistelrooij postulates that mature care may be one method of characterizing this relationship, and that there is the possibility of dealing with the patient as a client, but also as a fellow human being in distress and in need of care. Appealing to the human instinct of helping others may be

more indicative of how a physician should approach their work, as opposed to simply doing their job.¹²⁹

Medical professionals train extensively to be able to treat ailments and cure disease, but many may find it difficult to see beyond a patient's diagnosis and details of the disease. It is crucial that patients are treated like human beings, and that their whole self is considered when being given medical treatment for illness. 'Good care' should be based upon the entirety of a person, and can include religious, cultural, and relational components, not just symptoms.¹³⁰ A physician has the responsibility to establish a trustworthy and positive relationship with their patients to ensure that these human dimensions are acknowledged and taken into account during treatment. By approaching medicine with the notion that appropriate care should be tailored to a 'person,' and not a patient, there is a better chance of success. This also upholds autonomy, to a degree. A patient who values their family's opinion, for example, may receive a better care plan if their physician is aware of their needs. Their autonomous choice may depend on others, and a doctor who can recognize this would be better at administering care. In healthcare, it is evident that personalism should always be considered in order to provide appropriate care.

It is clear from the discussion above that a physician is expected to exhibit empathy and compassion in addition to adequate medical skills when informing and treating a patient. In order to accomplish these goals, a doctor must be attentive. The primary objective of a consultation or conversation with a patient should be able to understand the personal narrative of an individual and to acknowledge their experiences.¹³¹ It may be routine to get a list of symptoms and run the corresponding tests, but it would be more beneficial to converse with the patient to better comprehend their biography and the events leading up to their ailment. Being attentive is another duty of a physician that allows a patient to feel as though they are more than just a collection of
symptoms, and it demonstrates an elevated level of care from a healthcare professional. While it may take more time to speak with the patient about more than just symptoms, it is valuable to do so to ensure that all aspects of their history and their experience is understood and realized.¹³²

Moreover, appreciating that every patient has their own unique history and set of experiences will aid a physician in providing better care. A doctor may learn new information about how a symptom appeared or certain events of a patient's life that may be harmful that would improve a patient's care, and also ensure that treatment is individualistic. It ensures that the informed consent process, in which a physician determines what information needs to be disclosed is more personal and ultimately leads to a decision that is right for a specific patient.¹³³ Not everyone fits into a pre-established mold, and patients' experiences are subjective, emphasizing the need for additional care to provide the best and most personal support for an individual. Furthermore, asking questions and gaining knowledge about a patient's background may be beneficial if a physician has not clarified their diagnosis, and allows for a patient to be considered wholly.¹³⁴ It also improves the relationship between a patient and their healthcare worker and garners trust, leading to better care.¹³⁵

B: Parental Decision Making for Children

As described above, medical decision-making can be a stressful, complex and difficult task when facing life-threatening diseases. Individuals must rely on medical information, but internal values and experiences also come into play when an autonomous choice about medical care is being made. Children fit into the previously defined category of patients who may have a limited capacity with which to make their own medical decisions. Children have some capacity, but in the US, their informed consent is only considered to be assent, and must be combined with

parental consent due to the legal age of consent in the United States. It can be difficult to assess a child's capacity as well as to determine that they are sufficiently capable of making their own medical decisions. It is often assumed that a child cannot understand and appreciate their condition and treatment options, which invalidates their consent for any medical interventions.¹³⁶ Even though children are seemingly unable to provide legally accepted informed consent, their autonomy should not be dismissed, however. The assent or dissent of a child can be reflective of how much a child understands about their situation and these wishes should be considered by parents and physicians. Extra care should be taken to ensure that a child's voice is heard and that they feel respected and included in any decision-making about their own condition.¹³⁷

Along with a child's assent or dissent, parental consent is necessary for all decisions involving children. Doctors must treat parents the same way they would a capable patient by discussing all relevant information about a child's diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment, as well as the associated risks and benefits.¹³⁸ A parent has an autonomous right to make decisions on behalf of their child, which they consider to be in their best interest. Since parents have a right to raise their children however they see fit, they also have the same right to make decisions regarding appropriate medical care. It is assumed that parents always act in the best interest of their children and that a parent or guardian knows their child's habits and lifestyle, and can decide whether a medical intervention will be beneficial or harmful.¹³⁹ A difficult situation can arise if a child and their parent do not agree about a treatment plan or procedure. For example, if the child feels uncomfortable undergoing a surgical procedure, but their parents insist that it occurs, legally, a doctor must listen to the parents, as long as there will be no direct harm to the child. Although this violates a child's autonomy, their lesser level of capacity makes it acceptable.¹⁴⁰

Neonates are also children, but differ from the above described minor since they have no capacity. Infants are not able to express their wishes in any form, aside from possibly being able to show and demonstrate when they are in pain or feeling uncomfortable. Furthermore, this communication may not be clear to everyone, and recognizing the suffering of a neonate can be difficult for inexperienced individuals.¹⁴¹ In the case of these patients, parents are making decisions for their children and acting with their best interest in mind. It is recognized that since infants are completely unable to communicate or exercise autonomy, physicians are involved in making decisions about medical care, providing parents with the ability to provide permission and assent, as opposed to full consent for care.¹⁴²

A parent acts as a substitute decision-maker, following similar guidelines as SDMs who have been described above. However, there are unique nuances in making decision for children which will be explored below. Along with medical opinions, the interplay of external factors influence how parents determine all of the options available to them in order to decide on the best course of treatment for their child. This ultimately affects their child's future quality of life. This section discusses how socioeconomic factors, religion, culture, and general personal values influence a parent's final medical decision for their ailing child.

i. Parental Autonomy and Values

Parents are responsible for choosing options that result in the most beneficial care and should act with the welfare of their child in mind. When an adult makes a decision, they do so based on their opinions and values, and it is hoped that a surrogate would be able to apply those same values when making a choice for their child. It is difficult to employ this 'substituted judgement' model of surrogacy to children, since they often do not have the opportunity to express personal values and interests in their own medical care. Parents do not have the ultimate

right to impose their own values on their child and label them as being the same as their child's. This is especially true with infants, so the 'best interests' standard is employed.¹⁴³ Best interests can vary depending on how individuals define a positive quality of life, and in order to make decisions that are in the best interest of a child, personal values should be considered. A most common determinant involved in choosing the best medical option is the determination of harm, as parents want to prevent their children from experiencing injury and suffering.¹⁴⁴

Values frequently influence medical decisions, and parents making decisions on behalf of their child may use 'values' as a justification for their choices. Parents have, both consciously and unconsciously, established their own values, and live their lives to match them. However, they must consider that their personal values may not be the same as the values of their children.¹⁴⁵ In situations where a child is completely incompetent, as is the case with babies or fetuses, a parent automatically imposes their own values upon their child and assumes that their values are equal to those of their child. This can be difficult to oppose, since an infant is unable to disagree with their parent.¹⁴⁶ Healthcare workers should be careful to ensure that a child's best interests are considered, in addition to respecting the values of their parents.¹⁴⁷ If possible, they should consider the personal values of their patient in order to provide the best care for them. In scenarios where a child is able to communicate, either partially or fully, such as in the case of mature minors, there is greater ability for a child to apply their own values to make or voice their decisions regarding medical interventions.¹⁴⁸

However, some scholars argue that a parent has the liberty and the right to make the ultimate decision for their children with no interference from any other party. Since parents have a right to raise their children however they see fit, they also have the same right to make decisions regarding appropriate medical care.¹⁴⁹ It is assumed that parents would automatically

and always act in the best interest of their children and that a parent or guardian knows their child's habits and lifestyle, or is able to determine a hypothetical situation in which their child exercised 'good' behavior that corresponds to a happy life. Since it is regarded as a right or liberty, it can be included in parental autonomy, which implies that no one, whether it is a doctor or a court, should be able to override a parental decision, unless a parent is deemed incapable of making decisions. There is an added responsibility to decide whether a medical intervention will be beneficial or harmful.¹⁵⁰

Other researchers have suggested that instead of a 'best interests' standard, parents should use a harm-ratio standard to determine an appropriate medical decision for their child. Birchley argues, however, that a harm analysis should be used to inform the 'best interests' standard leading to a thoroughly thought-out decision. A harm analysis includes analyzing the amount of predicted harm associated with each intervention or treatment option made available to a parent.¹⁵¹ It can be assumed that the intervention with the highest benefit and the lowest harm is the best option for a child. However, this may not always be the case, and a harm analysis may not be the most suitable method for making a medical choice. For example, if all options for a child are considerably harmful, parents would have to consider the best interests of their child in order to make a choice that coincides with the predicted outcome.¹⁵² Using the harm principle to override a parent's decision is also questionable, should they pick a treatment option that causes more harm than benefit to their child.

In order to obtain informed consent from parents, doctors must treat them the same way they would an adult patient when discussing a child's diagnosis, prognosis and treatment.¹⁵³ Relevant information should be provided clearly by physicians who are aware of a child's medical situation. Furthermore, it can demonstrate an extra level of compassion if a physician is

able to comment on a family's personal values and how they might influence a medical decision. Healthcare workers who are able to relay this information and also be aware of entirety of a situation are more likely to build trusting relationships with their patients and their parents.¹⁵⁴ Once all information has been presented, and sufficient time has been given to process that information, a parent should be able to provide an informed decision. They should be able to demonstrate that they understand and appreciate their child's situation and the implications that could result for each treatment option. This ensures a competent decision that is truly in the best interest of a child.¹⁵⁵

Every individual is entitled to their own personal values and to having the liberty to incorporate them when making medical decisions. However, it can be difficult to assure oneself that personal values are important and crucial when societal pressure can still manage to greatly influence which medical decisions a parent is expected to make for their child. In the Western world, autonomy is considered to be one of the most important rights that humans have. The earlier section of this chapter outlined the concept of autonomy and how physicians should go about assessing a patient's autonomy and obtaining informed consent. A healthcare worker must respect autonomy when they are sure that a patient is capable of making a decision, and has done so, free of coercion. In order for a patient's autonomous decision to be respected, an individual must be deemed to have adequate decision-making capacity with which to provide their informed consent. A capable person is able to understand simple medical facts about the procedure or treatment to which they are consenting, and to appreciate the effect that the medical intervention will have on their body and on their life.¹⁵⁶

An autonomous choice, as alluded to in the last paragraph, is autonomous, because a patient is able to use their own reasons to make a decision. Personal values must be considered to

ensure that a medical decision feels right and is in accordance with personal beliefs. Common personal values include culture and religion; other values can include one's need or emphasis on family, as well as education levels and valuing information, and how human life is regarded. It can be difficult to understand medical jargon and information when it is presented in times of crisis. For this reason, personal values are useful in predicting possible implications for medical choices. They act as a filter, in addition to other external factors, that allow patients the opportunity to see how their medical choice will affect their own life, but also why they make the choices that they do.¹⁵⁷

Personal values differ for each individual, but decisions that involve a family may shift the decision-making focus away from the self to the other. Two components will be considered: how are medical decisions affected by considerations about a marriage, and how does a specific intervention affect a family that includes children and extended relatives. Many people value their family and recognize the importance of family as a major component of a happy lifestyle.¹⁵⁸ When parents are forced to make serious medical decisions for their sick child, familial considerations may influence which decision is made. For example, a mother whose unborn child may have a disability and she herself, is at risk during delivery, may fear that her husband will not be able to handle the amount of stress associated with raising a child who will need constant physical support because of a disability. Studies have indicated that divorce may be an outcome of this added pressure.¹⁵⁹ Moreover, parents who already have children, and are facing their possible death, may wonder if their family will be capable of dealing with grief and sadness over the death of an infant.¹⁶⁰ Studies have also indicated that families who include a disabled child, or who grieve the loss of a child together, end up stronger and are better suited to accept their situation, as opposed to trying to deal with difficult situations alone.¹⁶¹ These considerations

can influence how parents make decisions regarding serious medical interventions for their children.

Another possible factor that may influence decision making is the parents' level of education. In cases where one or both parents have university degrees or medical backgrounds, it may be assumed that they value scientific facts and medical information over emotional or personal influences. Although it is medical information, details about a medical condition can be a personal choice, some parents preferring a simple explanation of a prognosis and treatment options, choosing to use other values to make a decision rather than equipping themselves with a detailed 'education' about the condition.¹⁶² There may even be a risk that physicians will be more inclined to support parents with a higher education level. For example, a doctor may consider parents who are professors more rational and better able to make a decision that corresponds to the medical opinion, thereby creating a bias on the doctor's part for the more educated parents. This should not be the case, as healthcare workers have a responsibility to respect any of their patient's wishes and processes of decision-making, and provide information and support equally among parents.¹⁶³

Other personal values may also play a role in parental decision making. For example, when a parent makes a decision for their infant, they have to consider their own personal views on personhood, and what it means to be a human being. The concept of personhood often stems from religion, and decisions are often made based on religious views. For example, when discussing the beginning of life, there is some debate about when one becomes a person, and therefore attains moral status. Catholic doctrine maintains that life starts at conception, and embryos are considered to be people throughout a pregnancy. ¹⁶⁴ Judaism teaches that one's soul appears once they take their first breath.¹⁶⁵ Attaining moral status is crucial, as it entitles a person

to human rights. In this case, a person has a right not to be killed intentionally, especially through a medical procedure.¹⁶⁶

The principle of double effect (PDE) is an essential component of religion-based decision-making. PDE is applied to situations when there is a question about an action that may produce multiple outcomes, some intended and others consequential. It asks the question, is it right to perform a procedure with an intended good effect that may result in an unintended but foreseen negative effect?¹⁶⁷ When using this tool, there are four conditions that must be met in order for the decision to be deemed acceptable: the act in question may not be wrong morally, the negative result may not actually produce the intended good action, the 'bad' effect must not be the intended effect, and the benefit must outweigh the unintended, evil outcome.¹⁶⁸

Religion, for the most part, is an acceptable decision-making tool, as choices can be justified through religious doctrine. There are scenarios, however, where religion is not a sufficient method for choosing a course of treatment. The most common example is an infant whose parents are Jehovah's Witnesses. In this branch of Christianity, blood transfusions are prohibited in order to abstain from blood and to respect God, both of which are believed to be true in this religious sect.¹⁶⁹ A capable individual has a right to believe these statements to be true and opt out of blood transfusions, but an infant who has no sense of capacity has not been given the opportunity to choose their religious beliefs. If a baby is in a life-threatening situation and requires a blood transfusion, it can be considered immoral for a parent to prohibit this intervention based on their own beliefs. It is not fair to their child to have their parents' beliefs imposed upon them, in the situation where they could die as a result. It is in the best interest of the child to disregard their parent's religion.¹⁷⁰ This is a unique situation, and in other less emergency situations, religion should be considered and accepted in decision-making.

Although personal values imply that autonomy is being upheld, it can be common for patients, including parents, to be influenced by societal values that they encounter regularly. The Social Value Theory describes this social influence. It states that an individual can be persuaded to make a decision based on values that society holds, as opposed to ones that specifically pertain to the individual.¹⁷¹ Although these societal values are not restricting, they usually include not harming children, and choosing an option that ensures the best quality of life. In the case of parents making decisions, it is expected from society, that they will choose the option with the most risk aversion, to ensure the safety and health of their child. If a parent chooses or wishes to choose an option that has an increased amount of peril, they may feel pressure that this is the unacceptable choice, because of how they will be viewed within society. The perception of making the right choice can go from being appropriate for an individual family, to being the acceptable choice within society.¹⁷²

This concept of 'right' extends to the question of "Am I being a good parent?" A parent may feel that if they choose an option that is not generally accepted within their community or Western society in general, they will be considered a bad parent. Although the definition of a good parent can be both individual and general, it should be emphasized once again that medical decisions should be autonomous and reaffirm a parent's own opinions about being a good parent.¹⁷³ When a random sample of parents was asked to define their version of a good parent, most of the outcomes included doing well by their child, being there and constantly supporting their sons and daughters, and making informed decisions that are in the best interest of their children. All of these responses are focused on individual families and allow room for all parents to decide for themselves what being a good caregiver entails.¹⁷⁴ There are situations, however, where society heavily influences whether a parent is perceived to be good or bad, such as the

issue of vaccination. If a parent chooses not to vaccinate their child, they may be viewed as a bad parent, who is imposing their own misguided personal values and harming their child.¹⁷⁵ Such negativity can be hurtful for a parent, and cause them to make a decision that is not compatible with their autonomous choice, but corresponds, instead to society's choice.

Societal values can also be imposed on individuals who are immigrants and come from different cultures. How a society accepts cultural choices can hugely influence a parent's choice to use these external factors when making medical decisions for their child. If a Western community emphasizes medical information and standards that correspond to a specific outlook on life, it can be difficult for recent immigrants or individuals from other cultures to feel that their cultural influences are acceptable with regard to medical decision-making. There may be some level of persuasion from the new host society to not depend on cultural communities to make choices, as one has an autonomous right to make their own individual choices, which may not be the case in other countries around the world.¹⁷⁶ Furthermore, there may be pressure from Western society to completely disregard external factors, and rely solely on medical information. If a patient values their own culture, it can be difficult to be expected to make a decision that ignores this and only includes their new society's values. Moreover, if there is a language barrier between a patient and a physician, there could be added pressure to accept what the doctor recommends, simply because a patient is unable to communicate their own wishes.¹⁷⁷

In the event that a parent makes a treatment decision for their child, and a doctor strongly disagrees with them, use of a court can be warranted.¹⁷⁸ The disagreement between a physician and their patient's advocate must have an indication that a medical intervention is not in the best interest of a child, and, therefore, should be overturned, or vice versa. Disagreements can often be avoided through effective communication and trustworthy relationships, as well as

explanations about the treatment choice.¹⁷⁹ However, a court can act as a third party to ensure that an appropriate decision is made.

In an opposite circumstance, a parent may request a specific treatment for their child that was not recommended because of safety or efficacy. In this situation, a physician has the right to conscientiously object to the choice of medical care, and either recommend another course of treatment or refer their patients to another physician. Conscientious objection allows healthcare workers to object to a treatment or procedure if it goes against their own personal beliefs. In some situations this can include religious practices, such as a physician not performing abortions, or it can include a nurse not wanting to participate in care for a brain dead patient whose family refuses to withdraw ventilators.¹⁸⁰ If circumstances arise in which a parent's decision is not in line with a physician's they have the right to object. Furthermore, if a physician believes that the requested intervention is going to harm a child, a court decision may be sought, which would again override a parent's decision-making capability.¹⁸¹ The same is true if a parent denies or prevents a recommended treatment that could save a child's life.

If a case is brought to court, the purpose of the action is to provide a new and neutral assessment. This ensures that a court is able to make their own judgements and decisions without a biased account from one or both parties involved. The role of a court is always to act in the best interest of the child, and it is up to a judge to attain all important facts associated with a patient.¹⁸² This must always include medical information, as well as a doctor's recommendations. It may include a parent's assessment or statement about personal values or an economic situation that influenced the original decision that was denied. Risks and benefits must be weighed in order for an appropriate decision to be made. In some circumstances, a court simply decides who the proper decision-maker is, not what the ultimate decision is, and in other

instances, a final choice is made to which all parties must be adhered. If a court decides on a medical treatment with which a physician disagrees, they have the option to remove themselves from the case and uphold their right to conscientious objection described above.¹⁸³

When a court does have to make a decision, it can be useful to examine past cases that either set a precedent or that demonstrate the possible results of a current situation. Furthermore, these cases also demonstrate and provide information about the hardships that families have endured that may shed light on the negative aspects of a medical intervention. It has also been observed that many cases involving medical decision-making for children have sided with physicians. There may be speculation or even an assumption that healthcare professionals abuse the court system in order to ensure that their recommended course of treatment be implemented, when there is a disagreement with parents.¹⁸⁴ This method is highly unethical, and a court should be able to assure parents that they are making a choice that abides by the law and is not influenced by specific doctors and their agendas.

ii. Socioeconomic Considerations in Decision-Making

In addition to personal and societal values, there are external factors that parents cannot control that impact medical decision-making for their children. Both financial status and access to resources can pose difficulties in receiving adequate medical care for oneself and for one's children.

Financial burdens are difficult to overcome, especially at times when there are more important uses for money than medical care, such as food and shelter. If a family is impoverished, their children may not have suitable access to healthcare, and, therefore, are denied their human right to health. Poverty, however, causes more than just financial problems, and clinicians have attempted to understand and advocate for children who live in poverty and

are unable to afford medical care.¹⁸⁵ When a parent makes a decision, their way of life may differ from a physician's perspective and may result in a disagreement. It is important for healthcare workers to educate themselves about children who live in poverty, and understand that they may be affected by social determinants of health that lead to medical problems. Examples include lack of financial support, as well as a threatening physical environment, and exposure to violence and substance abuse. These difficult situations may put parents in a difficult situation when having to make medical decisions for their children, if they are unable to understand the information or have the ability to care for their children, for example.¹⁸⁶

In order to ensure that all children have access to medical care, the American government has established programs, such as Medicaid, that provides insurance for children, as well as increased access to healthcare services.¹⁸⁷ In numerous countries around the world, where healthcare is available to every citizen for free, this would not cause the same amount of burden as it does in the United States. Parents may feel that their own insurance or lack of insurance is not sufficient for their child, and it would be assumed that parents would embrace services to ensure their child is able to stay healthy.¹⁸⁸ Not only is it important to provide these insurance programs, more health services are trying to raise awareness about childhood poverty in order to create public policy giving children a right to free healthcare. When making medical decisions, a parent who lives in poverty may be more inclined to use resources, knowing that there are programs that exist that will take care of their children and their medical needs. It may lessen the financial burden and allow for a child to gain more medical care.¹⁸⁹

Further financial factors may influence parental decision-making. Paid leave can be difficult to attain for many professionals, and a parent may experience a decrease in income if they have to take care of their child instead of going to work. This is a sacrifice that some parents would be willing to make, while others would not be able to afford a lower income or time away from their jobs, in order to be with their sick children. There is the possibility that they may lose their insurance if they do not work enough, which would result in added stress when making decisions on behalf of their child. Intense stress of this kind may even cause the parent to become ill, complicating the situation to an even greater degree.¹⁹⁰

The financial status of a family and how it impacts decision-making is dependent on a parent. Parental autonomy is primarily considered in these situations, and some scholars and healthcare professionals feel that it is never permissible to make a decision about a child's medical care based on financial burden.¹⁹¹ It is not the fault of an infant that their family's socioeconomic status may be low, but this status should not impede a child's right to health. Similarly, if a child is born into a family that is well-off, it is also unacceptable to insist on numerous medical treatments to over-treat a child, if it is not in the best interest of the child. The main focus should be just that, what is in the best interest for a child, not their parents. A child is unable to decide for themselves whether a treatment is warranted, and should have the opportunity to be healthy and use medical resources appropriately and effectively.

In addition to financial status influencing parental decisions, sheer access to medical care can heavily influence whether a parent is able to provide proper healthcare for their child. If a family experiences a poor financial situation, it can be questioned whether the government programs that aim to reach out deeply into communities and promote and provide healthcare are effective.¹⁹² For example, government programs may provide necessities, such as vaccines, basic medications for colds, in addition to common antibiotics that are frequently needed within communities. There may not be, however, access to advanced medical technology that could save a child's life.¹⁹³ The American healthcare system leaves little room for all children to have

access to new and effective treatments because of cost. Are there resources for those families who cannot afford it? The answer to this question is difficult to answer, and it is unclear who is to blame if an innocent child dies as a result to not having access to medical technology because of socioeconomic status.

In addition, not having access to communication due to language barriers can cause problems for parents who are unable to understand their children's physicians. This could lead to a parent not exercising their right to autonomy and agreeing with the doctor because they have no other choice.¹⁹⁴ Language barriers also shed light on the difficulties that individuals have when they are unable to use the English services provided to them. For example, information can be distributed to parents whose children have cancer, or mothers who are having pregnancy complications, but if the information is all only in English, a patient who is unable to speak or read in English will not become informed, and, as a consequence, may not receive adequate medical care.¹⁹⁵ Although hospitals and public health services wish to solve this problem, they may run into issues with cost. It can be expensive to translate documents and resources into languages that are prevalent in a particular community.¹⁹⁶ However, if it is possible, by doing this, healthcare becomes truly inclusive and there is greater access for patients who previously felt neglected and unheard because of a language barrier.

To embrace linguistic diversity, healthcare facilities may implement services, such as interpreters or online information, to ensure that all patients are able to have access to adequate medical care.¹⁹⁷ This also relates to the issue of cultural competency within a hospital, which will be further discussed below. The need for staff and an institution as a whole to be culturally proficient and educated about culture and how patients make decisions, as well as aware of the resources that are available, is great. It is also important that the services that are provided use

professionals to ensure that medical information is being relayed accurately. For example, translators and interpreters should be well-versed in medical terminology and treatment information to ensure that a patient is given all of their options, and nothing is omitted. There is a fear that using family members or other individuals as interpreters may negatively affect a patient's right to autonomy if proper information is not given.¹⁹⁸

Culture is another factor that influences decision making from a social perspective. Cultural beliefs and traditions often inform a person's identity and personal values, but are also impacted by the environment where a person lives and who they interact with. Culture can be defined in numerous ways, and how an individual incorporates 'culture' into their lives varies between people. It can include a nationality with which one identifies and whose traditions and norms they uphold, or it can include a greater community, such as a 'Western' culture that encompasses general values, opinions, and opportunities. It can include race, or ethnicity, and should always be considered when making important decisions, because culture directly influences the way choices are made.¹⁹⁹ In American society, culture is accepted among communities as it contributes to personal values and to decision-making, and is generally respected in order to uphold an individual's autonomous rights.²⁰⁰

Culture, as described above, may heavily influence an individual's identity, which can contribute to how they define themselves as a person. The version of identity to which culture contributes is normative identity, which has the ability to be influenced by environment, society, parental values, and culture.²⁰¹ When an individual possesses a sense of identity, it influences how they live their life, and how they make decisions. Medical decisions require autonomy, but in order to make an informed choice, the values which make up a patient's identity have a bearing on their decision.²⁰² Culture, therefore, strongly influences how one may make medical

decisions. Parents must be careful, however, to ensure that their culture is not imposing on lifesaving medical care for their child. Although culture can influence how quality of life is predicted, and subsequently which medical intervention is chosen, it is crucial that parents recognize how culture influences decisions, and ensures that they are choosing an option that is in the best interest of their child, who is not yet aware of their future cultural influences.

An example of cultural considerations that can influence a medical decision is a view of disability. Some cultures may feel that disability of any sort, mental or physical, is a result of demons being present, or events from a past life. In addition, attitudes regarding the caring of disabled children can vary among cultures, as some parents will embrace children who need extra support, while others may consider disability a shameful phenomenon, and may not know how or wish to handle the extra care required. They may have to depend on additional family members to help, if they, in turn, wish to help.²⁰³ A cultural perspective on disability can influence whether a parent chooses for their child to undergo a procedure that may cause disability, or that could possibly remove a disability, in the hopes that their child would become 'normal' and healthy. It is hoped that parents recognize that disabilities can be dealt with and that children may still have a fairly good expected quality of life, causing them not to use a cultural opinion about disability to influence a medical decision for their child.²⁰⁴ However, if a parent chooses to act on a risk of disability, doctors not only have a duty to respect the wishes of the parents, but also to ensure that children are not being neglected or punished as a result of disability.

Another common cultural influence on medical decision-making is the association between race and trust in medical professionals. Studies have shown that African Americans are less likely to trust doctors, as a result of historic abuse and deception.²⁰⁵ If a parent does not trust their child's doctors or the medical profession in general, they may be less likely to seek medical care, possibly endangering their child. Furthermore, if in a situation where one has to choose between various treatment options, a parent may choose the option that coincides with their values, but which also leaves the least amount of room for distrust or coercion. In these situations, it is imperative for physicians to present information appropriately, with high levels of respect and understanding for parents making these difficult choices. This demonstrates that a doctor is trying to build a trustworthy relationship with a parent and their child, which would presumably result in the best medical care for a child.²⁰⁶

Cultural factors can greatly influence decisions, and as mentioned above, it is important for hospitals to embrace cultural competency within their institutions. Simply being aware and educated about cultural factors that contribute to decision-making makes a significant difference to patients, including parents. Encouraging cultural competency, which is demonstrated through resources being available and staff being educated about specific cultural practices, as well as communication skills about using culture as a decision-making tool, can be comforting for a patient and their family. It acknowledges that culture is valued and that personal cultural values are accepted.²⁰⁷ When a nurse or a physician asks about cultural components that contribute to how decisions are made, it demonstrates a level of understanding and may make a patient more likely to discuss their options with their physician. This builds trust and ultimately leads to ethical decision-making.²⁰⁸

Society, in general, embraces multiculturalism and accepts medical decisions that have been influenced by these personal values. There may be situations, however, where culture can negatively impact decision-making, and doctors should be aware of these circumstances. For example, some cultures emphasize the role of a male in the family. He is the one who makes all decisions, and is always respected, regardless of what the choice is. A mother not being able to voice her concerns or opinions, and simply having to submit to her husband may alarm some physicians. Similarly, some cultures value the opinions of elders, who have a final say in medical decisions.²⁰⁹ In these situations, culture should be accepted as a method of decision-making, but a physician also has a duty to ensure their patient is being cared for appropriately. It is important that a medical professional approach these situations with caution, in order to not offend a family. They may politely suggest that they disagree with the methods of decision-making.

iii. Fetal Decision-Making Considerations

More complexity is added when parents are tasked with making decisions for their unborn children. Care ethics and personalism, as reviewed above, can play a significant role in the decision-making process. When an individual decides that they would like to reproduce, there are numerous options available if they are unable to do so naturally, often bringing reproductive issues to the center of bioethical debate. Janssens spends a considerable amount of time discussing artificial insemination from a personalist viewpoint, but care ethics can also be considered. Many acts of artificial insemination, such as procuring a sperm donor or In-Vitro Fertilization (IVF), are considered immoral on religious grounds, as they defy the natural law of procreation. However, a personalist and care ethics approach may allow for these practices if certain conditions are met.²¹⁰ The particular relationship that exists between a parent and their child is precious to adults, and many individuals choose artificial methods of insemination to achieve their goal of having children. To justify this, one may analyze an action in its totality – the act itself, as well as its intention and consequences; both matter. In other words, the intention of bringing life into the world and caring for a child may justify using techniques of assisted reproduction.²¹¹

Similarly, the choice to use new technologies, such as Pre-Implantation Genetic

Diagnosis (PGD,) may be justified through the lens of personalism and care ethics. Currently, when a parent uses IVF, they have the option to screen and diagnose possible genetic disorders of embryos before they are implanted into a uterus. Couples may use this technique, for example, to implant an embryo that does not have genetic markers for Huntington's disease, due to the fact that one of their parents is either a carrier or they themselves have the disease.²¹² It can be argued that a parent has the responsibility to provide the best care and make the best decisions possible for their child, which includes preventing them from having a life with a serious genetic disease. Although a disease is only one component of a person, a parent may feel that the rest of their child's 'person' would be affected by this particular aspect of their existence. ²¹³ Numerous other ethical issues surround techniques, such as PGD, but if used as an ultimate promotion of care, they can be justified. PGD and other technological advances, such as genetic therapies and genetic editing, and their associated ethical considerations, will be discussed in detail in later chapters.

PGD and other technologies that can be used before the birth of a child demonstrate immense promise in the field of disease prevention and elimination, but deciding to use them may be extremely taxing for a parent. The idea of manipulating an embryo's genome can be daunting, even though it may be beneficial for both the child and the parent. This debate mirrors one that is often seen in mothers deciding about abortions. There may be guilt associated with the act, because the reasoning for the use of the intervention may revolve around a self-need.²¹⁴ For example, a parent may choose to change the genetic makeup of an embryo so that it does not code for Down syndrome. This would be beneficial for the parent, as it would be costly and time-consuming to raise a disabled child. A parent may also argue that it would be beneficial for

the child, since they would not have to deal with the difficulties of living with that disease. In these situations, selfishness is compared with responsibility and it is important that parents think about what is best for them, as well as what would be best for their particular child. Every case will be unique to each specific family, and this fact should be emphasized when making decisions of this nature.²¹⁵

This same decision-making process extends to decisions about pursuing genetic editing techniques during the PGD process. While editing an embryo's genome is currently prohibited in a number of countries across the world, and it was not encouraged to proceed with editing until all of the safety and efficacy concerns were addressed, it is a technique that may be used in the future.²¹⁶ Parents have to think about the implications of their manipulation on their child's future – whether it is worth taking the risk of a new technology in order to potentially improve the child's quality of life. This debate will be described further in later sections of this dissertation, as will the difficult task that parents may have when making a decision about partaking in fetal research. However, in all circumstances, the principles and components described above should be upheld and encouraged when making decisions for unborn children who cannot speak for themselves.

Clinical decision making traditionally focusses on a patient's autonomy, demonstrating that informed consent is the backbone of autonomous decision making. This section has clarified this concept by explaining that the many players involved in a patient's care (patients, substitute decision-makers, and providers,) are all involved in the decision-making process. However, it has also suggested that our current notion of autonomy may need to change in order to include an aspect of relationality through care ethics and personalism. These changes make autonomous decision-making more indicative of a whole person and, therefore, result in the delivery of better

care by healthcare workers. This also extends to the process by which parents use to make decisions on behalf of their children. Numerous internal and external factors contribute to these choices and a well-rounded decision depends on the combination of medical information with socioeconomic, cultural and religious factors. In the final analysis, the decision-making formula is made up of both internal and external factors, the sum of which results in the choice that is in the best interests of a child. ¹ National District Attorneys Association. *Minor Consent to Medical Treatment Laws*. 2013.

⁵ Paul Ndebele, "Research Ethics," in *The SAGE Handbook of Health Care Ethics* eds. Ruth Chadwick, Hank ten Have, and Eric M. Meslin, (Los Angeles: SAGE, 2011), 307-312.

⁶ George J. Annas and Michael A. Grodin, "The Nuremberg Code," in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, eds. Emanuel et.al., (Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008) 136-140., Richard E. Ashcroft, "The Declaration of Helsinki," in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, eds. Emanuel et.al., (Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008), 141-147.

⁷ Joan P. Porter and Greg Koski, "Regulations for the Protection of Humans in Research in the United States: The Common Rule," in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, eds. Emanuel et.al., (Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008), 156-166.

⁸ Albert R. Jonsen, *The Birth of Bioethics*. (New York: Oxford University Press, 1998), 90-98.
 ⁹ Jonsen, *The Birth of Bioethics*, 342-344.

¹⁰ Tom L. Beauchamp and James F. Childress, *Principles of Biomedical Ethics* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2009), 101-105.

¹¹ Bernard Gert, Charles M. Culver, and K. Danner Clouser, *Bioethics: A Systematic Approach*, (New York: Oxford University Press, 2006), 112-114.

¹² Kelly, *End of Life*, 29-32.

¹³ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 219-225.

¹⁴ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 226-227.

¹⁵ Kelly, Magill, and Hank ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic* 146-148.

¹⁶ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 228-230.

¹⁷ Charles Junkerman, Arthur Derse, and David Schiedermayer, *Practical Ethics for Students, Interns, and Residents: A Short Reference Manual* (Hagerstown: University Publishing Group, 2008), 20-21.

¹⁸ Árnason et.al. "Informed Consent," 112-115.

¹⁹ Árnason et.al. "Informed Consent," 106-107.

²⁰ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 142-145.

²¹ Beauchamp and Childress, *Principles*, 101-141.

²² Held, *The Ethics of Care*, 13-14.

²³ Held, *The Ethics of Care*, 48-49.

²⁴ Held, *The Ethics of Care*, 29-31.

²⁵ Held, The Ethics of Care, 77-78.

²⁶ Groenhout, *Connected Lives*, 30-33.

²⁷ Joan C. Tronto, *Moral Boundaries: A Political Argument for an Ethic of Care*, (London: Routledge, 1993), 120.

- ²⁸ Tronto, Moral Boundaries, 162-164.
- ²⁹ Tronto, *Moral Boundaries*, 109-110.

³⁰ Tronto, *Moral Boundaries*, 120-122.

³¹ Kelly, *End of Life*, 37-39.

³² Kelly, *End of Life*, 43-52.

² Health Care Consent Act, S.O.1996, c. 2, Sched. A (Ont)

³ John Coggon and Jose Miola. "Autonomy, Liberty, and Medical Decision-Making." *Cambridge Law Journal*. 70, no.3 (November 2011):523-527. doi:10.1017/S0008197311000845. ⁴ Coggon and Miola, "Autonomy," 528-532.

³⁴ Nina A. Kohn, "Matched Preferences and Values: A New Approach to Selecting Legal Surrogates." San Diego Law Review. 52 (September 2015): 399-425.

³⁵ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 183-206.

- ³⁷ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, Contemporary Catholic, 169-181
- ³⁸Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, Contemporary Catholic, 151-155

³⁹ Section 21 (1) of the Health Care Consent Act, S.O.1996, c. 2, Sched. A, (Ont)

⁴⁰ Ladislav Volicer, "End-of-Life Care for People with Dementia in Residential Care Settings." Alzheimer's Association, 2005.

⁴¹ Alexander A. Kon et.al., "Shared Decision-Making in ICUs: An American College of Critical Care Medicine and American Thoracic Society Policy Statement." Critical Care Medicine. 441, no.1 (January 2016):188-201, doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001396.

⁴² Bollig, G., G. Schmidt, JH Rosland, and A. Heller, "Ethical Challenges in Nursing Homes -Staff's Opinions and Experiences with Systematic Ethics Meetings with Participation or Residents' Relatives," Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences 29, no.4 (December 2015):810-823, doi 10.1111/scs.12213.

⁴³ Maria Kuthning and Ferdinand Hundt. "Aspects of Vulnerable Patients and Informed Consent in Clinical Trials." The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 11 (2013): Doc 03, doi: 10.3205/000171 ⁴⁴ Kon et.al, "Shared Decision-Making in ICUs," 11-12

⁴⁵ Jos V.M. Welie, "The Tendency of Contemporary Decision-making Strategies to Deny the Condition of Alzheimer Disease," in Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease, eds. Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004), 174-175.

⁴⁶ Ter Meulen, "Ethics of Care," 41-43.

⁴⁷ Welie, "The Tendency of Contemporary Decision-making Strategies," 176-178.

⁴⁸ Tronto, Moral Boundaries, 120.

⁴⁹ Tronto, *Moral Boundaries*, 162-164.

⁵⁰ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 232.

⁵¹ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 232-234.

⁵² Bollig, "Ethical Challenges in Nursing Homes."

⁵³ Priscilla Alderson and Virginia Morrow, *The Ethics of Research with Children and Young* People: A Practical Handbook (London: SAGE, 2011), 69-72.

⁵⁴ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 232.

⁵⁵ J.S. Blumenthal-Barby, "Between Reason and Coercion: Ethically Permissible Influence in Health Care and Health Policy Contexts," Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal 22, no.4 (December 2012): 360-362.

⁵⁶ Blumenthal-Barby, "Between Reason and Coercion," 350-351

⁵⁷ Blumenthal-Barby, "Between Reason and Coercion," 346-349

⁵⁸ Welch et.al., "Vulnerable Populations," 503.

- ⁵⁹ Welch et.al., "Vulnerable Populations", 504-505.
 ⁶⁰ Welch et.al., "Vulnerable Populations", 507-508.
- ⁶¹ Kon et.al, "Shared Decision-Making in ICUs," 1-4
- ⁶² Andrew B. Cohen, and Megan S. Wright, Leo Cooney, Terri Fried. "Guardianship and End-of-Life Decision-Making." JAMA Internal Medicine. 175, no.10 (October 2015):1687-9. doi:

10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.3956.

³³ Kelly, End of Life, 66-74

³⁶ Junkerman et.al., *Practical Ethics*, 61-68.

⁶³ Elizabeth Furlong, "The Role of Nurses and Nursing Education in the Palliative Care of Patients and Their Families," in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, eds. Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004), 245-247.

⁶⁴ Richard L. O'Brien, "Darkness Cometh: Personal, Social, and Economic Burdens of Alzheimer Disease," in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, eds. Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004), 10-13.
⁶⁵ Ter Meulen, "Ethics of Care," 42-43.

⁶⁶ Pierre Boitte, "Elderly Persons with Advanced Dementia: An Opportunity for a Palliative Culture in Medicine," in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, eds. Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004), 102-103.

⁶⁷ Ter Meulen, "Ethics of Care," 46-47.

⁶⁸ Franz J. Illhardt, "Saying No to Patients with Alzheimer Disease: Rethinking Relations among Personhood, Autonomy, and World," in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, eds. Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004), 208-210.

⁶⁹ Ter Meulen, "Ethics of Care," 40-41.

⁷⁰ Bernard Lo, *Resolving Clinical Dilemmas: A Guide for Clinicians* (Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2013), 104-106., Jessica W. Berg, Paul S. Appelbaum, Charles W. Lidz, and Lisa S. Parker, *Informed Consent: Legal Theory and Clinical Practice*. (New York: Oxford University Press, 2001), 108-112.

⁷¹ David I. Shalowitz, Elizabeth Garrett-Mayer, and David Wendler. "The Accuracy of Surrogate Decision Makers." *Archives of Internal Medicine* 166, no.5 (March 2006):496, doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.5.493.

⁷² Daniel Callahan, "The Elderly and Dementia." in *Dying in the Twenty-First Century: Toward a New Ethical Framework for the Art of Dying Well*, ed. Lydia Dugdale, (Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2005), 156-157.

⁷³ Kelly, *End of Life*, 66-74.

⁷⁴ Susan L. Mitchell, "Palliative Care of Patients with Advanced Dementia." *UpToDate*, November 22, 2019, <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/care-of-patients-with-advanced-dementia</u>

⁷⁵ Held, *The Ethics of Care*, 36-38.

⁷⁶ Árnason et.al. "Informed Consent," 112-115.

⁷⁷ Held, *The Ethics of Care*, 51-53.

⁷⁸ Held, *The Ethics of Care*, 42-43.

⁷⁹ Tronto, *Moral Boundaries*, 105-108

⁸⁰ Linus Vanlaere and Chris Gastmans, "A Personalist Approach to Care Ethics," *Nursing Ethics* 18, no.2 (March 2011):163, doi: 10.1177/0969733010388924.

⁸¹ Vanlaere and Gastmans, "A Personalist Approach to Care Ethics,"162-163.

⁸² Groenhout, *Connected Lives*, 21-51.

⁸³ Joseph Selling, "Is a Personalist Ethic Necessarily Anthropocentric?" *Ethical Perspectives* 6, no.1(1999):60-63.

⁸⁴ Louis Janssens, "Artificial Insemination: Ethical Considerations," *Louvain Studies* 8, no.1 (1999):5-10.

⁸⁵ Selling, "Is a Personalist Ethic Necessarily Anthropocentric?" 61-62.

⁹¹ Mark A. Rothstein, "Autonomy and Paternalism in Health Policy." *The Journal of Law, Medicine, and Ethics.* 42, no.4 (2014): 590-594. doi: 10.1111/jlme.12178.

⁹² Maureen Kelley, and Cyan James, et.al., "Patient Perspectives on the Learning Health System: The Importance of Trust and Shared Decision Making." *American Journal of Bioethics*. 15, no.9 (2015):4-17, doi: 10.1080/15265161.2015.1062163.

⁹³Annie M. Cushing "Learning Patient-Centred Communication: The Journey and the Territory." *Patient Education and Counseling*. 98, no.10 (October 2015):1236-38.

doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2015.07.024.

⁹⁴ Junkerman et.al., *Practical Ethics*, 17.

⁹⁵ Helena Hermann, and Manuel Trachsel, Nikola Biller-Andorno. "Physicians' Personal Values in Determining Medical Decision-Making Capacity: A Survey Study." *Journal of Medical Ethics.* 41, no.9 (September 2015): 739-44. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2014-102263.

⁹⁶ Birdie McCarthy. "Patients' Perceptions of how Healthcare Providers Communicate with them and their Families Following a Diagnosis of Colorectal Cancer and Undergoing Chemotherapy Treatment." *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*. 18, no.5 (October 2015): 452-458. doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2014.05.004.

⁹⁷ Justin P. Lafreniere et.al., "Burned Out at the Bedside: Patient Perceptions

of Physician Burnout in an Internal Medicine Resident Continuity Clinic." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 31, no.2 (February 2016):203-208, doi: 10.1007/s11606-015-3503-3.

⁹⁸ Beauchamp and Childress, *Principles*, 125-128.

⁹⁹ Beauchamp and Childress, *Principles*, 131-137.

¹⁰⁰ Árnason et.al. "Informed Consent,"

¹⁰¹ Flory, Wendler and Emanuel, "Empirical Issues in Informed Consent for Research," 652-653.
 ¹⁰² Jaana Keto et.al., "Physicians Discuss the Risks of Smoking with their Patients, but Seldom Offer Practical Cessation Support." *Substance Abuse, Treatment, Prevention and Policy*. 10

(November 2015):43, doi: 10.1186/s13011-015-0039-9.

¹⁰³ Beauchamp and Childress, *Principles*, 214-216.

¹⁰⁴ Beauchamp and Childress, *Principles*, 216-219.

¹⁰⁵ Beauchamp and Childress, *Principles*, 220-223.

¹⁰⁶ Wendy Rogers and Yishai Mintzker. "General Practice Ethics: Overdiagnosis, Harm and Paternalism." *Australian Family Physician.* 44, no.10 (October 2015): 765-766.

¹⁰⁷ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 224-231.

¹⁰⁸ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 237-238.

¹⁰⁹ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 238-252.

¹¹⁰ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 252-258.

¹¹¹ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 258-268.

¹¹² K. McCombe, and D.G. Bogod. "Paternalism and Consent: Has the Law Finally Caught up with the Profession?" *Anaesthesia*. 70, no.9 (September 2015):1016-1018.

doi:10.1111/anae.13210.

¹¹³ McCombe and Bogod, "Paternalism and Consent," 1019.

⁸⁶ Vanlaere and Gastmans, "A Personalist Approach to Care Ethics," 164-167.

⁸⁷ Groenhout, *Connected Lives*, 52-103.

⁸⁸ Groenhout, *Connected Lives*, 65-69.

⁸⁹ Janssens, "Artificial Insemination," 9.

⁹⁰ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 213-216.

¹¹⁴ Ajay Aggarwal and Joanna Davies, Richard Sullivan. ""Nudge" in the Clinical Consultation – an Acceptable Form of Medical Paternalism?" *BMC Medical Ethics*. 15 (April 2014):31 doi: 10.1186/1472-6939-15-31.

¹¹⁵ Emily-Charlotte Frances Allen, and Bruce Arroll. "Physician Self-Disclosure in Primary Care: a Mixed Methods Study of GP's Attitudes, Skills, and Behaviour." *British Journal of General Practice*. 65, no.638 (September 2015):e601-8. doi: 10.3399/bjgp15X686521. ¹¹⁶ Tronto, *Moral Boundaries*, 131-133.

¹¹⁷"Human Rights." World Health Organization. Accessed February 10, 2017,

https://www.who.int/topics/human_rights/en/

¹¹⁸ Held, The Ethics of Care, 156-157.

¹¹⁹ Steven D. Edwards, "Is There a Distinctive Care Ethics?" *Nursing Ethics* 18, no.2 (March 2011): 188-189. doi: 10.1177/0969733010389431.

¹²⁰ Held, *The Ethics of Care*, 58-59.

¹²¹ Held, *The Ethics of Care*, 31-36.

¹²² André Comte-Sponville, A Small Treatise on the Great Virtues: The Uses of Philosophy in Everyday Life, (New York: Metropolitan Books, 2002), 111-112.

¹²³ David C. Thomasma and Thomasine Kushner, "A Dialogue on Compassion and Supererogation in Medicine." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 4, no.4 (Fall 1995): 418-419. doi: 10.1017/s096318010000623x.

¹²⁴ Comte-Sponville, A Small Treatise, 116-117.

¹²⁵ Charles J. Dougherty and Ruth Purtilo, "Physicians' Duty of Compassion," *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 4, no.4 (Fall 1995):428-432. doi: 10.1017/s0963180100006241.

¹²⁶ Petra Gelhaus, "The Desired Moral Attitude of the Physician: (II) Compassion," *Medicine, Healthcare and Philosophy: A European Journal* 15, no.4 (November 2012):403, doi: 10.1007/s11019-011-9368-2.

¹²⁷ Jos V.M. Welie, "Sympathy as the Basis of Compassion," *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 4, no.4 (Fall 1995):479-482. doi: 10.1017/s0963180100006307.

¹²⁸ Tove Pettersen, "The Ethics of Care: Normative Structures and Empirical Implications," *Health Care Analysis* 19, no.1 (March 2011):58-59. Doi: 10.1007/s10728-010-0163-7.

¹²⁹ Van Nistelrooij and Leget, "Against Dichotomies," 8-9.

¹³⁰ Paul Schotsmans, "Personalism in Medical Ethics." *Ethical Perspectives* 6, no.1 (1999):15-16.

¹³¹ Klaartje Klaver and Andries Baart, "How can Attending Physicians be more Attentive? On Being Attentive versus producing Attentiveness," *Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy* 19, no.3 (September 2016):351-352. Doi: 10.1007/s11019-015-9669-y.

¹³² Jens Erik Paulsen, "A Narrative Ethics of Care," *Health Care Analysis* 19, no.1 (March 2011):29-30. Doi: 10.1007/s10728-010-0162-8

¹³³ Paulsen, "A Narrative Ethics of Care," 31-33.

¹³⁴ Klaver and Baart, "How can Attending Physicians be more Attentive?" 353-355.

¹³⁵ Klaver and Baart, "How can Attending Physicians be more Attentive?" 357-358.

¹³⁶ Alderson and Morrow, *Children and Young People*, 107-111.

¹³⁷ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 95-99.

¹³⁸ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 87-88.

¹³⁹ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 17-22.

¹⁴⁰ Samuël, Knoppers and Avard, "Medical Research Involving Children," 266-270.

¹⁴¹ Jacob M. Appel, "Neonatal Euthanasia: Why Require Parental Consent?" Journal of Bioethical Inquiry 6, no.477 (May 2009):480, Doi: 10.1007/s11673-009-9156-3.

¹⁴² Stephen W. Smith, "The Killing of Severely Disabled Newborns: The Spectre Behind the Legalisation of Physician-Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia," Medicine and Law 24, no.4 (December 2005):794-795.

¹⁴³ Lo, *Resolving Clinical Dilemmas*, 99-101.

¹⁴⁴ Lo, Resolving Clinical Dilemmas, 264-268.

¹⁴⁵ Yudum Akyil, Anne Prouty, Amy Blanchard, and Kevin Lyness, "Experiences of Families Transmitting Values in a Rapidly Changing Society: Implications for Family Therapists," Family Process 55, no.2 (June 2016):368-381 doi: 10.1111/famp.12163.

¹⁴⁶ Alderson and Morrow, *Children and Young People*, 107-111.

¹⁴⁷ Stephanie Kukora and Naomi Laventhal, "Resident Attitudes on Ethical and Medical Decision-Making for Neonates at the Limit of Viability," American Journal of Perinatology 33, no.5 (April 2016):449-455. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1565916.

¹⁴⁸ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 87-88.

¹⁴⁹ Liza-Marie Johnson, et.al., "Ethics Consultation in Pediatrics: Long-Term Experience from a Pediatric Oncology Center," American Journal of Bioethics 15, no.5 (2015):7-8. doi:

10.1080/15265161.2015.1021965.

¹⁵⁰ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 17-22.

¹⁵¹ Birchley, "Harm is all you need,"111-114.

- ¹⁵² Birchley, "Harm is all you need," 115-116.
- ¹⁵³ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 87-88.

¹⁵⁴ Annie Janvier, Keith Barrington and Barbara Farlow, "Communication with parents concerning withholding or withdrawing of life-sustaining interventions in neonatology," Seminars in Perinatology 38, no.1 (February 2014):38-43. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2013.07.007.

¹⁵⁵ Lo, Resolving Clinical Dilemmas, 77-81.

¹⁵⁶ Kelly, *End of Life*, 29-32.

¹⁵⁷ Kon et.al., "Shared Decision Making in ICUs," 188-191.

¹⁵⁸ Mai Stafford et.al, "Parent-child relationships and offspring's mental wellbeing from adolescence to early older age," The Journal of Positive Psychology 11, no.3 (May 2016):328, doi: 10.1080/17439760.2015.1081971.

¹⁵⁹ Theodore P. Votteler and Katherine Lipsky. "Long Term Results of 10 Conjoined Twin Separations." Journal of Pediatric Surgery 40, no.4 (April 2005):618-629. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2004.12.011

¹⁶⁰ Janvier, Barrington and Farlow, "Communication with parents," 43.

¹⁶¹ Votteler and Lipski, "Long Term Results, 627.

¹⁶² Donna Weinstock, "Deer in the Headlights: Improving Patient Literacy," The Journal of Medical Practice Management 30, no.4 (Jan-Feb 2015):273-275.

¹⁶³ Beauchamp and Childress, *Principles*, 101-104.

¹⁶⁴ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 11-17.

¹⁶⁵ Rabbi Goldie Milgram, "When does life begin: A Jewish View," Reclaiming Judaism.

http://www.reclaimingjudaism.org/teachings/when-does-life-begin-jewish-view

¹⁶⁶ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*, 243-279.

¹⁶⁷ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 104-105.

¹⁶⁸ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, Contemporary Catholic, 105-108., Aaron Mackler, Jewish and Catholic Bioethics, (Washington: Georgetown University Press, 2013). 30-32.

¹⁶⁹ "Why Don't Jehovah's Witnesses Accept Blood Transfusions?" accessed April 20, 2016. https://www.jw.org/en/jehovahs-witnesses/faq/jehovahs-witnesses-why-no-blood-transfusions/

¹⁷⁰ Daniel P. Sulmasy, "Heart and Soul: The Case of the Conjoined Twins," America 183, no. 18 (2000):13-14

¹⁷¹ Rebecca Dore, Eric Stone, and Christy Buchanan, "A Social Values Analysis of Parental Decision-Making," The Journal of Psychology 148, no.4 (Jul-Aug 2014):478. doi: 10.1080/00223980.2013.808603.

¹⁷² Dore, Stone and Buchanan, "A Social Values Analysis," 479-480.

¹⁷³ Tessie October et.al., 'Being a Good Parent' when making critical decisions in the PICU," Pediatric Critical Care Medicine 15, no.4 (May 2014):292. doi:

10.1097/PCC.000000000000076.

¹⁷⁴ October, Fisher, Feudtner and Hinds, "The Parent Perspective," 293-299.

¹⁷⁵ Elena Conis, Vaccine Nation: America's Changing Relationship with Immunization (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2014), 108-109.

¹⁷⁶ Fagan, "Challenging the Bioethical Application," 18-20.

¹⁷⁷ Caprice Knapp et.al., "Does Decisional Conflict Differ Across Race and Ethnicity Group? A Study of Parents Whose Children have a Life-Threatening Illness," Journal of Palliative

Medicine 17, no.5 (May 2014):559-560. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2013.0604.

¹⁷⁸ McCombe, and Bogod. "Paternalism and Consent," 1016-1018.

¹⁷⁹ Árnason et.al. "Informed Consent," 112-115.

¹⁸⁰ Cowley, "A Defence of Conscientious Objection," 358-361.

¹⁸¹ Bernadette Tobin, When doctors and parents disagree: A recent example of morally

appropriate collaboration between parents, doctors, and the court," Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health 50, no.8 (August 2014):586-587. doi: 10.1111/jpc.12681.

¹⁸² Sabine Michalowski, "Reversal of Fortune – ReA(Conjoined Twins) and beyond: who should make treatment decisions on behalf of young children," Health Law Journal 9 (2001):10.

¹⁸³ Michalowski, "Reversal of Fortune," 13.

¹⁸⁴ Michalowski, "Reversal of Fortune," 15.

¹⁸⁵ Chung et.al., "Screening for Social Determinants," 135-153.

¹⁸⁶ Chung et.al., "Screening for Social Determinants," 3-10.

¹⁸⁷ Andrew Racine, "Child Poverty and the Health Care System," Academic Pediatrics 3suppl April 2016):S83-84. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2015.12.002.

¹⁸⁸ Racine, S84-86.

¹⁸⁹ Racine, S87-88.

¹⁹⁰ Joanne Klevins et.al., "Paid Family Leave's Effect on Hospital Admissions for Pediatric Abusive Head Trauma," Injury Prevention 22, no.6 (December 2016):442-445, doi: 10.1136/injuryprev-2015-041702

¹⁹¹ Thomas LaVeist, Darrell Gaskin, and Patrick Richard, "Estimating the Economic Burden of Racial Health Inequalities in the United States," International Journal of Health Services 41, no.2 (2011):231-238. doi: 10.2190/HS.41.2.c.

¹⁹²<u>Robin Weinick and Nancy Krauss, "Racial/Ethnic Differences in Children's Access to Care,"</u> American Journal of Public Health 90, no.11 (November 2000):1171-1173. doi:

10.2105/ajph.90.11.1771.

¹⁹³ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 168.

¹⁹⁴ Knapp et.al., "Does Decisional Conflict Differ," 560.

¹⁹⁵ Kevin Fiscella, Peter Franks, Mark P. Doescher, and Barry G. Saver, "Disparities in Health Care by Race, Ethnicity, and Language Among the Insured," *Medical Care* 40, no.1 (January 2002):52-59. doi: 10.1097/00005650-200201000-00007.

¹⁹⁶ Chin, "Culturally Competent Health Care," 28.

¹⁹⁷ Chin, "Culturally Competent Health Care," 27.

¹⁹⁸ Chin, "Culturally Competent Health Care," 28-30.

¹⁹⁹ Knapp et.al., ", "Does Decisional Conflict Differ," 559.

²⁰⁰ Maya Santoro et.al, "Honor thy parents: An ethnic multigroup analysis of filial responsibility, health perceptions, and caregiving decisions," *Research on Aging* 38, no.6 (August 2016):665-688, doi: 10.1177/0164027515598349.

²⁰¹ DeGrazia, *Creation Ethics*, 75-78.

²⁰² Fagan, "Challenging Bioethics Application," 22-23.

²⁰³ "Developmental Disability Across Cultures," *Canadian Pediatric Society*, last modified March 2018, http://www.kidsnewtocanada.ca/mental-health/developmental-disability
 ²⁰⁴ Vickie Xafis, Dominic Wilkinson, and Jane Sullivan, "What Information do Parents Need when Facing End-of-Life Decisions for their Child? A meta-synthesis of parental feedback,"

BMC Palliative Care 14 (April 2015):19, doi: 10.1186/s12904-015-0024-0.

²⁰⁵ Knapp et.al., "Does Decisional Conflict Differ," 561-566.

²⁰⁶ Arielle Fields et.al., "Language Matters: Race, Trust, and Outcomes in the Pediatric Emergency Department," *Pediatric Emergency Care* 32, no.4 (April 2016):222-226, doi: 10.1097/PEC.00000000000453.

²⁰⁷ Chin, "Culturally Competent Health Care," 25-28.

²⁰⁸ Chin, "Culturally Competent Health Care," 30-33.

²⁰⁹ Fagan, "Challenging Bioethics Application," 25-27.

²¹⁰ Janssens, "Artificial Insemination," 19-20.

²¹¹ Janssens, "Artificial Insemination," 21-25.

²¹² Groenhout, *Connected Lives*, 146-150.

²¹³ Schotsman, "Personalism in Medical Ethics," 19.

²¹⁴ Van Nistelrooij and Leget, "Against Dichotomies," 2-5.

²¹⁵ Van Nistelrooij and Leget, "Against Dichotomies," 5-8.

²¹⁶ Tetsuya Ishii, "Potential impact of human mitochondrial replacement on global policy regarding germline gene modification," *Reproductive Biomedicine Online* 29 no.2 (August 2014):150-155, doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2014.04.001.

Chapter 3: Population Health Decisions

Many things divide and differentiate human beings, but two elements unite them – their humanity and their possession of human rights. The right to health and the right to healthcare are immensely valued worldwide. However, there are areas in our worldwide community in which the right to health is not valued or upheld. This is cause for concern. The standards of healthcare, both on a local and global level, will be compared and the possibility of universal health standards will be discussed in this chapter. These ideas will then be applied to situations that impede local access to healthcare in a developing country; primarily medical tourism and its effect on vulnerable populations. Furthermore the right to health will be examined through the lens of public health considerations for disease prevention. Diseases are part of the human condition, and a major goal of public health efforts is to prevent and treat the harm they cause the general population. It is crucial to ensure that all prevention efforts are conducted in an ethical manner both with regard to individuals and the broader community. While genetic therapies may be used as a way to increase the standard of health across the globe, as well as for disease prevention, it is important to return to the basic concepts described in this chapter in order to fully understand where CRISPR-Cas9 and other genetic editing techniques may play a role in the future of health care.

A: The Right to Health Care Across Populations

All humans have rights, simply as a result of having personhood. The right to health and healthcare is seemingly universal, but in practice, that right may not manifest itself in the same way for all humans. Furthermore, if it is internationally agreed that a right to health and healthcare exists, what is the solution if an individual or a country as a whole is unable to uphold this right? Once it has been established that there is a human right to healthcare, the next step is

to examine the quality of the medical care and services that should be available to all human beings. Standards are strongly influenced by a country's local determinants and policies, which may result in unethical practices. Universal standards that would be applicable to every country may be unrealistic, but should be analyzed.

i. Standards of Health Care

When a person is born, they join the world's citizens who, in theory, all share a set of human rights that ensure the wellbeing and fair treatment of individuals on the planet. Since these rights are considered to be universal and essential human rights, each person is entitled to them, and laws are often implemented in a state or country, that guarantee that a person's rights are upheld under any circumstances. Despite legalities that may be in place, there are circumstances in which human rights violations take place, either with or without a government's knowledge. These situations call for some sort of intervention, either locally or globally, to ensure that the world's citizens have their basic human rights considered. This consideration may include the involvement of international organizations, such as the WHO or the United Nations.¹ More generally, all humans possess the duty to uphold, respect, and promote these common interests for the greater good of humanity.²

Once again, human rights that are considered to be universal are the right to health and healthcare. The former implies that all citizens have the right to be healthy, while the latter implies that all humans must have access to healthcare and resources to ensure treatment when they fall ill.³ The right to health requires more resources and other considerations to be addressed in order to try and attain the satisfactory health of all individuals. For example, a country would have to implement public health policies, in addition to providing hospitals and healthcare services and medications. At the same time, the state must ensure that its citizens have access to

adequate sanitation, clean drinking water, and healthy food, as well as some sort of education, possibly, which could contribute to the positive mental health of all of its citizens. The right to healthcare is vastly less complex, as it is just a component of the right to health. Providing medical services to all is a daunting task, but it is more attainable across the globe.⁴

The WHO released its definition of health as the complete physical, mental, and social wellbeing and not merely the absence of disease and infirmity.⁵ This definition is morally pure and ideal, but may not be totally realistic in all parts of the world, due to factors such as poverty, economic distress, or environmental concerns. Furthermore, while this moral right is essential, based on the definition, the law may not consider it to be a legal obligation of the state to uphold the highest standard of healthcare and health. Furthermore, the right to health can be viewed through two lenses, that of individual needs, and those of the common good, which may involve different initiatives to ensure the health and wellbeing of the general public. Balancing these two components may be difficult for a state, as well as health organizations, such as the WHO, but both should be considered to be a part of the human right to health.⁶

Literature about the human right to health is abundant. Scholars have presented different opinions about the extent of one's right to healthcare, as well as the most appropriate and productive methods that individuals can use to ensure their rights are being considered and upheld. Brudney presents a question of whether there can even be a right to health, as human rights usually entail duty, and it is unclear if there will ever be one entity that can make everyone on Earth healthy. Of course, a solution to this may be modifying the language and assuming that all individuals have a right to healthcare, as opposed to the right to be healthy. Problems arise concerning resources in third world countries, as well as other human rights that directly influence individuals' health and wellbeing, such as access to clean drinking water.⁷ These

concepts will be expanded upon below. In addition, Ruger presents her views on the right to human health in the United States, and presents a new patchwork of legal and ethical rights to ensure that citizens have a medical and social right to healthcare resources and procedures. She argues that all individuals should have a right to healthcare, and their legal system should reflect it.⁸

While the right to healthcare includes hospitals and access to physicians, for example, Conly argues that it should also include forms of preventative medicine, especially in countries that deal with preventable conditions. In the United States obesity is a great concern, since it may be preventable with policy and education, and it is up to an individual to make choices regarding their health and their weight.⁹ However, in the developing world, diseases may be of great concern, but they may not be as a result of bad habits. For example, South Africa benefits from measures preventing HIV and AIDS, if possible, as opposed to having to treat it. While this may be problematic socially with regard to policy programs, it is possible to educate men and women as a preventative measure to attempt to decrease the number of individuals suffering from a deadly disease. The question in this situation is whether preventative measures should be part of a human's right to healthcare, or if they should simply be an add-on to the human right of access to medicine?¹⁰

All of the presented definitions and explanations of a human right to health and healthcare assume that all individuals should have access to health in the place they reside. However, problems have arisen with the healthcare available for migrants who are not legally residing in a country. This topic is especially relevant with the increase of migrants and refugees in countries that have above average health care systems. Many migrants may choose to travel to Europe, for example, with knowledge that healthcare is provided free of charge for all citizens, but they run

into problems because of a lack of documentation. A human right implies that all inhabitants, regardless of their status, should receive medical care in times of malady, but these individuals are being blocked by laws and policies that prevent migrants or undocumented immigrants from receiving medical care. For this reason, there is a large population of individuals who are ill, but unable to see a physician, which violates the basic human right to healthcare.¹¹ While current policies are strict in trying to prevent migrants from 'taking' resources from the 'real' citizens that pay taxes and have insurance for medical resources, it should be considered that many of these migrants fled from their home country under traumatic and dangerous circumstances, in which the human right to health, among other human rights, could not be upheld.¹²

As mentioned above, a country or state is partially, if not mostly, responsible for the health and wellbeing of its population. The most effective way to respect and ensure that human rights are upheld is through legislation or policy. Law is an effective method of implementation for healthcare, as it ensures that all citizens are legally bound to uphold human rights. Depending on the location and current situation of a particular country, a law will have to be created that is able to work alongside other measures, such as education and sanitation, to guarantee all individuals their right to medical services.¹³ Each country may have to determine what is right for them and what methods are most appropriate for reaching their necessary healthcare goals. ¹⁴ For example, Canada may have a different law as a result of more healthcare spending, as opposed to Senegal, which ultimately has less money and fewer resources to provide adequate healthcare for its citizens.¹⁵ While both countries should have a law pertaining to health services, they may differ in order to best benefit the country's inhabitants.

In addition to legislation, access to resources and technology may alter the methods used in a country to provide medical care for all. A state's resources will influence how much money
is available to spend on healthcare, as well as how many people are able to be served.¹⁶ In a country that has a significant number of people who all need medical care, but whose total income is low, there is a possibility that its resources simply will not be able to be available to everyone. This may result in a lower standard of healthcare for its citizens; some procedures and basic treatments may be available, but the "highest attainable standard of physical and mental health" that is set forth by the WHO, will not be as high as preferred.¹⁷ Ethically, this is not an ideal situation, as citizens who have a right to healthcare would experience a direct violation of a human right, without a plausible solution for achieving an acceptable standard of healthcare.

For states that face the issue of limited resources, there may be a need to evaluate the importance of who should be served. These situations have options of focusing on helping more people with medical problems individually, or shifting their efforts to helping the general public and highlighting the common good. To justify a shift in focus, a government may argue that a human's right to healthcare is part of a human's right to health, which deserves equal emphasis.¹⁸ This would be seen through an attempt to help a greater number of people with general health and prevention methods, as opposed to allocating resources for only individuals. Ideally, there would be a balance between addressing common interests and providing individualized medical care, but when resources are limited, a choice must be made. This situation calls for all of the players mentioned above: the state, large companies acting as charities, and individuals to recognize their duty to contribute to a general right to health, and a common good that can serve more than just one person.¹⁹

If there is a shift in focus from the right to healthcare to the right to health, other social rights must be considered as well, as they contribute to the general right to health. The WHO's definition includes physical and mental wellbeing in describing this human entitlement. This

implies that other rights, such as a right to sanitation, clean drinking water, education, or safe housing must also be included in the efforts to respect human rights.²⁰ In order to maximize one's right to health these other rights must also be addressed, which may be difficult for developing countries. It may be of value to them to invest in sanitation and clean drinking water, for example, as it would decrease healthcare spending for ailments resulting from a lack of those necessities. However, it is evident that regardless of what the most pressing issue is, little can be done without an appropriate budget.²¹ If a citizen's country does not have enough funding to improve a right to a clean and healthy environment, among other things, the standard of healthcare will automatically be low.

Another factor that influences the standard of healthcare is the amount of staff that is available to provide the medical services.²² While this is not an issue in wealthy and developed countries, smaller nations are seeing their citizens leave to become medical professionals without returning to provide a service. This may be as a result of low wages in their home countries, as well as the quality of training and opportunities for meaningful employment. The general view is that other countries may provide them with a better quality of life as opposed to their own home country, whose healthcare standards are lower. This exodus adds to the cycle of individuals being trained as medical professionals at reputable institutions around the world, but the fact that newly trained medical personnel do not return to their home country only makes the standard of healthcare decline further. If there was an incentive for physicians or nurses to return after training, it would potentially improve a developing country's healthcare system as there would be enough staff to ensure that individuals could receive adequate medical care.²³

It is clear that while humans inherently have a right to health and healthcare, it may be strongly influenced by the economic status of their home country. The cost of providing health

services for an entire population is frequently too high for a local government to be able to provide a high degree of healthcare.²⁴ It is unfortunate that finances dictate how our human rights are put into practice, as they lose their status of being fundamental human rights. Once a person is denied such a right as a result of where they live, although they retain their human status, some may feel that it can no longer be classified as a human right. Instead it becomes a privilege that only those who can afford the acceptable standard of healthcare possess.²⁵

It has been emphasized that an individual's local surroundings influence their right to healthcare, as well as the standard of health services that are available to them. The question arises, however, that if all humans have the same right to healthcare, can there be a universal standard of healthcare to which all global citizens should have access? It is clear that the amount of money available and the number of resources that are at a country's disposal will vary greatly around the world, and the hope of any universal standards of healthcare may be unattainable. The idea that all humans have a right to health, however, may be more attainable, but will require improvements in other areas, similar to the explanations above.

At first glance, universal healthcare standards imply that all individuals around the world, regardless of their income, living situation, or state limitations, would have access to a level of medical services that would allow them to attain the highest standard of physical and mental health.²⁶ This is difficult to realistically visualize, because there is a great variety in available healthcare services between countries, and even within countries. In congruence with an earlier point, if a human right is, in fact, deemed a human right, there should already be a level of universality associated with it, as it applies to every person due to their inherent humanity. Therefore, once a right is unable to be universal, it should lose its designation as a human right, and should be demoted to just a right that is determined by each individual nation depending on

their views of healthcare.²⁷ Although this opinion is plausible, the universality of the human right to healthcare will be further explored.

If a universal healthcare standard was to be implemented in all nations of the world, the issue of money would arise again. To make the standards universal, all countries would have to spend the same or similar amounts in order to provide the same standard of care. While there may be some fluctuation depending on where resources are coming from, identical spending would be necessary.²⁸ This seems like a great burden on smaller countries that do not have enough money to provide the same level of healthcare to their citizens as developed countries do, such as the UK, so a minimum level of spending in order to achieve the minimum acceptable standard of healthcare services would need to be decided upon. This minimum would need to be accepted by all countries, and be realistic in terms of feasibility. However, having a consistent standard, albeit a minimum of healthcare, around the world would ensure that human rights were respected and promoted.

Another issue that arises with the hope of universal standards of healthcare is the quality level that would be expected from every hospital around the globe. Many countries would have to alter their medical centers so that they meet a minimum requirement that adheres to a universal standard of health services. This would be a great feat and cause immense difficulty as a result of existing resources and staffing. It may be more realistic to mandate a minimum to which hospitals should aspire, and to set national universal standards, which allows a nation to consider its own possibilities for healthcare. This already happens in developed countries, such as the United States and Canada, where accreditation is given to hospitals that meet the minimum standard of healthcare services, but also for going above and beyond the necessary requirements.²⁹ Accreditation could be a form of universality around the globe, ensuring

consistent standards and expectations to which institutions would strive to achieve. While every hospital may not be considered to be of the same quality as those in the developed world, some developing nations may start with a few accredited hospitals to ensure that their citizens also have access to quality healthcare.³⁰

While universal healthcare standards would be an ideal solution to the human rights violations occurring in parts of the world where medical services are not available, universality causes a significant amount of difficulty for developing countries. If and when these nations do not meet the universal standard for healthcare, it is unclear if there are any legal implications as a result.³¹ There is no way to ensure that a right is legally binding; a country could choose not to acknowledge health as a human right or acknowledge it as a right, and, consequently, not allocate the necessary funding and resources to make it a reality. While these are human rights violations, they may not be legal breaches requiring intervention. There is no system currently in place to ensure that countries are upholding human rights, aside from the United Nations' responsibilities towards its member states to uphold peace. As a result, if universal health standards are implemented or suggested, a method of insurance would need to be considered, to ensure that all global citizens are, indeed, receiving or have access to the established universal standard of care.³²

ii. Access to and Affordability of Genetic Therapies and Editing Techniques

Although genetic therapies and editing technologies are proving to be effective treatments for a variety of diseases and will continue to do so, it is evident that for most people, they will be unaffordable. This is especially true in countries whose healthcare systems do not provide accessibility to expensive treatments, as well as within communities that are struggling to promote and provide access to basic human health needs. Before specifically analyzing how

accessible and affordable genetic therapies and editing techniques will be, it is crucial that general access and affordability of health care and health resources is examined.

A state of poverty often impedes one's access to healthcare, but is very difficult to eliminate in any country. America sees extreme amounts of poverty, even though it has the healthcare and structural resources to eliminate it.³³ A country has a responsibility to ensure that its citizens are cared for, with adequate housing, healthcare, and economic opportunity. However, the issue of poverty within its own borders should ideally be dealt with at the state or local level.³⁴ This is not always feasible, due to financial constraints as well as a lack of resources.³⁵ Statists will maintain that it is up to the local government to find solutions to ensure the care of their citizens. However, globalists disagree and feel that organizations, such as the United Nations or WHO, as well as other countries, if able, should offer their support and resources, as they are caring directly for global citizens.³⁶

Both of these solutions require the aid of someone more influential than an individual to solve the problem of poverty, which may improve the access and quality of available healthcare in a developing country. For individuals in a third world country, healthcare may be accessible, but it may not be affordable for those living in poverty. The state definitely has some level of responsibility towards its citizens, namely, to provide them with resources and services that will enable them to live their life to its highest standard.³⁷ Healthcare is a major service, and, as it has been established, should be available to all of the world's citizens, regardless of their ability to afford it.³⁸ A government must be able to allocate some finances and resources to ensure that at least basic medical services of an adequate quality are available.

It may not, however, be realistic for a state to take complete responsibility for the medical care in its country, especially due to the increasing cost of healthcare staff and medication. Large

global companies, such as those that make pharmaceutical drugs, could be deemed to have a moral responsibility to ensure that all citizens of the globe have access to drugs that are necessary for basic care. While some countries may be able to afford drugs at their high prices, it can be suggested that pharmaceutical companies find a way to create a generic drug that is less expensive and easily distributable to nations whose citizens desperately need medicine to survive. It can be suggested that this is a moral responsibility, in which case it is wrong for a company who makes millions from developed countries, to withhold life-saving treatment from those countries who simply cannot afford to pay. ³⁹ This act of charity is obviously a burden if it is done on an ongoing or perpetual basis, as countries should contribute to the global market of medications, but it should be recognized that if a company is able to provide resources at a cheaper price, they have a moral obligation to do so in order for the human right to healthcare to be upheld.

In addition to government and organizational solutions for affordable healthcare, there are measures that individuals can take which will enable them to maintain their right to healthcare. For example, avoiding unhealthy habits, such as smoking, drinking, and eating unhealthy foods would potentially lead to fewer health complications requiring medical attention.⁴⁰ Furthermore, recognizing harmful environmental factors, such as toxins in the air or water, or mold in a wall, for example, allows an individual to remove oneself from harm. There are situations where this is not possible, such as if a person can only afford to live in an environment that may have health concerns. In this case, they can take other precautions, such as implementing cleaning measures or wearing a mask, to eliminate the need for seeing a physician who may not be readily available.⁴¹ These solutions, however, are minor, and should not be the primary method that a government uses to promote healthcare. Prevention is always important, no matter the nation or

healthcare system, but these suggestions should only be preventative, and should not deter an individual from seeking care for serious medical ailments. Access to care should be available to them, as it is their human right.

A most obvious solution is to find methods of reducing healthcare costs and spending without affecting the standard of care, so that more impoverished citizens are able to afford basic medical service. Issues arise, however, when allocating procedures according to their cost.⁴² For example, if an individual requires triple bypass heart surgery in order to live, some may see this as part of the right to healthcare, as the procedure is required for sustained life. However, this procedure is extremely expensive, and for countries who cannot afford to perform these surgeries frequently, it may be difficult to provide, what some believe to be 'basic' healthcare to its citizens. A government or policy maker has to decide how to either reduce the cost of procedures while maintaining a high level of quality, or to only allow those individuals who can afford expensive medical care to attain these services.⁴³ Therefore, it may be determined that humans have a right to healthcare, but not a universal right to expensive procedures. The definition of 'healthcare,' therefore, must be reexamined. The issue of monetary spending will be discussed below.

Specific to genetic therapies and editing techniques, cost is a major factor in having access to this type of healthcare. For example, using Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) after IVF, can potentially be financially impossible. Using IVF alone can cost a couple approximately \$10 000 per cycle in the U.S. There are additional costs associated if this treatment is followed by PGD.⁴⁴ It can be assumed that in the future, enhancement technology will also cost an extreme amount. This introduces the issue of access. Since costs are very high for any of these techniques, it is assumed that only families who are financially able can undergo

IVF and PGD. This adds to the separation of socioeconomic status and contributes to the fear that more discrimination will result due to only rich parents being able to afford to modify or choose their child's genes.⁴⁵ Furthermore, it causes a global issue as well, in that only developed countries will be able to use this technology regularly, creating more of a gap between the world's elite and those that are suffering in poorer countries. As a result of these reproductive methods being so expensive, it is feared that a genetic aristocracy can be created, where privileged individuals are able to be free of disease and, perhaps, favor a certain gender, and those who cannot afford these methods will be seen as lesser individuals.⁴⁶

There is hope, however, that as IVF and PGD become more common, costs will decrease, making it available to more families. In some parts of the world, where everyone has free and equal access to healthcare, IVF falls under the category of necessary medical treatment, and public healthcare pays for the use of this technology.⁴⁷ It is undetermined whether PGD also falls into this category, as it can be used for social traits, but some proponents of PGD argue that if it is used for genetic disease elimination, it can be justified that not using it would directly cause harm to a child, and is, therefore, necessary. In addition, some individuals view the right to healthcare to be a human right, and feel that parents who have a specific illness or are carriers, have a right to use this technology, regardless of its cost, to ensure that healthy children are born.⁴⁸ The issue of universal healthcare is difficult to discuss in American contexts, because it is not a reality, and it is unlikely that Americans will have free access to IVF and PGD in the near future. As a result, it may be more likely that there will be a class distinction between those who are able to produce healthy children, and those who will be plagued by disease.

This discrepancy could also extend to the cost and accessibility of genetic therapies. If basic health care is inaccessible, novel treatments such as gene editing or replacement therapies would probably be completely unattainable.⁴⁹ Currently there are a number of genetic therapies that have been approved by the FDA for the Unites States, and other approval bodies across the globe. All have undergone research studies to determine their safety and efficacy. ⁵⁰ However, one common denominator among them is that the cost of these therapies is astronomical. This is due to the fact that the process of creating, researching, and approving these therapies is extremely expensive, resulting in the ultimate cost to consumers having to be extremely high.⁵¹ For example, a gene replacement therapy called 'Luxturna' which aims to improve retinal disease, costs about \$425 000 per eye in the US. Another therapy, 'Zolgensma,' targeted toward spinal muscular atrophy costs \$2.1 million per patient per dose.⁵² These astronomical prices make the drugs almost impossible to access, causing a further divide between those citizens who can cure a disease for their child, for example, and others who have no way of accessing these life-saving treatments. Further information on the specifics related to these therapies will be provided in a later section, but it is important to also recognize that these types of treatments will have to be evaluated at a national or global level.⁵³ Countries who provide universal health care will have to determine whether they can afford to offer these treatments to patients and countries who rely on insurance plans. They will have to encourage insurance providers to determine whether it is feasible to cover these therapies.⁵⁴

It also becomes clear that only developed countries will have initial access to genetic editing and replacement therapies because of the cost and amount of research funding available. This further emphasizes the divide between the developed and developing world and a lack of universal standards of health care. If a treatment exists that could cure or effectively treat a disease like spinal muscular atrophy, a disease which mostly affects infants, it should be used to save lives.⁵⁵ An ethical concern arises when less-developed countries lose access to a treatment

because of its cost, as it was described above. However, it can also be expected that once genetic therapies become more common, developing countries may be able to offer the treatment at a lower cost (although that cost would still be extremely high to its citizens). This opens the door to medical tourism.

iii. Medical Tourism

It has been established that there is a concern with developing countries and their healthcare services, as they may not be adequate or abundant enough for its citizens to be able to have their human right to health care respected. This section examines one factor that may impede local access to healthcare, and the effects it has on already vulnerable populations. Medical tourism is a growing industry, and although it is beneficial for some, it may be harmful for others.

As healthcare costs rise in developed countries, their citizens are looking abroad to access expensive procedures and treatments at a lower cost. The medical tourism industry is growing rapidly, as more developing countries are taking advantage of the need for medical services by individuals abroad. An American, for example, may choose to leave their own country which has a long waiting list for a specific procedure that is extremely expensive, in order to procure the treatment or medical service in a country that offers it at a lower price and with a shorter wait-time.⁵⁶ Currently, medical tourist agencies exist, which facilitate the entire process of travel, medical procedure, and recovery for citizens around the globe. Facilities that offer this service also portray themselves as being internationally accredited with the highest quality of technology or equipment along with an abundance of caring and qualified staff members.⁵⁷ Examples of the procedures that medical tourists purchase are stem cell therapies, cancer treatments, transplantations, and surgeries. Often these services offer procedures that are experimental or

that have strict regulations attached to them in developed countries, which deter individuals from having them done at home.⁵⁸

As a result of this booming business, many entrepreneurs are beginning to build medical centers in developing countries solely for the purpose of attracting medical tourists. These private facilities would be tailored for a specific procedure or surgery so that the staff becomes efficient at the service, and can provide an appropriate level of care to its visitors. This is often regarded as an economic benefit for countries such as the Bahamas, as it would boost its economy and bring in funding for the state.⁵⁹ However, if new centers are built solely for the purpose of serving medical tourists, it suggests that these facilities would not be available to the local population, which may also be in need of certain procedures. Furthermore, these centers would require a significant number of staff members, and may insist on current medical professionals in the country to participate and be trained in a particular treatment that the center is offering. This would take these individuals away from their current place of work, and would ultimately result in local citizens losing a medical professional, which affects the standard of care for the people of the country.⁶⁰ While medical tourism has benefits, there is a great concern regarding how the human right to healthcare for the local populace could be affected negatively.

Since there is no universal standard of healthcare, medical tourism also poses risks to the individuals who are choosing to utilize these services. If an American travels to a country that does not have adequate healthcare services or has a lower standard of care, their wellbeing may be compromised by factors not associated with their requested treatment. For example, if a country does not have clean drinking water, a medical tourist would need to ensure that they are staying in an area that does, or to take necessary precautions in order to avoid infection.⁶¹ Visitors would need to be sure that the facilities in which they seek medical care, as well as the

location of their stay, are safe, or they may be affected by the lower standard of care.⁶² Universal standards would be beneficial in these situations, to ensure that all citizens, whether they are travelling for medical tourism, or for other reasons, would have access to safe medical services.

A main concern regarding medical tourism is the effect it has on a local population. It has been alluded to that this business can bring in significant amounts of money for a country, which would improve its economic status.⁶³ This implies that there could be more money to spend on resources and medical care for the local citizens, therefore, medical tourism is ultimately a positive endeavor. However, while these businesses do improve the economic stability of these nations, there is concern that the local population is not benefiting from this increase in funding. Money may go to the physicians that have invested in the medical centers, who are often not locals themselves, but, rather, to big business owners from abroad. Nevertheless, some states feel that medical tourism will be beneficial for their economy and for their citizens and choose this as one solution to the disparity in healthcare standards between the world's nations.⁶⁴ They choose to place less importance on human rights and conditions, and more importance on the benefit of other global citizens.

Governments who approve these practices also take advantage of their country's shortcomings, as having less strict medical regulations than other countries becomes an appealing aspect to tourists, in that procedures that are highly regulated and not available in their own countries due to possible risk or high cost, are accessible in countries with lower medical standards. Stem cell therapies are an example of such a procedure. Medical tourists are willing to overlook lower medical standards and seek countries that do not place as much value on safety or efficacy established through research trials in order to receive experimental, and potentially life-saving therapies.⁶⁵ While the absence of regulation is beneficial for tourists who are only in the

country for a short amount of time, and can go back to their own country for other medical care, it raises concerns for the local population that would be exposed to other medical treatments that lack regulation and could cause harm. Experimental treatments may lack regulation due to minimal research, but other more basic medical services, such as surgery, are known to need particular safeguards to ensure the safety and wellbeing of individuals. If regulation does not exist for some treatments, there is a fear that it may not exist for others, which directly affects the local citizens, and therefore, leads to a decreased standard of medical care.

The fear described above applies to the population of a country that is at risk of a lower standard of care than that to which they have the right, making them a vulnerable population. It is difficult to assign only one meaning to the term 'vulnerable,' since the word can be interpreted in various ways according to a specific context. When a population or group is labelled as being vulnerable, it implies that they collectively may have a diminished autonomy.⁶⁶ Some scholars disagree with this definition, as they believe that all humans are inherently vulnerable; we can succumb to disease or tragedy, regardless of where we come from or what we do.⁶⁷ However, for scholars who do feel that vulnerable populations exist as part of general humanity, there are varying categories into which vulnerability can be divided. For example, an individual or group may be 'vulnerable' either intrinsically or extrinsically: intrinsic vulnerability results from a human condition, such as gender, race, or age, while extrinsic vulnerability is due to circumstances, such as being impoverished, or living in a developing country. Other scholars use different terms to denote similar distinctions, such as ontological and special vulnerability.⁶⁸ These categories, regardless of how they are labelled, indicate that individuals can be vulnerable in different ways, and that extra care should be taken to ensure that they are treated

appropriately. The next chapter will further explore vulnerability within health care in more detail.

The UNESCO Universal Declaration of Bioethics and Human Rights indicates that all humans have a right to dignity. This means that the interest of an individual should be of greater importance than the interest of science (in the case of research) or society in general. Dignity is applied to life through practices such as informed consent and physical integrity.⁶⁹ When an individual who is considered to be vulnerable consents to a high-risk project or activity for the purpose of increasing their income with the hope of being able to afford healthcare, extra caution should be applied to ensure that their dignity is being considered. For example, economically disadvantaged populations, such as Indian women agreeing to commercial surrogacy, may be perceived as only possessors of wombs, and not as real human beings who have human rights. This causes a problem, since clinics that facilitate commercial surrogacy may not encourage these women to think of themselves as humans, but simply as service providers. This essentially takes away their dignity and minimizes their integrity.⁷⁰

The example above explained how an individual who lives in a country where medical tourism is a main source of government funding, may resort to participating in the medical tourism industry in some way, in order to improve their quality of life, and hope for the opportunity to be able to improve their standard of healthcare by being more financially able to afford medical services. A method of doing so may involve participation in research or in services such as commercial surrogacy, which is a form of medical tourism.⁷¹ There is a concern that women who participate in this practice are being exploited due to their vulnerability, and their desire to fulfill their individual responsibility in upholding their right to healthcare.

However, in the pursuit to improve access to healthcare, these women may have other human rights that are violated, such as informed consent in participating in these transactions.⁷²

Like many vulnerable individuals, there is a risk of exploitation due to the fact that they may live in poverty. Their economic status strongly influences their decision to participate in commercial surrogacy, for example, or to work in a facility that offers procedures to medical tourists. These individuals may also be recruited to help build new medical centers so that they can be finished quickly and inexpensively. This may create an opportunity for these citizens to receive a significant amount of money, possibly in a short amount of time, which would help both them as well as their families, and increase their chances of being able to afford medical services for themselves.⁷³ However, when framed in this manner, it is clear that there may be exploitation of these individuals by foreign companies or local governments that would rather put effort into attracting tourists with the hope of acquiring their service and payment, as opposed to respecting the human rights of their own citizens, who also deserve access to healthcare, simply due to their status as human beings. Ideally, these governments should also focus on eliminating levels of poverty in their nations, but this solution would require serious efforts and money from either government organizations or charitable groups that would be aiming to eliminate the amount of poverty.⁷⁴ Medical tourism may be the answer, but it should not be the sole solution to solving healthcare accessibility problems.

B: Disease Prevention Across Populations

Diseases are part of the human condition, and a major goal of public health efforts is to prevent and treat the harm they cause to the general population, in order to uphold the human right to health. It is crucial to ensure that all prevention efforts are conducted in an ethical manner both with regard to individuals and the broader community. Examining how the

implications of disease prevention affect the overall health and well-being of the public is highly beneficial. Moreover, the debate between paternalist or libertarian efforts should delineate which theories are best to apply to disease prevention, in order to ensure that the promotion of public health efforts achieves its goal in aiding a large group of people within a community. In the first section of this chapter, the principles and basics of standards of health care and population-based decisions relating to health were examined. Public health measures must be explored in the same way, before applying them to the future uses of genetic therapies and editing techniques as public health models of disease prevention.

i. Public Health Models of Prevention

Disease prevention is commonly compared to curing illness, and there is often debate about whether prevention is more effective than cure. Many scholars differ in their opinions, as factors, such as cost, access, and technology, can impact which method is the best for eliminating disease. Public health aims to help communities avoid serious medical conditions, making prevention the best choice for public health efforts to maintain a healthy society.⁷⁵ Many diseases, in today's scientific age, are preventable, with minimal effort. For example, deadly illnesses such as polio and rubella can be avoided through vaccination, or an individual's risk for cancer can decrease through frequent screening. Although the curing of disease should be considered an equally important investment of government funds and effort, one would assume that prevention would avoid many cases needing cure in the future, and that would benefit individuals physically, and society economically. Both prevention and cure can be applied to the clinical setting, as doctors are able to provide education about preventative actions that individuals can implement in their everyday lives.⁷⁶ Furthermore, the comparison between prevention and cure can be compared to the concern within public health of whether an

individual or a community is more important to protect. The answer is, of course, that both are equally as important in differing ways, and there must be a balance that allows individuals to have a choice to participate in public health efforts to prevent disease within a larger society.

Population concerns are prevalent in any area of public health, as the entire field aims to improve health within a community. When trying to prevent disease within a certain population, considerations must be taken to ensure that resources are properly allocated and appropriate priorities are determined. For example, if a specific disease is more prevalent within a subset of a community, it may be beneficial to allocate more resources or funding to provide help for that set of people, as opposed to equally dividing among a greater community.⁷⁷ By adopting a population approach to disease prevention, it can be assumed that there will be a decrease in a specific disease due to the implementation of non-medical interventions. For example, hypertension can be treated with pharmaceutical drugs once a person is diagnosed with this condition. Preventative efforts, however, can include lowering sodium content in processed foods, which would benefit more than just the one person with hypertension; it would benefit the larger society and prevent others from succumbing to the disease. Population efforts for disease prevention such as these, are not focused on a medical cure, but aim to provide other methods to improve one's health before having to turn to medicine.⁷⁸

While implementing these efforts, it is crucial that social justice is also considered, in order to ensure that all individuals within a society have access to public health initiatives and are able to benefit from them. Similarly, vulnerable populations should be treated fairly to avoid discrimination. It is unacceptable that only 'productive' individuals have access to both preventative measures and curative healthcare, and are given a higher priority than the elderly, the uneducated, the disabled or other people who may not benefit as much from public health

initiatives.⁷⁹ Within population-based efforts, all citizens are of equal value and should be regarded to have equal social standing. However, it can be questioned whether those living in poverty should yield more attention from public health authorities, because they may be in more need of medical help. It may be ethically justified to prioritize impoverished groups within the United States so that they receive more education or more facilitated encouragement to participate in prevention efforts. This would also ensure that all members of the population have access and utilize the resources provided to them. In this situation, it is likely that a government would assume that individuals within the middle or higher class would be able to approach their physician for preventative strategies or embrace public health efforts for disease prevention without an added influence from a higher body.

In order for public health efforts to be deemed successful in preventing disease, epidemiological research must be done to evaluate how effective the methods employed were within a society. Epidemiology can be very beneficial, in that it is able to provide data demonstrating how a population has dealt with a disease, or if a particular disorder was prevalent in a given time period. There are, however, precautions that must be taken to ensure that the data were not influenced by other factors. For example, a disease may be examined in contrasting frameworks, and, therefore, provide differing results. Socio-economics can vary from scientific or medical expectations for disease prevention, and the best solution would be to combine all frameworks to ensure a comprehensive review of disease prevention efforts.⁸⁰ Furthermore, it should be confirmed that this combination is accurate. For example, epidemiology can be used to provide scientific facts about a disease's prevalence or how it can spread. Public health, however, needs epidemiology to provide suggestions with regard to future community efforts that can be effective in preventing or eliminating certain conditions. They rely on this research to

evaluate whether prior public health efforts were effective. This combination of multiple disciplines should be encouraged to render a report comprehensive and accurate.⁸¹

Currently, there are many models of disease prevention that have been implemented within society. Two major efforts, immunization and genetic screening, will be discussed below. Other initiatives have also proven successful, such as the Cost-Effectiveness Analysis (CEA) model. This method of analysis is quantitative, and allows priorities to be set in any prevention program being implemented. It compares the cost of public health interventions to their effectiveness or benefits. It is extremely difficult to measure benefits, however, since one cannot put a value on a life. This is countered somewhat with a quality of life assessment, or more specifically a Quality Adjusted Life Year (QALY), to measure how a person's lifespan was affected by the disease prevention program.⁸² Issues do arise, however, concerning the method of collecting data from individuals within a population. Personal values of the researcher may influence the results they provide, and lead to inequity among a group of people. For example, even though a person who has a disability claims that their life is fairly normal and enjoyable, a researcher may feel that they have a diminished quality of life, and subsequently assign them a lower QALY score.⁸³

Another example is provided by Community-based Prevention Educators (CPE) who "encourage and facilitate preventive health care across a whole community."⁸⁴ They are professionals who coordinate disease prevention efforts to reduce risk factors or progression of chronic diseases in a population, such as cancer.⁸⁵ CPEs are an example of individuals who promote disease prevention within the actual community, either for a whole geographic area, or, perhaps, an ethnic subset, within the population.⁸⁶ The role of a CPE can include a variety of activities, such as exercise promotion in schools, healthy eating campaigns, and policy development. It can also be a supportive role, illustrated through celebration events for

community efforts, or recognizing individuals for their health accomplishments. The advantage of using CPEs is that they are already a part of the community and understand how it functions, and are, therefore, able to implement effective disease prevention strategies.

Preventative care is being further improved by technology. For example, physicians' offices and hospitals have begun to use electronic registry systems that provide quick access to all of a patient's data and medical information. Having everything in one place facilitates the keeping of records of individuals who are at risk for specific conditions, or who already have a particular disease which must be monitored. Furthermore, this system allows for automatic reminders for certain procedures, such as vaccinations, to ensure that individuals are taking the steps to prevent disease. There are both pros and cons to this method. For example, it may be argued that it is very tedious to enter every patient's information into the computer, and then have to keep updating it to ensure that the information is correct. This takes time and effort away from staff.⁸⁷ In contrast, some feel that there is too much data about a given patient to go into a paper chart, and it creates a greater job for healthcare professionals to remind patients or monitor the progress of a disease for an individual. A computer is able to do these tasks without causing great burden for healthcare professionals, making the process of disease prevention more effective.⁸⁸

A government may implement laws with regard to disease prevention to ensure that a population is taking measures to improve their health. This method, because laws are involved, is very paternalistic and may cause some concern. However, by looking at examples, it is evident that such laws are, in actuality, beneficial for society.⁸⁹ Taxes are a common measure taken by a government. For example, higher taxes can be implemented on cigarettes, alcohol, or firearms, in the hopes that fewer people will engage in risky behaviors. This can be seen as purposely

creating a disadvantage for the poor and creating an inequity, since only rich people will be able to afford these commodities. Other initiatives include governments requiring food companies to label their products with certain nutritional information. This is a less paternalistic method of implementing methods of disease prevention, and is generally more accepted by individuals within a community. A last example is imposing building requirements to ensure the safety of the structure and materials used, in order to prevent future diseases, such as cancer from mold.⁹⁰

Historically, diseases were more dangerous and prevalent, and immunization was a means of elimination and cure, which eventually led to vaccination being used for prevention. An understanding of historic efforts to cure and eradicate diseases, such as polio and rubella, are useful for today's prevention precautions and overall safety of society. It is important to look back through the history of vaccination in order to analyze what methods were effective, and which ones could not boast the best outcomes. This can prove advantageous for implementing a preventative immunization program in the future, and also shed light on the effectiveness of a mass prevention program, which can be evidence for a future prevention tactic using genetic editing technologies.

In the past, diseases that vaccines were designed to target were considered to be pervasive and dangerous.⁹¹ For example, outbreaks of polio and smallpox caused great concern for the public, but also for state and federal governments.⁹² Epidemics of these diseases, as well as others, emphasized how important and life-saving vaccines could be. As a result of numerous children dying of polio, as well as former president Roosevelt's diagnosis, the polio vaccine was heartily welcomed and rarely questioned. Most people considered immunization to be an easy cure for a terrible condition, and supported the efforts of government to eradicate polio completely through vaccination.⁹³ Furthermore, vaccines caused a dramatic decrease in the

percentage of the population dying from polio and other diseases, such as smallpox and diphtheria, which added more positive evidence that supported mass immunization.⁹⁴

Concern did exist, however, when vaccines became available for diseases such as measles and mumps. These two conditions were previously considered to be a common part of childhood, and as such, did not warrant proactive interference. They were treatable, and usually did not lead to anything more than a fever or malaise.⁹⁵ In order for governments to promote these vaccines, however, they had to re-structure how the public viewed these illnesses. They reported them to be deadly if spread, and advertised the more serious side effects that could happen if a child caught the measles or mumps. Death was often cited, and the growing number of individuals dying from these preventable diseases convinced the public to support and participate in further vaccination.⁹⁶

As the previous examples have illustrated, immunization became an encouraged practice within American society in order to prevent and eliminate certain diseases. Governments and public health authorities introduced mass immunization programs to undertake, or at least attempt the vaccination of every American against the above mentioned conditions.⁹⁷ They promoted the principles of beneficence and non-maleficence through data showing a decrease in deaths as well as outbreaks, demonstrating a vaccine benefiting individuals and avoiding harm to larger groups within a community.⁹⁸ Furthermore, they tackled the issue of justice, making vaccines available to all Americans, regardless of income or social status. It did prove difficult to make vaccines available to poorer communities, where some argue vaccines were most needed. These neighborhoods were considered to have the most outbreaks, due to lack of immunization, but also as a result of more difficult living conditions.⁹⁹ As a result, campaigns to improve public

health clinics and encourage mothers to immunize their children through door-to-door education programs were organized and undertaken.¹⁰⁰

These efforts promoted all but one of the four principles, namely autonomy. There was little opportunity for individual citizens to question vaccines or suggest that they are more harmful to the human body than helpful.¹⁰¹ When mass immunization policies were enacted, numerous states created policies insisting that all children be vaccinated in order to attend school, and provided minimal opportunities to opt-out for personal or religious beliefs.¹⁰² In the past, this policy was more supported, as more dangerous diseases were spreading within schools, and the idea was that immunizing children would also protect adults from exposure.¹⁰³ A lack of autonomy, however, contradicts the human right we have to make our own medical decisions. Although harm to others may have occurred, one should have been able to freely decline a vaccine for their own reasons.

Even though vaccines have proven useful to prevent disease, every individual has an autonomous right to decline to be vaccinated. When a vaccine is refused, it indicates a fear or mistrust on the side of the individual or parent. This may stem from the reported adverse effects that arise after immunization. For example, in the past there is evidence that some vaccines, such as polio shots, actually resulted in people contracting polio.¹⁰⁴ This risk has been determined to be quite low, but to a parent whose child was one of the few who did experience these side-effects, it ultimately causes a distrust in vaccination.¹⁰⁵ Moreover, in today's society, there is a focus on the side-effects caused by vaccines that are not the disease itself, but rather other issues, such as mental disabilities, paralysis, and behavioral changes.¹⁰⁶ A link between the vaccine for measles, mumps, and rubella (MMR) has been made to autism by many parents and some scholars, which is supported by the increasing rate of children with autism today.¹⁰⁷ Scientists

were quick to disprove this theory, but it may influence how a parent makes a decision about their children's health.¹⁰⁸

Aside from those individuals who feel that vaccines are ineffective or unsafe, most of society supports childhood immunization for diseases that are difficult on the human body, or can be spread within a community. However, vaccines are starting to emerge for conditions that are not easily spread among groups of people, such as Hepatitis B and the Human Papilloma Virus (HPV). Both of these diseases are not spread through the air or by simple physical contact, making some parents and members of society question their need or their campaigns within schools for young children.¹⁰⁹ Some parents feel that the HPV vaccine, which aims to prevent a solely sexually-transmitted virus, should not be encouraged within schools for young girls, as it only encourages them to engage in sexual behavior.¹¹⁰ It is up to an individual or a parent to decide whether they feel these vaccines are necessary or a positive investment in the future health of themselves or their children, but in today's western society, there must always be that choice.

Society often judges those individuals who decline to be vaccinated to be uneducated about the scientific benefits of immunization, or believes that they are causing harm to the community.¹¹¹ If more and more children do not have proper immunizations, and they all go to school together, there is a fear that a resurgence of these conditions is possible. They believe that an outbreak would use up resources, but could also result in death.¹¹² The benefits of vaccination are recognized in that they avoid outbreaks of preventable diseases, which saves money and time in the future when hospitals are not treating these conditions.¹¹³ Scholars and doctors both feel that vaccines maintain public health safety and that those that forgo vaccination are putting others around them in jeopardy.

On the other hand, some members of society are concerned that the unvaccinated population is simply free-riding on others' immunity. Free-riding enables those who oppose vaccines to reap the benefits of those around them, who have supported immunization and have protected themselves against disease.¹¹⁴ In this situation, utilitarian mass immunization campaigns that encourage people to vaccinate themselves to protect against deadly diseases are benefiting not only themselves, but also all of the 'free-riders,' who subsequently become safe from contagious infections. There is a fear, however, that if more and more people decline immunization, free-riding will not be possible, since there is an increasing amount of the population who are not vaccinated, and, therefore, are not able to provide immunity for those around them. This would lead to further outbreaks of disease and the resurgence of preventable conditions.¹¹⁵

Autonomy must be maintained in today's world of medicine, and matters related to vaccination are no exception. Every individual has a right to determine for themselves or their child, whether to be vaccinated. Before any medical procedure, informed consent is necessary, and it relies on the individual to assess information and make a suitable decision. Information, however, may be difficult to find. A doctor is expected to outline the risks and benefits of a vaccine, but it is not expected that they go into detail about every possible risk that exists.¹¹⁶ There are common side-effects, such as pain and fever, but the possibility of disease or death are very low, and that might be all that is said. Some people scour the internet for more information, which can be dangerous, as much of it will not be scientific data released as a result of research studies. There may be a one in 100 000 chance that a severe adverse effect will occur, but to a parent, that risk may be one too many to take.¹¹⁷ Conversation with healthcare providers seems to be the most effective way to receive useful and accurate information regarding vaccination.

Once informed, it is up to each individual or parent to assess the risks and benefits, and analyze the amount of harm that could occur. Some parents may be adamant about their stance on vaccines and decline any immunization on the basis of that it will harm their child. Other parents may whole-heartedly trust vaccines and opt for any and all possible vaccinations to prevent against disease. Either way, it is important to educate oneself, and not jump to conclusions, or rely on faulty facts to influence the decision. This leads to the right to opt-out for any individual or parent. For example, a female may feel that the HPV vaccine is not necessary for herself and may choose not to participate in vaccination.¹¹⁸ Moreover, a parent with a child who has an allergy to eggs may decide not to pursue traditional vaccination, and try to find vaccines that do not contain animal products.¹¹⁹ The ability to opt-out allows for the adherence of autonomous rights.

Although a government may be criticized for interfering in public health, there are multiple responsibilities that a governing body has to maintain and promote health within a community. One important role that the government plays in the field of public health is to ensure that accurate information is being distributed to both doctors and healthcare facilities, but also to individuals. This can be through the funding of scientific research for vaccines, that are free of bias from pharmaceutical companies, and that use samples large enough to yield an accurate result.¹²⁰ This information is essential so that individuals can make an informed decision about immunization. They may accept immunization as a safe practice or refuse to participate in any immunization program. Furthermore, this information should try and be impartial. It is known that governments encourage vaccination for a variety of reasons, such as political gain or resource allocation, but information about risks and benefits should reflect the truth. There should be equal amounts of information regarding possible side-effects, as there are promoting

the benefits of vaccination. This allows individuals to be certain that they are well-informed and do not feel the need to seek possibly inaccurate information elsewhere.

All of the discourse presented on vaccination has been at the forefront of the COVID-19 pandemic. A number of vaccines became available in 2020 and immunization campaigns have been implemented across the world to try and prevent more deaths as a result of the virus.¹²¹ COVID-19 has claimed millions of lives and will continue to do so unless public health measures are increased, and vaccination rates rise.¹²² While there are hurdles to overcome in procuring vaccines, many obstacles are around public acceptance of them, and of other public health measures in general. It is harmful to society and the greater public when a deadly disease is not taken seriously, and individuals decide that they do not wish to protect those around them in addition to themselves.¹²³ For example, people who refuse to wear masks, a simple and costeffective public health measure, put not only themselves at risk, but everyone around them.¹²⁴ The COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated both the benefits of government involvement, as well as the drawbacks, especially in the US where the government, arguably, did not implement public health measures soon enough.¹²⁵ With regard to vaccination specifically, it is crucial that accurate information based in scientific evidence be distributed so that the pandemic can be mitigated, both in the US and across the world. It may be beneficial for government agencies as well as the general public to reflect on the historic vaccination efforts and their success rates to better support the current efforts to control and eradicate the virus.

Public health measures may also one day include the use of genetic therapies or editing technologies as a form of disease prevention. Using genetic screening techniques, such as CRISPR and Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis (PGD), focusses on individual concerns and actions, rather than community efforts. Influencing which embryos are selected for implantation, solely because of their genome's features may be legally acceptable, but it may be difficult to determine whether this method of disease prevention is ethical. For example, some parents may be choosing to eliminate genes, such as those that affect Huntington's Disease or Down's Syndrome. If the use of IVF becomes more affordable and accessible, more parents may use PGD techniques or eventually CRISPR editing to eliminate certain diseases from their embryo's genomes. This may lead to a decrease in the prevalence of a certain condition.¹²⁶ However, it can also be argued that the elimination of genetic-based disabilities, such as dwarfism, would not be beneficial for the diversity within a society.¹²⁷ Further information about the uses of PGD to eliminate disabilities and conditions will be examined in a later chapter.

ii. Decision Making for Communities

Public health, by definition, revolves around a community or the 'public' as a whole, which precludes any individual component, and only takes into account how to improve the health of a large population of people. Public health efforts can be executed in a paternalistic way, heavily influenced by consequentialism, or utilitarianism, that factors in the greater good for the most amounts of people, instead of focusing on individuals' health.¹²⁸ In reality, these efforts can be extreme, but sometimes necessary as in the case of infectious disease, explained below. By analyzing consequentialism, and how it affects public health initiatives. Utilitarianism is a version of consequentialism which states that the right action is the one that brings about the best consequences and, therefore, the most benefits for a group of people. Furthermore, utilitarianism does not take individuals into account, and ensures that everyone, regardless of race or class is treated or considered equally.¹²⁹ In theory, public health aims to do just this, especially with regard to preventing disease within a community.

The clearest indication of paternalism in today's society is seen in the area of infectious diseases. Infectious diseases, though not very prevalent in western society, can pose great danger to individuals and communities alike. Although diseases such as tuberculosis (TB) and malaria are not often seen in the developed world, there is still a risk to others if an individual with TB, for example, comes into contact with a healthy community member.¹³⁰ As a result of these diseases being potentially detrimental, it can be justifiable for utilitarian measures to be taken to ensure that an outbreak of an infectious illness does not occur. As it has been seen during the COVID-19 pandemic, this could include insisting on quarantine for infected individuals, isolation, or travel advisories, depending on the severity of disease transmission.¹³¹ These methods are acceptable for conditions that are highly contagious, as they protect not only the individual at risk, but also the entire population. This prevents or decreases any chance of a mass outbreak of disease, and also eliminates the need for future, more stringent interventions aimed at a larger group of people, as opposed to just one infected patient.¹³² Even in isolation, for example, the diseased patient would still receive treatment, which is an autonomous right, but if the individual were to refuse isolation or treatment, a problem would arise concerning the safety of the public. These prevention methods do infringe on personal liberties, but are justified to avoid detrimental consequences and to ensure the health of the community around them.¹³³

Another paternalistic measure that governments take is surveillance of disease. This method of screening can be classified as utilitarian, because the purpose of these methods is to ensure the safety of the population.¹³⁴ An example of surveillance is testing anonymous blood samples for HIV. This completely bypasses the autonomy of individuals since no informed consent is obtained for each individual blood sample. However, this can be deemed permissible, because epidemiologists can use the data, which is anonymized, to produce statistics. This may increase

awareness of a particular community's incidence of HIV, and cause more people to choose to be tested.¹³⁵ Furthermore, individuals who are HIV positive have an obligation to inform any sexual partners of their condition, for their partner's safety. Governments have the ability to arrest individuals who do not obey this statute, on the basis that they are directly putting other lives at risk.¹³⁶

Paternalistic efforts that can be defended through utilitarianism are not always realistic and may be considered to be not fully paternal actions. For example, a government may need to focus on initiatives that aim to reduce harm, which ultimately results in disease prevention and benefits a large group of people. This can be an alternative to enforcing laws, while still maintaining a level of utilitarian influence. Harm reduction must be an important priority for a governing body in the attempt to prevent or reduce the levels of disease.¹³⁷ For example, in the case of HIV transmission through intravenous needle sharing, public health authorities may witness more success in providing safe injection sites, as opposed to completely banning the practice. This would, potentially, result in a decrease in the number of cases of HIV that are contracted from sharing needles, or would help drug users learn about possible treatment options.¹³⁸ Furthermore, harm reduction must be tailored to the specific issue that needs to be solved. Not all public health concerns can be dealt with using such strategies, and there should be some analysis to predict that the harm reduction initiative will be beneficial in preventing disease.

Another method of influential disease prevention is the promotion of health through behavior modification. This is on the border between individual and community responsibility, but a government has the responsibility to encourage healthy lifestyles and provide the means for individuals to change the way they approach health and wellness. There are ethical concerns, however, when a government attempts to alter an individual's entire lifestyle, as opposed to just

point out and modify their unhealthy choices or actions. Paternalism may be associated with behavior modification if this method of health promotion is presented in such a way as to change a person entirely.¹³⁹ Furthermore, there may be concern that targeting an individual's behavior is blaming them for their unhealthy nature. They are portrayed as the victim and it is their fault that the health promotion is necessary, when in fact environment and social influence play greater roles in how a person behaves with regard to their health.¹⁴⁰ Common health promotion campaigns that suggest behavior modification include targeting smoking cessation and obesity, both of which can lead to a variety of diseases, and an overall unhealthy lifestyle.

In contrast, libertarian paternalism is a theory that values the autonomous rights of an individual to make their own decisions, but also includes a small level of state influence that takes into account the overall best interests of a community. This is executed through a paternalistic 'nudge' when influencing individual decisions.¹⁴¹ For example, in the case of trying to improve healthy eating, a buffet could position healthier options in more visible places. Consumers still have options as to what they eat, but they may be more likely to see the healthy options and choose those. This example illustrates the theory: a larger body can manipulate the choices that are available to the public, but the public still feels as though they make their own decisions. This may seem deceptive, but obesity is an example of a serious issue that must be addressed. This theory allows the government to take responsibility for the products or programs available to the public, and obese individuals can choose any option they prefer. The issue of obesity will be discussed further, to illustrate how this theory allows individuals to maintain autonomy while still participating in public health efforts from a higher governing body.

Although this theory maintains balance between individual autonomy and government influence, obesity will not be easy to resolve. Changes can be implemented, such as better access

to exercise facilities or more pressure on food and drink companies to improve the health of their products. This demonstrates the prioritizing of health as opposed to the promotion of financial gain for businesses. Behavior modification through education will be one of the most crucial habit-changing factors.¹⁴² This same concept will be illustrated later with regard to the issue of smoking. With obesity, many individuals are simply not aware of how they are negatively changing their bodies. They may not have nutritional facts about sugar and fat intake, or how to properly portion meals. In addition, education about diseases that stem from obesity, such as heart disease or type II diabetes, should be improved.¹⁴³ If an obese individual is made aware of the possible risks associated with their lifestyle choices, they may be more likely to make changes to avoid a shorter life expectancy or later health complications.

When deciding how to try and reduce the incidence of obesity, it is also important to examine who is affected. Although obesity impacts populations or even countries as a whole, people do not directly harm each other or transmit obesity. Solutions to this problem must stem from an individual being willing to reduce the harm they are doing to themselves, but they also require external support.¹⁴⁴ It is important for there to be a balance of effort from a government program and effort at the level of the individual. Governments do have a responsibility to make it easier for an obese person to modify their lifestyle and values, but not to push them into feeling uncomfortable. This balance is difficult to maintain. It can be easy to offend an over-weight person by telling them they must change and that the way they look is not normal, therefore, it is crucial that health information is presented in a non-threatening way that will benefit numerous individuals within a population.¹⁴⁵ For this reason, complete utilitarianism is not effective – a government cannot force an obese individual to change their lifestyle in a way that will

guarantee weight loss. Libertarian paternalism, therefore, is a better suited theory to deal with obesity.

Libertarianism, where individuals make most of their own decisions with regard to public health, such as the case of obesity, is only applicable to a small number of public health related issues to lower the incidence and eventually prevent disease. The issue of smoking cessation will be expanded on to demonstrate how a habit, such as smoking, which can lead to a deadly disease (cancer or lung disease), illustrates the possibility of a happy medium between libertarianism and paternalism, as it affects both individuals, and the community at large.

Similar to obesity, giving up smoking depends on the individual smoker making changes to their behavior in order to quit. The government has an interest in reducing the prevalence of smoking and may implement programs to nudge the smoker to make healthier choices. For example, putting a "sin tax" on cigarettes may prevent a smoker from being able to afford buying cigarettes, therefore, causing them to quit.¹⁴⁶ This paternalistic action seems negative, but any individual still has the option to buy the cigarettes, making it an example of libertarian paternalism. Although in some ways the government is interfering with the liberties of individuals by curtailing their ability to afford this unhealthy habit, they are still leaving room for personal decision-making. Furthermore, health education should have as its primary goal to try and minimize the number of smokers. It is common for cigarette packages to have images of diseased lungs or highlight damaging effects of smoking, as methods of education about the negative side effects of smoking. As important as education is, it is more crucial that the information being distributed is accurate. A common example is the link between smoking and lung cancer. Numerous scientific studies have demonstrated this correlation, but some members of the general public may not be aware of this work. It is not guaranteed that every smoker will

at some point get lung cancer, nor is it true that if a smoker quits, they completely eliminate their cancer risk. These misconceptions should be clarified to ensure that individuals are properly educated about their health, and will hopefully be influenced to break their habit in order to live a longer and healthier life.¹⁴⁷

Unlike obesity, being in direct contact with someone who is smoking can cause direct harm to the non-smoking individual. This is often a non-voluntary encounter, and it is up to the government or community to implement changes to avoid second-hand harm.¹⁴⁸ Since smoking is not illegal, it is difficult to insist that people completely stop smoking around others, but it can be strongly encouraged, through policy such as not being able to smoke indoors or in public restaurants.¹⁴⁹ These methods do not allow for personal liberty regarding where one is allowed to smoke, making them examples of utilitarian actions. Furthermore, second-hand smoke can be just as dangerous as actual smoking and could also lead to lung cancer, for example. It may be acceptable that governing bodies take action to try and prevent this problem for individuals who are unable to do so individually. These methods are justified and may set a precedent for how governments deal with similar smoking problems, such as smoking around children. Although this would be extremely difficult to implement, it could be justified to make smoking around children illegal to promote their health and safety when they are unable to make their own decisions about their environments.¹⁵⁰ Similar to the role a government can play in reducing obesity, a governing body can prioritize the health of its citizens over the promotion of a tobacco business.

Diseases can be critical and life-threatening if not treated in a timely and organized manner, but, in many cases, they can be avoided almost entirely through disease prevention strategies described in this chapter. An analysis of the concept and theories of disease prevention allows

public health authorities to effectively introduce methods that will inhibit the onset and spread of disease in ways that will most benefit a community. By doing so, the human right to health and the right to health care is being ensured, which promotes and maintains the health and welfare of all citizens. While universal standards of health care may not exist, it is clear that there are methods of reducing disparities between populations, and there is evidence that compels that higher powers, such as governments and global organizations take action to improve the wellbeing of global communities.
- ⁸ Brudney, "Is health care a human right," 251-252.
- ⁹ Conly, "The Right to Preventative Health," 307-321.

¹⁰ Anna Grimsrud et.al., "Reimagining HIV Service Delivery: The role of differentiated care from prevention to suppression." *Journal of the International AIDS Society* 19, no.1 (December 2016):21484, doi: 10.7448/IAS.19.1.21484.

¹¹ Daniel Clarke, "Stop denying migrants their fundamental right to healthcare." *BMJ* 353 (April 2016):i1971, doi: 10.1136/bmj.i1971.

¹² Luis Gimeno-Fileu et.al., "Global Healthcare Use by Immigrants in Spain according to morbidity burden, area of origin, and length of stay." *BMC Public Health* 16 (May 2016):450, doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3127-5.

¹³ David A. Reidy, "A Right to Health Care? Participatory Politics, Progressive Policy, and the Price of Loose Language," *Theoretical medicine and bioethics* 37, no.4 (August 2016):325-328, doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9370-z.

¹⁴ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 369.

¹⁵ Sreenivasan, "Health care and human rights," 356,

¹⁶ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 375.

¹⁷ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 373.

¹⁸ Sreenivasan, "Health care and human rights," 346-349.

¹⁹ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 376.

²⁰ Sreenivasan, "Health care and human rights," 344-345.

²¹ Sreenivasan, "Health care and human rights," 343-344.

²² Charles G.Ngwena, Eunice Brookman-Amissah, and Patty Skuster. "Human Rights Advances

in Women's Reproductive Health in Africa." International Journal of Gynecology and Obstatistics 120, pp.2 (May 2015): 186, doi: 10.1016/j.jigo.2015.02.001

Obstetrics 129, no.2 (May 2015): 186. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.02.001.

²³ Jeremy Snyder et.al., "Medical Tourism's Impact on Health Worker Migration in the Caribbean: five examples and their implications for global justice." *Global Health Action* 8 (April 2015):27348. doi: 10.3402/gha.v8.27348.

²⁴ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 374.

²⁵ Henk ten Have, *Global Bioethics: An Introduction*, (London: Routledge, 2016), 70-71.

²⁶ "Human Rights." World Health Organization.

²⁷ Sreenivasan, "Health care and human rights," 356-357.

²⁸ Sreenivasan, "Health care and human rights," 355-359.

²⁹ Charles D. Shaw, "How can healthcare standards be standardised?" *BMJ quality & safety.* 24, no.10 (October 2015):615-9, doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2015-003955.

³⁰ Gunilla Backman et.al., "Health Systems and the Right to Health: An Assessment of 194

Countries." *Lancet* 372, no.9655 (December 2008): 2047-85. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61781-X.

¹ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The place of human rights," 367.

² Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 368-369.

³ Liao, "Health (care) and human rights," 259-267.

⁴ Liao, "Health (care) and human rights," 267-272.

⁵ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 370.

⁶ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 375-380.

⁷ Daniel Brudney, "Is health care a human right?" *Theoretical medicine and bioethics*. 37, no.4 (August 2016):249-250, doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9376-6.

³³ Paul Farmer, Pathologies of Power: Health, Human rights, and the new war on the poor,

(Berkeley: University of California Press, 2005), 156-157.

³⁴ Farmer, *Pathologies of Power*, 6-8.

³⁵ Farmer, *Pathologies of Power*, 9-14.

³⁶ Sara E. Davies, *Global Politics of Health*, (Malden: Polity Press, 2010). 14-26.

³⁷ Sreenivasan, "Health care and human rights," 354.

³⁸ ten Have, *Global Bioethics*, 103-106.

³⁹ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 368.

⁴⁰ Conly, "The Right to Preventative Health Care," 319-320.

⁴¹ Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 368-369.

⁴² Tasioulas and Vayena, "The Place of Human Rights," 374-376.

⁴³ Conly, "The Right to Preventative Health Care," 307.

⁴⁴ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 91.

⁴⁵ Klitzman, et.al., "Anticipating Issues," 36.

⁴⁶ Whetstine, "Ethical challenges," 548.

⁴⁷ Klitzman, et.al., "Anticipating Issues," 34.

⁴⁸ DeGrazia, *Creation Ethics*, 130-131.

⁴⁹ P. Arbuthnot, M.B. Maepa, A. Ely, and M.S. Pepper, "The state of gene therapy research in Africa, its significance and implications for the future," *Gene Therapy* 24, no.9 (September 2017):586-587, doi: 10.1038/gt.2017.57.

⁵⁰ Chi Heem Wong et.al., "Estimating the financial impact of gene therapy," *Medrxiv* (2020): 1-5, <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.27.20220871</u>.

⁵¹ Raymond J. March, "Why this new gene therapy drug costs \$2.1 million," *Foundation for Economic Education*, June 3, 2019, <u>https://fee.org/articles/why-this-new-gene-therapy-drug-costs-21-million/</u>

⁵² Wong et.al., "Financial Impact,"1-3.

⁵³ Emily Mullin, "Tracking the cost of gene therapy," *MIT Technology Review*, October 24, 2017, <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/2017/10/24/148183/tracking-the-cost-of-gene-therapy/</u>

⁵⁴ Chris Bailey, "Gene therapies offer breakthrough results but extraordinary costs," *Massachusetts Municipal Association*, March 18, 2020, <u>https://www.mma.org/gene-therapies-offer-breakthrough-results-but-extraordinary-costs/</u>

⁵⁵ March, "Gene therapy costs,"

⁵⁶ ten Have, *Global Bioethics*, 63-64.

⁵⁷ Carly Hohm and Jeremy Snyder. "It was the best decision of my life: a thematic content analysis of former medical tourists' patient testimonials." *BMC Medical Ethics* 16, no.8 (January 2015): 1-7, doi: 10.1186/1472-6939-16-8.

⁵⁸ Ruairi Connolly, Timothy O'Brien, and Gerard Flaherty. "Stem Cell Tourism – A web-based analysis of clinical services available to international travellers." *Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease* 12, no.6 Pt B (Nov-Dec 2014):695-701. doi: 10.1016/j.tmaid.2014.09.008.

⁵⁹ Snyder et.al., "Medical Tourism's Impact on Health Worker Migration," 2-3.

⁶⁰ Snyder et.al., "Medical Tourism's Impact on Health Worker Migration," 4-8.

⁶¹ Connolly, O'Brien, and Flaherty, "Stem Cell Tourism," 697-699.

⁶² Hohm and Snyder, "It was the best decision of my life," 3-5.

⁶³ Davies, Global Politics of Health, 183.

³¹ Reidy, "A Right to Health Care?"336-340.

³² Reidy, "A Right to Health Care? 332-336.

⁷⁰ Edmund D. Pellegrino, "Benefit and Harm," In ten Have and Jean, *UNESCO Universal Declaration*, 101-102.

⁷¹ ten Have, *Vulnerability*, 40-42.

- ⁷² Regine Kollek, "Consent," In ten Have and Jean, UNESCO Universal Declaration, 131-132
- ⁷³ Davies, *Global Politics of Health*, 176-177.
- ⁷⁴ Davies, *Global Politics of Health*, 31-54.
- ⁷⁵ Verweij and Dawson, "The Meaning of 'Public' in 'Public Health," 22-27.
- ⁷⁶ Woolf, Jonas and Kaplan-Liss. *Health Promotion*, xxix-xlv.

⁷⁷ Daniel Wikler and Dan W. Brock, "Population-level Bioethics: Mapping a New Agenda," in *Ethics, Prevention, and Public Health*, eds. Dawson and Verweij, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007), 78-83.

- ⁷⁸ Wikler and Brock, "Population-level Bioethics," 90-92.
- ⁷⁹ Holland, *Public Health Ethics*, 84.
- ⁸⁰ Holland, *Public Health Ethics*, 86-90.
- ⁸¹ Holland, *Public Health Ethics*, 90-96.

⁸² Dan W. Brock, "Ethical Issues in Applying Quantitative Models for Setting Priorities in Prevention," in *Ethics, Prevention, and Public Health*, eds. Dawson and Verweij, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007), 111-118.

⁸³ Brock, "Quantitative Models," 118-127.

⁸⁴ David McLean, Dan Williams, Sonia Lamont, and Hans Krueger. Community Based

Prevention: Reducing the Risk of Cancer and Chronic Disease. (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2013), 7-8.

⁸⁵ McLean, Williams, Lamont and Krueger, Community Based Prevention, 9.

⁸⁶ McLean, Williams, Lamont and Krueger, Community Based Prevention, 10.

⁸⁷ Woolf, Jonas and Kaplan-Liss, *Health Promotion*, 531-548.

⁸⁸ Woolf, Jonas and Kaplan-Liss, *Health Promotion*, 548-550.

⁸⁹ Lawrence O. Gostin and Lesley Stone, "Health of the People: The Highest Law?", "in *Ethics, Prevention, and Public Health*, eds. Dawson and Verweij, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007), 59-66.

⁹⁰ Gostin and Stone, "Health of the People," 68-72.

- ⁹¹ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 3-7.
- 92 Conis, Vaccine Nation, 29-38.
- ⁹³ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 19-24.
- ⁹⁴ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 25-29.
- ⁹⁵ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 68-79.
- ⁹⁶ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 50-53, 80-84.
- ⁹⁷ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 87-93, 97-103.
- 98 Conis, Vaccine Nation, 88-91.
- ⁹⁹ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 41-45.

⁶⁴ Ten Have, *Global Bioethics*, 197-198.

⁶⁵ Connolly, O'Brien, and Flaherty, "Stem Cell Tourism," 695-701.

⁶⁶ Henk ten Have, *Vulnerability: Challenging bioethics*, (London: Routledge, 2016), 1-19.

⁶⁷ ten Have, *Vulnerability*, 23-25.

⁶⁸ ten Have, *Vulnerability*, 73-75.

⁶⁹ Roberto Andorno, "Human Dignity and Human Rights," In ten Have and Jean, UNESCO Universal Declaration on Bioethics and Human Rights, 91-96.

- ¹⁰⁰ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 50-51.
- ¹⁰¹ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 131-144.
- ¹⁰² Catherine Diodati, Immunization: History, Ethics, Law, and Health (Windsor: Integrated
- Aspects Inc., 1999), 161-163.
- ¹⁰³ Conis, *Vaccine Nation*, 93, 100-101.
- ¹⁰⁴ Diodati, Immunization, 80-82.
- ¹⁰⁵ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 122-123.
- ¹⁰⁶ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 147-148.
- ¹⁰⁷ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 208-221.
- ¹⁰⁸ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 211-212.
- ¹⁰⁹ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 194-202, 232.
- ¹¹⁰ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 230-232.
- ¹¹¹ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 108-109.
- ¹¹² Conis, Vaccine Nation, 60-61.
- ¹¹³ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 166-167.
- ¹¹⁴ Nuffield Council on Bioethics, Public Health: Ethical Issues (London, 2007), 54.
- ¹¹⁵ Holland, Public Health Ethics, 201-206.
- ¹¹⁶ Diodati, Immunization, 144-150.
- ¹¹⁷ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 213-215.
- ¹¹⁸ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 239-241.
- ¹¹⁹ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 59, 219-220.
- ¹²⁰ Conis, Vaccine Nation, 168-169.

¹²¹ "Access and Allocation: how will there be fair and equitable allocation of limited supplies?" World Health Organization, last modified January 12, 2021, https://www.who.int/newsroom/feature-stories/detail/access-and-allocation-how-will-there-be-fair-and-equitable-

allocation-of-limited-supplies

¹²² "COVID-19 Dashboard by the Center for Systems Science and Engineering (CSSE) at Johns Hopkins University," Coronavirus Resource Center, Johns Hopkins University, accessed February 17, 2021, https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html

¹²³ "Why it's so important to take the Coronavirus pandemic seriously," Cleveland Clinic, Last modified November 18, 2020. https://health.clevelandclinic.org/take-coronavirus-covid-19pandemic-seriously/

¹²⁴ "Guidance for wearing masks," COVID-19, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Last modified February 11, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-gettingsick/cloth-face-cover-guidance.html

¹²⁵ Drew Altman, "Understanding the US Failure on Coronavirus – an essay by Drew Altman," *BMJ* 370, m3417 (September 2020):1-3, doi: 10.1136/bmj.m3417.

¹²⁶ Chiara Gatti, "The Question of Disability in the Post-human Debate: Critical Remarks." Cuadernos de bioetica 25, no.85 (Sep-Dec 2014):445-456.

¹²⁷ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics, 165-169.

¹²⁸ Verweij and Dawson, "The Meaning of 'Public' in 'Public Health," 13-25.

¹²⁹ Holland, Public Health Ethics, 17-18.

¹³⁰ Ross Upshur, "What does it mean to 'know' a disease? The tragedy of XDR-TB," in *Public* Health Ethics and Practice, ed. Stephen Peckham and Alison Hann (Bristol:Policy Press, 2010), 51-64.

¹³¹ Nuffield Council *Ethical Issues*, 70-71.

- ¹³² Nuffield, *Ethical Issues*, 72.
- ¹³³ Nuffield, Ethical Issues, 73.
- ¹³⁴ Nuffield, *Ethical Issues*, 63-66.

¹³⁵ Jessica Datta and Anthony Kessell, "Unlinked anonymous blood testing for public health purposes: an ethical dilemma?" in *Public Health Ethics and Practice*, ed. Stephen Peckham and Alison Hann (Bristol:Policy Press, 2010), 101-115.

- ¹³⁶ Nuffield, Ethical Issues, 66-67.
- ¹³⁷ Holland, Public Health Ethics, 160-162.
- ¹³⁸ Holland, Public Health Ethics, 162-167.
- ¹³⁹ Holland, Public Health Ethics, 133-135.
- ¹⁴⁰ Holland, Public Health Ethics, 137-140.
- ¹⁴¹ Holland, *Public Health Ethics*, 63-65.
- ¹⁴² Nuffield, *Ethical Issues*, 87, 89-90.
- ¹⁴³ Nuffield, *Ethical Issues*, 91-93.
- ¹⁴⁴ Nuffield, *Ethical Issues*, 85-86.
- ¹⁴⁵ Nuffield, *Ethical Issues*, 86.
- ¹⁴⁶ Holland, Public Health Ethics, 149-151.

¹⁴⁷ Peter Allmark, Angela Tod and Jo Abbott, "The evaluation public health education initiatives on smoking and lung cancer: an ethical critique," in *Public Health Ethics and Practice*, ed. Stephen Peckham and Alison Hann (Bristol:Policy Press, 2010),65-81.

¹⁴⁸ Nuffield, *Ethical Issues*, 107.

- ¹⁴⁹ Nuffield, *Ethical Issues*, 108.
- ¹⁵⁰ Nuffield, *Ethical Issues*, 109.

Chapter 4: Vulnerability in Health Decisions

The concept of vulnerability extends beyond public health, and there are many groups of people who are considered to be vulnerable within the context of healthcare. This chapter specifically looks at vulnerability in the context of research, where many of these populations have previously been ignored or exploited. By following appropriate research protocols, groups, such as children, pregnant women, and impoverished individuals, can be appropriately included in medical research. This directly extends to the safeguards that must be in place when conducting clinical trials for CRISPR/Cas9 technologies and genetic therapies. Beyond research, these groups often face vulnerability at the beginning and end of life. Religious beliefs may create vulnerability factors for individuals who are making decisions that contradict their belief system, requiring analysis of the faiths of Islam and Catholicism for comparison. Religious principles and values will also affect opinions regarding the use of genetic editing techniques to potentially avoid the specific concerns related to abortion and Physician-Assisted Death. Both Catholicism and Islam strongly contest these procedures. By examining vulnerability through the lens of these topics, a brighter light is shed on the importance of genetic therapies and editing technologies along with their role in the medical field which is intended to serve everyone, regardless of aspects of vulnerability.

A: Vulnerability in Research Subjects

Medical research relies on clinical trials for accurate results and evolution in the field of medicine.¹ Clinical studies can be therapeutic when they are directly targeted towards a population of individuals with a particular disease, in an effort to provide a new treatment or procedure for relief. Non-therapeutic trials also advance medicine, but use research participants who volunteer their time to partake in studies that do not directly affect them individually, but

benefit society. Medical research is crucial in order to advance medicine and provide options for disease prevention and treatment that previously did not exist. In order for a researcher to accept a participant into their trial, informed consent must be given by a competent research subject or a substitute decision-maker acting on a participant's behalf.² This simple requirement poses challenges when research is conducted with vulnerable populations, however. This is especially apparent when conducting research on genetic therapies and editing techniques, due to the novelty of the treatments and the unknown risks associated with new technologies.

A vulnerable patient or population is one which is incapable of protecting themselves against possible harm caused by research. Extra safeguards must be developed to ensure that human rights are upheld and that any medical research is ethical.³ These individuals or groups of people can have varying levels of capacity, and must be considered differently than others in the same category. For example, an individual may have a high level of capacity, but as part of a vulnerable population, is viewed to be in some sort of danger when participating in research, such as those within an impoverished population. A single individual is also able to have changing levels of capacity, and demonstrate varying levels of competency throughout the time of a research trial, such as patients with dementia.⁴ This encourages the use of a substitute decision-maker to ensure that all consent is informed and autonomous, similar to their role described in an earlier chapter for consent to treatment.⁵ It is crucial, however, that research is done with vulnerable patients and populations to ensure that everyone has the opportunity for medical relief and proper information can be obtained for safe and effective treatments. CRISPR-Cas9 technologies may specifically benefit vulnerable populations, and require additional efforts to include often-excluded groups in research projects.

Numerous safeguards are in place within most countries to ensure ethical research is conducted, due to historic blunders that have violated individual human rights. Research oversight is required for this reason and in the context of genetic research, it is mandatory.⁶ It has been mentioned in the literature that one scientist in China, Dr. He, did not follow appropriate research standards when using the CRISPR-Cas9 technique to manipulate the genomes of embryos, leading to the birth of the first genetically-modified twins.⁷ His example will be expanded upon below, in order to demonstrate the vulnerability in medical research.

i. Informed Consent and Relationships between Researchers and Participants

All medical interventions, whether they are research trials or individual treatments, require the informed consent of the participant. This is true of any type of research participant, including one who belongs to a vulnerable population. The subject must be made aware of all of the potential risks and benefits associated with their participation in the study.⁸ If a clinical trial is being conducted, a doctor must also describe how an experimental treatment could potentially affect the patient's body and health, both positively and negatively.⁹ Informed consent makes evident that a respondent has made an autonomous decision to participate in research, based on all the required information having been provided. This is the beginning of the subject-researcher relationship.¹⁰

In order for consent to be accepted from a research participant, an individual must be deemed to have adequate decision-making capacity with which to provide their informed consent. Details regarding how to assess the capacity of an individual were given in the second chapter of this dissertation. A capable individual is able to understand simple medical facts about the trial or treatment to which they are consenting, and to appreciate the effect that the medical intervention will have on their body and on their life.¹¹ By providing their consent, a research respondent

indicates that they fully understand any possible harm that could occur and that they are able to appreciate the purpose of the research and its limits, as well as the possible impact of their contribution.¹²

In order for informed consent to be considered valid, the "Common Rule" must be followed, which dictates that a researcher must attain a participant's informed consent before they begin their clinical trial. This includes the patient indicating, usually on a consent form, that their decision to participate is voluntary (free of coercion), and informed.¹³ When providing information about a trial, an experimenter must take into account an individual's specific background. For example, a vulnerable participant who comes from an impoverished community and who has little formal education will probably not be able to understand difficult medical terminology which will lead to an informed decision regarding their involvement in a study.¹⁴ Unlike patients providing consent for treatment who must prove they understand and appreciate their situation by paraphrasing their diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment options, a research participant must only sign a consent form indicating that they understand and appreciate the study and its implications.¹⁵

When considering the autonomous choices of a patient in any kind of medical intervention, it is important to acknowledge that coercion can seriously impact a capable individual's ability to make a decision that is reflective of their own wishes. If a patient is coerced, their consent is not considered autonomous. As a result, it becomes invalid, since an outside party has influenced their decision. Coercion nullifies an individual's freedom to make their own choices. In its most serious form, it involves direct threats towards a patient, such as a family member threatening to stop caregiving services if the patient does not participate in the trial.¹⁶ It is crucial that informed consent is free of external pressure and that doctors are aware of

any ways coercion can be present in the decision-making process, as well as in the process of a participant wishing to withdraw from a study.

Coercion commonly arises if a participant is unsure about the trial facts or if there are multiple people involved in the decision-making process.¹⁷ A patient may be coerced by an outside influence to make a decision to participate or not participate in research, a choice with which they may not agree. Patients from vulnerable populations may be particularly susceptible to pressure from those they respect or consider to be authority figures, whether they are medical professionals or members of their family. Coercion can appear in the form of a doctor making the patient feel guilty if they do not participate, or a paternalistic family member forcing their loved one to make the decision to go ahead.¹⁸ This practice must be avoided to ensure that the informed choice of the patient is an autonomous one. If a participant believes that they have made their decision themselves, free of outside influence, they are more likely to cooperate and provide honest and accurate data, because they trust their researcher, and feel in control.

When an individual does not have the suitable decision-making capacity to provide their own informed consent, such as a patient suffering from advanced dementia, a surrogate or proxy decision-maker is able to consent on their behalf. A patient must be deemed incapable, but the level of incompetency can differ; a patient can be completely incapable (i.e., unconscious) or partially incapable (i.e. mentally disabled patients or children). Although there are subtle differences between the roles of a proxy depending on the level of incompetency, the basic need for informed consent is the same. The way that a surrogate decision-maker is chosen can vary, depending on whether the patient chooses an individual or whether one is appointed after the patient loses capacity. For example, a patient has the right to appoint a durable power of attorney for health care to make any decisions on behalf of the patient.¹⁹ Without the selection of a

specific individual, the surrogate automatically becomes a family member or close friend, or is appointed by the court. Chapter 2 of this dissertation goes into further detail the appointment of a substitute decision maker and their role in the consent process.²⁰

While examining an incompetent patient's capacity, it is crucial for an investigator to establish what their respondent's current capacity level is, and to respect it. In studies conducted with dementia patients, it was found that although few of them were able to provide informed consent for research trials involving high-risk neurology treatments, they did possess enough capacity to appoint a surrogate decision-maker to make choices for them. It was evident that these patients recognized their loved ones and felt comfortable enough to pass along the rights to decision-making.²¹ Better results were observed for patients suffering from schizophrenia. Fisher's study proved that although these patients are considered to be part of a vulnerable population, very few posed any risk or demonstrated a level of incapacity for consenting to research. If these patients were clinically stable and receiving standard treatment for schizophrenia, they had no issue understanding and appreciating the risks and benefits associated with research studies.²²

As mentioned, an important component to a participant agreeing to join a research trial is the nature of the relationship with their researcher. A way to strengthen this relationship is through education. Education consists of both the investigator and the respondent being aware of their roles and responsibilities within the parameters of the research project. If both parties have all the necessary information, and understand each other's roles, trust develops automatically regarding the intent of the research as well as the eventual use of the collected data. For a relationship to be successful there must exist a collective trust between all the individuals involved, especially when conducting research with vulnerable populations. A researcher, who

can outline how they intend to protect their subjects' information and honestly explain the intent of their work, creates a level of assurance among their subjects.²³

An investigator has the duty to weigh the risks and benefits of the research and of possible results. A trial or research idea may seem beneficial to the scientist conducting the experiment, but it may only help a small number of people. It could also potentially present significant and troubling risks for participants. Risk/benefit analysis is essential to ensure safe and ethical research and contributes in a major way to the preparation a researcher must undergo before seeking out respondents for their work.²⁴ If the benefits significantly outweigh the risks, the project is assumed to be very safe. If the risks begin to increase and surpass the amount of benefit, care must be taken to decide whether it is worth conducting the study.²⁵ High risk experiments, that may provide little or unknown benefit, must be analyzed to determine how they would affect society, and if there is merit in going through with them. If a trial involves treating an incurable disease with minimal available treatment, for example, the experiment could be seen as beneficial enough to be worth the risk.²⁶ This necessary analysis is vital for a researcher to engage in and leads to an improved relationship with the participants taking part in the experiment. Extra care must be taken with vulnerable populations to ensure that the relationship between the researcher and respondent acknowledges the protections needed for a high-risk population. If all risks and potential benefits are outlined in sufficient detail, a participant will be more likely to trust the investigator going forward.

In order to effectively educate a participant about information related to a particular study, an experimenter must decide what information to include when having this discussion. A participant may not feel that all medical facts or drug chemistry will be relevant to their decision making process, and only significant and potential risks and benefits, as well as a simplified

version of the science, are necessary. If a patient has mental disabilities, or if there is a language barrier, adjustments must be made to accommodate these vulnerability factors. A researcher may choose from one of three disclosure standards to present the proper information in order to obtain genuine informed consent. The "professional practice standard" involves a researcher outlining all information that a fellow professional would also feel is necessary; the "reasonable person standard" entails an investigator explaining what a reasonable person would find the most useful; and the "subjective standard" requires the experimenter to discuss information they feel is relevant to a specific individual respondent. The best standard is one that combines the latter two, which ensure that the proper facts are provided at a level that the participant can understand and which reflect their own lifestyle, and therefore allow them to make an informed decision.²⁷

Clarifying the intent of research is also crucial for forging an effective relationship between a researcher and their participant, as well as creating a safe and trustworthy trial. When a researcher is deciding upon the details of their inquiry, as well as explaining it to others and choosing participants, there is a need to defend why and how the research is fair and just.²⁸ Exploiting a vulnerable economically challenged community whose members rely on research participation to survive, or doing research on a drug where it will never be made available can certainly be considered unjust. It is important that the subjects know that they are not being exploited and that their time and contributions are valued.²⁹ A participant should never feel as though they are being ill-used or utilized solely because of their quality of life. A researcher has the responsibility to ensure that the project is not taking advantage of anyone, and that emphasis is placed on this during discussions with all respondents.

When a participant gives their informed consent to partake in a research study, they also have a right to know where and how their personal information and eventual results will be used.

The very serious issues of privacy and confidentiality are crucial when handling data, and if maintained, a mutual trust between the researcher and the individual will grow. A participant has the autonomous right to their own information being kept confidential, during and after research. Oftentimes, this is the law, which generally decrees that although data can be shared, a specific identity cannot be, without proper permission.³⁰ Every subject is also promised a suitable level of privacy, and has complete power over how much access others have to their data. These concepts comprise autonomy, and it is crucial that the respondent is aware of their right to privacy and options regarding release of information. If these policies are outlined during initial phases of research, a participant will gain more respect and trust for the investigator, which will have a positive impact on their working relationship.

All of the described components of an effective discussion between participant and researchers must be taught to and recognized by the research community. It is also important for investigators to consider the nature of their participant pool. For example, a study was conducted by Desine et.al. to examine how information is given in the context of genetic editing and Sickle Cell Disease (SCD).³¹ SCD will be further explained below, but this community was engaged in a conversation about how they previously received information on available genetic therapy options for SCD, and what improvements can be made. The most significant finding was that physicians underestimated the knowledge that patients and families of those with SCD had, as well as their ability and desire to understand new information. Often physicians verbally used or included on consent forms, vague and overstated language, without going into details about experimental information.³² Patients and families felt that if those conversations included more detail about the risks and benefits, side-effects, study mechanics, eligibility criteria, and impact

on patient quality of life, more trust would be gained and more interest in the research would be seen.³³

In addition to having a beneficial and robust discussion with their physician and/or investigator, understanding the research approval process may increase a patient's trust in the research process, and the research team. In the United States, before any research participants are chosen for a study, the research study must be approved by an Institutional Research Board (IRB). IRBs exist to evaluate and approve experiments. It is the job of these review panels to determine whether each trial is ethically acceptable and what risk level is associated with it.³⁴ If the risk is minimal, and considered to present a hazard which can occur in everyday life or during regular physical or psychological exams, then it is permissible for individuals to participate. Specifically relating to children, if there is a minor increase over minimal risk, then it is permissible for children to participate with their own assent and the consent of parents. If there is more than a minor increase over minimal risk, there must be a direct benefit to the individual for the research to be permissible, and the review boards must approve the study to be beneficial and worth the risk.³⁵ This overview process is a necessary safeguard to ensure that all individuals, especially those that are categorized as being part of a vulnerable population are protected from harm.³⁶

ii. Vulnerable Research Participants and Safety Measures

Often in research, a study will protect vulnerable patients' rights by simply excluding them from a trial. This is unjust and unproductive, since it makes no distinction within vulnerable groups and bars the possibility of beneficial research results. Vulnerable populations do not always have to include incompetent individuals, as some 'vulnerable subjects' are vulnerable

because of their current status in life.³⁷ The examples of pregnant women, disadvantaged populations, mentally incapable individuals, children, and embryos will be examined.

The classification of pregnant women to be 'vulnerable subjects' has caused controversy, as some authors believe that the women themselves do not need extra protection and are capable of making their own medical decisions. Conducting research with pregnant women does bring about some concerns, however, because there are risks involved.³⁸ The main issue deals with the fact that there are multiple lives in question, and the fetus inside its mother should be protected from unnecessary harm. It can be difficult to allow a woman the right to put her fetus in danger, by participating in a study for a new medication previously untested, for example. Furthermore, some believe that pregnant women are in such an emotional state, that they do not, in fact, have the appropriate capacity to make any medical decisions, and require numerous safeguards for ethical research.³⁹

Although considered vulnerable, pregnant women make up a population that is in need of research, especially of studies that directly benefit expectant mothers. Research studies, whether they are medical trials or involve social observation, can be of value to pregnant women and provide knowledge about their condition and experiences. Furthermore, women are more likely to trust the healthcare system if they are provided with accurate data, and if they are asked for their own opinion, such as participating in a social study about past pregnancies. A trusting relationship with the whole system leads to improved care.⁴⁰ Another direct benefit of increased trials with pregnant women is that they would provide greater information about safe drug doses for expectant mothers. Currently, most drug labels do not indicate any known risks for pregnant women or children, simply because no research exists that provides these answers.⁴¹ An increase in research with children in drug dosage trials is beginning to be seen, and the same should begin

to be done with pregnant women. This would benefit a significant number of individuals, as well as result in a reduced level of risk when taking medication while pregnant.⁴² Growing numbers of research trials which include pregnant women may lead to an increased number of studies being conducted on vulnerable groups within the larger group of pregnant women, such as female sex workers, women with HIV/AIDS, and expectant mothers using drugs. More research directed towards these groups of pregnant women would lead to a higher standard of care.⁴³

Research on the human fetus is an area of great concern, both for researchers and for mothers who are providing consent. This type of research significantly affects legislation and drives policy-makers who implement laws and protocols that are meant to uphold the rights of a fetus. Fetal research is permitted as long as it poses minimal risk to the fetus, and either directly benefits that particular fetus, or would help develop biological knowledge that is unable to be obtained using other methods. Unlike research with children, it is not permissible to conduct research on a fetus if there is more than a minimal risk associated with the study.⁴⁴ Moreover, there is no law that distinguishes research with ex-utero fetuses, such as those that have been aborted, from in-utero fetuses. As long as the research only poses a minimal risk, research with theses fetus is permitted.⁴⁵

If there is a concern with pregnant women participating in research, some wonder if equal apprehension should apply to women who could potentially become pregnant. There is no legislation that prevents a female research participant from partaking in a study, but some argue that researchers have a duty to disclose any risks associated with their trial that could potentially affect a future fetus or future fertility. For example, a woman may not feel comfortable taking contraceptive agents due to personal or religious values, but would like to participate in a study for Thalidomide, a drug known to cause deformities in children whose mothers took the drug

while pregnant. It would make sense that contraceptive agents be mandatory, to ensure that any future fetuses would not be affected by this drug, but, ultimately, it is up to the female research subject to judge the risks and potential benefits before giving her informed consent to research. It is crucial, however, that a researcher explains the risks of a teratogenic drug to all female participants.⁴⁶

Minority groups can also be counted among vulnerable populations, especially if they have experienced abuse in historic research trials. It can be difficult to conduct studies with minorities and ensure that the research remains ethical. Usually, minority populations experience a lower quality of care, poorer healthcare outcomes, and have less access to health care than normalized populations, making it the mission of research to learn why these inequities occur. Research can also shed light on reasons for economic and social disparities. A common example of minority research is done with African-Americans. There are certain diseases that have a higher prevalence among African-American individuals, which leads to research studies, such as investigating the efficacy of ACE Inhibitors and Beta-blockers being conducted among that sector of the population.⁴⁷

In the context of research for genetic editing technologies, such as CRISPR-Cas9, it would be beneficial to conduct studies specifically aimed at improving diseases that minorities, such as African Americans or Hispanics, experience in high prevalence. Sickle Cell Disease, which was mentioned above, is the most common inherited blood disorder in the United States among African Americans and Hispanics, and reduces the lifespan by 25-30 years compared to a Caucasian American.⁴⁸ There is an argument to be made for including SCD in genetic research so that this disease can be mitigated, both in the US and around the world where it is also prevalent. A significant hurdle that researchers will have to overcome, however, will be in

creating and maintaining trusting relationships with these populations, who have previously experienced human rights violations in research studies. By promoting and pioneering studies that use this technology to affect SCD, the disease prevalence can decrease, but the scientific community can address historical and sociopolitical injustices, further fostering trust with vulnerable populations.⁴⁹

Although the research itself is important, it is crucial that minority research projects consider possible complicating external and internal factors. Confidentiality and stigmatization can occur in small communities, where study participants may experience a great deal of distress due to the improbability of anonymity. Psychosocial problems could also arise, as well as group harm, such as in Native American communities, when a researcher undermines traditional beliefs and values. Similarly, a researcher must consider cultural norms in these small communities and modify their research to remain respectful of beliefs and cultural practices. Some individuals could find the concept of autonomy and individual consent abnormal, and prefer to consult with a group elder or other community members. Although legally one is allowed to make their own decisions, some cultures may function differently, and an investigatory body should maintain the respect of persons by accepting and encouraging this type of behavior.⁵⁰

Individuals who have lower education levels, experience language barriers, are economically disadvantaged, are considered poor because of income rates or being uninsured, are all considered to be vulnerable populations. Not allowing these groups of people to participate in trials in which they could be included, is a discriminatory practice. It may be assumed that 'poor' or uninsured participants choose to partake in research trials because free medical care is the incentive, but there is actually a low representation of disadvantaged respondents in research, and individuals in less advantaged socioeconomic groups seem to be

less likely to participate. Improvements that could be made in order to encourage economically disadvantaged populations to take part in research include simple modifications to a research study to ensure that all participants feel comfortable. This can include plain language explaining the scientific methods and facts, or translating the information into other languages. Furthermore, it is crucial that all participants understand the trial and any known risks that are associated with it. If an individual is unable to fully grasp what the research is about, it is recommended that they participate in a trial that is of minimal risk. If an individual is able to provide autonomous consent, there is no reason to prevent them from partaking in any research studies.⁵¹

A concern arises with economically disadvantaged populations in other countries, as well. Research trials are often conducted internationally, because of lower costs and a higher number of willing participants. However, this convenience is sometimes abused and pharmaceutical companies use this method to conduct unethical research trials. For example, a drug company conducting clinical trials in developing countries to test for possible treatments that will be exclusively available in developed countries, demonstrates how research can be perceived as unjust. On the surface, it is not fair that an individual or community is being exploited like this when they are receiving very little benefit in the long run. If a company, however, can provide the community with some compensation, through health programs, or the drug itself, the research is considered ethical.⁵² A common example is HIV/AIDS trials conducted in Africa that mostly benefit Americans living with the disease.⁵³

There are certain vulnerable populations, such as patients with dementia, schizophrenia or depression that have varying levels of capacity depending on the progression or severity of their disease. Capacity, in general, lies on a continuum and can change depending on the circumstances. An individual, for example, may possess the capacity to assign a substitute decision-maker, but not be able to understand and appreciate information associated with clinical trials. When an individual is not able to consent to research, but is considered a valuable candidate, a proxy decision maker can do so on the patient's behalf.⁵⁴

In order for a vulnerable patient, such as one with dementia, to have the capacity to participate in a clinical trial, there are three elements that must be considered. One is that the patient must be able to understand the differences between clinical care and clinical research, as the former is considered directly beneficial, whereas the latter is still research and never guarantees a positive outcome. A substitute decision-maker for an incapable patient must also be able to make this distinction. Additionally, a patient should be able to recognize the appropriate levels of risk associated with a clinical trial as opposed to a medical treatment, and be able to assess whether those risks are worth the participation in the trial. Finally, there should be a planned evaluation of a subject's capacity, to ensure that the previous stipulations are accounted for, and that the patient or surrogate is truly competent.⁵⁵ A common sign of incompetency or misunderstandings is therapeutic misconception, where a patient does not understand the purpose of the research study, and believes it will be beneficial for their condition.⁵⁶ It should also be emphasized that a diagnosis does not result in an automatic status of capacity. Patients should not be judged on the basis of their disease, but should be assessed individually to determine their specific competency to make decisions. ⁵⁷

Current legislation only allows vulnerable and incapable patients to participate in research trials that may be of direct benefit to them. "The Necessary Clause" proposed by Wendler is sometimes followed, which stipulates that research is only done when it is necessary for the patient.⁵⁸ However, more often than not, an acceptable study is one that must only pose minimal risks, if any, and any increase in risk that is more than minimal can be justified only if

the research is for the direct benefit of the patient. The same rules apply in the case of pediatric research and the assessment of risks of participation.⁵⁹ These safeguards exist as a direct result of exploitation that has taken place in the past. Appalling historic events, such as the Tuskegee syphilis trial and Nazi experiments, have led to explicit policy regarding vulnerable and incompetent population research, to ensure the safety of these populations and to uphold their human right of autonomy.⁶⁰

To ensure that research trials with incapable patients are ethically conducted, there are various improvements and safety measures that an investigator can undertake. Within facilities such as nursing homes, education can be improved to ensure that nurses become aware of the risks and benefits of research, and that patients come to realize that research trials are available in which they may be able to participate. For the research to be effective, it is crucial that caregivers are informed and instructed, and that they agree to aid investigators. Oftentimes, a caregiver or nurse is the one conducting a study, in feeding method trials for dementia patients for example, as a mentally incapable patient would feel more comfortable with a familiar face. By ensuring that a nurse agrees and cooperates with the research being done, a study may be more effective and vield more accurate results.⁶¹ Education of the research participants themselves should also be improved. Even though they may have a limited capacity, an investigator should have the ability to modify the process of informing a patient of all the necessary information about risks and benefits associated with a trial. Although each patient varies, a researcher should strive to improve this education so that the reasoning of these patients subsequently improves as well.⁶²

Another large vulnerable population is children. Studies involving pediatric patients can help researchers better understand how a child reacts to social and medical interventions. Ethical

issues can arise, however, because of their various vulnerabilities. Children differ from the previously described individuals, in that they do not typically possess their own capacity and often rely on a surrogate in the form of a parent. Safety measures for the protection of children, the autonomy of both the child and their parent when providing informed consent, and payment for participants are important ethical concerns associated with pediatric research.

When a child enrolls in a clinical trial, whether it is a medical or social trial, they must be aware of their individual rights.⁶³ They are able to autonomously withdraw from an experiment at any time if they feel uncomfortable, and they are not required to provide a specific reason.⁶⁴ This autonomy can be forgotten or disregarded, however, if a child believes that there may be personal repercussions for ceasing to participate in a study. For example, if they think their parents will punish them or that they will be treated poorly, they may stay in the clinical trial, despite reservations or discomfort.⁶⁵ In order for autonomy to be at the forefront of a researcher's concerns, it is essential that a child is aware of their rights and that a researcher explain to the best of their ability to both a child and their parent that a subject can withdraw from the study at any time without penalty or repercussion of any kind.

A reason for withdrawing from research might be because of too much risk or harm associated with the experiment. Although review boards evaluate the level of risk that a research study contains and may determine that the trial is safe, it is up to a child and their parent(s) to decide if they wish to partake in the study despite a certain level of potential harm.⁶⁶ If a medical trial is classified as being therapeutic, most patients believe that even the smallest possibility of benefit is worth an elevated level of risk. If the trial is non-therapeutic, there is no intended direct benefit for an individual participant. Its purpose is to provide general data about trends or to test toxicity levels. The risks associated with non-therapeutic studies may not be worth participation

in the trial, as it could directly harm a healthy child. It is recommended that children who do not have a specific disease or condition associated with the research should not be exposed to any increases over minimal risks, and, therefore, should not partake in such studies. However, it is ultimately up to a child and their parent to decide whether they choose to enroll in a study, and conduct their own risk-benefit analysis in order to make this decision.⁶⁷ These stipulations apply to all vulnerable populations, but are especially monitored and enforced with trials involving children.

Within medical research, children who already have a disease or condition being studied are more sought after, and additional concerns must be considered. In many instances, there can be cases of therapeutic misconception associated with non-therapeutic studies. For example, if an oncology trial is phase-1 and testing drug toxicity levels, a parent or child might believe that there is a possibility for therapeutic relief or a cure. In fact, the purpose of these studies is not therapeutic at all, and it must be explained to the subjects that it is not intended to act as a treatment.⁶⁸ Furthermore, children with the studied disease may be perceived to be able to tolerate a higher level of risk. For instance, it may be assumed that a child who has already experienced a lumbar puncture will view another procedure as a minimal risk and non-invasive, while a healthy child may feel more uncomfortable. The literature suggests that this assumption is not valid, and all children, regardless of their prior experiences, should be considered equal when it comes to the amount of risk that is considered minimal and tolerable in research.⁶⁹

This concept also raises the question of approving certain treatments for compassionate use. In the US, there is a "Right to Try" law now in effect, which allows for patients to access unapproved treatments outside of a clinical trial, often meaning that there is not established safety or efficacy data to support use. However, when a child with a specific disease either cannot access a clinical trial (due to ineligibility or geographic location, for example), or there is no current clinical trial for that treatment available, a physician can seek permission to provide the treatment out of compassionate use. Typically this is considered when no other treatment is available for a particular disease.⁷⁰ While this may seem like a beneficial system, it also raises concern about the future integrity of scientific research, especially with children. Since there are already few research trials that include children, it is feared that the increase in compassionate use will deter parents from enrolling their children into a randomized trial, where there is a possibility that their child will not receive the studied treatment. This would result in only anecdotal evidence being available about a medication, for example, and not the gold standard of clinical trial results.⁷¹

When scientists are planning pediatric research experiments, they may be able to adapt methods from trials conducted with adults in order to make them more suitable for children. A survey, often used in adult social research, may be difficult for a small child to understand, and may need to be converted into a very basic conversation. Furthermore, if research is being done on toddlers who are unable to read or write, and whose vocabulary is not fully developed, a researcher may have to enlist the help of other professionals to properly communicate with these subjects.⁷² Additionally, visual aids could be used to gather data, since children may feel more comfortable interacting and communicating in this way.⁷³ This is important to ensure that a child is comfortable and that information accumulated is accurate. Although a researcher may have to invest extra time and effort to add these modifications, it is crucial that they do so in order to improve the quality of their research procedures and results.

It can be difficult to assess a child's capacity and to determine that they are sufficiently competent to make their own medical decisions. It is often assumed that a child cannot

understand and appreciate the implications and workings of a research study, which invalidates their consent for participation.⁷⁴ As a result, their parent must provide supplementary consent. Within research studies with children, if the participant is old enough, usually over the age of seven, a child must have parental consent as well as provide their own assent to take part in an experiment.⁷⁵ A child's assent means that the they have agreed to partake in the research, but legally, the parental consent makes it valid. A child can also dissent when they do not feel comfortable participating in the experiment.⁷⁶ Currently in the US, only 'mature minors,' usually teens between the ages of 14 and 17, can provide their own informed consent without the additional consent of their parents.⁷⁷ Assent and dissent is very important as it still allows a child to voice their own opinion and feel as though their autonomy is being considered.

As indicated, a parent has an important role in research with children, as they must provide informed consent on behalf of their child. An earlier chapter described the challenges that parents face when making decisions for their children, but frequently it is assumed that parents act in the best interest of their children and in the context of their beliefs and values.⁷⁸ A parent also has the ability to override a child's assent or dissent within a study. This is only permitted if the research will directly benefit the child, such as the case of a subject with an existing disease or condition who does not wish to try a new therapy or contribute to ongoing research, but their parents believe it would be of benefit (in the case of overriding dissent). Similarly, a parent may feel the experiment is not safe or beneficial for their child (in the case of overriding assent).⁷⁹

When conducting research, an experimenter may hope that a participant is motivated to partake in the research, because they share the common goals of the study. This, however, is not always the case, and some sort of compensation may be provided as an expression of thanks for participation. For trials that are non-therapeutic or provide no direct benefit to a subject, a compensatory payment can render participating in the research more worthwhile for the child and their parents. Providing payment for these types of studies may also act as incentive for more people to get involved and volunteer to take part.⁸⁰ A researcher can also put forth the option of paying for any travel or medical fees associated with the study, as opposed to a general compensatory payment that goes directly to the child or their parents as a form of reward.

A strong objection to any sort of payment for research is that a reward of this type may negatively influence the motivation for participating in a study. This is true for all vulnerable populations, but there is a fear that a child may be coerced into the study if there is compensation provided to the parents, or if a child feels the need to provide for their low-income family with the monetary remuneration that the experiment provides.⁸¹ Another concern that researchers have with regard to compensation for children is how it will affect the validity of the collected data. It may be perceived that payment could cause a family to lie about their personal information or history to ensure that they are accepted into a trial, because they are in need of financial aid. This calls for better screening processes to ensure honesty, which would prevent invalid scientific data.⁸² A researcher would hope that a child and their parents could understand the goals of a study and that their decision to participate would be a sign of willingly donating their time for the common good. Perhaps the child and their parent might feel that the benefits outweigh any possible risks, so they would consent to joining the study, without payment. Some may even view partaking in research as a type of community service, and feel that a fee is unnecessary.⁸³

A final issue regarding compensation is whether the parents of child participants should be paid separately, aside from any travel or medical expenses. It can be argued that a parent may have to take time away from their job to bring the child in for research sessions, thereby

impacting a family's income. They may, therefore, call for extra payment. This argument should not stand, however, because a parent is not the one participating and providing data. If parents received monetary incentive, children could be enrolled in research solely for the benefit of their parents. It is acceptable for a study to cover transportation costs, but all rewards should go to the child. Children receiving some financial reward can be compared to a child having a part-time job or, in the case of younger children, doing chores and receiving an allowance. These arguments would allow research studies to provide participants with some sort of financial compensation at the end of a study.⁸⁴

A last vulnerable group to consider is embryos. An embryo is typically defined as "a human organism during the first 56 days of its development following fertilization or creation."85 Under this definition, embryos are not considered to be 'humans' and, therefore, would not be subject to the 'Common Rule,' or the rules for approving and overseeing human research in place in the US.⁸⁶ Some countries, such as Canada and the UK, have established laws and regulations about doing research with embryos and fetuses, often stating that embryos cannot be manipulated past the 14th day of development.⁸⁷ However, in the United States, no such distinction exists, although many researchers follow this unofficial international guideline. Vulnerability to embryos can be looked at in two ways: one where embryos should be protected from any research or creation outside of natural conception because of the inevitable destruction that happens in embryonic research, and the opposite view, where embryos are too protected and more inclusive oversight should be sought to further embryonic research. Religious considerations at the beginning of life, which correspond to the first stipulation will be explored below. The opposing view is informed by the current American law prohibiting any federal funds from being used for embryonic research or equipment used for it. It can be argued that

federal recognition of the need for embryonic research, particularly with stem cells, would provide benefit to the medical community and ensure appropriate involvement and oversight in clinical trials.⁸⁸

This is specifically important in the context of CRISPR-Cas9 technologies used in embryonic research. While currently there is a worldwide consensus that is not safe to use the editing tool in embryos and then implant them into a womb, it is possible.⁸⁹ If specific guidelines do not exist, some scientists may attempt to edit an embryo's genome and allow an edited child to be born. However, it is interesting to consider that even when regulations exist, some researchers may choose to ignore them. Dr. J. He in China violated Chinese research guidelines including properly obtained informed consent. This section outlined the importance of informed consent in research, especially with vulnerable populations, such as individuals with HIV, which the participant in Dr. He's research had. In his report, the consent form did not adequately explain the risks and used inappropriately complicated language. Furthermore, it is evident that he did not appropriately weigh the risks and benefits of the treatment, and there is suspicion of coercion of the parents.⁹⁰ Dr. He's process of scientific research clearly did not comply with the outlined perspectives explained here with regard to doing studies with vulnerable populations, and further illustrates the need for regulation in research.

B: Vulnerability at the Beginning and End of Life

The previous section explored how clinical research affects vulnerable patients. This part will specifically explore how vulnerability of fetuses at the beginning of life, and vulnerability at the end of life for children and adults, affect medical care that could reduce vulnerability factors through the use of the CRISPR/Cas9 technology or genetic therapies. Patients who are unable to speak for themselves, or who fall into easily-manipulated populations, are at risk for a lesser

quality of medical care, especially at the beginning and end of life. When a patient loses their capacity to provide informed consent or never even has the opportunity to do so, a substitute decision-maker is tasked with making decisions on the patient's behalf, complicating already difficult circumstances at the beginning or end of life. For example, new parents who are considering a termination of pregnancy, can only use their own values to guide decision-making, making their unborn child more vulnerable, who cannot express their own wishes. Conversely, an individual may have to make choices about end-of-life care for their parent during a time of heightened emotion or grief, which could impair decision-making, once again causing the dying patient to become more vulnerable. It is crucial to maintain as much autonomy as possible for the patient, whether at the beginning or end of life, and to implement safeguards to ensure the safety for those who are deemed vulnerable.

i. Established religious beliefs about the beginning and end of life

Decision-making can be a difficult task for patients and substitute decision-makers (SDM) alike. When making decisions for children or neonates, parents, for example, must consider not only their own wishes, but those of their child as well. Two polarizing practices often cause a significant amount of stress for patients and SDMs: abortion and physician-assisted death (PAD). Decisions regarding either of these procedures would be considered more challenging than a common choice, such as whether to consent to surgery, and require both practical thought and moral consideration. Aside from medical facts, someone may turn to their religious beliefs for guidance when contemplating either of these courses of action. Two of the most-practiced religions, Islam and Catholicism, will be focused on, as they share similarities, but also exhibit significant differences. Before focusing on the specified topics, it is important to examine the main tenets of a religion regarding decision-making. Islam and Catholicism vary, but both

present important teachings and guidance that allow its followers to make choices in their ordinary lives

God influences all decision-making within the Islamic faith. His teachings through the Quran, as well as those of the Prophet Mohammad, through Hadith, indicate that all choices, actions, and decisions should be based on the criteria for what is good, and should not promote or cause evil. Since all decisions must, in theory, please God or abide by His teachings, it is clear that autonomy has a small role to play in the lives of Muslims. Although this may seem as though they lack the right to make decisions regarding their own body or their own lives, they have chosen to live a life that is dedicated to God and that will eventually lead to Him. Because God is almighty and good, an individual should also strive to live their life that way, which includes choosing options that are best for their family and their lives.⁹¹ This may differ depending on the school of Islam to which the individual belongs, as the Shia group allows for more autonomous thinking than the Sunni group does. There is some level of autonomy, but not in the same degree as Western society believes in and emphasizes. More detail will be given below.

The Sunni branch of Islam is more conservative than its counterparts. Sunnis rely on holy literature, such as the Quran, the Hadith, and other writings of the Prophet Mohammad when deciding whether an action or thought is good or bad.⁹² God indicates in the Quran to always do what is good, and the Sunnis have applied their insight from the literature to create laws that dictate what should and should not be done. Their reasoning for these distinctions is based solely upon the historic writings, and since there may not be direct answers to today's questions among them, it can be difficult to find solutions for contemporary problems. This leaves little room, for individual human reasoning, nor collective reasoning among the general public. Only those who

are theologically educated or physicians can provide some insight on bioethical inquiries.⁹³ It can be assumed that decision-making is practiced among scholars by discussing past events that may be similar, or examining scripture from the Quran that can be interpreted in a way that indicates what should be done.⁹⁴ Once the outcome is decided, the 'no questions asked' approach applies. While they believe they are doing what God is asking them to, the conclusion is based more upon the law, as opposed to ethics.⁹⁵

While the Shia group also value the Quran and the Hadith, they are more objective when it comes to ethical reasoning.⁹⁶ The Quran instructs the followers of Islam to always do good and avoid evil, but it never mentions specifically what good and evil consist of. It assumes that individual Muslims are able to distinguish between the two, and make the proper decision at the appropriate time. It relies on its followers to be educated and moral to ensure that they always follow the right path.⁹⁷ Human reasoning, in this case, is necessary for Shia Muslims to make decisions, especially ones pertaining to bioethics. Although there seems to be a greater degree of autonomy, in that individuals are making their own decisions, there is actually less of an emphasis on autonomous decision-making, as opposed to decisions that are ultimately influenced and reflective of God. The Quran says that humans do not have rights, but, rather, duties toward God.⁹⁸ As a result, an individual does not solely think about what choice is most beneficial for them, but focusses on what God will perceive to be the best choice in accordance to His teachings. Individuals have a larger role in coming to a conclusion about this, but they do ultimately use the same end reasoning as Sunnis do – what God has relayed through his teachings is what must be followed and sought.

It is clear that bioethical decisions within Islam require the approval of more than just one individual. Personal relationships, such as those with a spouse or a family, are important to

consider when making medical choices. For example, a husband and wife will have to make decisions and think about the impact on themselves, individually, and as members of a family.⁹⁹ Family is strongly valued within Islam, and it is considered to be a priority among Muslims to create a large family whose members are loving towards each other and dependent on each other, as well as united through their spiritual relationship to God. This is the only other relationship that an individual has apart with God, that ensures that their actions correspond to the good that God requires.

Furthermore, decisions are made with the community in mind. A patient or individual often has to consider what will be of benefit to the greater good, i.e., the Muslim community. Will a decision agree with one that a group of believers would make? Having a place within the Muslim community holds great importance, and being able to live among a faith-based community can be very rewarding and encouraging.¹⁰⁰ However, it can also be intimidating. If an individual feels that a medical decision they must make is personal, having to consider a community's opinion in addition to an autonomous one can be overwhelming. In theory, an individual's opinion should correspond to what God would have believed to be right, and, in turn, the collective should also share the same viewpoint about specific issues, as well as more general topics. This, obviously, can vary among individuals or religious sects, but the opinion and reaction of one's community, which can judge as well as praise, definitely weighs on individuals while making decisions.¹⁰¹

Unlike Islam, which references the Quran, the Hadith, and other teachings to make decisions and determine positions within the Muslim faith, Catholicism only refers to one Holy Scripture: the Bible. This text has influenced all of Christianity, but the Catholic Church recognizes it as the ultimate teaching of God's values.¹⁰² The Bible, unlike the Quran or Hadith,

however, is not often taken literally. It acts as a collection of stories that allow a reader to interpret them in order to gain guidance about an issue or a question. Bible stories can be compared to fables that teach you a lesson, rather than instruction guides that provide steps for the 'right' thing to do.¹⁰³ As a result, interpretations vary among both scholars and practicing Catholics. With regard to the topic of abortion, for example, the Bible does not directly explain that the termination of a pregnancy is wrong, but implies that it should be avoided.¹⁰⁴ In contrast, Islamic teaching does mention the prohibition of abortion, as well as the reasons that one should not choose termination, such as poverty or sex preference.¹⁰⁵

A significant difference between Islam and Catholicism as general religions is the system of leadership which is in place. Muslims do not have one authoritative figure to esteem, as there are various branches of Islam who follow different leaders.¹⁰⁶ Catholics all have one Pope, who represents their ultimate connection to God. He is responsible for sharing wisdom and knowledge about all topics related to faith.¹⁰⁷ Moreover, there is a further hierarchy of cardinals, bishops, priests, and clergy who are available to smaller groups of individual Catholics around the world, in order to provide them with a figure who is able to relay the teachings and messages from the Pope, and from God. All of these religious leaders are considered to have extensive knowledge of the Catholic faith, and of every position that the church takes regarding topics, such as abortion.¹⁰⁸

As a result of this system, whose 'powerbase' stems from just one person, the Catholic religion is able to draw universal conclusions about all topics related to the Bible and to the Catholic faith. There can be an official statement or position by which the entire Church is expected to abide, in order to ensure that all Catholics practice the same values.¹⁰⁹ The benefit of having one official position is that it unites the entirety of the Catholic following, and provides

little opportunity for debate that can lead to conflict, and potential harm. Although a position may be controversial, it is the duty of all official individuals within the Catholic Church to accept it and to pass it along to congregations.¹¹⁰ Furthermore, a universal conclusion is easier to implement within institutions, such as Catholic hospitals or schools. Streamlined Catholic teachings make this process simpler and, therefore, possible, which ensures that Catholic values are upheld in such environments.

Although having one universal position is beneficial, there must always be room for debate and progress among Church officials, as well as the general public. As science and technology evolve, ancient policies may have to be re-examined and adjusted in order to address new findings. For example, ancient scholars once believed that all sperm contained a human life, and its encounter with an egg was irrelevant. An ovum was simply an egg that fed the sperm to become a human fetus. After the microscope was developed, it was discovered that this was not, in fact, true, and genetic discoveries demonstrated that the egg did, indeed, serve a purpose in contributing to the DNA of the fetus, and it was not just a method of nutrition.¹¹¹ Abortion is also a controversial topic, and often divides groups of people into pro-life supporters, and others who are pro-choice. The Church is firmly pro-life, but there has been debate among bishops to consider some extraneous exceptions that would allow an abortion to be regarded as moral and, therefore, permissible, such as in the case of rape or incest. There is less debate surrounding physician-assisted death, as Catholicism strictly prohibits any version of PAD.

With respect to abortion in particular, the Bible does not directly mention it nor does it discuss the termination of a pregnancy. It does, however, discuss the beginning of human life, as well as the responsibilities of Catholics with regard to killing and murder of innocent lives.¹¹² One can use citations dealing with these topics, as well as other verses to determine that a fetus is

an innocent life, and that ending its life would be a sin. It is clear that the Bible bestows rights upon the fetus, and hopes that the followers of God and Christ are able to interpret the stories in a way that leads to the conclusion that killing is prohibited, and, therefore, the killing of a fetus (which is how abortion is perceived) is a sin. This also supports the prohibition of physicianassisted death, since it is seen as a form of killing. All of the conclusions about the topic of abortion, however, require thought and analysis to ensure that a decision reflects the values and the teachings of God. This process of reasoning, while it can be done by a lay Catholic, is often left to religious leaders, who can influence not only an entire congregation, but the entire religion.

It is clear in both Islam and Catholicism that physician-assisted death is prohibited. The concept of physician-assisted death and its forms will be explored below, but it is considered to be either a form of suicide or a form of killing, making it unacceptable from a religious perspective. Death in the Islamic faith signifies leaving this life and moving onto another, in which you come to be judged by God and go to heaven. Scholars outline four stages of life: inside the mother's womb, the life we live as humans, limbo, and the afterlife.¹¹³ With this in mind, dying is not seen as a negative occurrence, but one that will bring a Muslim closer to God. God also determines when a person is born, the duration of their life on Earth, and when they will die.¹¹⁴ By intervening in this process through suicide, for example, one is deemed to have sinned. If suicide is unacceptable, many also believe that physician-assisted death is not permissible, as it interferes with God's ultimate plan for each human being.¹¹⁵ Even if an individual is suffering, it is unacceptable to hasten death in the manner of providing lethal medication. A case can be made for withdrawing or withholding treatment, since these actions are not hastening death, but simply allowing death to occur naturally.¹¹⁶
From a Catholic perspective, most theologians believe these procedures can never be acceptable, but there are some who feel PAD may be permissible in certain circumstances. A common theme in these discussions is martyrdom. A martyr would rather feel pain and preserve their integrity and faith, than give up and ask to die or kill themselves, because they could not handle the suffering that God intended them to experience.¹¹⁷ In addition, some believe that if an individual is already dying, the process cannot be reversed and PAD should be permissible in order to relieve them of any suffering.¹¹⁸ Those who believe that physician-assisted death is morally right agree on the need for safeguards and well-defined policy for practice in real life. There are numerous ways that these procedures could be used for evil purposes, but with proper control, PAD could also be beneficial.¹¹⁹

However, overall forms of physician-assisted death are strongly condemned. PAD through a physician providing a lethal injection is regarded as killing, even if a patient asks for it, and is, therefore, never morally permissible. Suicide is also considered a form of and choosing to kill oneself violates God's plan for humans, and disrespects the idea that God is the only one who should decide when an individual dies. The concept also goes against the belief that human life is eternally sacred and has immense value.¹²⁰ Catholic believers typically prefer to focus to improved pain management or palliative care in order to relieve a patient of their suffering.¹²¹ Suffering, however, is also thought to be an integral part of the human life.¹²²

These are clear religion-based positions, but one aspect that is frequently debated is whether involvement in forms of physician-assisted death is in any way permitted. For example, in Canada, specifically in Ontario, PAD (known as Medical Assistance in Dying or MAID) requires physicians, nurse practitioners, pharmacists, and any other health care providers who are approached about MAID to make an effective referral to another provider if they choose to

conscientiously object to being involved, as directed by their professional colleges.¹²³ This ensures that patients seeking MAID, who are typically quite vulnerable due to their conditions, are not abandoned or prohibited from accessing legal health care services. Among Catholic physicians, there is a concern that even making that referral is tantamount to being involved in the process of MAID, and, therefore, an immoral act.¹²⁴ It could also be argued that the autonomy of Catholic (or other religious-oriented) health care providers is at risk because they are feeling pressured to participate in acts that they deem to be against their personal values. These moral dilemmas could result in significant harm to vulnerable patients who are at the end of life, by preventing them from accessing a service that could greatly relieve their suffering, which is how the Ontario court system has approached the issue.¹²⁵ In a country, such as Canada, in which public health care is funded by the government, it should be required for physicians to make an effective referral to ensure that patients are treated fairly and not judged for their own choices.

The debate around abortion is more robust and controversial, especially in the context of religion. An embryo or a fetus is considered to be at the beginning of its life, if it is considered to be a person, and abortion could bring it to the end of its life according to that thought process. It is clear that within both Islam and Catholicism, personhood and ensoulment are the deciding factor for when life begins. These concepts are applied by these religions to determine the permissibility of abortion. Another factor may also play a role; the law in the country in which an individual is living, which affects the health care services that are available and safe. While a woman or couple will turn to their faith to make a choice, they may also be influenced by legal information to determine an ultimate plan.

Muslims believe that God has given them a pre-determined path to follow, which will eventually lead to paradise in the afterlife if they pursue a good life. It is the duty of the followers of Islam not to interfere with this plan by actively trying to control the time they die, such as with the use of PAD explained above, or the time a baby is born.¹²⁶ With this in mind, Islam has designated certain regulations about end-of-life actions such as suicide or withdrawing end of life support, as both of these choices hasten the time of death for an individual, thereby tampering with God's plan.¹²⁷ If both of these are prohibited, where does abortion fit when determining its permissibility? The termination of a pregnancy after one is determined to have personhood is considered to be directly interfering with God's blueprint in ending a life that has a determined path. Therefore, one would assume that abortion is prohibited, just as suicide would be. By aborting a fetus, one is actively choosing its time of death, which is a right that no Muslim or individual is considered to have.

The justification that a human being may not be killed needs additional clarification about what it truly means to be a human being, from a Catholic perspective. The Church agrees that a human being must have a soul and a body, and the two working together constitute a whole person.¹²⁸ Similar to the Muslim belief that God has a pre-determined plan for all individuals, Catholics believe that each person has a pre-destination that ultimately leads to salvation. Within this time period, each human has the freedom and capacity for transcendence so denying this fact or interfering with it though murder or, more specifically, abortion, constitutes doing harm. Moreover, the sanctity of life is integral to keep in mind when discussing termination of pregnancy, because the concept places value on each individual human life, and upholds a person's dignity, destiny, and integrity.¹²⁹ These determinations hold true for every

being that is considered a person, and since fetuses are considered to be human beings, they also have a right to live the pre-determined life that God has gifted to them.

It is clear that in both Catholicism and Islam, life is believed to begin at ensoulment, which happens while inside the womb. Islamic faith teaches that personhood is granted to a fetus at a time when an angel breathes a spirit or soul into their body, making them eligible to be resurrected into the afterlife.¹³⁰ Moreover, the fetus is considered to be a human being entitled to human rights. God's plan for an individual begins at ensoulment, and, as previously mentioned, has a pre-determined path, as well as a planned death in the future. By this definition, after ensoulment takes place, it is prohibited to end the life of a fetus, just as it is to murder of a living human. Although there are circumstances where abortion of a fetus after ensoulment can be justified, it is commonly agreed upon that after a fetus gains the status of a human being, intentional termination of that pregnancy is prohibited.¹³¹ Even though most scholars agree that after ensoulment a baby cannot be aborted, there is significant disagreement about the actual time of ensoulment. A verse in the Quran implies that there are three stages of development, each lasting forty days: a formation of a drop, which next becomes a blood clot and finally a lump of flesh.¹³² This has led some scholars to believe that ensoulment occurs after these developmental stages, at 120 days.¹³³ Therefore, an abortion that occurs before 120 days after conception is permitted since the fetus is not considered a human before that time. However, there are other scholars who believe that ensoulment actually happens at 40 days, and so abortion would only be permissible between conception and the projected time of ensoulment.¹³⁴

In contrast, Catholics do not have the luxury of ancient texts explaining when ensoulment takes place, and it has become difficult to use the argument of pre-ensoulment abortion as a justification of the act. Thomas Aquinas was an early proponent in the discussion about

ensoulment, as he argued that a human being did not have a human soul nor was considered a person until they had a functioning human body. This means that a fetus has to go through other soul stages before gaining a human soul.¹³⁵ However, his theory did not withstand time, and the Catholic Church has decided that there is no way of truly knowing when a fetus gains a soul. As a result of uncertainty and great disagreement, they chose to believe that an easier and more universal agreement was that ensoulment happens at conception, and the destruction of an embryo or fetus after this time was a harmful act on a human being.¹³⁶

Islam also outlines an additional protection of personhood when a parent wishes to terminate a pregnancy for 'selfish' reasons, such as economic hardships or the preference of a particular sex. These examples demonstrate how the value of a soul must take precedence over the wishes of the parents. The Muslim teachings firmly explain through verses in the Quran that these fetuses have souls and a pre-determined path, and, therefore, are not permitted to be aborted. In the example about poverty, the Quran states: "Slay not your children for fear of poverty; we will provide for you and them. Surely the slaying of them is a grievous sin." (Quran 81:8) This directly implies that aborting a child due to the fear of not being able to economically support it is prohibited.¹³⁷ Another reason why abortions may be considered by parents or guardians, both within Islam and other cultures, is because of dissatisfaction with the sex of the unborn baby. Sons are typically valued more than daughters, and there have been accounts of the practice of burying female infants alive. The Quran also states that neither these extreme practices nor abortions are permitted because daughters and sons should be welcomed equally.¹³⁸

While a woman or couple may deem an abortion permissible for a specific reason, they may be impeded by a pre-determined law of their country of residence. Some countries have a state religion, which influences all legislation and policy. For example, Iran is governed by *Shia*

law and is the only Muslim country that follows the Shia school of Islam.¹³⁹ Their abortion laws, along with all other legislation, is directly associated with the Islamic belief system. In Iran, the heads of state all must be religiously educated to ensure that Islam is represented in government. As a result of these qualifications, they, as well as the Supreme Leader of Iran, are able to issue advice, or *fatawa*, that act as a type of law guided by faith, that can deem a practice, such as abortion, permissible.¹⁴⁰ Iran's laws currently allow abortion before the time of ensoulment, 120 days after conception, for reasons associated with the mother's health or the fetus' health. This includes physical malformations such as Osteogenesis Imperfecta or an encephaly, as well as genetic disorders such as Trisomy 16 or 18. However, all abortions must be approved by a specific number of physicians to ensure that the health of either the mother or fetus is the reason for the termination.¹⁴¹ Any abortions that take place after the time of ensoulment and before viability of the infant must be as a result of direct harm to the mother; otherwise they are prohibited and punishable by law.¹⁴² In Iran, even if an abortion is requested by an individual who deems it permissible for themselves, they are locked into a belief system that is governed by Islamic teachings.

This differs, however, in countries that do not have an official state religion, but that have a large population of individuals who are of a certain faith. Turkey, for example, is a secular country, but 99.8% of its citizens are Muslims.¹⁴³ This indicates that while the law is not supposed to be associated with a particular religion, the citizens of the country who practice a specific faith will follow the law or take advantage of its neutrality only if it coincides with their beliefs. Abortion in Turkey, while not generally encouraged, is more readily available and safer to attain than in other predominantly Muslim countries. Legally, women in Turkey are able to terminate their pregnancy under any circumstances in the first trimester, and can opt to have an

abortion at a later time in the case of a maternal-fetal conflict.¹⁴⁴ This governmental position may influence an Islamic woman to make a decision for herself about whether she wishes to terminate her pregnancy. While her faith may not allow it (for a selfish reason, for example), she has the means to attain an abortion and her individual viewpoint may be influenced by the secular law.

Catholic law varies from Islam, as the strict Catholic position on abortion is that no fetal life should ever directly be terminated. Since the Catholic view is that life begins at conception, there is no room for an abortion to happen before ensoulment, which is the case in Islamic belief. Costa Rica, for example, recognizes the state religion as Roman Catholic, but has laws that allow an abortion to take place in the event of a serious threat to a mother's life.¹⁴⁵ It is assumed that a country, whose official state religion is Catholicism, provides their citizens with adequate medical care, but direct abortion is not permitted under any circumstances within the country.

Similarly to Turkey, which is a secular country with a predominantly Muslim population, other Latin American countries have a predominantly Catholic population, but their laws are not indicative of the religion. Historically, countries, such as Mexico and Colombia, implemented laws that prohibited abortions.¹⁴⁶ In more recent years, these laws have changed, and abortions under certain circumstances have been legalized. However, even though termination of pregnancy may be legal, there is still concern among the citizens of the country who are practicing Catholics, and their opinion diverges from the state law. In 2014, a survey in Mexico was completed which gathered information about the opinions of Catholics on the stigma associated with abortion.¹⁴⁷ While a woman may have legal access to the procedure, she may feel shamed by her community for doing something that is deemed intrinsically evil, bringing about a level of vulnerability that may be harmful. Although some individuals felt that a woman who had previously had an abortion could still be a 'Good Catholic,' others believed that she should not

have sought the termination in the first place.¹⁴⁸ This stigma may directly influence a woman's decision to have an abortion, and is an example of how the laws may influence a community, as well as an individual.

In a secular country, such as the United States, which has numerous religions being practiced within its borders, there is an importance placed on the separation between church and state. All US citizens have an equal right to attain adequate healthcare, as well as the right to practice their own religion. There is little Islamic influence on American healthcare, as there are not entire systems, like Catholic ones, that control hospitals and healthcare facilities. Furthermore, Muslim women may not be as influenced by their community when deciding if they wish to terminate a pregnancy, since the population of the US is not predominantly Muslim, unlike a country like Turkey.¹⁴⁹ A woman may feel more comfortable pursuing her own wishes and would not be influenced by the people around her, even though it may contrast with her faith.

Despite the separation of church and state in the United States, Catholicism plays a dominant role in American healthcare, as more than 600 hospitals and 1400 long-term care facilities function under a Catholic identity.¹⁵⁰ In these institutions, Catholic doctrine is followed strictly and there is little room for digression, especially when discussing a topic like abortion.¹⁵¹ Debate, however, does arise in emergency situations and when a case is presented that could have multiple interpretations. A case in Phoenix, AZ caused controversy, because a direct abortion was performed in a Catholic hospital in order to save a mother's life. The hospital was stripped of its Catholic standing, because the Bishop of their area believed that the abortion was not warranted. Other bishops, however, disagreed and felt that the course of action was justifiable.¹⁵² In situations such as these, the Catholic faith is directly influencing the lives of

patients, and there may be situations in which an abortion is not permitted causing a woman to die as a result.¹⁵³ Although Catholic hospitals will remain a part of the American healthcare system, it is worth acknowledging that some patients who are not Catholic could be harmed by their care, as all patients treated within the institution must abide by Catholic teaching. Patients who are not Catholic, but who receive care at a Catholic facility should be aware of their possible vulnerability and the potential that their autonomous wishes will not be followed.

Although abortion is generally discouraged within Islam and Catholicism, there are some situations that allow a pregnancy to be terminated. Maternal-fetal conflicts are the most common, as it is important to try and save the life of the mother in the case of direct harm from her fetus. Furthermore, fetal physical abnormalities or genetic diseases may strongly impact the quality of life for a child, and an argument could be made to terminate the pregnancy. Lastly, rape and incest have provided a legitimate reason for abortion.

Within Islam, abortion is permitted if it is necessary to save the life of the mother carrying the baby. Abortion is allowed, in this circumstance, at any time, both before and after ensoulment. There must be an urgent threat to a mother's life to terminate a pregnancy; only when the pregnancy itself is causing serious harm to a mother can it be aborted.¹⁵⁴ Usually, if there is some kind of maternal-fetal conflict, both lives will try to be saved, but a mother can instruct doctors that if only one life can be saved, it can be her own. In addition, if a baby is viable and a mother is in distress, the goal may be to deliver the baby instead of aborting it, which could potentially save both lives. The justification for allowing a termination of pregnancy in this case is that a mother's life is more valuable than the potential life of the fetus, and so her rights to life are more important than a fetus' rights, thereby making her more of a priority.¹⁵⁵

circumstances that are acceptable for having an abortion before the time of ensoulment, as a preventative measure. This reason is legally acceptable in Iran, and is one of the only methods in which an abortion is permissible in the Muslim country. For example, if a woman has known cardiac problems, neurodegenerative diseases, such as Multiple Sclerosis, or types of cancers.¹⁵⁶

Catholicism never allows the direct and intended termination of a pregnancy, even to save a mother. However, a procedure may be permitted if its main purpose is to help a mother, and an abortion happens indirectly. The Principle of Double Effect (PDE) is applied to these situations. A common example that involves PDE is the case of an abortion during an ectopic pregnancy. A woman may become pregnant and carry a fetus in her fallopian tubes, which is problematic. It is permissible, however, to remove the fallopian tube that contains a fetus only because not doing so would seriously harm the mother. This is an indirect abortion, and is permitted, because the intended effect is to protect the mother's health, and not to kill the fetus.¹⁵⁷ The intention has nothing to do with the fetus, and is only concerned with saving the life of a living human being. The Principle of Double Effect is used in most cases of maternal-fetal conflict in Catholic teaching, but does not appear to be a guiding principle for Islamic physicians or patients. There is no explicit concept, such as PDE, that is used as a justification for acts that may seem immoral. Within Islam, there is less room for interpretation of depicted morals from spiritual teachings, while there is more debate about what is considered right and wrong.¹⁵⁸

This same idea extends to the justification of an abortion for the mental sake of a woman. A female may feel that psychologically, a pregnancy could be detrimental, and would prefer to terminate the pregnancy. While this may be legal in the United States, depending on the gestation of the pregnancy, it is not permissible in the eyes of the Catholic Church. Catholicism teaches that no direct abortions are permissible, and a mother does not take precedence over a

fetus, as it has the same rights. Therefore, a mother, even if she is mentally incapable of dealing with a pregnancy, or is in mental distress, must find a way to have courage and compassion and realize the importance of carrying a baby to term.¹⁵⁹ While adoption is an option for mothers who do not wish to keep their baby, it is impermissible to terminate a pregnancy just because a woman does not think she can handle the stress of pregnancy.¹⁶⁰

A situation in which abortion may be accepted within Islam is in cases of rape or incest. One important factor to consider is the emphasis Islam puts on lineage and on the maintenance of a particular genealogy. Historically, as in many other cultures and religions, a family was considered blessed to have a son who would continue their family's lineage and ensure their family legacy.¹⁶¹ If a mother is raped, her child may not ever know their biological father, and, therefore, never be able to recognize their proper lineage, leading to a lack of inheritance.¹⁶² This may cause the child emotional and psychological distress as a result of being ostracized by a community and, consequently, abused and shunned.¹⁶³ Furthermore, the psychological distress to a mother caused by an incestuous pregnancy is considered to be enough justification for an abortion.¹⁶⁴

Within Catholicism, direct abortion is starting to be considered acceptable in cases of rape or incest as well. There are a growing number of proponents of this idea, in that they believe that women who suffer from pregnancies as a result of rape or incest should not be subjected to the distress of carrying a pregnancy to term and be reminded of a tragic event.¹⁶⁵ For example, in Brazil, a bishop condemned another bishop for prohibiting a 9-year old girl from receiving an abortion for twins that were a result of rape. The child was raped from the age of 6, and was clearly in distress. The Bishop who prevented the abortion stated that the twins were fine and could be carried to term, and then put up for adoption. He did not believe that the severity of the

situation called for going against Catholic morals. Other bishops disagreed in this situation, as they believed the girl did not deserve to suffer further, and that a girl of that age should not have to be pregnant, let alone as a result of rape.¹⁶⁶ The increase of extreme cases like this may result in a re-evaluation of the abortion policy, but there is a general fear that more exceptions will lead to a slippery slope that will eventually result in all abortions being permissible.

In addition to cases of rape, some Islamic counties allow an abortion as a result of genetic diseases associates with consanguineous marriages and procreation. More than 50% of marriages are consanguineous in Saudi Arabia, for example, which has caused its government to issue a policy or *fatwa* allowing couples to consider abortion for a genetic condition. Often it is unknown that this policy exists, allowing couples to seek an abortion for this specific reason, and education is encouraged before marriage to ensure that couples are aware of their risks and options.¹⁶⁷

While it is important to consider the mother when discussing abortion, it is equally as critical to consider a fetus' wellbeing as a reason to terminate a pregnancy. An individual or couple may discover that their unborn child has a physical deformity or genetic disease that could seriously impact their quality of life and abortion is one option that may be available to them.¹⁶⁸ Depending on the severity of the discovered condition, a parent may decide that terminating the pregnancy would be more beneficial, as it would eliminate the suffering of the infant in-utero or after birth. Furthermore, some parents may feel that coping with the death of their malformed child shortly after birth would be more difficult than having an abortion. Islam is more accepting of an abortion (before 120 days of pregnancy) as a result of a physical abnormality or genetic condition that is incompatible with life.¹⁶⁹ Catholicism, however, does not believe that abortion is permitted under any circumstances having to do with the fetus' health.¹⁷⁰

Within Islam, a couple is commonly able to terminate their pregnancy for medical reasons, such as a severe genetic disorder, by fulfilling three conditions: three experts (physicians, geneticists, etc.) in that field must confirm a diagnosis, the diagnosis and termination must be done before the 120th day of pregnancy, and the request for termination must come from both parents. These conditions may vary depending on the laws that are enacted in individual countries. An example of a disease that can be detected before the 120th day of pregnancy is Spinal Muscular Atrophy (SMA). There are two types of SMA, one that is compatible with life, and one that causes infants to die within two years of life. Parents may feel that aborting a child who is known to have SMA would be a better option for them, and a better option for the fetus. Genetic testing must be administered which can determine whether the lethal type of SMA is present in the fetus.¹⁷¹ Nevertheless, this practice has been difficult for Muslim scholars, because Islam teaches that God has a specific plan for each individual and it must be accepted, no matter how great the hardships may be. Therefore, aborting a baby because it may have a difficult life directly interferes with the challenges that God intended for the child to have.¹⁷² However, Muslim scholars have accepted certain genetic diseases to be sufficient grounds to terminate a pregnancy, such as Down syndrome or Tay-Sachs disease.¹⁷³

While abortion is not permitted under the Catholic doctrine for the reason of genetic disorders of physical deformities, laws may be enacted in predominantly Catholic countries that allow the termination of certain fetuses. For example, Brazil legalized abortion in cases of anencephaly, where a baby's cerebral hemispheres fail to develop, causing the brain stem to be exposed. Some cases of anencephaly are not compatible with life, and infants only live a very short time after birth. If approached in this manner, an anencephalic fetus is not, in fact, a potential life, as they would not live more than a few hours.¹⁷⁴ The argument that a mother

should not have to see her child suffer after birth was another justification that the Brazilian courts used when enacting this law.¹⁷⁵ However, the Catholic church does not condone this practice, as they feel that every fetus, regardless of deformities or physical problems, deserves the right to live and its life should not be terminated. Each life has an equal right to dignity, and it is considered to be morally wrong to end an innocent life.

ii. Uses of genetic therapies and editing techniques to maintain autonomy

Religion clearly dictates many decisions with regard to the beginning and end of life, which may put various parties at risk of becoming vulnerable. The uses of abortion or physician-assisted death frequently aim to alleviate some type of suffering, but are prohibited in this context. Religion is not the only factor that makes people vulnerable when considering PAD or abortion, and the use of CRISPR/Cas9 or other genetic therapies may be able to provide benefit to these vulnerable patients who would rather not explore these options for their own personal reasons. It is important to think about both reproduction and PAD from a general point of view, in order to understand how genetic therapies and editing techniques can be useful.

It was established in a previous chapter that humans have the right to healthcare, but it should also be assumed that humans have the right to reproduce. These two rights are directly related as one relies on the other for success. It is necessary for women to have access to appropriate healthcare for a safe pregnancy, as well as other services such as abortion clinics. Reproductive rights are equally as important, and women and men should be able to access reproductive resources within a healthcare setting.

The United Nations, as well as the Universal Declaration of Human Rights affirms that humans have the right to reproduce.¹⁷⁶ They have a right to start a family and have children.¹⁷⁷ These statements give all individuals the autonomy to make a choice that is in accordance to

their wishes to procreate at their own leisure. All subsequent resources, including healthcare services, are expected to be provided. It should be noted that the right to have children is not synonymous with the right to reproductive health services, which focus primarily on abortion or contraception, for example, but include the required services for a safe pregnancy.¹⁷⁸ While there is a right to have children, there is also a right to choose not to have children; there is a basic right to decide what option is best for oneself. As a human right, procreation can be considered a potential part of life for all, which implies that infertility is a disability and deserves to be addressed and alleviated.¹⁷⁹ By this definition, any measure that makes it possible for an individual to start a family should be acceptable. However, while the WHO recognizes that although it is a human right to bear children, it is not a human right to have unlimited access to a treatment, such as In Vitro Fertilization (IVF), as it is only a method to circumvent infertility, and not a definite cure.¹⁸⁰ Nevertheless, IVF may be the only suitable treatment that is available for infertile individuals who wish to fulfill their right to start or expand a family.

It is evident that legal restrictions can influence an individual's choice to have a child, or multiple children, but another influence can come from one's religion. Two of the world's most prominent faiths are Catholicism and Islam, and these two belief systems both place immense importance on procreating and having a family. In Islam, a large family is strongly valued, and its members are seen to be united not only by birth, but also through their spiritual relationship to God. This religious relationship is the only other relationship that an individual has, to ensure that their actions correspond to what God has willed.¹⁸¹ Similarly, Catholics believe that God promotes having children and procreating fruitfully. It should always be a goal of a married couple to bring children into the world, and any type of procedure that would prohibit this, including abortion and sterilization, is not allowed.¹⁸²

That being said, both religions may have influence over the laws of a country. For example, countries whose laws are directly associated with Islamic law, such as Saudi Arabia, have forbidden all contraceptive means to its citizens. Saudi Arabia promotes reproduction, and feels that providing resources and information about contraception would decrease the number of Muslims living in the country, which would be harmful to their society. ¹⁸³ This ban on a healthcare service would directly affect a couple's decision to have children. They would see no other option, but to procreate.

Since a human being has a right to reproduce, it is assumed and often repeated that a complimentary entitlement is the universal right to reproductive services. This includes information and resources pertaining to contraception, abortion, and family planning, in addition to support during a pregnancy.¹⁸⁴ All of these services are considered to be a part of basic healthcare, and should be included in a human's universal right to healthcare. These services ensure that the human right to procreate is upheld, but also that a woman's right to choose is respected and supported through medical necessities. Reproductive services can also include technologies and treatments that aid with infertility, as well as complications associated with unsafe abortions or diseases that hinder reproduction, such as sexually transmitted infections (STIs) or reproductive tract infections (RTIs).¹⁸⁵ The ability for an individual to access these services, as well as a state's ability to provide them is affected by resources and funding, exactly like other healthcare services, but may be influenced by religious or moral opinions of society or government. For example, if abortion is considered immoral, it may not be readily available for all women in a strongly pro-life country, as was described above.

It is hoped that countries enact legislation that guarantees reproductive services to women and men and recognizes such access to be a human right. While this may be more common in

developed countries, such as Canada or the UK, it may not be possible in developing countries. Africa, however, has enacted a charter for women's rights, which details the services to which all women should have access in order to respect and promote their right to healthcare.¹⁸⁶ At a first glance, the legislation is a significant step in the right direction, especially since the rate of STIs and RTIs is extremely high in some African countries. However, when researched to see if countries are following and promoting this legislation, it becomes evident that laws are not implemented to their full capacity. For example, some African countries acknowledge that this law exists, which gives women access to contraception, treatment for infections, and safe abortion methods, but these services and treatments are not actually made available to women. Some states may require multiple signatures and committee approval before a woman is permitted to have an abortion. This was noted by the committee that enacted the charter, and states are required to remove any restrictions that are in place for reproductive services.¹⁸⁷ Examples such as the charter in Africa should motivate other countries with limited resources to recognize that women and men have the right to reproductive health, and while it may not be the most ideal solution, enacting laws that attempt to regulate and provide these services would be beneficial.

In addition to providing reproductive services that focus on the health of the woman and man, the issue of infertility merits being addressed. Infertility is a common problem globally, and many women in developing countries suffer from either primary infertility (not being able to reproduce at all), or secondary infertility (not being able to get pregnant again after one prior pregnancy).¹⁸⁸ Humans have the right to reproduce, and there are healthcare measures, such as assisted reproduction technologies, that would allow infertile couples to have children. For this reason, it may be useful for countries to consider an option, such as IVF to combat high rates of

infertility in their nation. In Vitro Fertilization was created for the purpose of aiding women whose fallopian tubes were damaged resulting in the inability to become pregnant naturally. This implies that it was created to help those whose human right to reproduce was impeded. The main issue standing in the way of more exposure and access to IVF is the cost of facilities, the procedure itself, and trained staff.¹⁸⁹ For this reason, many developing countries do not have many IVF clinics, resulting in low access for infertile women around the globe.

Access to IVF would need to be considered, especially in the countries who have strict opinions about abortion. IVF may actually help to reduce the number of abortions that occur. Assisted reproduction, such as genetic screening of embryos (PGD), as well as genetic enhancement may eliminate genetic diseases which may be the reason that some individuals seek to terminate a pregnancy. These may be solutions that compensate for the reasons that an individual may seek an abortion, and, particularly in the case of religions that prohibit termination. It may be of value to reconsider both assisted reproductive technologies so that abortion rates decrease.

One way to combat fatal genetic diseases in infancy is to use In-Vitro Fertilization, and subsequently, Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis, to ensure that an embryo's genetic makeup does not include a genetic anomaly that is incompatible with life.¹⁹⁰ Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis is a technique used to examine an embryo's genome - to identify if an embryo carries a gene for a particular disease.¹⁹¹ Often parents who have an autosomal recessive or X-linked disorder or a familial history of one, may want to ensure that their future child is not faced with the same disease. Mothers over the age of 35 have the same concerns, and also want to make sure that a healthy child is born.¹⁹² After fertilization outside of the body, there are methods to extract one or a few cells and examine the genetic make-up of the embryo. If an embryo is

shown not to contain a gene that codes for a specific illness, it will be implanted into the mother, with the certainty that the child will not have the disease.¹⁹³ In the future, the use of CRISPR/Cas9 could also be used to manipulate and edit the genome of an embryo, further eliminating a specific disease.

In order to determine the permissibility and opinions of PGD from the viewpoints of Islam and Catholicism, the procedure of IVF itself must be examined, as it causes some controversy among religious scholars. Part of the process of IVF is the creation of embryos in vitro, and the subsequent freezing of extra embryos. There has been a debate within Islam about whether destroying frozen embryos is considered abortion. Some scholars believe that those embryos, since they were created outside of the womb, never reached the point of ensoulment, and cannot, therefore, be considered equal to a human life. They are simply potential human lives and it is permitted for them to be destroyed or donated to scientific research.¹⁹⁴ Other scholars feel that those embryos have human status and they should only ever be implanted into their mother's womb, and cannot be destroyed, because it would carry the same weight as killing an established soul.¹⁹⁵

The Catholic Church considers the process of In-Vitro Fertilization completely unacceptable, as it defies natural law and eliminates the traditional act of a man and a woman procreating. Furthermore, it creates the possibility of having to destroy an embryo.¹⁹⁶ Even though an embryo would be created in the same method, albeit artificially, Catholic teachings place emphasis on the sacred act of intercourse between husband and wife; the physical integrity of the act is the most important in this situation, making IVF irrelevant.¹⁹⁷ As a result of condemning IVF, the Catholic Church automatically must refuse to condone PGD, as embryos are necessary for the procedure. Furthermore, based on the Catholic teaching that life begins at

conception, the idea of destroying or disposing of embryos after PGD, which is often done, is unacceptable. Destroying an embryo would be equivalent to killing a life that has equal value to that of an adult, making it an immoral and impermissible act.¹⁹⁸

As mentioned above, the Catholic position on IVF reflects the negative stance that the Church would have on Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis, simply because it requires manipulating embryos outside of the womb. Although there is evidence that the Catholic Church supports gene therapies that may modify a genome to resist cancer, for example, there is little proof that this support extends to reproductive genetic therapies.¹⁹⁹

In Islam, IVF can be accepted, and is encouraged for couples who experience problems with fertility. Issues arise, however, when discussing the manipulation of an embryo's genome. Aborting a fetus due to a pre-disposed anomaly that may not be life-threatening is not permitted, as it defies God's intended plan for each human soul. It would interfere with that plan if the fetus was aborted.²⁰⁰ Therefore, using a technique such as Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis, which eliminates the possibility of a debilitating disease, may be permitted.²⁰¹ Islam teaches that physicians and the medical community were given their expertise by God and that Muslims have a responsibility to improve their health if possible. Any improvements to the quality of life of a Muslim is not only encouraged, but required, which may be an argument for genetic research with regard to disease.²⁰² There is some belief, however, that using PGD interferes with God's plans, as it gives parents the power to determine the type of life their child may live.²⁰³ Anxieties do arise when predictions are made for the future of genetic enhancement, where scientists may be able to create an embryo's genome and include modifications that are not medically relevant, such as height, athletic ability, or intelligence. This enhancement would be directly prohibited, as

it changes that which God has created. This, however, is not a typical reason for an individual to choose to abort a child.²⁰⁴

Conversely, when thinking about people at the end of life, many can be considered vulnerable, especially those with debilitating diseases. In Western society, the attitude towards death and dying is changing.²⁰⁵ Some American states as well as European countries are recognizing that individuals wish to choose how and when they die, so euthanasia and physician-assisted suicide, or collectively known as physician-assisted death, are becoming accepted legalized practices.²⁰⁶ For the most part, capable adults are being given this option, but vulnerable populations, such as children and those with dementia are being neglected. Although it is often safer to exclude these groups from legislation, they should still be considered with respect to assistance in dying.

Currently, eleven countries allow for forms of physician-assisted death. All but four allow a physician to administer a lethal dose of medication directly to the patient, or patients can choose to administer the medications on their own. In the US, nine states have physician-assisted suicide laws allowing that specific practice to take place.²⁰⁷ It is unclear why the United States have opted to discuss only PAS, as opposed to also considering euthanasia, since many scholars and societies argue that the two practices, while not identical, have the same implications. Perhaps America will follow the example of its neighbor, Canada, which has legalized both practices federally, and consider adding euthanasia in some states, or possibly nationally in the future.²⁰⁸ Currently, many of the countries and all of the states in the US require that a patient have a terminal or debilitating illness in order to be eligible for PAD. Often these patients are suffering from diseases, such as cancer or ALS, making them vulnerable to the health care system as treatments are either non-existent or debilitating themselves.

It should also be recognized that a physician has a duty to ensure that their patient is capable and informed about all of their options, including palliative care.²⁰⁹ Some scholars tend to argue that if PAD is legalized in a country or state, the quality and accessibility of palliative care will decrease, making dying the preferred option of patients.²¹⁰ Furthermore, it is thought that patients may opt for PAD because they do not understand the goals and abilities of palliative care and its benefits, as well as any other treatments that are currently available. Genetic therapies aimed at curing some types of cancer may be available in the future, and all physicians who are treating patients with a terminal illness who are requesting PAD should be well-versed in both available palliative care options and their purposes, and genetic therapies that have been approved. They should also be able to determine which practice may be better suited to meet the patient's goals and values. If a doctor is unable to accurately describe palliative care, there is a possibility that a patient is not making a truly informed decision regarding end of life care.²¹¹ However, a physician should be careful not to pressure a patient to choose palliative care over PAD. They have a duty to outline all available options and their expected harms and benefits, and to aid the patient in making an autonomous choice free of any pressure or coercion. This also extends to the future when genetic therapies will be an option for such patients. While their disease may be cured, it may be too difficult or expensive to attain these therapies or they may not be available where a patient lives, and patients should still have all of their options, including PAD, explained to them so that they can make an informed and autonomous choice.

Since most legislation pertaining to PAD insists that individuals must be 18 years of age to request the service, children below the age of 18 are ineligible and not considered. The only countries which allow children to have access to euthanasia or physician-assisted suicide are Belgium, in which no age requirement exists, and the Netherlands, which stipulates that children must be over the age of 12.²¹² However, the Netherlands also follow the Groningen protocol, which allows neonates to be euthanized if they have a terminal disease and are suffering unbearably.²¹³ Belgium specifically acknowledges that children also suffer, and not having full capacity or adult status should not exclude them from having appropriate options at the end of life. In Belgium, there are safeguards that include parents also providing consent, to ensure that children do actually understand and appreciate the implications of their actions.²¹⁴ More information on children and PAD will be discussed below.

Incapable patients with dementia would not be eligible for PAD in the United States, especially in later stages of the disease, since they would not be capable enough to request the process. Patients who are given lethal medications to take on their own must be capable enough to understand their request and be able to make it multiple times.²¹⁵ This may be difficult for patients with Alzheimer Disease, for example, if they are unable to remember actions from the day before. Furthermore, advance directives instructing a physician to assist in suicide would not be considered valid, since the patient would not be competent at the time of the request. Dementia patients who are in the early stages of their disease are also ineligible for these services, since their disease would presumably take more than six months to manifest into a state which is considered negative, or not a worthwhile life. These patients would be able to create an advance directive indicating whether they wish to have extraordinary treatment administered at the time of death, or if they would prefer palliative sedation at times of great pain.²¹⁶ Since these options may hasten death, but not have it as their goal, they would be deemed acceptable to include during advance care planning, and may be a compromise for individuals wishing to maintain some control over their lives in the future, when they are unable to make autonomous choices.

In the United States, the driving factor that has allowed PAD to become legal is autonomy and the notion of dying a dignified death. This implies that a patient who is suffering from a terminal illness has the ability to decide for themselves that they would like to die, instead of having to live through a life in which their control and their dignity may disappear.²¹⁷ Oregon was the first state to implement a law pertaining to PAD, which was called the "Death with Dignity Act," indicating that the maintenance of dignity was the central justification of this law.²¹⁸ The Death with Dignity National Center believes that individuals should be allowed access to methods with which to die in a "peaceful, humane, and dignified way."

As it has been mentioned, children are currently not eligible for PAD in very many locations, due to their perceived incapability to make their own decisions. This dissertation has already mentioned children and their decision-making capabilities in other contexts, and the same can be extended to PAD. Euthanasia for children who possess some capacity to express autonomous wishes is often debated. In Belgium, the law now allows children regardless of age, to request to be euthanized. Some argue that children should not be able to request to terminate their lives, since it is believed they do not have the capacity of discernment and the ability to make meaningful choices. Both of these theories have been disproven, and it has been demonstrated that some children, especially those who deal with debilitating diseases, are, in fact, able to make meaningful decisions about life and death and understand the implications of their actions.²¹⁹ Those children should not be ignored due to their age, and should be considered when discussing treatment options. These studies have also shown that some minors are able to recognize the importance of decisions, especially regarding PAD, and are capable of weighing the harms and benefits of their choices.²²⁰ Physicians, parents, and society should acknowledge that some children do have the capacity to make autonomous choices, and should allow them the opportunity to do so. There should be safeguards in place to avoid manipulation or coercion, but these individuals should not be neglected.²²¹

One important safeguard that must be in place is a method of monitoring a child's specific decisions. Evidence has demonstrated that children who deal with stressful situations, such as having a terminal illness, are aware of how the people around them are suffering. For example, a minor may feel that their parents are not coping well with the illness and are having a difficult time. A child may feel that requesting euthanasia would be benefiting their parents, since they would no longer have to watch their child suffer or be in pain. This reasoning may be considerate, but it should not drive requests for aid in dying. Furthermore, parents may pressure their child to make a request for medical assistance in dying to end their child's suffering, or perhaps, because they cannot afford treatment. External pressure should be investigated, as no coercion should influence the autonomous choice of a child.²²² These pressures may exist, but it is up to medical staff to detect them and try and explain that they should not have any influence on a decision. Having multiple physicians and nurses talk to the child may be beneficial to ensure that their motives are sound.

Similar to children, patients who have advancing dementia may have partial capacity at earlier stages of their disease, but it may disappear progressively as they near the end of their life. The autonomy of these individuals must be upheld until their death. It is essential to discuss the topic of euthanasia with regard to patients with dementia, as it may be another option for death and for maintaining control over their life.

A capable patient is granted the autonomy to make their own healthcare decisions if they understand and appreciate their medical situation. As we age, our capacity may begin to fade, either as a result of expected memory loss and confusion, or because of disease, such as

Alzheimer's.²²³ The ability to think clearly diminishes and disappears, effectively eliminating autonomous decision-making.²²⁴ Individuals with Alzheimer Disease, for example, lose their ability to learn new information, as well as remember past knowledge, in addition to experiencing problems with language, motor functioning, object and human recognition, organization and planning, and personality changes.²²⁵ This deterioration happens over time, and it can be difficult to recognize the early signs of AD, as simple memory loss is associated with aging. Preparation in cases of late diagnosis is often not possible, but the future need for care from others is guaranteed.²²⁶ These individuals rely on substitute decision-makers who would ideally provide a substituted judgement or make a choice in the patient's best interest.²²⁷

While an incapable patient has to rely on their relatives, friends, substitute decisionmakers, and medical team to make their decisions for them, a capable patient who is experiencing aging may feel that even though they are still considered 'capable,' their autonomy is being 'stolen' by their lack of options for care. When an individual has their autonomy taken away from them, either for medical reasons or solely as a result of aging, it can be detrimental to their dignity and outlook. The right to make their own decisions and live as they please disappears when control is transferred to an institution or another caregiver.²²⁸ Age should not limit a person to the choices they are able to make. They have lived their life fully capable of determining their healthcare, and they should not have to relinquish their dignity for safety. Safety is the main concern for the elderly, as living alone and in an unsafe environment could harm them physically, which could lead to a detrimental disability.²²⁹ It should be a priority of society to try and find methods to uphold the autonomy and dignity of the elderly.

There is an importance in maintaining autonomy, since, as it was mentioned above, it is considered a human right and promotes human dignity. When a patient with AD does progress

into the late stages of the disease, they are still a human being who deserves to be respected. While they may not be able to make their own decisions, their autonomy should be considered.²³⁰ Although it may be difficult, respecting the autonomy of patients with Alzheimer disease is essential. It is important to recognize that although they may be unable to make significant medical choices with regard to treatment, these individuals still may be able to communicate about treatment, such as indicating when they are in pain, and about daily activities.²³¹ Allowing some liberties for these patients indicates to them that they are still being valued and that they are still leading meaningful lives. This also strengthens the relationship between a patient and their caregiver, and leads to better care. While there may be some level of risk involved if a patient is allowed to walk around a nursing home alone, for example, it may be worth a possible minor physical injury if a patient can recognize that they are being cared for as a person, and not as a patient in an institution.²³² PAD would be considered a significant medical decision, and it would be difficult for dementia patients to truly understand and appreciate the choice they would be making. If there was an indication that the patient wanted to die, their substitute decision maker in addition to their physicians, may consider the option of PAD if it is legal.

When dealing with situations that involve patients with limited capacities, but who are aware of their condition and surroundings, such as mentally disabled patients, it is best if a surrogate works with the patient to make medical decisions. Even if the incompetent patient is unable to rationalize or process their condition and their options, they are often able to understand the words and facts that are provided.²³³ The dual decision-making model is most effective, because the largely incompetent patient feels included and respected, most likely because their autonomy is being acknowledged. By using a substitute decision-maker, it is

ensured that a proper decision will be made that is in the best interest of the patient. If both of these individuals agree, proper consent can be provided for effective medical care.²³⁴

Ideally in these situations, a surrogate or a capable patient would partake in shared decision-making with their healthcare team. This method, where doctors and surrogates collaborate to make medical decisions, is effective, because it combines the scientific knowledge and recommendations of a physician, with the personal values and preferences of the patient (by means of their SDM).²³⁵ By using a shared decision-making model, surrogates are able to use the support of physicians or nurses or other healthcare workers to guide them into making a suitable proxy decision.

Having conversations about death can be difficult and daunting, but ultimately, they are crucial if an individual's autonomy at the end of life is to be upheld. These conversations should be approached with care, and should focus on what an individual feels is most valuable for a meaningful life.²³⁶ While some people may feel that the ability to communicate with their peers and relatives is the most important, others may be happy with the ability to watch a football game on television.²³⁷ These discussions should happen between a physician and their patient when a terminal or unfavorable diagnosis is presented, and between family members, such as spouses, parents, and their children, to ensure that in the event that an individual's capacity disappears, their surrogates will know what the patient's autonomous wishes are for their death, and how much treatment is desired at the end of life. It is important to discuss what sacrifices the patient is willing to make, and ultimately, what they feel is the best outcome of their situation.²³⁸ An individual can dread these conversations, but they are important preparations in the event of death.

An individual who has AD may also want to create an Advance Directive directly related to their preferences for end of life. Such documents respect a patient's autonomy when they are unable to speak for themselves.²³⁹ Advance directives also allow all members of a medical team, as well as family members, to know exactly what a patient's autonomous choices are. For example, a patient with terminal cancer may indicate that they do not wish to live on a ventilator if there is no hope of survival or cure, or may indicate that if a cure did become approved, such as a genetic therapy, they would be willing to try it if there is minimal discomfort. The patient's autonomy is fully upheld and their final wishes will be recognized.²⁴⁰ It is currently in doubt whether patients who indicate in an advance directive that they would like to choose PAD and specifically euthanasia provided by a practitioner at the end of life, under certain conditions, would have their wishes respected. If there are specific conditions that the patient has expressed under which they would prefer to die, as opposed to live and suffer, it may be acceptable to administer euthanasia to an incapable patient. Further analysis would be necessary.

Planning ahead can be immensely valuable as it would comfort both an individual and their family in knowing that their autonomous choices would be upheld. However, it is very difficult to predict the future, and to know what the future 'self' will value and need. The choice that a capable individual might make may not be the same choice that the incapable but communicative individual might make.²⁴¹ For example, a patient could specify in their advance directive that if they were diagnosed with cancer at the end of life, they would not want treatment and would simply like to be kept comfortable. They would not have considered that available treatments, such as genetic therapies, might be available, and a patient's SDM proceeding with using that therapy would be going against their loved ones' wishes according to the advance directive. It is important to understand that the planning that is done in the present will allow for

some flexibility in the future. That version of the individual should still have an influence on the care being provided or discontinued at the later stages of the disease. For this reason, having a power of attorney may be more beneficial, as they would not only be able to consider previous values, but also take into account the present situation.

Advance directives will be created more frequently as practices such as euthanasia come to be more accepted. There must be a discussion as to whether a patient has the ability to create an advance directive as well as indicate that they would like a physician to aid them in dying. By doing this, a patient with early dementia, for example, will be able to maintain a level of control over their future, and ensure that their current values are known and documented.²⁴² They are able to share what a meaningful life means and what quality of life they would wish to lead in the future. Many scholars and individuals argue that if a patient has the option to create an advance directive indicating situations in which they would prefer that treatment be withheld or withdrawn which would presumably lead to their death, specifying that euthanasia is preferred should also be allowed and respected.²⁴³ A patient still has the right to have their autonomy upheld, which may include purposely ending their life. Some authors feel that this option should be available, because the future implications of dementia are well-known, and it is understood that an individual's critical interests would not change. Critical interests can include particular ways an estate should be handled and what may happen after death, but it can also include the intrinsic values that a patient holds.²⁴⁴ Respecting the wishes of a patient who feels that they will prefer euthanasia in the future may soon become a more routine practice in countries which have legalized this practice.

There are opposing arguments with regard to allowing individuals to create advance directives indicating euthanasia. Numerous scholars have presented the fact that while a patient

may become incompetent, they would still have values, and may still be able to lead a meaningful life, which is the opposite of what the patient predicted. A patient in the early stages of their dementia may feel that if they are unable to communicate clearly or recognize their family, they would not be leading a worthwhile life. However, in the future, this patient may not be able to perform those actions, but may be able to find joy in daily activities and social interactions. While they may not be able to remember their past or plan for their future, they may feel content living in the present.²⁴⁵ This is not always the case for dementia patients, but there must be a method to ensure that advance directives leave room for adaptation, since, as was mentioned above, the future cannot be predicted.²⁴⁶ In these situations, a family member or physician would need to decide that the quality of life for their patient is satisfactory enough for them to keep living.

Dementia can be extremely complex, and it affects all individuals differently. For this reason, advance directives instructing a physician to administer euthanasia at a specific point in time would need to be evaluated on a case by case basis. This creates difficulty for physicians, as well as families, and may even cause stress to the patient at the time of document creation.²⁴⁷ If there is no guarantee that a lethal injection will be administered, some patients may feel frustrated in knowing that their wishes may not be respected. Since it can be extremely difficult to interpret these documents, the patient must be adequately informed about events that may occur due to their future condition, and it may be more beneficial to instruct a physician more generally (i.e. if the patient is experiencing intolerable physical and mental suffering) than to pick a specific moment at which the medication should be administered (such as the moment they cannot recognize their family). This would allow a physician more space for deliberation to ensure that they are making an appropriate decision.²⁴⁸

Genetic therapies may be able to alleviate some of these concerns, particularly in the case of abortion, but also with regard to Physician-Assisted Death. Certain diseases will have a cure, and fewer patients will seek PAD due to suffering and lack of effective treatment options. However, it is also important to set limitations on the expectations of gene therapies and editing capabilities. Considering the cost and length of clinical trials related to gene therapies, it will take a long time to normalize the use of these treatments across the United States and the rest of the world. Although they will be beneficial in the future, current practices in abortion and PAD should be considered and implemented in order to ensure that patient autonomy is upheld to the highest degree. ⁵ Kelly, End of Life, 37-39.

⁶ Henry T. Greely, "CRISPR'd Babies: human germline genome editing in the 'He Jiankui affair," Journal of Law and the Biosciences 6, no.1 (August 2019):123-127. doi:10.1093/jlb/lsz010.

⁷ Greely, "He Jiankiu affair," 116-120.

⁸ Emanuel, Wendler and Grady, "An Ethical Framework," 130-131.

⁹ Capron, "Legal and Regulatory Standards," 617-620.

¹⁰ Emanuel, Wendler and Grady, "An Ethical Framework," 131.

¹¹ Kelly, *End of Life*, 29-32

¹² Flory, Wendler and Emanuel, "Empirical Issues in Informed Consent for Research," 646-648.

¹³ Capron, "Legal and Regulatory Standards,"617-619.

¹⁴ Flory, Wendler and Emanuel, "Empirical Issues in Informed Consent for Research," 652-653.

¹⁵ Capron, "Legal and Regulatory Standards,"625-627.

¹⁶ Gert, Culver and Clouser, *Bioethics*, 232.

¹⁷ Paul Oliver, *The Student's Guide to Research Ethics*, (New York: McGraw Hill, 2010), 60-62.

¹⁸ Capron, "Legal and Regulatory Standards," 627-628.

¹⁹ Kelly, *End of Life*, 66-74.

²⁰ Junkerman et.al., *Practical Ethics*, 5.

²¹ Scott Y.H. Kim et.al., "Preservation of the Capacity to Appoint a Proxy Decision Maker: Implications for Dementia Research." Archives of General Psychiatry 68, no.2 (February 2011): 214-20. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.200.191.

²² Bernard A. Fisher et.al., "Participants With Schizophrenia Retain the Information Necessary for Informed Consent During Clinical Trials." The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry 74, no.6 (June 2013): 622-7. doi: 10.4088/JCP.12m07997.

²³ Stacy Desine et.al., "The Meaning of Informed Consent : Genome Editing Clinical Trials for Sickle Cell Disease," AJOB Empir Bioeth 11, no.4 (December 2020):12-13. doi:10.1080/23294515.2020.1818876.

²⁴ Emanuel, Wendler and Grady, "An Ethical Framework," 129.

²⁵ David Wendler and Franklin G. Miller, "Risk-Benefit Analysis and the Net Risks Test," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics. (Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008), 504-511, Nancy M.P. King and Larry R. Churchill, "Assessing and Comparing Potential Benefits and Risks of Harm," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics. (Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008), 515-516.

²⁶ Levine, "The Nature, Scope, and Justification of Clinical Research," 215-216.

²⁷ Árnason et.al. "Informed Consent," 107-108.

²⁸ Emanuel, Wendler and Grady, "An Ethical Framework," 128.
²⁹ Emanuel, Wendler and Grady, "An Ethical Framework," 125.

³⁰ Oliver, Student's Guide, 81-84.

¹ Levine, "The Nature, Scope, and Justification of Clinical Research," 215-216.

² Levine, "The Nature, Scope, and Justification of Clinical Research," 217-218.

³ Welch et.al.,. "Vulnerable Populations," 503-504..

⁴ Leslie A. Meltzer and James F. Childress, "What is Fair Participant Selection ?" in *The Oxford* Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics, eds. Emanuel et.al., (Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008), 379-382.

- ³¹ Desine et.al., "Meaning of Informed Consent," 4-6.
- ³² Desine et.al., "Meaning of Informed Consent," 12-13.
- ³³ Desine et.al., "Meaning of Informed Consent," 6-11.
- ³⁴ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 259-271.
- ³⁵ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 66-70.
- ³⁶ Alderson and Morrow, *Children and Young People*, 73-80.
- ³⁷ Welch, et.al., "Vulnerable Populations", 504.

³⁸ Colleen Denny and Christine Grady, "Research Involving Women," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. (Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York, 2008), 413.

³⁹ Maria Kreszentia Sheppard, "Vulnerability, Therapeutic Misconception and Informed Consent: is there a Need for Special Treatment of Pregnant Women in Fetus-Regarding Clinical Trials?" *Journal of Medical Ethics*. 42, no.2 (February 2016):127-131, doi: 10.1136/medethics-2014-102595.

⁴⁰ Galle et.al., "Expectations and Satisfaction with Antenetal Care," 112.

⁴¹ Daniel Gonzalez, Kim A. Boggess, and Michael Cohen-Wolkoweiz. "Lessons Learned in Pediatric Clinical Research to Evaluate Safe and Effective Use of Drugs in Pharmacy."

Obstetrics and Gynecology. 125, no.4 (April 2015): 953-958.

doi:10.1097/AOG.000000000000743.

⁴² Kanecia Zimmerman et.al., "Pharmacologic Studies in Vulnerable Populations: Using the Pediatric Experience." *Seminars in Perinatology*. 39, no.7 (November 2015):532-536. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2015.08.007.

⁴³ Sheree R. Schwartz and Stefan Baral. "Fertility-Related Research Needs Among Women at the Margins." *Reproductive Health Matters*. 23, no.45 (May 2015): 30-46, doi:0.1016/j.rhm.2015.06.006.

⁴⁴ Green, "Research with Fetuses, Embryos, and Stem Cells," 489-491.

⁴⁵ Denny and Grady, "Research Involving Women," 413-414.

⁴⁶ Denny and Grady, "Research Involving Women," 414-415.

⁴⁷ Lo and Garan, "Research with Ethnic and Minority Populations," 423-426.

⁴⁸ Marilyn S. Baffoe-Bonnie, "A justice-based argument for including sickle cell disease in CRISPR/Cas9 clinical research," *Bioethics* 33, no.6 (February 2019): 662-663, DOI: 10.1111/bioe.12589.

⁴⁹ Baffoe-Bonnie, "A justice-based argument," 664-666.

⁵⁰ Lo and Garan, "Research with Ethnic and Minority Populations," 426-428.

⁵¹ Levine, "Research Involving Economically Disadvantaged Participants," 431-435.

⁵² Alan Wertheimer, "Exploitation in Clinical Research," in Emanuel, Ezekiel J. et. al. (eds): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. (Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York,

2008), 201-202.

⁵³ Lo and Garan, "Research with Ethnic and Minority Populations," 424.

⁵⁴ Rosenstein and Miller, "Research Involving Those at Risk for Impaired Decision-Making Capacity," 438.

⁵⁵ Rosenstein and Miller, "Research Involving Those at Risk for Impaired Decision-Making Capacity," 439-440.

⁵⁶ Paul P. Christopher et.al., "Enrolling in Deep Brain Stimulation Research for Depression: Influences on Potential Subjects' Decision Making." *Depression and anxiety* 29, no.2 (February 2012):140. doi: 10.1002/da.20916.

⁵⁷ Rosenstein and Miller, "Research Involving Those at Risk for Impaired Decision-Making Capacity," 439.

⁵⁸ D. Wendler et.al., "Non-beneficial Research with Individuals who cannot Consent: Is it Ethically Better to Enroll Healthy or Affected Individuals?" *IRB: A Review of Human Subjects Research*. 25, no.4 (2003):1-4.

⁵⁹ Rosenstein and Miller, "Research Involving Those at Risk for Impaired Decision-Making Capacity," 441-442.

⁶⁰ Rosenstein and Miller, "Research Involving Those at Risk for Impaired Decision-Making Capacity,"437-438.

⁶¹ Jane Zapka et.al., "Challenges in efficacy research: the case of feeding alternatives in patients with dementia." *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 70, no.9 (September 2014): 2072-85. doi: 10.1111/jan.12365.

⁶² Rosenstein and Miller, "Research Involving Those at Risk for Impaired Decision-Making Capacity," 441-442.

⁶³ Sargeant and Harcourt, *Doing Research with Children*, 28-31.

⁶⁴ Sargeant and Harcourt, *Doing Research with Children*, 77.

⁶⁵ Alderson and Morrow, *Children and Young People*, 69-72.

⁶⁶ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 63-66.

⁶⁷ Alderson and Morrow, *Children and Young People*, 23-30.

⁶⁸ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 104-116.

⁶⁹ Ross, *Children in Medical Research*, 76-83.

⁷⁰ Carolyn P. Neuhaus and Rachel L. Zacharias, "Compassionate use of gene therapies in pediatrics: An ethical analysis," *Seminars in Perinatology* 42, no.8 (December 2018):508-509. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2018.09.010

⁷¹ Neuhaus and Zacharias, "Compassionate use," 509-511.

⁷² Sargeant and Harcourt, *Doing Research with Children*, 73-76.

⁷³ Alderson and Morrow, *Children and Young People*, 52-55.

⁷⁴ Alderson and Morrow, *Children and Young People*, 107-111.

⁷⁵ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 87-88.

⁷⁶ Ross, *Children in Medical Research*, 95-99.

⁷⁷ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 91-95.

⁷⁸ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 17-22.

⁷⁹ Alderson and Morrow, *Children and Young People*, 102-103.

⁸⁰ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 130-134.

⁸¹ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 134-138.

⁸² Ross, Children in Medical Research, 138-140.

⁸³ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 140-143.

⁸⁴ Ross, Children in Medical Research, 140-147.

⁸⁵ Tricouncil Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, "Research involving materials related to human reproduction," *Government of Canada Panel on Research Ethics*.

⁸⁶ Kristin R.W. Matthews and Erin H. Yang, "Politics and Policies Guiding Human Embryo Research in the United States," Centre for Health and Biosciences, Rice University's Baker

Institute for Public Policy, last modified January 2019

https://www.bakerinstitute.org/media/files/files/a9096889/chb-pub-greenwall-hesc-011519.pdf

⁸⁷ Assisted Human Reproduction Act, S.C. 2004, c. 2 (Canada).

⁸⁸ Matthews and Yang, "Politics and Policies," 27-29.

⁸⁹ Erika Kleiderman and Ubaka Ogbogu, "Realigning gene editing with clinical research ethics: What the "CRISPR twins" debacle means for Chinese and international research ethics

governance," Accountability in Research 26, no. 4 (May 2019): 261-262.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2019.1617138.

⁹⁰ Kleiderman and Ogbogu, "Realigning gene editing," 258-260.

⁹¹ Abdulaziz Sachedina, "Islamic Ethics: Differentiations," In Schweiker, *Blackwell Companion to Religious Ethics*, (Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2005,) 258-264.

⁹² Kevin A. Reinhart, "Origins of Islamic Ethics: Foundations and Constructions," In Schweiker, *Blackwell Companion*, (Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2005,) 248-252.

⁹³ Ebrahim Moosa, "Muslim Ethics?" In Schweiker, *Blackwell Companion*, (Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2005,) 240-243.

⁹⁴ Frederick Mathewson Denny, "Muslim Ethical Trajectories in the Contemporary Period," In

Schweiker, Blackwell Companion, (Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2005,) 268-270.

⁹⁵ Sachedina, "Islamic Ethics," 256-258.

⁹⁶ Sachedina, "Islamic Ethics," 255-256.

- ⁹⁷ Moosa, "Muslim Ethics?" 238-239
- ⁹⁸ Mathewson Denny, "Muslim Ethical Trajectories," 270.

⁹⁹ Donna Lee Bowen, "Contemporary Muslim Ethics of Abortion." In Brockopp, *Islamic Ethics of Life: Abortion, War, and Euthanasia*, (Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2003) 66-67.

- ¹⁰⁰ Bowen, "Contemporary Muslim Ethics of Abortion." 60-61.
- ¹⁰¹ Reinhart, "Origins of Islamic Ethics," 247-248.
- ¹⁰² Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic Health Care Ethics*, 11-12.
- ¹⁰³ George Dennis O'Brien, The Church and Abortion: A Catholic Dissent, (Maryland: Rowman
- & Littlefield Publishers, Inc., 2010), 99-104.
- ¹⁰⁴ O'Brien, *The Church and Abortion*, 72-73.

¹⁰⁵ Abdulaziz Sachedina, *Islamic Biomedical Ethics: Principles and Application* (New York:

- Oxford University Press, 2009), 108, 130.
- ¹⁰⁶ Sachedina, *Islamic Biomedical Ethics*, 13-17.
- ¹⁰⁷ O'Brien, *The Church and Abortion*, 6-8.
- ¹⁰⁸ O'Brien, *The Church and Abortion*, 123-124.
- ¹⁰⁹ O'Brien, *The Church and Abortion*, 16-17.
- ¹¹⁰ O'Brien, *The Church and Abortion*, 31-33.
- ¹¹¹ O'Brien, *The Church and Abortion*, 71.

¹¹² David Vandrunen, *Bioethics and the Christian Life: A Guide to Making Difficult Decisions*. (Illinois: Crossway Books, 2009), 152-153.

¹¹³ Birgit Krawietz, "Brain Death and Islamic Traditions: Shifting Borders of Life ?" in *Islamic Ethics of Life: Abortion, War, and Euthanasia,* ed. Jonathan E. Brockopp (Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2003), 199,

¹¹⁴ Jonathan E. Brockopp, "The "Good Death" in Islamic Theology and Law," in *Islamic Ethics of Life: Abortion, War, and Euthanasia,* ed. Jonathan E. Brockopp (Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2003), 179-181.
- ¹²⁰ Mackler, Jewish and Catholic Bioethics, 65-69.
- ¹²¹ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 213.
- ¹²² Mackler, Jewish and Catholic Bioethics, 69-73.

¹²³ "Medical Assistance in Dying," College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario, last updated December 2018, https://www.cpso.on.ca/Physicians/Policies-Guidance/Policies/Medical-Assistance-in-Dying

¹²⁴ Larry Worthen, "Statement on Court Ruling January 31, 2018," Canadian Federation of Catholic Physicians and Surgeons, last modified February 1, 2018.

https://canadiancatholicphysicians.com/statement-on-court-ruling-jan-31-2018/

¹²⁵ Christian Medical and Dental Society of Canada v. College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario, [2019] ONCA 393.

- ¹²⁶ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 165.
- ¹²⁷ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 169-171.
- ¹²⁸ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 32-35.

¹²⁹ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, Contemporary Catholic, 10-15.

- ¹³⁰ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 129-134.
- ¹³¹ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 140-141.
- ¹³² Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 131.
- ¹³³ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 140.
- ¹³⁴ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 132-133.
- ¹³⁵ O'Brien, The Church and Abortion, 73-75.
- ¹³⁶ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 34.

¹³⁷ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 130.

¹³⁸ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 108.

¹³⁹ Mahmoud Abbas, Ehsan Shamski Gooshki, and Neda Allahbedashti, "Abortion in Iranian Legal System." Iranian Journal of Asthma, Allergy, and Immunology 13, no.1 (2014): 2.

¹⁴⁰ Abbas, Gooshki, and Allahbedashti, "Abortion in Iranian Legal System," 4.

- ¹⁴¹ Abbas, Gooshki, and Allahbedashti, "Abortion in Iranian Legal System," 7.
- ¹⁴² Abbas, Gooshki, and Allahbedashti, "Abortion in Iranian Legal System," 9.

¹⁴³ "Turkey: People and Society," The World Factbook, Central Intelligence Agency, last modified March 1, 2021. https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/turkev/#people-andsociety

¹⁴⁴ Leila Hessini, "Abortion and Islam: Policies and Practice in the Middle East and North Africa." Reproductive Health Matters 15, no.29 (May 2007): 78-79, doi: 10.1016/S0968-8080(06)29279-6.

¹⁴⁵ María Carranza, "The Therapeutic Exception: Abortion, Sterilization, and Medical Necessity in Costa Rica." Developing World Bioethics 7, no.2 (August 2007): 56-63. Doi: 10.1111/j.1471-8847.2007.00200.x.

¹⁴⁶ Alba Ruibal, "Movement and Counter-movement: A History of Abortion Law Reform and the Backlash in Colombia 2006-2014." Reproductive Health Matters 22, no. 44 (November 2014): 42-51. Doi: 10.1016/S0968-8080(14)44803-1.

¹¹⁵ Brockopp, "The Good Death," 182-185.¹¹⁶ Brockopp, "The Good Death," 188-190.

¹¹⁷ Mackler, Jewish and Catholic Bioethics, 73-74.

¹¹⁸ Mackler, Jewish and Catholic Bioethics, 74-75.

¹¹⁹ Mackler, Jewish and Catholic Bioethics, 76-77.

¹⁴⁷ Annik M. Sorhaindo et.al., "Qualitative Evidence on Abortion Stigma from Mexico City and Five States in Mexico." *Women and Health* 54, no.7 (2014):622-640. Doi: 10.1080/03630242.2014.919983.

¹⁴⁸ Stephanie M. McMurtrie et.al, "Public Opinion about Abortion-related Stigma among Mexican Catholics and Implications for Unsafe Abortion." *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 118, no.2 (September 2012): 160-166. doi: 10.1016/S0020-7292(12)60016-2.
¹⁴⁹ "United States," The World Factbook, Central Intelligence Agency, Last modified March 1,

2021. https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/united-states/

¹⁵⁰ "Catholic Healthcare in the United States," Catholic Health Association of the United States, Last modified March 2021. <u>https://www.chausa.org/about/about/facts-statistics.</u>

¹⁵¹ "Ethical and Religious Directives," Catholic Health Association of the United States, Accessed December 1, 2019. <u>https://www.chausa.org/ethics/ethical-and-religious-directives.</u> ¹⁵² Kally, Magill, and tan Hava. *Cartering and Catholic* 112, 112

¹⁵² Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 112-113.

¹⁵³ Marge Berer, "Termination of Pregnancy as Emergency Obstetric Care: The Interpretation of Catholic Health Policy and the Consequences of Pregnant Women." *Reproductive Health Matters* 21, no.41 (May 2013):9-17. Doi:10.1016/S0968-8080(13)41711-1.

¹⁵⁴ Rhami Khorfan and Aasim I. Padela, "The Bioethical Concept of Life for Life in Judaism, Catholocism, and Islam: Aborion when the Mother's Life is in Danger," *Journal of IMA* 42, no.3 (November 2010): 102-104. doi: 10.5915/42-3-5351.

¹⁵⁵ Sachedina, *Islamic Biomedical Ethics*, 142.

¹⁵⁶ Abbas, Gooshki, and Allahbedashti, "Abortion in Iranian Legal System," 9.

¹⁵⁷ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic*, 108-112.

¹⁵⁸ Jonathan E. Brockopp, "Taking Life and Saving Life: The Islamic Context." In Brockopp, *Islamic Ethics of Life: Abortion, War, and Euthanasia*, (Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2003) 12-17.

¹⁵⁹ O'Brien, *The Church and Abortion*, 111-112.

¹⁶⁰ O'Brien, *The Church and Abortion*, 61-62.

¹⁶¹ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 103-105.

¹⁶² Sachedina, *Islamic Biomedical Ethics*. 121-122.

¹⁶³ Sachedina, *Islamic Biomedical Ethics*, 107.

¹⁶⁴ Sachedina, Islamic Biomedical Ethics, 136.

¹⁶⁵ Vandrunen, *Bioethics and the Christian Life*, 165.

¹⁶⁶ O'Brien, *The Church and Abortion*, 86-90.

¹⁶⁷ Hessini, "Abortion and Islam," 81.

¹⁶⁸ "Abortion After 12 weeks," National Abortion Federation, Last Revised 2003.

https://5aa1b2xfmfh2e2mk03kk8rsx-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-

content/uploads/abortion_after_12_weeks.pdf

¹⁶⁹ Alison Shaw "They say Islam has a solution for everything, so why are there no guidelines for this?: Ethical Dilemmas Associated with the Births and Deaths of Infants with Fatal

Abnormalities from a small sample of Pakistani Muslim couplies in Britain," *Bioethics* 26, no.9 (November 2012): 485-492. Doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8519.2011.01883.x.

¹⁷⁰ Jay J. Bringman, "Invasive Prenatal Genetic Testing: A Catholic Healthcare Provider's Perspective." *The Linacre Quarterly* 81, no.4 (November 2014): 302-313. Doi: 10.1179/2050854914Y.0000000022.

¹⁷¹ Teguh H. Sasongko, et.al., "Permissibility of Prenatal Diagnosis and Abortion for Fetuses with Severe Genetic Disorder: Type I Spinal Muscular Atrophy," *Annals of Saudi Medicine* 30, no.6 (Nov-Dec 2010): 427-431. Doi: 10.4103/0256-4947.72259.

¹⁷² Sachedina, *Islamic Biomedical Ethics*, 79-83.

¹⁷³ Sachedina, *Islamic Biomedical Ethics*, 141.

¹⁷⁴ Holly Dickman, Kyle Fletke, and Roberta E. Redfern, "Prolonged Unassisted Survival in an Infant with Anencephaly," *BMJ Case Reports* (October 2016): bcr2016215986. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2016-215986.

¹⁷⁵ Debora Diniz, "Selective Abortion in Brazil: The Anencephaly Case," *Developing World Bioethics* 7, no.2 (August 2007): 64-67. Doi: 10.1111/j.1471-8847.2007.00202.x.

¹⁷⁶ "Reproductive Rights." United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division. Accessed December 1, 2016.

http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/theme/rights/

¹⁷⁷ Laura Shanner, "The Right to Procreate: When Rights Claims Go Wrong." *McGill Law Journal* 40, no.4 (August 1995): 2-3.

¹⁷⁸ Shanner, "The Right to Procreate," 1.

¹⁷⁹ Shanner, "The Right to Procreate," 7-21.

¹⁸⁰ Shanner, "The Right to Procreate," 9.

¹⁸¹ Bowen, "Contemporary Muslim Ethics of Abortion," 66-67

¹⁸² Kevin D. O'Rourke, *Medical Ethics: Sources of Catholic Teachings*, (Washington: Georgetown University Press, 1993), 305-307.

¹⁸³ Dariusch Atighetchi, "The Position of Islamic Tradition on Contraception." *Medicine and Law* 13, no.7-8 (1994): 723.

¹⁸⁴ Louis-Jacques Van Bogaert, "The Right to Procreate – Freedom and Necessity," *South African Medical Journal* 95, no.1 (January 2005): 32.

¹⁸⁵ Marcia C. Inhorn and and Pasquale Patrizio. "Infertility around the globe: New thinking on gender, reproductive technologies and global movements in the 21st century." *Human*

Reproduction Update 21, no.4 (July-August 2015): 414. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv016.

¹⁸⁶ Ngwena, Brookman-Amissah, and Skuster, "Human Rights Advances," 184.

¹⁸⁷ Ngwena, Brookman-Amissah, and Skuster, "Human Rights Advances," 184-187.

¹⁸⁸ Inhorn and Patrizio, "Infertility around the Globe," 412-413.

¹⁸⁹ Inhorn and Patrizio, "Infertility around the Globe," 415.

¹⁹⁰ Berliner (ed.), *Ethical Dilemmas* 75.

¹⁹¹ Jiang, Tan, and Chong. "Molecular Strategies," 551.

¹⁹² Klitzman et.al., "Anticipating Issues," 33-34.

¹⁹³ "In Vitro Fertilization," Magee Women's Hospital

¹⁹⁴Thomas Eich, "Decision-Making Processes among Contemporary 'Ulama': Islamic

Embryology and the Discussion of Frozen Embryos," In *Muslim Medical Ethics*, eds. Brockopp and Eich (Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2008), 61-73.

¹⁹⁵ Sachedina, *Islamic Biomedical Ethics*, 137-138.

¹⁹⁶ James J. Walter and Thomas A. Shannon, *Contemporary Issues in Bioethics*. (Oxford:

Rowman & Littlefield Publishers Inc., 2005), 125-133.

¹⁹⁷ Walter and Shannon, *Contemporary Issues in Bioethics*, 134-138.

¹⁹⁸ Pierre Mallia, "Problems Faced with Legislating for IVF Technology in a Roman Catholic Country." *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy* 13, no.1 (February 2010): 77-87. Doi: 10.1007/s11019-009-9224-9.

¹⁹⁹ Walter and Shannon, *Contemporary Issues in Bioethics*, 199-204.

²⁰⁰ Vardit Rispler-Chaim, "Genetic Engineering in Contemporary Islamic Thought." *Science in Context* 11, no.3-4 (Autumn-Winter 1998): 568. doi: 10.1017/s0269889700003215.

²⁰¹ G.I. Serour, "Islamic Perspectives in Human Reproduction." *Reproductive Medicine Online* 17, no.3 (2008): 34-38. doi: 10.1016/s1472-6483(10)60328-8.

²⁰² Rispler-Chaim, "Genetic Engineering," 567.

²⁰³ Rispler-Chaim, "Genetic Engineering," 570.

²⁰⁴ Serour, "Islamic Perspectives," 36.

²⁰⁵ Jeffrey P. Bishop, "Finitude," in *Dying in the Twenty-First Century: Toward a New Ethical Framework for the Art of Dying Well*, ed. Lydia Dugdale, (Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2005), 19-26.

²⁰⁶ Inez D. de Beaufort and Suzanne van de Vathorst,. "Dementia and Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia," *Journal of Neurology* 263, no.7 (July 2016):1463, Doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8095-2.

²⁰⁷ "Death and Dignity Acts," Death with Dignity National Center, accessed February 23, 2021. https://www.deathwithdignity.org/learn/death-with-dignity-acts/

²⁰⁸ "An Act to Amend the Criminal Code and to make related amendments to other acts (Medical Assistance in Dying)," Bill C-14, 1st sess., 42nd Parliament, 64-65 Elizabeth II, 2015-2016 http://www.parl.gc.ca/HousePublications/Publication.aspx?Language=E&Mode=1&DocId=8384 014.

²⁰⁹ "The Washington Death with Dignity Act," H.R. 70.245. (2009).

²¹⁰ Richard DW Hain, "Euthanasia: 10 Myths," *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 99, no.9 (September 2014):925-26. Doi:10.1136/archdischild-2014-306218.

²¹¹ Marie Friedel, "Does the Belgian Law Legalizing Euthanasia for Minors really Address the Needs for Life-Limited Children?" *International Journal of Palliative Nursing* 20, no.6 (June 2014):265-267. doi: 10.12968/ijpn.2014.20.6.265.

²¹² Astrid M. Vrakking et.al., "Regulating Physician-Assisted Dying for Minors in the Netherlands: Views of Paediatricians and Other Physicians," *Acta Paediatrica* 96, no.1 (January 2007):117-121, doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2006.00004.x. Rory Watson, "Belgium Extends Euthanasia Law to Children," *BMJ* 348 (February 2014):1633 Doi: 10.1136/bmj.g1633.
²¹³ Appel, "Neonatal Euthanasia," 477-479.

²¹⁴ Andrew M. Siegel, Dominic A. Sisti, and Arthur L. Caplan. "Pediatric Euthanasia in Belgium: Disturbing Developments." *JAMA* 311, no.19 (May 2014):1963-1964. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.4257.

²¹⁵ "How do Aid-in-Dying Laws Protect Patients?" Death with Dignity National Center, accessed April 10, 2017, <u>https://www.deathwithdignity.org/faqs/#safeguards</u>

²¹⁶ Chris Gastmans and Yvonne Denier, "What if Patients with Dementia use Decision Aids to Make an Advance Euthanasia Request?" *American Journal of Bioethics* 10, no.4 (April 2010): 25-26. Doi: 10.1080/15265161003632955.

²¹⁷ De Beaufort and van de Vathorst, "Dementia and Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia," 1464-1465.

²¹⁸ "Death with Dignity Act," Oregon Health Authority, O.R.S. 127.865. (1997).

²¹⁹ Hain, "Euthanasia," 798-799.

²²⁰ Luc Bovens, "Child Euthanasia: Should we just not talk about it?" *Journal of Medical Ethics* 41, no.8 (August 2015): 630-631. Doi: 10.1136/medethics-2014-102329.

²²¹ Watson, "Belgium Extends Euthanasia Law to Children," g1633.

²²² Bovens, "Child Euthanasia," 631-632.

Implications for Caregiving and Competence," in Purtilo, Ruth B. and Henk ten Have, *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004,) 25-42.

²²⁶ Brumback, "Neuropathology and Symptomatology in Alzheimer Disease," 38-39.

- ²²⁷ Mitchell, "Palliative Care of Patients with Advanced Dementia,"
- ²²⁸ Callahan, "The Elderly and Dementia," 156-157.

²²⁹ M. Therese Lysaught, "Ritual and Practice," in *Dying in the Twenty-First Century: Toward a New Ethical Framework for the Art of Dying Well*, ed. Lydia Dugdale, (Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2005), 72-75.

²³⁰ Welie, The Tendency of Contemporary Decision-making Strategies," 174-175.

²³¹ Ter Meulen, "Ethics of Care," 46-47.

- ²³² Illhardt, "Saying No to Patients with Alzheimer Disease," 208-210.
- ²³³ Linda Ganzini et.al., "Ten Myths about Decision-Making Capacity." *Journal of American Medical Directors Association* 5, no.4 (July-Aug 2004): 266. doi:

10.1097/01.JAM.0000129821.34622.A2.

²³⁴ Berg et.al., *Informed Consent*, 113-116.

- ²³⁵ Berg et.al., *Informed Consent*, 112-113.
- ²³⁶ Atul Gawande, *Being Mortal*, (Doubleday Canada, 2014), 211-214.
- ²³⁷ Gawande, *Being Mortal*, 182-185.
- ²³⁸ Gawande, *Being Mortal*, 179-180.
- ²³⁹ Philippe Ariès, *Western Attitudes toward Death: from the Middle Ages to the Present*, (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1974), 63-65.

²⁴⁰ Janna C. Merrick, "Death and Dying: The American Experience," in *End-of-Life Decision Making: A Cross-National Study*, ed. Janna C. Merrick and Robert H. Blank, (Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2005), 231-233.

²⁴¹ Ellenchild Pinch, "Advance Directives and End-of-Life Decision Making in Alzheimer Disease," 189-190.

²⁴² Paul T. Menzel and Bonnie Steinbock, "Advance Directives, Dementia, and Physician-Assisted Death," *The Journal of Law, Medicine, and Ethics* 41, no.2 (Summer 2013): 494. Doi: 10.1111/jlme.12057.

²⁴³ Menzel and Steinbock, , "Advance Directives, Dementia, and Physician-Assisted Death,"
498.

²⁴⁴ Menzel and Steinbock, , "Advance Directives, Dementia, and Physician-Assisted Death," 489-492.

²⁴⁵ Menzel and Steinbock, , "Advance Directives, Dementia, and Physician-Assisted Death," 496-498.

²⁴⁶ Menzel and Steinbock, , "Advance Directives, Dementia, and Physician-Assisted Death,"487.

²⁴⁷ Gastmans and Denier, "What if Patients with Dementia use Decision Aids to Make an Advance Euthanasia Request?" 25-26.

²⁴⁸ Menzel and Steinbock, "Advance Directives, Dementia, and Physician-Assisted Death,"
494.

²²³ Callahan, "The Elderly and Dementia," 149-150.

²²⁴ Welie, "The Tendency of Contemporary Decision-making Strategies," 163-165.

²²⁵ Roger A. Brumback, "Neuropathology and Symptomatology in Alzheimer Disease:

Chapter 5: The Integration of Clinical and Organizational Issues in Genetics

While it is crucial to examine general concepts that apply to the implementation of new genetic therapies and editing techniques, it can also be helpful to consider how similar medical advancements have been implemented in the health care system. It has been made clear that any new technology or treatment contains both clinical and organizational components that should be looked at together. This chapter presents two specific examples which demonstrate how CRISPR/Cas9 may, one day, be introduced within health care. From a clinical perspective, Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis (PGD) can provide a template for a specific gene-related procedure at the beginning of life involving embryos, which directly addresses the most-feared aspects of the CRISPR/Cas9 technique. When evaluating organizational systems, the introduction of new technologies and gene therapies is directly to how gene editing technologies could be incorporated into the current health care landscape.

A: Clinical Issue: Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis (PGD)

In the last few decades, the notion of assisted reproduction has increased in popularity and improved in techniques to effectively allow parents to influence the characteristics of their unborn child. These ideas are exciting, but they can also bring about numerous ethical concerns. The technique of Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis (PGD) is a method which, in one way or another, makes it possible for parents to decide what kind of child they wish to have. The current uses of Pre-implantation Genetic Diagnosis can be considered ethical, but ongoing, related scientific research could lead to a slippery slope of unethical practices through the use of CRISPR/Cas9.

i. Ethical Principles associated with Parental Decisions to use PGD

It has already been mentioned that Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis is a technique used to examine an embryo's genome - to identify if an embryo carries a gene for a particular disease.¹ Often, parents who have an autosomal recessive or X-linked disorder or a familial history of one, may want to ensure that their future child is not faced with the same disease.² PGD is carried out with the use of In-vitro Fertilization (IVF).³ After fertilization outside of the body, there are methods to extract one or a few cells and examine the genetic make-up of the embryo. In most circumstances, a specific disorder is being targeted, and if an embryo is shown not to contain a gene that codes for that illness, it will be implanted into the mother, with the certainty that the child will not have the disease.⁴ Similar to PGD, Pre-implantation Genetic Screening (PGS) consists of examining an embryo for aneuploidy, and subsequently transferring an embryo with the correct number of chromosomes. Both PGD and PGS make up the general term of Pre-Implantation Genetic Testing (PGT).⁵

The process of PGD can be done in one of three ways. A polar body biopsy is performed before fertilization, and consists of analyzing the first or second polar body from an oocyte. This method does not interfere with an embryo by removing any of its cells, often making it a suitable option for parents who do not support embryonic research. This method is carried out mostly for the detection of aneuploidy, as 95% of aneuploidy cases occur in maternal meiosis. The disadvantage to this technique is that paternal traits cannot be examined.⁶ A blastomere biopsy can be done after 3 days of fertilization and requires that one or two cells be removed from the embryo (which has six to eight cells at this stage). The third technique involves the biopsy of the trophectoderm after five to six days of embryo development. At this stage, the embryo has about 120 cells which allows for more to be removed for analysis. This technique is beneficial as it

provides time for the embryo to self-correct or eliminate any abnormal cells, but embryos must be implanted after six days, which gives very little time for analysis with this type of biopsy.⁷ After a biopsy, various laboratory techniques are carried out, depending on the disease being examined.⁸

Although PGD is considered to be a benefit to couples, there are scientific concerns as well as safety issues that must be addressed and disclosed. A common concern is the time it takes to analyze an embryo's genome. Some laboratories can perform tests immediately, for example, making techniques like trophectoderm biopsy possible, but other tests require more time for results and analysis. This can limit the number of procedures that are offered for the testing of embryos.⁹ Furthermore, if a couple chooses a polar body biopsy, there may be errors as the analysis is happening very early in the fertilization process. Defects or errors in meiosis can still occur after this biopsy, so results have the chance of being inaccurate. In these situations, prenatal testing should be administered during the pregnancy to monitor the fetus and its chromosomes.¹⁰As with any medical test, there is always room for error, and results may be inconclusive. For example, if a chromosome microarray is used to test for aneuploidy, it can be difficult to interpret which chromosomal imbalances are significant and cause birth defects.¹¹ Similarly, if testing for a specific gene, an unexpected allele may arise and cause a misdiagnosis.¹² A final concern, which many couples may express, is possible damage to an embryo during the biopsy itself. There is always this risk of damage, and some individuals may choose to forgo a biopsy for this reason, if there are a limited number of embryos to choose from.¹³

Although risks exist, the benefits that PGD provides are monumental for some parents. Being able to ensure a child will not have to suffer a terrible disease is comforting for all. There are

fears, however, that if we can identify and avoid the birth of babies with specific diseases, there may be a possibility that this technology will begin to be used for ensuring non-medical traits. Examples include sex selection, which will be discussed below, and manipulating athletic ability or height, which will be discussed in the next chapter.¹⁴ This is becoming a reality through the development of the CRIPSR-Cas9 system of altering a genome.

CRISPR, or Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats, is able to alter the DNA of mammalian cells. CRISPR was discovered as an immune system in archaea and bacteria to fight viruses, and was modified to act in human or mammalian cells.¹⁵ It consists of repeating DNA sequences and associated genes that can make proteins. These proteins, known as Cas, are able to cut DNA at a specific location, which allows scientists to modify that targeted sequence, or insert new DNA that can alter the gene. This can lead to the elimination of specific diseases associated with a gene, such as Cystic Fibrosis. The CRISPR-Cas system is also beneficial because it allows for multiple genes to be targeted at once, and as many diseases have been discovered to affect more than one genetic sequence.¹⁶ Currently this has been done in only a few human cell trials, but success with other animals demonstrates the future possibilities of this method of genome editing.

Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis is a scientific breakthrough, but it has numerous ethical concerns that are associated with the technique. It is important to examine how this testing method affects various principles in order to decide whether it is ethical. The major players in PGD scenarios are parents and their future unborn children, and the autonomy of both should be considered. An embryo's autonomy is negligible since it is unable to provide informed consent, and there is debate about whether an embryo has moral status, which brings into question whether it has any autonomy at all.¹⁷ Parental autonomy, on the other hand, is what is most

prevalent in this situation.¹⁸ Parents use PGD to seemingly ensure that their future child is healthy, and free of a specific disease.¹⁹ Some critics of PGD claim that this is selfish. Individuals have the right to reproduce, but when parents interfere with nature, they are simply doing it for their own interests.²⁰ Parents do, however, have an autonomous right to use this technology if they feel it will improve their child's life and prevent suffering. Especially in the ways PGD is able to be used today, some individuals will want to avoid their child inheriting disease, potentially one their parent has already experienced.²¹

When PGD is used for HLA matching, there is a concern that parents are using the technique for self-regarding reasons because they are disregarding the autonomy of an unborn child. If parents already have a child who has a serious, life-threatening illness, such as leukemia or Fanconi anemia, and traditional treatment methods have proven ineffective, parents may choose to undergo PGD in order to have another child with a Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) that matches that of their sick sibling.²² By ensuring that a matching embryo is implanted and born, a new possibility for tissue donation from a newborn child to their sibling becomes another treatment intervention. In this situation, a new child is used as a means to an end, but many parents argue that the benefits of HLA matching are instead two-fold: they are able to have another child (which they had always hoped for) with the guarantee that they will be free of disease, and their existing child is able to get better. This demonstrates that the PGD child is not, in fact, solely a means to an end. There is a fear, however, that the child created through PGD will be expected to help their sibling through future tissue donation. Using embryonic stem cells or umbilical cord blood does not really affect the newborn child, but a kidney or bone marrow donation in the future would pose significant risks to the donor child, and autonomy would have to be re-evaluated to ensure that parents are considering all of their children's autonomies.²³ One solution is to use a neutral substitute decision-maker for the child undergoing donation to ensure that their rights and autonomy are considered when making decisions.²⁴

Other principles to consider are beneficence and non-maleficence. Those who are in favor of PGD feel that both beneficence and non-maleficence are upheld through this technique. A child benefits when its parents choose to eliminate the risk of a possible detrimental disease and avoid future suffering. Questions do arise, however, that ask whether a child will in fact benefit from future implications of this technology in which parents choose non-medical diseases for their children. Non-maleficence is also maintained in that harm is avoided through this reproductive method of screening. If parents are effectively ensuring that their child will not be harmed by a preventable illness, they are acting in the best interest of the child.²⁵ Moreover, some scholars postulate that by not using PGD to avoid known genetic diseases, parents are actually causing their children harm.²⁶ Similarly, non-maleficence is supported through the present uses of PGD, but future uses for genetic enhancement may alter this viewpoint.

Proponents of PGD also argue that the technique is a very valuable tool for preventing disability. However, there are both positive and negative connotations associated with this viewpoint. Disability is usually viewed as a disadvantage to a normal life, but many individuals who are disabled disagree, and merely describe disabilities as differences. Degrazia goes into detail about whether it is acceptable to label disabilities as simple differences, since the change in terminology indicates a more positive outlook. He argues that disabilities are not just differences, as they do impact the way an individual lives their life.²⁷ There are, of course, unavoidable disabilities that may arise due to accidents or illness, but genetic disabilities, such as dwarfism or spina bifida, are able to be avoided. Parents who opt to use this screening method may feel that having a disability is a burden, or in the case of illness such as Lesch-Nyhan Syndrome,

disabilities cause a life to simply not be worth living. Supporters of PGD feel that if a disability can be avoided, it should be, which allows a child to have a healthy and less burdensome life.²⁸

Conversely, some parents choose to undergo PGD to positively select for a disability, such as deafness or dwarfism. Parents who themselves have one of these disabilities feel that in order for their child to be accepted into their community, they must also have these disabilities, or in their opinions, differences.²⁹ Individuals who are deaf, for example, do not see it as a burden, and have adapted their lives in order to be a 'normal' part of society. The small burdens associated with lack of hearing can be overcome to live a happy life. A parent's autonomy is driving this decision, and these arguments can pose dilemmas for physicians or genetic counsellors who are guiding parents through the process of PGD. If a doctor feels that dwarfism is a disability, they may feel uncomfortable allowing a couple to positively select embryos that have the mutations, as it goes against their duty to prevent harm to a patient.³⁰ How disabilities are perceived is also partly a result of society's opinions and reactions. It is difficult to create policy that will please everyone about this issue. Parents do have the liberty to use this reproductive technique, as they do not feel disabled, and would prefer that their child was just like them, while those who do not have the disadvantage may feel that imposing this disability on a child is morally wrong.

The idea of 'designer babies' rears to the future possibility of parents being able to edit the genome of a specific embryo to include desired social traits, such as height or athletic ability, in addition to the embryo being free of genetic markers for disease. There is a fear that using PGD and CRISPR to modify embryos will change our perception of what it means to be a person, and will forever change our identities. Before delving into the outcome of using this future technology, we must examine how we are defined as human beings, as well as the possible reasoning behind a parent's desire to determine particular traits for their future children.

There is much debate about when we become a 'person' and attain moral status. This is important, as 'people' with moral status are entitled to human rights. Religious doctrine maintains that life starts before birth, as described in the last chapter, and embryos are considered people throughout a pregnancy. Others feel that life begins at birth, which gives no moral status to embryos or a fetus. David DeGrazia gives another viewpoint, namely that life begins after the possibility of twinning is no longer possible. There is a period of time between initial conception and the moment of time when the embryo begins to form, during which it is possible for the embryo to split, making twins. He postulates that if this is possible, the numerical identity of that embryo could still change, making them not yet an individual person.³¹ Each individual has an autonomous right to decide for themselves whether they feel embryos or gametes have moral status and require the protection of human rights, but creating policy has proven increasingly difficult. If a couple uses PGD, they most likely feel that conception outside of the womb is permissible, and that embryos do not have moral status if they plan to discard or donate leftover embryos to research. Other couples may choose to cryopreserve the extra embryos for a future use, or simply because they feel that destroying them would be morally wrong.³²

When defining personhood, the concept of identity must be examined. Many people believe that our identity makes us who we are, when in fact there must be a distinction between two types of identity: numerical and narrative. Numerical identity denotes that we are one being that does not change in number and, therefore, our numerical identity stays the same for our entire life. It is not affected by genes or personality or disability.³³ Narrative identity is more commonly used when individuals describe themselves. A person's narrative identity consists of their physical features, their personality, and their abilities that may strongly influence the way they live their life. When PGD is undergone, a couple is influencing an embryo's future narrative

identity, and not tampering with its numerical identity, although splitting is still possible within the womb.³⁴ In terms of future uses of PGD, such as choosing non-medical traits, a parent is still only choosing to modify the narrative identity of their future child. This general distinction is important, because it is often argued that enhancement of any kind to an embryo entails changing their identity, and while the act of choosing social traits for a child is modifying a narrative identity, that child's numerical identity remains the same, as the intention to have that child is constant.³⁵ This is a common argument that stipulates that PGD use along with CRISPR modifications is acceptable.

A question is often asked about whether genes define a person. By having genes, we are biologically human, which is our numerical identity, but what those genes influence is our narrative identity. Our physical traits, predisposition to some diseases, and some of our natural abilities come from the genome. It is also commonly observed, however, that human beings can change over the course of a lifetime. Our identity changes and we may define ourselves differently at the age of 20 compared to at the age of 40, for example. These differences solely affect a narrative identity, as we are still the same being that we were at birth.³⁶ The change, however, is important to notice, because humans evolve with time. Even in the future if gene modification becomes possible postnatally, a numerical identity would not change, but a narrative one could. DeGrazia defines a "robustness thesis," which maintains that even with genetic modifications, which we can manipulate for ourselves or our children, we are still living the same life, just with different specifications.³⁷

In addition to genes, narrative identity is strongly influenced by environment. Parental decisions about raising their children directly impact the kinds of people their offspring grow up to be. A child may be born with natural musical abilities, and their parents may involve them in

playing musical instruments, but unless the child enjoys practicing and performing, they may not choose to devote their lives to music. Parenting styles heavily influence a child's upbringing, but other factors such as socioeconomic status and parental income affect an individual's narrative identity as well.³⁸ Furthermore, this also affects narrative identity for adults. A person may have had a luxurious upbringing, but if they are not able to support themselves, they may start defining themselves in different ways. Some individuals choose to define themselves by character traits, such as being humble or kind, while others define themselves according to their occupation, or their family. Regardless of how a person chooses to define themselves, it is always based on a narrative outlook on their life. The environment, both for children and adults, is crucial in impacting values and opinions. By putting a strong emphasis on environmental factors that shape our lives, many scholars wonder about the use of PGD for selecting social traits, as environment may be more influential than genes alone.³⁹

Similarly, society as a whole influences how an individual may define themselves or what they consider an acceptable identity to be. In the Western world, which is largely more accepting of other cultures and viewpoints, an individual believes that they have the right to autonomously make their own decisions and do as they please, as long as they do not break the law. In a less developed country, an individual may have different values that focus more on family or survival. These differences influence how we define ourselves in terms of narrative identity. For example, in the developed world, a woman may define herself by her job, her gender, or her personality traits, whereas in a society where women do not have rights or are expected to suppress their own values and beliefs, the source of her sense of identity may be vastly different, and any independent sense of self may be completely negligible. Societal influences fall into the

category of environmental factors that influence how we choose to define ourselves, and demonstrate that there is more to an individual than just genes.

As alluded to previously, anxiety with regard to the slippery slope of PGD is that it will lead to integration with CRISPR-Cas9 systems to promote genetic enhancement in embryos. Preimplantation genetic enhancement (PGE) would give parents the opportunity to effectively choose particular genetic traits for their offspring. It can be viewed as a method of improving a genome to ensure that more desirable and superior traits are part of a child.⁴⁰ Speculation exists about how parents come to a decision regarding which traits to choose. During PGD, a parent has the obvious choice to eliminate a disease for which they themselves are known carriers or that is a part of a family's medical history. If PGE is ever used, would parents have the ultimate say about their child's genome, or would scientific policy prohibit them from using the technology to its full potential?

If using PGE, a parent's own autonomy is most prevalent. Since an embryo is not able to provide informed consent, and parents do not have an idea of what that particular child would have wanted, a parent is unable to use 'substituted judgement' as a conventional surrogate would. In the case of PGE, a parent is exercising the 'best interest' standard for substitute decision-making, in the belief that enhancing their future child's genome is in the offspring's best interest.⁴¹ Although some criticize this argument and claim that parents are trying to 'play God' by choosing for their children without any indication of a child's wishes, it can be negated by the fact that parents act in similar manners after their children are born.⁴² Parents have a right to raise their children as they please, and make medical decisions for them until they are old enough to be able to rationally think and make choices for themselves. The 'playing God' argument postulates that parents are disrupting the natural course of development, and giving off

the idea that children are not simply a gift that should be accepted as they come, but a product that can be manipulated to suit a parent's wishes.⁴³

This technology may seem beneficial, in that it could aid parents in removing disease and promoting enhanced traits to help a child succeed in the future. There are concerns, however, that dominate the conversation surrounding preimplantation genetic enhancement. One is a fear of the technology itself, and the room for error that could occur within a genome. For example, in animal models using mice, when a gene was introduced to improve running in mazes, the animals became more susceptible to pain.⁴⁴ Side effects are a major concern, since it is unknown whether the addition or modification of a gene will have other effects within the genome or the body. The only way to combat this worry is to conduct appropriate and safe research. This also becomes problematic, as it may be very difficult for human trials to be done, for unlike a drug trial, there is an increased variance in the genes that would be able to be modified and manipulated. Policy would have to be followed, and informed consent of parents would need to be ensured, to conduct cautious but effective research.⁴⁵

In addition to scientific concerns about PGE, there are also societal concerns that are associated with the technique. It can be questioned whether using enhancement methods limits a child's right to an open future. For example, if a couple wishes to insert or modify a gene that enhances athletic ability, there may be an expectation for their child to become a professional athlete. This is a valid concern, as there is fear that a child will not have the autonomy to determine their own future and will be limited to one career as a result of parental pressure. However, this fear can be allayed, since, as mentioned earlier, genes only partially contribute to an individual's narrative identity. Parenting styles contribute as well, and if parents encourage their child to become engaged in other activities, as well as sports, there is not as much pressure

for a child to conform to their parent's original wishes.⁴⁶ If parents insist that their child participates solely in sports, then the fear is warranted as their child experiences no other options. It can be argued that using PGE is an influential tactic parents can utilize to guide their children, akin to enrolling them in a private school or teaching them religion. A child can be influenced to have certain opinions and pursue various career options, but there should be room for personal growth and thought. If this argument is employed, PGE should be accepted as it is simply a tool to aid in a child's future, not determine it. ⁴⁷

In addition, parents may feel that using PGE is an effective way of conforming to societal norms, therefore, making their child's life easier. For example, an African-American family may choose for their child to have a lighter skin color, in order to avoid racism. Similarly, a mother may want to ensure that her future daughter has breasts of a certain size or has a specific gene that makes it possible to avoid weight gain, in order for her to have less of an issue being accepted as attractive within society. This introduces a larger societal problem, in general, as there is certain pressure to look or act a certain way in order to be treated fairly. Racism and beauty standards are prevalent in the world today, and there is a possibility that these issues should be addressed first, to avoid going through genetic enhancement simply for the purpose of societal pressure. These reasons for using PGE are unwarranted, even though they are bringing about presumed benefit for a child, because they promote societal issues and discourage the need for unwanted prejudice.⁴⁸

ii. Parental Control and Sex Selection

Parents may choose to go through preimplantation genetic diagnosis for a variety of reasons that have been listed above, but the most common and most accepted is to prevent a child from having a specific disease. This has already been mentioned, but more detail will now be given

about the types of diseases that are examined. Furthermore, the technique is being used to select for a specific sex, which poses separate ethical considerations.

When couples or individuals consider PGD, they may think about their future child's quality of life. For example, there are genetic diseases that cause immense suffering and offer a poor life expectancy for children born with the illness. Tay-Sachs disease is one example, in which a child sees symptoms after six months and does not live past the age of five. Before PGD, couples may have been given the option for a therapeutic abortion, in which a pregnancy would be terminated if the fetus was found to have this disease.⁴⁹ By using PGD, a couple can still have a child, and know that they are eliminating the chance of Tay-Sachs. This usage of PGD consequently affects a germ line – a child whose genome is free of the gene for Tay-Sachs is not going to pass on the gene to their future offspring, ensuring that the disease does not continue down that germ line.⁵⁰ This usage may also be acceptable, because the quality of life of these children is very low and PGD would definitely improve their quality of living.

There are also genetic disorders, such as Down's Syndrome or Cystic Fibrosis that would impact the quality of life of a child, but not nearly as much as the previous disease example. In today's society, children with Down's Syndrome or CF can lead normal lives that are of a high quality. That is not to say that there are no hardships to overcome, nor that a parent has more challenges to face, but the children have much higher life expectancies than in previous generations. Trying to avoid these disorders is also common, however. Parents who themselves have CF may choose to ensure their child does not have to deal with the same suffering, or parents who already have a child with Down's Syndrome would prefer to prevent another child succumbing to mental disability.⁵¹ These diseases are not life-threatening, but a parent still has a right to choose an embryo without these disorders. Some argue that PGD is an effective method

to avoid non-life-threatening diseases as it will eliminate the frequency of aborting fetuses who have Down's Syndrome, since a parent can choose which embryo to implant.⁵² In this situation, the parents must also believe that embryos do not have moral status, but with any PGD technique, this is already the assumption, as the rest of the embryos which are not implanted will be discarded.

PGD can also ensure that embryos without late-onset diseases are implanted. Some diseases cannot be avoided if an individual has a specific gene, such one for as Huntington's Disease (HD).⁵³ If a parent has HD, their child has a 50/50 chance of also inheriting the gene and eventually of having Huntington's. This incidence rate is high, and some parents will want to ensure that there is no chance their child will have to deal with HD in their future, as there is currently no cure. However, a recent study examined the usage rate of PGD to avoid having children with the Huntington's gene, and its results indicate that usage rates are lower than expected. If a child whose parents suffered from the disease does not have a gene for HD, there is only a 1 in 4 chance that their child will inherit the disease. The risk is fairly low, and parents feel that it is not worth the extra time, money, and effort to undergo PGD. Furthermore, parents may believe that even if their child does inherit the gene, by the onset of symptoms, there may be a cure for HD, making the process of PGD unnecessary.⁵⁴ Ultimately, it is up to parents whether they choose to undergo PGD before pregnancy, and whether they choose to influence their future child's life in this way.

Further debate arises when discussing diseases that are not contingent upon a specific gene. A common example is the BRCA set of genes associated with breast and ovarian cancers.⁵⁵ Mothers who carry these genes or who have suffered from these cancers in addition to their mothers before them, may want to ensure that any potential daughters do not have to worry about

the possibility of getting these types of cancer. These situations are challenging because the BRCA genes are not sure predictors of cancer. Individuals who carry the gene may never see the disease, and those without them can also be at risk of cancers. Although it is a method of avoiding some harm, it can be questioned whether the use of PGD to choose against BRCA genes is necessary.⁵⁶ There are effective treatments for breast cancer that exist, and presumably will only improve with time, which indicates the lesser need for PGD related to breast cancer genetics. As always, a couple has the autonomy to undergo PGD, but as the risk for a lower quality of life is reduced, some may choose to let their child be born and develop without scientific manipulation.

PGD is also being used to choose embryos based on their sex. There are both medical and non-medical reasons for doing this, although the non-medical reasons cause the most ethical concerns. Medically, a mother who is a carrier for an X-linked disorder, such as hemophilia or muscular dystrophy, may choose to implant only female embryos into her uterus, with the assurance that they will not have the disease. There are instances where females have an X-linked disorder, because they received the gene from both their mother and their father, but these cases are less frequent.⁵⁷ If both parents are carriers or have had an X-linked disease, PGD could be used as usual, in selecting any embryo that does not have the allele for the condition. Medical uses for sex selection are accepted as being ethical methods for disease prevention through PGD.⁵⁸ The reason for undergoing genetic testing is not for a social reason, but to help a child avoid future harm and suffering.

Concerns arise when sex selection <u>is</u> used for social reasons. For instance, a couple can use PGD solely for the purpose of choosing a female or a male embryo for implantation. Currently, some clinics only allow sex selection for couples who are already undergoing IVF, and forbid

fertile couples to use PGD for the only purpose of choosing a desired sex.⁵⁹ Arguments for this usage stem from the right to reproductive freedom. It is believed that all individuals in the United States have a right to procreate and determine their reproductive choices for themselves as it is considered a private matter, pertaining only to the individual, not the state. This argument has been used to support abortion, but is also being applied to PGD and sex selection. Reproductive liberty can include couples having the autonomous right to plan their family as they wish, and to use the technologies that exist to do so. They do not see any issues with sex selection through PGD and feel that if the procedure is safe, it is an appropriate method to use to create their ideal family.⁶⁰

Furthermore, a couple may opt to use PGD for sex selection for the purpose of family balancing. This involves parents who choose a particular sex to ensure a balance of males and females among their children.⁶¹ For example, a mother with three sons may wish to have a daughter as well. She does not want many more children and may encounter issues with reproduction as she is getting older. By using IVF and PGD, she can guarantee that a female embryo is implanted, thereby greatly increasing the possibility of adding a daughter to her family. These methods may be justified because there is no element of prejudice against a certain trait. Parents in these situations argue that they would feel the same if the situation was reversed – choosing a male embryo to join a family that already has daughters. Moreover, family balancing is more commonly used in situations where parents already have children, and are not going through their first pregnancy, where there would be an assumed bias if sex selection was done through PGD. ⁶²

On the contrary, many believe there are negative associations with sex selection. Some fear that choosing a particular sex is a form of discrimination. This has been historically seen through the higher value assigned to males. Before PGD was possible, a form of sex selection was abortion after prenatal testing. Female fetuses are still aborted solely because of their sex in societies where females are not wanted, or believed to be of a lower social standing. In countries such as India and China, this has become a concern; not only because it is a human rights issue, but it also causes a major imbalance in sexes, where men are not able to find females with whom to reproduce.⁶³ The practice of aborting female fetuses is still possible, although many countries have laws against this practice. Sex-selective abortion is considered to be wrong, but why is sex selection through PGD considered to be any different? Both situations insinuate that one sex is better than the other, and there can still be a form of discrimination. Some scholars feel that sex selection through PGD is the rich man's abortion. This is no reason for one sex to be valued over the other, especially in a Western society, and there is a fear that some couples will choose males over females as a result of cultural associations. Although it is unavoidable, there should be an effort to prevent sex selection as a result of discrimination.⁶⁴

Another serious issue associated with sex selection is the expectation that parents may have for the gender of their children. Sex indicates, in biological and physiological terms, whether an individual is male or female, but gender indicates it in a social context.⁶⁵ In today's society, there is much more gender education and awareness, but misconceptions can still arise about the distinction between gender and sex, words that are often used interchangeably. By allowing sex selection for non-medical reasons, couples are choosing what they believe are the genders with which their children will identify, even though that may not always be the case in the future. This may result in future disappointment or even abuse, when a parent realizes that their choice may not have produced their expected result. Moreover, some scholars argue that even disclosing the gender of a fetus during a pregnancy, which is done regularly, is problematic as it sets pre-

determined gender roles for the unborn child. They argue that it should not matter whether the fetus is a female or a male, and disclosing the sex may, in fact, be misinformation as sex and gender do not mean the same thing. Sex selection may be considered to promote sexism and undermines the need for societal gender equality. ⁶⁶

B: Organizational Issue: Emerging Genetic Technologies

Medicine is consistently progressing and finding new ways to rid patients of disease and solve common healthcare problems. New technologies that are able to combat illness and improve the lives of patients must be put into practice within healthcare facilities. Multiple factors influence a hospital's method of implementation of these new advancements, and all of them must be considered to ensure that all relevant stakeholders who are involved will benefit. The safety and efficacy of new interventions is of the utmost importance, to guarantee that patients are receiving adequate medical care. Furthermore, the emerging technology or treatment should reflect an institution's core values and beliefs. An organization has the responsibility to provide healthcare, but also to stay true to its morals. Once these steps are taken, the implementation of the treatment needs to follow a policy or protocol, to ensure that it is executed with the highest level of efficiency and expertise. These concepts are relevant to current new additions to healthcare, but also apply to future advancements, specifically genetic therapy and genetic enhancement.

i. Patient Safety

When a patient seeks medical aid at a hospital, it is assumed that all aspects of their care will be executed safely, and that no adverse effects will occur. While this is an ideal situation and medical errors can happen, it should be the goal of any organization that provides medical care to ensure safety for their patients.⁶⁷ Historically, adverse events have caused a hospital to reevaluate

their policies to avoid a similar problem in the future. Medical professionals are expected to be skilled and knowledgeable about their respective fields, but human error may occur, and it is often blamed on an individual employee. While this person may have made a mistake, a medical organization as a whole is also responsible for the welfare of patients and must create an accountable system designed to ensure patient safety.⁶⁸

Patient safety is affected organizationally by a system, and practiced on an individual level, as nurses, physicians, and other medical professionals are responsible for preventing errors when possible, and creating a safe environment. These employees are expected to have an elevated level of competence in order to achieve this task. A patient assumes that their physician is well-trained and, therefore, able to perform the medical intervention needed, as well as discuss it and support their patient in making an autonomous decision. Within medicine, however, there may be little monitoring of skills training or recertification for safe practices, as there would be in other professions. In a field that is directly responsible for human lives, there should be more supervision to ensure that physicians and nurses, in addition to all other health professionals stay up to date on current safety measures and strategies.⁶⁹ This should result in less human error by physicians or those who are charged with the prevention of adverse events. Medical institutions as a whole also have a duty to ensure patient safety. Individual incompetence is not always the issue.⁷⁰

In view of the information discussed above, it is important that medical facilities practice extra caution when introducing new treatment techniques or interventions. The level of risk must be evaluated to ensure that patients are not harmed. While clinical trials deal directly with the biological risk that a new technology may have, an organization must determine whether there are other risks that could arise.⁷¹ Risk is primarily encountered at an institutional level, not at an

individual level, and an organization should implement strategies to prevent or control levels of risk associated with any medical procedure or practice. There are a number of ways in which healthcare can conceptualize risk, including as an energy that should not be released, or a result of deviations which lead to multiple approaches to medicine.⁷² Regardless, it is up to an institution to manage risk through various safeguards.⁷³

To control a problem and minimize patient risk, an institution must implement various measures to ensure that patient safety is continuously considered and promoted. Traditionally, this is achieved through education, checklists, and investigations into prior mishaps to make sure that they do not occur repeatedly.⁷⁴ However, creating system-wide policy that aims to decrease risk and increase safety can be difficult. Education is a crucial component, but it can be expensive and exhausting for employees who already feel they are competent enough to do their job.⁷⁵ There must be training in patient safety to guarantee that all healthcare professionals are aware of patient issues and are capable of solving them. This creates a trusting relationship between staff members as well as between patients and their medical teams. If an individual trusts the system, they may be more likely to report a concern without the fear of being reprimanded. This allows an organization to solve a problem immediately, instead of allowing it to develop into a more complex issue affecting patient safety.⁷⁶

All of the components of patient safety that have been mentioned should have a higher priority than the novelty of a new medical treatment. It is unacceptable to promote medical research and scientific breakthroughs that may be unsafe or unproven as priorities above the wellbeing of patients. Clinical trials are expected to be responsible for determining the safety and efficacy of new technologies or interventions, but if a certain advancement has FDA approval and is able to be implemented within a hospital, for example, immense caution should be used to

ensure that patients are being considered first and foremost, as opposed to a potentially successful intervention that could lead to acclaim.⁷⁷ Additional safeguards should always be put into place within a system if a technology is in its infancy or still experimental.

ii. Organizational Accountability

In order for any new technology or system to be implemented effectively within a healthcare facility, an institution must create methods to demonstrate its accountability towards its stakeholders and the individuals it is serving, making it clear that it is concerned with public trust and values quality and safety.⁷⁸ Accountability measures are often associated with plans to achieve a specific new goal, or to routinely monitor and adjust staff performance. Creating a specific accountability plan allows the organization to have a common goal to strive towards and to achieve at all of its levels, and should lead to a sustainability plan to ensure that a goal's accomplishment can be upheld in the future.⁷⁹ The introduction of a new technology or procedure will require staff members to become familiar with new information, and leadership is required to ensure that the new technology is administered and provided safely and adequately.⁸⁰

If a new technique is established at a hospital, physicians, nurses, and any other health team members must be periodically evaluated to ensure that they are providing high quality medical care and that they are performing that technique properly. Furthermore, the technology itself must be assessed to determine whether it is aiding patients in the best way it can, and to identify any improvements that can be made in the future to achieve a higher level of success.⁸¹ To begin this process of review, various goals need to be established. This may include looking at clinical performance, professional behavior, the system that regulates staff and patient complaints, or administrative management strategies. All of these components contribute to having an accountable organization.⁸² Once an initial system is created, it would be carefully

sustained, so that future review would be efficient, accurate, and able to provide useful information. Moreover, having known review systems in place increases transparency with the general public and would increase the level of trust associated with the institution and with the new technology being introduced.⁸³

In order to successfully review a new procedure, a leadership team must be in place and prepared to facilitate the process. Any performance review or accountability plan requires vertical collaboration between a hospital board and individual units, for example, as well as horizontal collaboration between employees. Vertical relationships promote accountability, as levels in the healthcare institution would hold each other responsible for doing their jobs well. It also encourages a more open governance structure that supports communication between all employees in an organization. Horizontal teamwork is useful to stimulate learning across units, and to encourage social needs and specific objectives that need to be met.⁸⁴ Both of these types of relationships ensure that a new technology or procedure is executed with the highest level of accuracy and safety. It is also beneficial to create specific committees that are responsible for monitoring the progress of the review, which can provide insights from various disciplines dealing with the new technology. Such committees may be able to provide additional information throughout the process that explains workers' responsibilities and tasks that should be improved.⁸⁵

Once a performance review or a technology evaluation is complete, it is important that there be transparency of reporting. It can be daunting to release data publicly, especially if it is negative, but by being honest and allowing the public to view truthful statistics and results, they are more likely to trust that an organization is honest and takes responsibility for its actions. It also allows an institution to demonstrate that they are able to improve. This is ideal, and it is

common for institutions to put out only the minimum information requirement.⁸⁶ Typically, the internal (within the organization) and external (for the public) reporting is the same in terms of requirements, and the two reports mirror each other, meeting the established guidelines set out by external bodies. However, it may be useful for organizations to consider providing a different type of report internally, to ensure that the information is valuable and applicable to the work of the institution's staff. A report may be general, but there should also be an effort to ensure that employees who are not performing adequately are given appropriate feedback to stimulate improvement.⁸⁷

In order to achieve the aforementioned internal improvements, additional resources may be necessary to allow staff members to self-report and for employees to practice skills.⁸⁸ With regard to reporting, a new method of encouraging staff to self and peer-report would result in errors or concerns being addressed sooner, and inspire staff to perform at their highest level.⁸⁹ By promoting that patient safety and quality care are of the greatest importance, it is hoped that physicians and nurses, for example, will strive to achieve success. Furthermore, including physicians and staff from various disciplines in the creation of programs for development of staff skills and knowledge would increase the quality of care, as these individuals would be able to provide insights from various areas of medicine and contribute first-hand accounts of the most beneficial services for patients.⁹⁰ Any new plan that is implemented to improve employee performance promotes accountability and sustainability, which leads to success.

The actual process of implementing new technology into a healthcare system is complex and involves numerous steps. It begins once a type of technology is proven to demonstrate some benefit to patients.⁹¹ Clinical trials follow, as they are the gold standard for testing the safety and efficacy of a new medication, procedure, or system. They allow organizations such as the Food

and Drug Administration (FDA) to approve new technologies with the highest certainty. The process should be able to provide information about the level of risk and potential side effects of the new technology. There must be evidence that patients will benefit from the new techniques and that it would be worthwhile for hospitals to invest in it.⁹² One issue with clinical trials is that they are extremely costly and require immense funding to ensure they are comprehensive, especially in the case of genetic therapies. Organizations such as Medicare may provide a certain amount of coverage for clinical trials that demonstrate some promise of success, but their prevalence will also depend on public and private policymakers and payers, as well as on government.⁹³ Another issue is that testing takes time, in order to ensure that the data are accurate and analyzed properly.

Once clinical trials have been conducted and have provided evidence that an emerging technology may be beneficial, a hospital or medical facility must decide whether they feel that its implementation would be advantageous. Certain criteria would have to be met and steps would have to be taken to ensure that the introduction of a new medical procedure or drug goes smoothly.⁹⁴ For example, a group of individuals, such as doctors, administrators, and nurses, would have to evaluate the accuracy, availability, and treatability of the targeted disease, as well as the cost of a technology, in addition to many other factors. Furthermore, pilot protocols could be created to test whether a specific policy regarding the use of the technology would function in a particular hospital system. Other steps, such as discussing staffing, standards of use, and confidentiality, would also need to be taken.⁹⁵ It would also be beneficial if an advisory committee were created to monitor the success and efficacy of the new technology in practice, with modifications being made as necessary. This would highlight the emphasis on patient safety and accuracy of medical care that are valued by the healthcare organization.⁹⁶

One of the most important factors for an institution to consider is the amount of risk or benefit that the new technology would provide. For techniques that target terminal diseases, the risk of dying from the illness would need to be weighed against the risk of death caused by the technology.⁹⁷ While some new procedures may be dangerous, they may not be more harmful than if no treatment was administered, making them acceptable for use. Clinical trials would provide some of the data for patient safety, but there would still be a need for continuous monitoring to ensure that patients are safe. Riskier practices would require more regulation and assessment.⁹⁸ Risk and benefit should be the most important contributing factors when deciding whether to endorse a new technology, and although financial gains or losses may play a small role, they should not be the driving force when making decisions for implementation.⁹⁹ For example, a new technology that has not had adequate testing may bring in significant finances for a hospital, but, ultimately, it may not be safe for patients. It would be unacceptable for an institution to offer unsafe procedures solely for financial benefit. The newest technology may not always be best technology.

In addition to hospitals having a responsibility to consider quality over cost, physicians also have a moral and legal responsibility to focus on care rather than economics when treating patients.¹⁰⁰ It would be worthwhile for hospitals to consider physicians during the process of implementation, as they are able to provide insights into how a new technology may benefit or harm patients. Medical professionals may feel marginalized if they are not included in the assessment and execution phases of this process. They may be able to advocate for individuals and provide expertise on medical gains, as opposed to the financial benefits or burdens with which a hospital board would be concerned.¹⁰¹ Physicians should also have the ability to decide on a case by case basis whether the newly implemented technology would be an appropriate

recommendation for their patient. In order to do so, a doctor must have adequate knowledge about the new technique and its implications.

If a new technology is chosen to be implemented within a healthcare facility, staff obligations must be considered, and proper education must be provided. This may include the preparation of information pamphlets that briefly explain the uses, techniques, risks, and benefits of a new procedure. It may also require that physicians, nurses, or technicians attend specialized classes that teach how the technique should be administered. Conferences that provide detailed information and examples of use may be beneficial as well.¹⁰² The education process may be expensive and time-consuming, but it cannot be bypassed. If it is, patient safety would be in jeopardy and legal challenges may arise, causing conflict.¹⁰³ It is crucial that staff feel comfortable discussing the new technology and its risks and benefits, and that they have the ability to decide whether it would be beneficial for a patient. They must also be able to perform the new procedure or administer a treatment with confidence and ease, which contributes to the trust between a physician and their patient.

In order for a new technology to be successfully put into operation within a medical institution, the previously outlined steps must be taken, and there must be a collaborative component to the process. Vertical collaboration between suppliers and vendors, and between providers, payers and purchasers is necessary. This system functions within the administrative side of a hospital and would make it possible for a technology to be accessible. There should also be horizontal collaboration between health systems which would promote partnership between institutions and may provide a wider access to the new technique or procedure. Cooperation and teamwork is preferred in order to improve information and learning techniques as well as ease of implementation.¹⁰⁴ There will also be a need for public and private policies. For example, there

may be a need for government involvement to approve technologies, but networks of stakeholders are required as well to provide funding for adoption techniques. Overall, numerous players would have to become a team in order for the technology to be introduced successfully.¹⁰⁵

Aside from the factors previously discussed, a medical institution must also consider and compare the benefits that a new technology would bring for patients, with the benefits it would bring to the organization. A successful balance between the two must be achieved. The initial introduction of a new technology may be based on public pressure. For example, media or research organizations may promote a potential new cure for a disease, such as the use of gene therapy. This may pique the interest of patients, who begin to inquire about the availability of these new techniques.¹⁰⁶ Physicians may also feel that it would be beneficial to offer certain new technologies to their patients, and begin to pressure the organization to consider their availability. Therefore, external as well as internal pressure may influence an institution to begin the process of considering a specific new treatment, and it may be worthwhile for hospitals to take a proactive stance with regard to increasing their usage of emerging medical advancements.

Part of the public pressure to introduce new technologies may come from patients who are seeking more innovative treatments for their ailments and illnesses. Along with innovation, they are also looking for expertise and security. It is known that patients rely on medical professionals for the most accurate information about healthcare interventions.¹⁰⁷ While family, friends, or the media may contribute to a patient's knowledge about medical treatment, a physician is considered to be the most trustworthy source of communication, as they would ideally have a relationship with their patient. Individuals would like honest information about the side effects and evidence of success for a new technology, and depend on healthcare institutions

to provide them with it. For this reason, it would be beneficial for a hospital who is implementing new procedures to educate their staff about the new technique, even if it is costly. Patients feel that having the most advanced technologies is beneficial and would increase the quality of their healthcare, but prefer to know all the necessary information in order to weigh the risks, benefits and potential effects on their lives.¹⁰⁸ For the sake of the patient, and to increase trust in the medical system, hospital staff must be informed.

Pleasing patients is an important component of a successful healthcare business. Promoting new technologies through informed staff is one method of doing so, but having new technologies also serves the purpose of making a hospital competitive. Competitive markets in healthcare do not always focus on which organizations make the most money, but, rather, on which have the most advanced technology in order to provide the most appropriate treatment for their patients.¹⁰⁹ Patients are frequently willing to pay more in order to have access to better care, which can include access to new techniques or procedures.¹¹⁰ A hospital may wish to be competitive, but it must also consider what would happen when a patient seeks care, but is unable to afford the new technology. Would their care be of a lesser quality simply because of their economic disadvantage? The current American healthcare system accommodates cases like this, but it would be unethical to deny a patient access to life-saving healthcare even though they are unable to afford it, especially in a hospital that is advertising these advancements.¹¹¹ Furthermore, not all technology is beneficial, although it may have been newly developed. Organizations must focus on quality as opposed to quantity to make sure that its patients have access to the best care possible.

One example of an emerging technology that is beginning to be implemented is telemedicine. This may include electronic meetings and exchanges of information between

patients and their physicians. This method of consultation may be beneficial for specialists, who would be able to see a patient's home environment, for example, or to monitor a patient's progress if they are immobile. It may also be a useful tool for record-keeping, in that a physician or a patient would be able to re-watch a meeting to repeat and confirm information. However, telemedicine may prove to be difficult, as it would require additional training for physicians, and may run into common technical difficulties. It also removes, somewhat, an important aspect of the doctor-patient relationship – the human interaction portion, which can improve the relationship and make it more personal.¹¹² A physician may seem distant if they are communicating with a patient by means of a screen. For this reason, telemedicine may not be suitable for all medical disciplines, but may provide benefit in some areas. An evaluation of its uses is necessary for the highest level of success to be achieved.¹¹³

iii. Organizational Value Conflicts

Organizations, including hospitals and healthcare institutions, must be rooted in a set of values that reflect their goals.¹¹⁴ A mission statement or value statement reflects the organization's guiding values and principles, and encompasses the primary function of the institution. In medicine, providing care to patients is the most prevalent value, but a mission statement may also specifically describe religious, research, or community-based outreach.¹¹⁵ These principles encourage stakeholders to hold the organization accountable, and to ensure that the delineated values are being upheld.¹¹⁶ By insisting that all systems, policies and employees consider and follow these guidelines, ethical decision-making that corresponds with the healthcare institution's goals should prevail and create a positive moral culture.¹¹⁷ This also implies that any procedures or interventions within the hospital are in accordance with these values and are considered ethical.

In order to achieve this high standard and an ideal moral culture, organizational decisionmaking or moral reasoning should be influenced by the values outlined in the value statements described above. Within hospitals, effective moral reasoning can be implemented at a high level, influencing the creation of policies to reach goals and uphold values.¹¹⁸ If the systems, which all work dynamically to ensure a successful medical organization, reflect the values of the hospital, ethical decision-making should, in theory, be guaranteed, which enforces the morality of the institution itself. However, there is always room for error, even if a system or policy is created with specific ideas in mind. When a system fails or promotes an unrealistic message or goal, there is a chance that the individuals who are responsible for implementing the policy, as well as the method of decision-making that is being promoted, will not be able to uphold the core values of a moral organization.¹¹⁹

While the moral culture within an organization should reflect the moral agency of the institution, the moral culture outside of the facility should also be considered, as it can influence the internal culture. A healthcare organization and the community it serves are dependent on one another, as they are both striving to achieve their respective goals: a community member is in need of medical care, while the hospital, needs patients to remain open.¹²⁰ The moral culture of the community can be influenced by outside factors that are not associated with a healthcare institution, such as religion, resources, or age. These factors may not be included among the specific values of the corresponding medical center, but should be considered when tailoring care to a specific community.

In an ideal situation, the multiple departments and systems that make up an organization and reach out to its community are rooted in established values. This encourages the employees of the institution, as well as the public, to associate the organization with ethical and value-based
practices. As a result, a positive moral culture is created that upholds the agreed-upon ethical principles within an organization. A moral culture is directly influenced by the moral reputation of an organization.¹²¹ For example, hospitals must provide services to their local communities, but it is evident that some hospitals have a better-perceived moral standing than others. The moral culture of medical centers that are regarded more positively for any reason, the higher their moral culture is considered to be. This implies that the hospital is acting in line with their organizational values, and aligning more closely with the moral culture and values of a community.¹²² A moral culture may become negative, however, if decision-making about policies becomes unethical or unregulated. It still exists, but it will transition to one which may not be in accordance with the values of the patients it serves or the established goals and mission. This increases risk to patients and jeopardizes the moral identity and reputation of the organization.

If there is a shift from a positive moral culture to a negative one, as described above, the moral agency of an organization will also change. Any modification to the internal systems or the general moral culture within an institution will fuel a cycle of constant change. For example, if a hospital were to approve a policy that upholds its organizational values, the moral culture of those abiding by the policy will reflect achievement. However, if employees begin to deviate from the policy and dispute it due to mistrust, the moral culture at that level will be negatively influenced causing a shift, which will continue to change at other levels within the organization. As a result, a new system or a modified one will emerge, causing the organization to re-evaluate its values and goals or emphasize the need in a policy modification.¹²³ While it may not result in a change in procedures, there may have to be a re-evaluation of how the systems within an organization contribute to a moral culture that aligns with the values established initially.

When introducing any new medical intervention, hospitals and medical facilities must evaluate whether the advancement fits into their moral culture and aligns with their core values. A new technology may be beneficial to patients with a specific ailment, but it may have ethical concerns associated with it that do not correspond to the culture of the institution. All employees have a responsibility to uphold the mission and belief system of their organization, and should advocate against an intervention if they feel it should not be practiced. Nevertheless, new interventions should be considered in great detail, to ensure that patients have access to lifesaving medicine. There may be solutions or modifications that can be made to a new procedure, for example, that would allow it to be performed, even if it does not fit completely into an organization's value system. An example of this type of procedure is physician-assisted death, as described in the previous chapter. It is up to each institution to consider these implications and understand how medical advancements may or may not contribute to their moral culture.

Conscientious objection allows healthcare workers to object to a treatment or procedure if it is contrary their own personal beliefs and would violate a deeply held moral value. In some situations this can include religious practices, such as a physician not performing abortions, or it can include a nurse not wanting to participate in care for a brain dead patient whose family refuses to withdraw ventilators.¹²⁴ Conscientious objection requires an individual or an institution to determine that a certain medical intervention is morally wrong and that it would damage their integrity as a person or organization.¹²⁵ When an organization is considering medical advancements, they must reflect upon their values in order to decide whether there is a need to object. The institution must also insist that its employees always have the option to conscientiously object to interventions that they find morally unacceptable, but it cannot abandon or place the patients and communities they serve at a disadvantage.

If medical organizations do not promote this option to object, its employees may experience moral distress. This circumstance can occur at an individual, team , administrative, or organization-wide level. Personal moral distress can arise when an employee either witnesses an event that they personally feel is unethical or wrong, or when they are required to perform an activity or procedure which they do not believe to be an ethical one.¹²⁶ Either of these situations may not be immediately addressed in environments in which speaking up about an issue is not encouraged, and the tension can build up, causing more damage.¹²⁷ Within an ideal moral culture, all employees should be able to exercise conscientious objection if they have a personal disagreement with a procedure, and should not hesitate to speak to a director or administrator if they feel uncomfortable with an issue or event in the workplace.¹²⁸ The accumulation of conflict negatively affects the moral culture within an organization, and can damage a system as well as the integrity of an institution. The best solution is to promote effective communication in order to solve problems efficiently and effectively.¹²⁹

Organizations have a responsibility to ensure that its employees are able to make autonomous choices, but it is also an institution's job to monitor the reasons for conscientious objection. For example, a physician may 'conscientiously object' to treating a particular patient, because of their race or ethnicity, which is not exercising objection for moral reasons, but, rather, as a result of a discriminatory opinion. These views are not tolerated in modern healthcare and must be discouraged. It is crucial that organizations educate physicians with regard to their rights, which include conscientious objection, but also promote their responsibilities and duties, and implement methods through which their services can be executed effectively. For example, if doctors are aware of certain procedures that they are unwilling to perform, it is their duty to explain to their patients how they feel and to refer them to someone else. By engaging in this

conversation early on in a patient-physician relationship, there is more time to address an issue, and ensure that a patient is able to procure an intervention with which they would be comfortable. It should also be noted that organizations have a role to play to ensure that the integrity of individual employees is upheld, which can include having records of which physicians are willing to do specific controversial procedures, or those that have associated ethical concerns.¹³⁰

Genetic advancements will be discussed in detail below, but are mentioned here as examples of how conscientious objection may be exercised in practice. It can be assumed that individuals who have a moral problem with genetic manipulation or embryonic research would not choose to work in fields of medicine that deal with these areas of interest. However, many individuals who feel that pre-implantation genetic screening is immoral due to the possibility of embryo destruction, for example, do become obstetricians or work in the field of reproductive medicine. These employees have the right to practice conscientious objection, which would allow them to withdraw from a particular case, but it does not preclude them from providing all of the necessary information to their patient. They do not have the liberty to choose which options they present, as those would then only correspond to their own personal values and not the values of their patient. This distinction is important to make in order to ensure that patients are being treated with respect and are able to make autonomous decisions. To avoid any conflicts, physicians should be honest with their patients and disclose any objections they have prior to taking on a new patient.¹³¹

Conscientious objection can also apply to an entire institution. The best example of this is Catholic healthcare systems and hospitals that do not provide certain medical treatments or procedures because of religious belief.¹³² These organizations are very forthcoming about their

beliefs and will explain why they are unable to perform various procedures. Facilities such as these conscientiously object to interventions such as abortion and sterilization, which they believe to be morally wrong since they would cause great moral distress. Although these procedures are legal in the United States, these institutions have permission to uphold their religious values. However, these organizations also have a responsibility to cooperate with public policy about specific healthcare interventions, and may, at times, have to compromise with regard to how a technique is implemented. This may also include referring a patient to another facility that is secular and willing to perform a procedure.¹³³ However, these hospitals must also exercise caution when an individual's life is on the line.¹³⁴ For instance, an indirect abortion may be performed if it would save a woman's life. These organizations have a greater responsibility to balance their beliefs with the safety of their patients.

iv. Cost of New Genetic Technologies

An example of promising medical technology that is gradually being introduced into the healthcare system is gene therapy. Gene therapy could be used to reverse a multitude of diseases, such as forms of cancer, haemophilia, and HIV. The process is conducted through the introduction of vectors by way of a virus into a patient's body with the hope of modifying their genetic material, making it resistant to the targeted illness.¹³⁵ This therapy specifically focuses on attacking the cause of the disease, and not its symptoms, and if successful, could be curative. However, while there are predicted benefits, there are also many known risks. For example, gene therapy may result in dose-related toxicity and neutralization of antibodies, in addition to other side effects specific to each procedure.¹³⁶ Since genetic material is being manipulated, there is an increased level of risk for patients undergoing this treatment.¹³⁷ However, for many patients, there are no other successful treatments available to them, making gene therapy worth the risk,

and worth the extremely high cost. Experimentation with gene therapy is in its infancy, but it is progressively demonstrating promising results for treatment.

Since gene therapy is a relatively new technology, its implementation into healthcare has been limited. Clinical trials are the main source of access to such therapies. The number of trials has spiked in recent years initially due to the approval of a particular therapy in Europe, used to target Familial Lipoprotein Lipase Deficiency (LPLD). Between 1989 and 2020, there have been over 2000 research trials involving gene therapy, demonstrating an increasing interest and optimism in its success.¹³⁸ Clinical trials are extremely important for gene therapies, since they are able to safely monitor the efficacy of the procedure, as well as determine its risks and benefits. However, many trials attempt to publish their findings quickly to satisfy the demand for innovative treatments. This is not beneficial to patients, who could be at risk as a result of immature evidence of effectiveness.¹³⁹ It is crucial that clinical trials also focus on long-term feasibility, success, and risks associated with the therapy. This may be time-consuming, but would provide more accurate results and findings that promote patient safety.¹⁴⁰ It is also important to discourage the discontinuation of trials for reasons not related to efficacy. For example, it seems unacceptable to terminate an experiment as a result of a lack of funding, because the work being done is so valuable to patients. These are extreme circumstances, but there is a fear that if trials end prematurely, the information gained will disappear and never benefit anyone.¹⁴¹

In the course of experiments (if they occur in the medical facility) or once clinical trials are completed, it would be necessary to apply the steps outlined above to the process of implementation. Primarily, an organization would need to be certain that the appropriate staff was highly trained in gene therapy techniques and had the ability to discuss the implications with

their patients. This may require the creation of skills clinics in order to teach physicians and technicians how to perform techniques, as well as how to analyze results. It is expected that researchers who are conducting the clinical trials would be able to share their knowledge with their colleagues; in order to make the technology widely available, and to reduce some costs.¹⁴² Furthermore, a hospital may choose to create a separate genetic clinic once gene therapy becomes more developed. This would provide patients with a specific clinic to attend with the expectation that its entire staff is experienced in the highly advanced technique. This would be a goal for implementation in the future, once gene therapy is more widely used and becomes more beneficial.¹⁴³

Although gene therapy shows immense promise in treating and curing disease, the most significant issue preventing its full realization is its high price. In general, a factor that affects almost all decisions about the implementation of new technologies is cost. Medical advancements are often expensive, and it can be difficult for clinical trials to occur due to low funding, in addition to difficulties with wide-spread introduction and accessibility. In the current healthcare climate, insurance covers the vast majority of basic healthcare, but coverage for new and potentially experimental technologies could be challenged. Medicare covers some clinical trials that demonstrate a suitable promise of success, and they are also willing to cover the costs when patients are participating in research trials.¹⁴⁴ However, coverage for clinical care may differ. Separate criteria may be necessary to outline which individuals would receive coverage for new technologies. This may include patients suffering from the targeted diseases with no other treatment options available. The amount that a health plan pays for a new advancement may limit its accessibility to patients. If no one is able to afford a new treatment, it may not find

success.¹⁴⁵ For this reason, hospitals must try and find methods of reducing the cost of technology so that it becomes available to a higher number of patients.

Gene therapies that are on the current market cost anywhere from hundreds of thousands of dollars up to \$2.4 million for a one-time treatment.¹⁴⁶ As a result, there is fear that individual patients will not be able to afford this life-saving technology. One way to promote the use of gene therapies, despite their costs, is to consider their effect on someone's overall use of health care resources. While other treatment methods may exist for a disease, such as haemophilia, a gene therapy that would eliminate the disease would be ideal for a patient in the long run. When compared to the amount of money a patient will spend on ongoing treatment, undergoing gene therapy may actually be more economically feasible than paying for medical interventions for an entire lifetime. For example, haemophilia patients spend about \$20 million during their lifetime for treatment, but would only spend about \$1 million for gene therapy once it becomes available.¹⁴⁷ Nevertheless, the amount is still extremely high, and payment strategies must be created to relieve patients of this financial burden. For example, Kleinke suggests the possibility of a healthcare mortgage that would allow a patient to pay for a treatment over time.¹⁴⁸ Tiered pricing may offer another solution, since the price of a procedure is based on the patient's income.¹⁴⁹ Insurance coverage may be possible if gene therapy proves to be able to cure common diseases, such as Parkinson's or Alzheimer Disease, but would still require significant changes to the models that are used today.¹⁵⁰

Further cost burdens arise for patients who are using gene therapies to cure rare diseases, such as LPLD mentioned above. Patients with these illnesses still warrant treatment, but finding a way to pay for an expensive treatment that can only be offered to a select number of individuals may be challenging. In spite of this, patients with rare diseases might also be willing to pay more for a treatment, especially if other interventions do not exist. They would be eager to try a specialized new treatment that would bring them relief.¹⁵¹ In these situations, it would be difficult for a payer (i.e. the patient or their insurance coverage) to pay for the procedure in its entirety at the beginning of the procedure and, as was discussed, new methods of payment would need to be created. Carr suggests an annuity-style payment model that would spread a payment over time of efficacy. For example, if a gene therapy is expected to cure a disease, there would be more time to pay off the procedure, but if it was only predicted to bring relief for five years, the payment period could be longer. Furthermore, if a gene therapy is not effective in these situations, the manufacturer or research institution might be expected to reimburse a patient for unsuccessful treatment.¹⁵²

Glybera, the world's first approved gene therapy was previously approved to target LPLD, and cost approximately \$1 million for a one-time treatment. The treatment disappeared from the market, however, because it was not profitable. There is currently no available treatment or cure for this condition, and the approval of Glybera brought hope and relief to patients suffering from LPLD. Only one sale of Glybera was completed in Europe, and it never became available in the US or Canada, which has the highest number of patients living with LPLD.¹⁵³ This demonstrates the need for effective cost solutions to ensure that patients have access to life-saving treatments. Currently, the National Research Council of Canada has begun a study to determine whether a new version of this treatment can be revived at a lower cost.¹⁵⁴ Solutions and innovation will be required by governments, researchers, health systems and individual organizations in order to make these treatments accessible.

Overall, pricing for gene therapy will be challenging, as it currently costs more than most other available interventions. However, the more advanced this technology becomes, the lower

the cost will eventually be. An example of this type of process is the sequencing of the human genome. In the past, this process was extremely expensive, but it has now lowered its cost due to scientific advancements and efficiency.¹⁵⁵ Ideally, a decrease in cost would also occur in the case of gene therapy as it becomes a regular practice in medicine. Moreover, gene therapy has the potential to provide cures for many illnesses, and would be a valuable treatment option that many people will want to access. It would be extremely worthwhile for academic institutions, private foundations, biotechnology companies, and hospitals to invest in this technology and allow its researchers to improve their technique in order to save the lives of countless patients worldwide.¹⁵⁶

The same line of thought can be applied to the eventual use of CRISPR, or Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats.¹⁵⁷ Its use can lead to the elimination of specific diseases associated with a gene, such as Cystic Fibrosis or AIDS. The CRISPR-Cas system is beneficial because it allows for multiple genes to be targeted at once, as many diseases have been discovered to affect more than one genetic sequence.¹⁵⁸

It is necessary to discuss the CRISPR/Cas-9 system because it will inevitably become a part of standardized medicine and available treatments in the future. This method of gene editing shows immense promise for eliminating specific diseases from society, such as malaria and various forms of cancer.¹⁵⁹ This may be done through somatic cell gene therapy, such as the described gene therapies, but it may also be accomplished through germline modifications. While there are numerous risks and ethical concerns associated with this practice, the predicted benefits may outweigh them.¹⁶⁰ CRISPR is considered to be a revolutionary technology, one whose consequences are unpredictable, but whose benefits may be astounding.¹⁶¹ Currently, the CRISPR technique is the most accurate method of gene editing, and achieves its job in the

quickest way, significantly reducing the time it takes to complete experiments. For this reason, many scientists consider CRISPR to be the gold standard of techniques for gene modification, and expect that research regarding gene editing will continue.¹⁶² It is important, therefore, for institutions to prepare for the future and establish a plan to manage and employ such new and emerging technologies.

It has already been pointed out that gene enhancement using CRISPR has seldom been achieved in human embryonic cells, but research using animal models is being conducted. As with any new technology or procedure, clinical research must be done initially to explore the technique's effect on other species, and to predict its safety and efficacy in humans. Once enough evidence has been gathered, clinical trials can commence in order to properly test the method in human beings.¹⁶³ Clinical trials using CRISPR will involve an immense amount of risk, since future generations will be affected if the germline is modified. While this may be considered beneficial if specific diseases, such as Huntington's, are eliminated, we should also keep in mind that future generations will not have consented to having their genome scientifically manipulated, which raises ethical concerns. Only after these concerns are addressed and clinical trials have begun, can the notion of distribution begin to be discussed. Clinical trials are expected to last approximately 15 years for CRISPR, and it may require hospitals and medical institutions to work alongside researchers to monitor patients and allow them to have access to this experimental technology.¹⁶⁴

Teamwork is crucial in order to promote safe distribution and introduction of CRISPR within society and healthcare institutions. The concept of solidarity is often discussed with regard to scientific research, as many experimenters feel that if a technology is able to provide benefit to the general public and improve the general condition of humanity, it should be the

primary goal, as opposed to financial gain. Solidarity among researchers, clinicians, and research participants is essential to further the common good. This encourages participation in research, and leads to a common core of values.¹⁶⁵ Although this notion of solidarity is important, it may be unrealistic within the framework of a society that has polarizing views about the CRISPR technique, but it should still be a reasonable goal toward which to strive.¹⁶⁶ Ideally, the quality and potential for successful healthcare should be the ultimate goal.

⁶ Maia, Moura, Kane, and Costa, "what doctors should know," 54.

⁷ Jiang, Tan, and Chong. "Molecular Strategies," 552.
⁸ Jiang, Tan, and Chong, "Molecular Strategies," 554-556.

⁹ Jiang, Tan, and Chong, "Molecular Strategies," 553.

¹⁰ Maia, Moura, Kane, and Costa, "what doctors should know," 55.

¹¹ Berliner, Ethical Dilemmas, 82-83.

¹² W. Navidi and Arnheim, N., "Using PCR in preimplantation genetic disease diagnosis." Human Reproduction. 7, no.2 (February 1992):288. doi:

10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a137635.

¹³ "Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis," Human Fertilisation & Embryo Authority. Accessed December 1, 2020. https://www.hfea.gov.uk/treatments/embryo-testing-and-treatments-fordisease/pre-implantation-genetic-diagnosis-pgd/.

¹⁴ R.G. Edwards, "Ethics of PGD: thoughts on the consequences of typing HLA in embryos." Reproductive Biomedicine Online 9.no.2 (August 2004): 222-223, doi: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)62133-5.

¹⁵ Doudna, "Genome-editing revolution," 470.

¹⁶ Feng Zhang, Yan Wen, and Xiong Guo. "CRISPR/Cas9 for genome editing: progress, implications and challenges." Human Molecular Genetics 23, R1 (September 2014):41-42. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu125.

¹⁷ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 48.

¹⁸ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 106-108.

¹⁹ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 50-53.

²⁰ McGowan and Sharpe, "Justice," 7-8.

²¹ Whetstine, "Ethical challenges," 547.

²² Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 80-81.

²³ Edwards, "Ethics of PGD," 222-224.

²⁴ Edwards, "Ethics of PGD," 224.

²⁵ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 53-56.

²⁶ Whetstine, "Ethical Challenges," 548.

²⁷ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics, 109-116.

- ²⁸ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics, 165-169.
- ²⁹ Klitzman, et,al., "Anticipating issues," 36.

³⁰ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 81-82.

- ³¹ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics, 18-24.
- ³² Degrazia, Creation Ethics, 43-55.
- ³³ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics, 73-75.
- ³⁴ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics, 75-78.

³⁵ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics, 81-90.

¹ Jiang, Tan, and Chong. "Molecular Strategies," 551.

² Klitzman et.al., "Anticipating issues," 33-34.

³ Janice Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 75.

⁴ "In Vitro Fertilization," Magee Women's Hospital

⁵ Sammya Brezerra Maia et.al., "Pre-implantation genetic screening and diagnosis: what doctors should know." *Revista brasileira de ginecologia e obstetricia*. 37, no.2 (February 2015):53 doi: 10.1590/SO100-720320140004963

³⁸ Bonnie Steinbock, "Designer babies: choosing our children's genes." *The Lancet.* 372, no.9646 (October 2008):1294-1295. <u>doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61538-X</u>

³⁹DeGrazia, *Creation Ethics*, 166-167.

- ⁴¹ Degrazia, Creation Ethics, 123-124.
- ⁴² Ronald L. Sandler, *Ethics and Emerging Technologies*. (London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2014) 15.

⁴³ DeGrazia, *Creation Ethics*, 128-129.

⁴⁴ Steinbock, "Designer babies," 1294.

⁴⁵ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics, 126-128.

⁴⁶ Alex Mauron, "Choosing among possible persons: The ethics of prenatal selection in the postgenomic age." *Comptes Rendus Biologies* 338, no.8-9 (Aug-Sept 2015):568-569. doi: 10.1016/j.crvi.2015.07.004.

⁴⁷ DeGrazia, *Creation Ethics*, 124-126.

⁴⁸ DeGrazia, *Creation Ethics*, 131.

⁴⁹ Maia, Moura, Kane, and Costa, "what doctors should know," 56.

⁵⁰ Niklaus Evitt, Shamik Mascharak, and Russ Altman. "Human germline CRISPR-Cas modification: toward a regulatory framework." *The American Journal of Bioethics* 15, no.12 (2015):26. doi: 10.1080/15265161.2015.1104160.

⁵¹ Rebecca Lobo and Garnett Genuis, "Socially repugnant or the standard of care: Is there a distinction between sex-selective and ability-selective abortion?" *Canadian Family Physician* 60, no.3 (March 2014):214-215.

⁵² Whetstine, "Ethical challenges in assisted reproduction,"548.

⁵³ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 77.

⁵⁴ J.D. Schulman and H.J. Stern"Low utilization of prenatal and preimplantation genetic diagnosis in Huntington disease – risk discounting in preventive genetics." *Clinical Genetics* 88, no.3 (September 2015):220-223 doi:10.1111/cge.12523.

⁵⁵ Whetstine, "Ethical challenges," 548-549.

⁵⁶ Ashley H. Woodson et.al., "Breast Cancer, BRCA Mutations, And Attitudes Regarding Pregnancy And Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis". *The Oncologist* 19, no.8 (August 2014): 797-804. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0057

⁵⁷ Bradley G. Schaefer and James N. Thompson (eds.), *Medical Genetics: An Integrated Approach*. (McGraw Hill, 2014), 159-164.

⁵⁸ Klitzman, et,al., "Anticipating issues," 37.

⁵⁹ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 78-79.

⁶⁰ Sandler, *Ethics and Emerging Technologies*, 92-95.

⁶¹ McGowan and Sharpe, "Justice", 1-2.

⁶² Harry J. Liemen and Andrzej K. Breborowicz, "Sex Selection for Family Balancing." *Virtual Mentor* 16, no.10 (October 2014):797-802. doi: 10.1001/virtualmentor.2014.16.10.ecas3-1410.

⁶³ Lobo and Genuis, "distinction between sex-selective and ability-selective abortion?" 212-213.

⁶⁴ McGowan and Sharpe, "Justice", 3-5.

⁶⁵ Tamara Kayali Browne, "Why parents should not be told the sex of their fetus." *Journal of Medical Ethics* 43, no.1 (January 2017):1-2.doi: 10.1136/medethics-2015-102989

⁶⁶ Browne, "Why parents should not be told the sex of their fetus." 2-7.

³⁶ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics. 120-123.

³⁷ DeGrazia, *Creation Ethics*, 119-120.

⁴⁰ DeGrazia, *Creation Ethics*, 123.

⁷¹ Bengtsson et.al., "Progress and Prospects of Gene Therapy Clinical Trials R9-17.

⁷² Dekker, *Patient Safety*, 99-128.

⁷³ Dekker, *Patient Safety*, 128-136.

⁷⁴ Dekker, *Patient Safety*, 177-183.

⁷⁵ Reece P.Swart, Ronel Pretorius, and Hester Klopper, "Educational Background of Nurses and their Perceptions of the Quality and Safety of Patient Care," *Curationis* 38, no.1 (April 2015): 1126, doi: 10.4102/curationis.v38i1.1126.

⁷⁶ Dekker, Patient Safety, 165-177.

⁷⁷ Michael McCarthy, "Patient Safety took Second Place to Research Needs at NIH Hospital, report says," *BMJ (Clinical Research ed.)* 353 (April 2016):i2376. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i2376.

⁷⁸ Alan J. Forster, et.al., "Improving Patient Safety and Physician Accountability using the Hospital Credentialing Process," *Open Medicine* 5, no.2 (2011): e84-e85.

 ⁷⁹ Peter J. Pronovost et.al., "Creating a High-Reliability Health Care System: Improving Performance on Core Processes of Care at Johns Hopkins Medicine." *Academic Medicine* 90, no.2 (February 2015):168. Doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000000610.

⁸⁰ Pronovost et.al., "Creating a High-Reliability Health Care System," 170.

⁸¹ Pronovost et.al., "Creating a High-Reliability Health Care System," 166-168.

⁸² Forster et.al., "Improving Patient Safety," e81-e84.

⁸³ Pronovost et.al., "Creating a High-Reliability Health Care System," 167.

⁸⁴ Pronovost et.al., "Creating a High-Reliability Health Care System," 166.

⁸⁵ Kraetschmer et.al., "Hospitals' Internal Accountability," 38.

⁸⁶ Kraetschmer et.al., "Hospitals' Internal Accountability," 38-42.

⁸⁷ Kraetschmer et.al., "Hospitals' Internal Accountability," 43-44.

⁸⁸ Kraetschmer et.al., "Hospitals' Internal Accountability," 40-41.

⁸⁹ Forster et.al., "Improving Patient Safety," e80-e81.

⁹⁰ Forster et.al., "Improving Patient Safety," e84-e85.

⁹¹ Molly Joel Coye and Jason Kell, "How Hospitals Confront New Technology," *Health Affairs* 25, no.1 (Jan-Feb 2006):163-164. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.25.1.163.

⁹² Paul E. Wallner and Andre Konski, "A Changing Study in the Paradigm in the Study and Adoption of Emerging Health Care Technologies: Coverage with Evidence Development," *Journal of the American College of Radiology* 5, no.11 (November 2008):1125-1126. Doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2008.06.008.

⁹³ Wallner and Konski, "A Changing Study in the Paradigm in the Study and Adoption of Emerging Health Care Technologies," 1128-1129.

⁹⁴ Kathleen Atkinson et.al., "A Public Health Response to Emerging Technology: Expansion of the Massachusetts newborn screening program," *Public Health Reports* 116, no.2 (Mar-Apr 2001):123-124. doi: 10.1093/phr/116.2.122.

⁹⁵ Atkinson et. al, "A Public Health Response to Emerging Technology," 126-127.

⁹⁶ Atkinson et. al, "A Public Health Response to Emerging Technology," 128-130.

⁹⁷ Oliver T. Mytton et.al., "Introducing New Technology Safely," *Quality & Safety in Health*

Care 19, Suppl 2 (August 2010):i9-10. doi: 10.1136/qshc.2009.038554. ⁹⁸ Mytton et.al., "Introducing New Technology Safely," i10-12.

⁶⁷ Robert M. Wachter, Understanding Patient Safety, (New York: McGraw Hill, 2011), 21-27.

⁶⁸ Wachter, Understanding Patient Safety, 27-30.

⁶⁹ Dekker, *Patient Safety*, 1-29.

⁷⁰ Dekker, *Patient Safety*, 33-61.

- ¹⁰¹ Bozic, Pierce, and Herndon, "Health Care Technology Assessment," 1309-1310.
- ¹⁰² Atkinson et. al, "A Public Health Response to Emerging Technology," 127-129.
- ¹⁰³ Tochi Amagwula et.al., "Preimplantation genetic diagnosis: a systematic review of litigation in the face of new technology," *Fertility and Sterility* 98, no.5 (November 2012):1277-82. Doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.07.1100.
- ¹⁰⁴ Coye and Kell, "How Hospitals Confront New Technology," 168-169.
- ¹⁰⁵ Coye and Kell, "How Hospitals Confront New Technology," 170-171.
- ¹⁰⁶ Schur and Berk, "Views on Health Care Technology," 1663.
- ¹⁰⁷ Schur and Berk, "Views on Health Care Technology," 1659-1660.
- ¹⁰⁸ Schur and Berk, "Views on Health Care Technology," 1660-1664.
- ¹⁰⁹ Mark V. Pauly, "Competition and New Technology," *Health Affairs* 24, no.6 (Nov-Dec 2005):1523-1524. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.24.6.1523.
- ¹¹⁰ Pauly, "Competition and New Technology," 1528-1530.
- ¹¹¹ Pauly, "Competition and New Technology," 1531-1534.
- ¹¹² Colette DeJong, Catherine R. Lucey, and R. Adams Dudley, "Incorporating a New Technology While Doing No Harm, Virtually," *JAMA* 314, no.22 (December 2015): 2351-2352. Doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.13572.
- ¹¹³ Carl R. May, "Making Sense of Technology Adoption in Healthcare: Meso-Level considerations," *BMC Medicine* 13 (April 2015):92. Doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0305-8.
 ¹¹⁴ Rorty, "Introduction to Ethics," 10-11.
- ¹¹⁵ Mills, "Ethics and the Healthcare Organization," 22-25.
- ¹¹⁶ Werhane, "The Healthcare Organization, Business Ethics, and Stakeholder Theory," 82-86.
- ¹¹⁷ Johnson, Organizational Ethics, 67-89.
- ¹¹⁸ Katherine L. Acuff, "Healthcare Ethics, Public Policy, and the Healthcare Organization," in Filerman, Mills, and Schyve (eds.): *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, (Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014), 224-226.
- ¹¹⁹ Johnson, Organizational Ethics, 297-299.
- ¹²⁰ John F. Wallenhorst, "Ethics and Governance," in *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, ed.
- Filerman, Mills, and Schyve. (Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014), 65-66.
- ¹²¹ Mills, "Ethics and the Healthcare Organization," 38-39.
- ¹²² Wallenhorst, "Ethics and Governance," 65-66.
- ¹²³ Johnson, Organizational Ethics, 317-326.
- ¹²⁴ Cowley, "A Defence of Conscientious Objection," 357-360.
- ¹²⁵ Vicki D. Lachman, "Conscientious Objection in Nursing: Definition and Criteria for
- Acceptance," Medsurg Nursing 23, no. 3 (May-June 2014):196-198.
- ¹²⁶ Ann B. Hamric, Elizabeth G. Epstein and Kenneth R. White, "Moral Distress and the
- Healthcare Organization," in Managerial Ethics in Healthcare, ed. Filerman, Mills, and Schyve.
- (Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014), 137-142.
- ¹²⁷ Hamric, Epstein, and White, "Moral Distress," 142-145.
- ¹²⁸ Hamric, Epstein, and White, "Moral Distress," 146-151.
- ¹²⁹ Johnson, Organizational Ethics, 108-126.

⁹⁹ Mytton et.al., "Introducing New Technology Safely," i13-14.

¹⁰⁰ Kevin J. Bozic, Read G. Pierce, and James H. Herndon, "Health Care Technology Assessment: Basic Principles and Clinical Applications," *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery* 86, no.6 (June 2004):1306.

¹³⁰ Armand H. Matheny Antommaria, "Conscientious Objection: Widening the Temporal and Organizational Horizons," *Journal of Clinical Ethics* 27, no.3 (Fall 2016): 248-250.

 ¹³¹ Joel Frader and Charles L. Bosk, "The Personal is Political, the Professional is Not: Conscientious Objection to Obtaining/Providing/Acting On Genetic Information," *The American Journal of Medical Genetics* 151C, no. 1 (February 2009):62-67. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.c.30200.
 ¹³² Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic Health Care Ethics*, 284-290.

¹³³ Kelly, Magill, and ten Have, *Contemporary Catholic Health Care Ethics*, 264-250.

¹³⁴ Ben A. Rich, "Your Morality, My Morality: Conscientious Objection and the Standard of Care." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.2 (April 2015): 214-230. doi: 10.17/S0062180114000528

10.1017/S0963180114000528.

¹³⁵ Hanna et.al., "Gene Therapies Development," 2-3.

¹³⁶ Hanna et.al., "Gene Therapies Development," 6.

¹³⁷ Akshay Sharma et.al., "Gene Therapy for Haemophilia," The Cochrane Database of

Systematic Reviews 4, no.4 (April 2016): 2-3. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010822.pub3.

¹³⁸ Hanna et.al., "Gene Therapies Development," 2-6.

¹³⁹ Hanna et.al., "Gene Therapies Development," 6-7.

¹⁴⁰ Sharma et.al, "Gene Therapy for Haemophilia," 10.

¹⁴¹ Eve Hanna et.al., "Risk of Discontinuation of Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products Clinical Trials," *Journal of Market Access and Health Policy* 4 (August 2016):1-4. doi: 10.3402/jmahp.v4.32232.

¹⁴² Abou-El-Enein et.al., "Gene Therapy," 376.

¹⁴³ S.C. Bowdin et al., "The SickKids Genome Clinic: Developing and Evaluating a Pediatric Model for Individualized Genomic Medicine," *Clinical Genetics* 89, no.1 (January 2016):13-18, Doi: 10.1111/cge.12579.

¹⁴⁴ Wallner and Konski, "A Changing Study in the Paradigm in the Study and Adoption of Emerging Health Care Technologies," 1126-1128.

¹⁴⁵ Harold Zarkowsky, "Managed Care Organizations' Assessment of Reimbursement for New Technology, Procedures, and Drugs," *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine* 123, no.8 (August 1999): 677-679. doi: 10.1043/0003-9985(1999)123<0677:MCOAOR>2.0.CO;2.

¹⁴⁶ Carr and Bradshaw, "Gene Therapies," 381.

¹⁴⁷ Sharma et.al., "Gene Therapy for Haemophilia," 3-4.

¹⁴⁸ Hanna et.al., "Gene Therapies Development," 7.

¹⁴⁹ Abou-El-Enein, Bauer, and Reinke, "Gene Therapy," 375

¹⁵⁰ Hanna et.al., "Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products," 1-10.

¹⁵¹ Carr and Bradsaw, "Gene Therapies," 383-385.

¹⁵² Carr and Bradsaw, "Gene Therapies," 385-389.

¹⁵³ Kelly Crowe, "The million-dollar drug," CBC News, November 17, 2018,

https://newsinteractives.cbc.ca/longform/glybera

¹⁵⁴ Kelly Crowe, "Canadian breakthrough that became the world's most expensive drug, then vanished, gets second chance," *CBC News*, October 17, 2019,

https://www.cbc.ca/news/health/glybera-lpld-rare-drug-orphan-disease-nrc-cbc-price-1.5312177 ¹⁵⁵ Bowdin et.al., "The SickKids Genomic Clinic," 10-12.

¹⁵⁶ Abou-El-Enein, Bauer, and Reinke, "Gene Therapy," 374-375.

¹⁵⁷ Doudna, "Genome-editing revolution," 470.

¹⁵⁸ Zhang, Wen, and Guo. "CRISPR/Cas9 for genome editing," 41-42.

¹⁵⁹ Carlos Mariscal and Angel Petropanagos, "CRISPR as a Driving Force: the Model T of Biotechnology," *Monash Bioethics Review* 34, no.2 (June 2016):104. Doi: 10.1007/s40592-016-0062-2.

¹⁶⁰ Theodore Friedmann et.al., "ASGCT and JSGT Joint Position Statement on Human Genomic Editing," *Molecular Therapy* 23, no.8 (August 2015):1282. Doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.118.

¹⁶¹ Mariscal and Petropanagos, "CRISPR as a Driving Force," 106-111.

¹⁶² Mariscal and Petropanagos, "CRISPR as a Driving Force," 109.

¹⁶³ Evitt, Mascharak, and Altman, "Human Germline CRISPR-Cas Modification," 26-28.

¹⁶⁴ Evitt, Mascharak, and Altman, "Human Germline CRISPR-Cas Modification," 27.

¹⁶⁵Mulvihill et.al., "Ethical Issues of CRISPR Technology and Gene Editing," 8-10..

¹⁶⁶ Mulvihill et.al., "Ethical Issues of CRISPR Technology," 5-6.

Chapter 6: Genetic Therapy and Gene Editing

Gene editing is quickly becoming a promising method of combating illness. Gene therapies, like the ones mentioned previously, employ gene editing techniques and demonstrate favorable results in treating diseases such as cancer or sickle-cell anemia. It is expected that they will continue to exceed our expectations by helping to discover a cure for many other medical anomalies.¹ In order to better understand the global effort of the CRISPR-Cas9 technique, ethical issues that arise should be addressed, alongside advancements in science. Genetic modification is gradually becoming a medical reality as a result of numerous scientific breakthroughs in gene editing that go beyond editing for disease elimination. As it becomes possible for researchers to alter or edit an embryo's genome through germline modification, the possibility of genetic enhancement will become more plausible. Genetic enhancement may then lead to transhumanism, the introduction of post-humans, who possess augmented capabilities, and are designed to be superior versions of currently existing human beings. Will a new set of human rights be in order? Should we fear these new developments, or embrace the future that may be in store for us?

A: Gene Therapy and Gene Editing

The basic elements of gene therapy and its utilization of the CRISPR-Cas9 editing techniques must be examined before exploring the future of this technology. A brief history of gene editing methods will be presented, along with a summary of current and expected research projects. A distinction between somatic cell gene therapy and hereditary cell gene therapy must be made and their corresponding ethical concerns will be explained. Finally, prospects for the future will be discussed, including the oversight that will be both necessary and expected, as well as the potential for human enhancement beyond medical needs. Gene editing has the potential for

extraordinary accomplishment within the field of medicine, but its use is accompanied by a unique set of ethical questions that must be considered and addressed.

i. Uses of CRISPR-Cas9 Technique in Practice

Historically, gene editing has been occurring for many years, but the process has been tedious and time-consuming. The discovery of the CRISPR technique has drastically changed the editing landscape, making the task easier and more efficient.² Research into previously-used methods, as well as studies using CRISPR, have elevated scientific discoveries, and have the potential to bring about success. However, safeguards must be put into place to ensure research remains ethical as well as promising.

Before the discovery of the CRISPR-Cas9 system, other techniques were and still are being used by scientists to try and manipulate genes. These methods, which target protein recognition, use meganucleases, zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs), and transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs) to target specific genes in order to modify their genetic makeup. Such techniques are being studied as new methods of gene therapy. These studies, however, are very expensive and time-consuming, which puts both scientists trying to make advancements, and patients who are desperately waiting for medical treatments that do not yet exist at a disadvantage. Although CRISPR is considered a solution by some experts, the research using these other techniques should continue, as they exhibit strengths that CRISPR does not. For example, TALENs are better suited for specific gene editing, such as repairing or inserting a mutation, and are more effective than CRISPR at doing so. There is a possibility, however, of combining any of the mentioned techniques with the CRISPR-Cas9 system in order to reap the most benefits.³

CRISPR, or Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats, is so far the simplest and most cost-effective mechanism for gene editing in mammalian cells. Researchers found that CRISPR acted as a defense mechanism in archaea and bacteria to fight off viruses, and was altered in order to be applied in human or mammalian cells.⁴ As described in the previous chapter, CRISPR itself is made up of repeating DNA sequences and associated genes that can make proteins which act as scissors with the ability to make cuts within certain targeted gene sequences, and subsequently insert a modified sequence in their place. A new sequence can instruct the cells in a body to act differently, thereby eliminating or reducing symptoms of a certain disease. The efficiency of this mechanism is highly beneficial since geneticists have identified that multiple genes affect diseases.⁵ Currently, research is being conducted on both somatic and hereditary cells, although the latter is only being done ex-vivo in embryos, in accordance with regulations for embryonic research.

As with any scientific method, there are challenges to be met. With CRISPR/Cas9, there is a significant risk of off-target mutations occurring when the Cas9 protein cleaves identical sequences that are not originally targeted to be removed. This could result in mutations or cell death. Furthermore, it is difficult to produce guide RNA (gRNA) that steers the proteins to the intended sequence to be modified.⁶ These difficulties arise due to the sheer size of the Cas9 protein and its guiding RNA, which is unable to fit inside small human cells. There are solutions being tested to eliminate this issue, such as using a smaller gene to encode the Cas9 enzyme. A specific gene that encodes Cas9 in *Staphylococcus aureus* was smaller than that of the gene used previously. Along with RNA, it was added to a virus called AAV, which is used to transport new genes into existing cells, and proved successful.⁷ Solutions like this may provide scientists with methods of improving the CRISPR system in order for it to be more successful in human cells.

Each cell in the human body contains copies of DNA that were inherited from one's parents. During cell replication, alterations to one's DNA can occur and those mistakes may not be caught by the body's self-editing system. If multiple genes have some sort of alteration, they can each lead to the emergence of a disease, such as cancer or haemophilia.⁸ Diseases that are caused by one single mutation are easier to target, as opposed to disorders that are created by multiple gene mutations which all contribute to an outbreak.⁹ By modifying the genetic material of somatic cells, it is ensured that the next generation will not be affected by the changes that were made to an individual's genetic code.¹⁰ Somatic cell gene therapy is often referred to as simply 'gene therapy' and from this point forward, gene therapy will only refer to the somatic cells being affected.

In order to alter the genetic material within a cell, viral vectors are introduced into the body that are programmed to attack and modify specific targeted cells. The targets are the cells that are causing a disease, and by 'turning off' the genetic instruction that allows an illness to develop, it is hoped that a disease will be eliminated.¹¹ Traditionally, this is done through gene replacement, but the use of CRISPR has given scientists the capability of simply editing a gene, which is thought to be more specific and effective in eliminating the problem.¹² Many conditions are a result of multiple genetic errors, making it difficult for researchers to introduce a virus that targets all aspects of a disease. However, advancements are being made that are proving that this may be possible in the future.

Unlike somatic cell gene therapy, which allows an individual to decide whether to manipulate their genome for themselves, heritable genome editing requires prospective parents to choose a specific genetic path for their future children.¹³ While the techniques are similar to somatic cell gene therapy, there are differences, and hereditary gene therapies have more

significant ethical questions associated with them that must be answered before proceeding with treatment.

Hereditary gene therapy uses similar techniques as somatic cell gene therapy, primarily CRISPR, to modify the genetic material in cells that make up an embryo. This changes all of the cells of that organism, and would continue to be passed on through multiple generations. This type of gene therapy requires that embryos be created and then manipulated ex-vivo, by editing out a specific marker, such as one for Huntington's disease. An embryo with an altered genetic makeup would then be implanted into a uterus with the hope of development. This type of treatment is specifically useful to target multiple tissues or cells that may cause a specific illness, such as cystic fibrosis.¹⁴ While somatic gene therapy is useful when targeting one location, hereditary therapy would have greater control over more areas before they develop, and can, therefore, influence the future development of those tissues or cells to ensure that a mutation is non-existent.¹⁵

With any new scientific technique, an appropriate course of research must be conducted in order to allow the new method to be safely incorporated within hospitals or medical systems. In the case of CRISPR and gene therapies, research is primarily being done in laboratories, using pluripotent stem cells or somatic cells.¹⁶ Only recently have embryos been allowed to be used for genetic research, and protocol states that embryos must be destroyed after a few of days of development.¹⁷ This ensures that embryos are not able to develop enough to be implanted into a uterus to become a human being, although it is expected that this course of study will reach that point in the future, as illustrated by the case of Dr. He, which will be reviewed below. In addition to embryonic safeguards, which are determined by the state, regulations exist that stipulate what type of research can be done. A clinical trial can be conducted after successful

laboratory results, with oversight from an institutional review board (IRB), and afterwards, the treatment, if effective, can be submitted for approval to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA).¹⁸ At that point, the therapy is able to be used across the country in medical centers.

This entire research process is in its infancy with regard to gene therapies using CRISPR. While few studies have progressed beyond the initial lab research phases, some studies have emerged that have demonstrated success. Physicians successfully used CRISPR to alter T-cells in patients with leukemia, and this treatment, known as CAR-T, has been approved by the FDA as a quicker and more effective cure for the disease. While it is not a complete cure, the patients who did receive the altered T-cells went into remission. This treatment may seem effective, but the long-term effects are unknown, and it would cost a patient hundreds of thousands of dollars for a single treatment. ¹⁹ This method of altering T cells in order to treat certain types of cancer is also being used in a variety of other clinical trials, with the CAR-T treatment. For example, researchers at the University of Pennsylvania used CRISPR to knock out the CD5 gene in mice in order to inhibit its activation. This caused a reduction in tumor size, higher levels of T-cell proliferation in their blood, and demonstrated better survival outcomes compared to mice without the edited T-cells.²⁰ The success of this work makes it clear that the use of CRISPR-Cas9 in somatic cells is crucial for the development of effective treatment and disease control.

The first in-human trial using CRISPR has also begun in 2020. Patients with Leber's Congenital Amaurosis 10 (LCA10) benefit from gene editing that aims to remove the mutation in the *CEP290* gene that causes LCA10, which currently has no effective treatments, and is the leading cause of blindness in children.²¹ This is also the first time that CRISPR is being used invivo; scientists are inserting CRISPR directly into the patient's eye, as opposed to editing the genes in the lab and then re-inserting them into patients.²² Other studies are also in progress,

many of which are actively recruiting eligible participants. Researchers are frequently targeting diseases which have known genetic causes and which would be helpful to a significant number of patients.²³ As previously explained, it is more difficult to gain funding and support for a potential treatment that would only be useful to a miniscule percent of the population, making CRISPR appropriate. For example, many of the trials are studying cancer, as well as eye, skin, and liver diseases. Blood diseases are also being closely researched.²⁴ There are trials specifically aimed at reactivating fetal hemoglobin in blood stem cells, which would alleviate the symptoms of diseases, such as Sickle Cell disease or Beta Thalassemia.²⁵ It is evident that the number of clinical trials using CRISPR in somatic cells is increasing, which holds a great deal of promise for a variety of medical treatments and practices.

Scientists in Oregon have also performed the first successful gene editing using CRISPR on human embryos that solved previous problems of incomplete or off-target editing. While this is not directly linked to a clinical trial, the improvement of the technique to combat those issues demonstrates that it could be successful in future medical applications.²⁶ Other research has been conducted targeting hereditary cells in embryos, but due to strict restrictions in the many countries conducting the research, the embryos have been destroyed before development or implantation.

The one known exception to this happened in China in 2018. This dissertation has mentioned the work of Dr. He Jiankui, who announced that he had successfully implanted embryos that had been edited using CRISPR-Cas9. Dr. He's experiment was internationally condemned due to the perception that ethical and safety concerns were not addressed or considered.²⁷ Dr. He attempted to edit the *CCR5* gene, which is linked to the prevalence of a specific strain of HIV. By knocking out the *CCR5* gene, HIV would not be able to enter the white blood cells in the body, thereby

eliminating the chance of inheriting HIV from a parent. The goal was to manipulate the embryo early in its development so that the germline would be changed in any fetuses that develop successfully. The CRISPR-Cas9 protein was injected into the embryo with the intention of causing a 32-base pair deletion in *CCR5* which is found on Chromosome 3.²⁸

Dr. He's clinical trial recruited couples where the male had HIV, and the couple was interested in having a child who would not inherit the virus. It was disclosed that eight couples agreed to participate, and one eventually withdrew. A total of 13 edited embryos were implanted and 2 of the women in the trial got pregnant. One woman gave birth to twins, resulting in Dr. He's announcement and the world's attention. The other woman's progress or status has not been disclosed.²⁹ The twins, however, demonstrated that this process is not perfect and the results are not guaranteed. In one twin, CRISPR only edited 1 of the 2 chromosomes in a pair so that some of the cells would express *CCR5* in reduced amounts, which could still lead to HIV. In the other twin, both chromosomes in the pair were altered, but only some of the cells had this modification, making the twin a mosaic, where cells in a person's body have different DNA. This result indicates that CRISPR did not work as planned.³⁰ Dr. He's story is also filled with many gaps and has been questioned by scientists, academics, and ethicists around the globe. The ethical concerns involved in this research will be discussed below.

It is evident, based on Dr. He's work in China, that the genetic modification of hereditary cells is a fast approaching possibility for parents, and if successful, it will become a technique which they may be able to use to ensure that their future child is not burdened with a specific disease. Parents may choose to use this technique for this reason, as well as to eliminate economic or emotional burdens that accompany a debilitating illness.³¹ While the benefit of eliminating a disease for multiple generations may seem ideal, there are also known risks, as well

as undetermined consequences that may occur, due to the novelty of this new technique. Parents must be aware of potential risks and consequences associated with the elimination of a disease as they make their decision regarding the implementation of genetic modification. While there are alternatives to hereditary genome editing, such as not having children, pre-implantation genetic screening, or selective abortion of affected embryos, this hereditary gene therapy seems to be the most effective if a parent wishes to have genetically-related children, and does not want to destroy an embryo or terminate a pregnancy.³² It would still require individuals to use in-vitro fertilization (IVF) to harvest embryos, which poses its own risks, but they may seem minimal compared to the birth of a healthy child free of a specific disorder or disease.

ii. Organizational and Ethical Oversight

There have been many ethical concerns about gene editing, whether somatic or hereditary genes are being modified. It is clear that the bioethics and science communities have doubts about the 'right' way of conducting this type of research, but it is evident that somatic cell gene editing is more accepted, supported, and promoted, because the associated ethical issues can be resolved. All of the previous chapters of this dissertation have described ethical issues that should be addressed in the near future so that somatic cell therapies can become more acceptable and available.

A medical treatment that only affects an individual and not their descendants evades the issue of advanced consent regarding hereditary gene therapy. A patient who seeks out gene therapy should be making an autonomous decision based on their beliefs and values. Somatic gene therapy is often preferred to hereditary therapy, simply because the patient is the only one affected and only their autonomy is relevant. If they give consent, further questions or concerns do not need to be addressed with regard to others being affected by this medical decision.³³ Of

course, a patient must be deemed capable of making a decision, or they have to be of the age of majority, in countries with that requirement. In research with children, parents would be required to consent to gene therapy on behalf of their child, but they are expected to act in the best interest of their child and to protect them from a situation of high risk without high benefit.³⁴

Regardless of whether a patient or their guardian is making a decision, one must consider if gene therapy, and participation in a risky research trial is the best option. It is important to weigh the risks and benefits as well as make a comparison with other available treatments in order to determine which course of action would be most beneficial.³⁵ For example, cancer treatments such as chemotherapy or bone marrow transplants are fairly common, but bring risk and uncertainty along with any benefit that may occur. Gene therapy may be an alternative that is significantly less invasive and painful, with better results.³⁶ This type of decision is difficult to make, however, because there is little research published on gene therapies that demonstrates positive results, therefore, pursuing a medical treatment that is in its infancy can be problematic.

Researchers have a responsibility, as the fourth chapter of this dissertation explained, to take additional precautions when working with vulnerable populations, especially ones who are suffering because of their disease-state. Clinical trials have a duty to ensure that participants are not being coerced to take part, and that they have accurate information about the study. Gene editing therapies are new, and while they may be exciting and offer hope to people who in the past were not able to access effective treatment, they may not be as useful as is expected. Researchers must explain the risks and benefits of the treatment, as well as disclose that the intervention may not work. While this may discourage some people from participating, it does comply with all of the requirements for informed consent.

Gene therapy with somatic cells is much less criticized than research targeting hereditary germline edits, but some have questioned the effects of hereditary germline editing on humanity, and whether humans should be able to intervene in future generations. Some scholars are against hereditary gene editing because future generations did not consent to having their genomes genetically edited or to experiencing unknown side-effects.³⁷ Furthermore, Cwik brings up the concept of intergenerational monitoring. Because scientists do not know how future generations' genomes will be affected by hereditary cell edits, it would be in the best interest of research to follow up with second and third generations, from infancy to adulthood, of those who originally had their genes edited using CRISPR. This process would be extremely difficult, however, because all descendants of the original participant would have to provide informed consent, which they may not wish to do. There would also have to be systems in place to ensure confidentiality and privacy, especially for the information of those who do not consent to participate. Cwik also examines the concern about revealing to a future descendant the actions of their predecessor and the choice to edit their genes. This could be traumatizing, and also lead to familial abuse or exploitation. Precise mechanisms to address these issues must be in place, in order to protect the information and wellbeing of all generations who are involved.³⁸

It is also debated whether some genetic mutations, such as being a carrier of sickle cell anemia, might actually be beneficial, as demonstrated in geographic areas with high rates of malaria. It has been shown that individuals who have a mutation for sickle cell are actually resistant to the malaria virus, and this is commonly seen in people who live in certain areas of the world. Such benefits may be used to argue that not all elimination of genetic disorders is warranted.³⁹ Moreover, some may argue that disabilities that could be eliminated through the use of CRISPR, are actually just differences, and would enhance the life of the person who have

them. It is known that members of the deaf community feel that their disability is not, in fact, a disability at all, and may prefer their children to have this mutation. They may use a gene editing technique to alter the DNA of their future children to ensure that they will be members of the deaf community.⁴⁰

A primary ethical concern with regard to hereditary gene editing is how to balance individual benefits with social benefits, once children begin to be born with manipulated genomes. While individual children and parents may benefit, the utilization of this editing mechanism may cause social and cultural harm. There is a possibility that individuals whose parents did not use gene editing will be at a disadvantage, while others argue that this technique will become more accessible and will simply be another method of fighting disease, similar to vaccinations.⁴¹ In the United States, legal regulations and the Bill of Rights may be used in court to argue for or against using hereditary gene editing for a specific purpose. It is difficult to predict whether issues will occur, and how they may be argued legally, as well as if further regulations will be implemented that do consider the social implications of this technique, and, therefore, protect an individual who chooses to use it.⁴² Human dignity comes into question, as the uniqueness of individuals, natural components of life, and a lack of humility about the power of a person, are all debated.⁴³ This discussion also leads to concerns about eugenics and whether research ought to be done that could lead to a 'new human race.' The next section of this chapter will explore the concept of transhumanism and eugenics in detail, as well as the ethical issues that arise as a result of public anxiety over the implementation of these concepts.

Many of the ethical concerns discussed, both for somatic cell editing and for hereditary cell editing, can be contextualized in the case of Dr. He's scientific research using CRISPR-Cas9. Little genuine information is known regarding many aspects of He's experiment. The

information that is available may be unreliable, and various versions of his work have been publicly presented.⁴⁴ One significant ethical concern about He's trial was informed consent. Based on the consent forms that were available for public viewing, He's trial participants were not properly informed, despite researchers claiming that the process was done appropriately. The form was 23 pages long and was referred to more as a contract rather than a consent form. It also did not include much information about the CRISPR technique and the goal of implanting edited embryos. The goal of the trial was described as being the beginning of an AIDS vaccine development project, which is quite misleading. Furthermore, it is evident that the form did not include adequate information about the risks associated with the genome editing, the pregnancy, or the child after being born. Dr. He claims, however, that the verbal conversations with the participants was robust and did include this information, and that they understood the risks and benefits of the procedure.⁴⁵

It is also unclear how Dr. He weighed the risks and benefits in this study, and how he deemed the potential results worth the risk of going forward. Typically, when conducting research on a new technology, a researcher is expected to run many trials in the lab and use animal studies in order to determine as many risks and benefits as possible before beginning human trials. He claimed to have done immense research on animals and human embryos, but never published any findings. Furthermore, why He chose to focus on HIV and the *CCR5* gene comes into question.⁴⁶ When doing research, especially with vulnerable populations such as future fetuses and pregnant women, an investigator must determine whether there is a safer treatment that is available. In this case, HIV can be avoided in future generations through sperm washing and using IVF. This removes the seminal fluid and ensures that the potential offspring do not inherit the virus. However, in China, it is illegal for couples who have HIV to use

Assisted Reproductive Technologies (ART), making the option of gene editing more potentially appealing to the trial participants.⁴⁷

It is also known that HIV is a complex virus that is affected by many genes, not just *CCR5*, making it an odd choice to start with since there is a high risk that the future child could still inherit HIV. Some scholars have wondered, whether *CCR5* was chosen specifically, because there is some evidence that it affects cognitive abilities. *CCR5* is known to improve memory and allow someone to recover from strokes quicker than someone who does not have the same expression of *CCR5*. He's previous publications have explicitly stated that he does not support enhancement through the use of CRISPR, but the potential of cognitive enhancement still may have played a role in the decision to target this specific gene.⁴⁸

Furthermore, transparency was lacking in He's work, both before and during the clinical trial. It is unclear how He's research was approved, as many institutions have not agreed with the research taking place. There was also a lack of documentation indicating that this clinical trial was proceeding, which prevented monitoring by other academics in the genetics field, who could have prevented the pregnancies from going forward. Because of the near-consensus in the international scientific community that embryos should not be implanted after modification, it is evident that Dr. He's research would have violated many requirements about germline genome editing research. This calls into question He's integrity as a researcher, and whether an appropriate oversight procedure took place.⁴⁹

As gene editing techniques continue to improve and gene therapy becomes more accessible, there will be a need for oversight by organizations and governments in order to ensure that trials are conducted ethically and that therapies are performed safely. Once diseases are conquered, this oversight will need to extend to regulating the potential of gene editing being used for purposes beyond medicine, such as manipulating genomes to have specific social traits leading to transhumanism. Genetic therapy will play a significant role in molding society in the near future. Appropriate precautions must be taken to safeguard both researchers and patients.

As with any new medical treatment, appropriate oversight must be conducted to maintain safety and efficacy. Somatic gene therapy is already being studied, and has gone through the research phases described above. However, it is still necessary for researchers to follow up with patients and monitor their progress. This tracks any long-term side effects that are currently unknown and provides more information about both problems and continued benefits.⁵⁰ It is also crucial that mechanisms exist that can allow the appropriate individuals to cease or block unauthorized uses of the therapy, and to ensure that somatic cell therapies are not affecting hereditary cells.⁵¹ The same long-term contact would be necessary for children born with hereditary genetic modifications. These follow-up sessions would provide information about the efficacy of the treatment and could determine whether the treatment achieved its goal, or if complications or side-effects occurred.⁵²

Specifically regarding hereditary cell editing, there must be international oversight to monitor research. Dr. He's story confirmed the belief that there should be a mechanism in place to ensure that research is abiding by reports and recommendations, such as the Nuffield Council on Bioethics Report on Genome Editing, as well as a similar report from the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine. However, it is very difficult to create an organization or a controlling body that could apply to all researchers across the globe. One function of such group would be to act as a committee to hear concerns about unethical research. Currently, it is unclear where a scientist could report studies that are violating international agreements, for example, and it is unknown whether acting as a 'whistle-blower' would be detrimental to one's

reputation, breach confidentiality, or result in punishment. Moreover, is there an obligation for fellow researchers to monitor each other, and would this lead to inappropriate reporting or misreporting in cases of professional jealousy? This type of committee would have to establish the rules by which scientists would have to abide and the consequences that would have to be accepted if regulations were breached.⁵³

In addition, it is important that general regulatory bodies conduct a cost-benefit analysis and monitor who has access to gene therapies. It is feared that only wealthy individuals will be able to afford somatic and hereditary genetic treatments to eliminate disease, even though individuals of all economic backgrounds suffer from illnesses that could be cured using these techniques. While some may argue that research participants may be from any economic class, and that eventually these treatments will become available to everyone, there is cause for concern that a "parallel population" will be created, one in which particular diseases do not manifest themselves because of access, and another which has to deal with illness, yet has access to only mediocre healthcare as a result of financial status. Healthcare is a right, and while the American healthcare system still has to improve access to all medical services, regulatory bodies should be cautious when advertising the success of new genetic technologies. They may exist, but until they are available to everyone, they should not be deemed integrated.⁵⁴ The next section will examine the concept of equal access in the context of genetic enhancement.

In order to address some of these concerns, it would be extremely beneficial to involve the public in discussions and decisions about genetic editing and its oversight. This will also become an important factor when genetic enhancement is introduced, but at the moment there is a significant amount of research being done, and it is important that all of the relevant stakeholders, including the public and vulnerable communities, have a seat at the table. One

aspect that could be informed by community representatives is how genetic editing research is perceived by the general public. Research has been done examining this question, and it was found that more men are in favor of it, more left-leaning (politically) individuals support it, and that African-Americans are more hesitant about these studies. It was also discovered that younger people, as well as those with higher education levels, are more supportive of gene editing. Despite some contrasts in opinions, there was a consensus that research in this area is beneficial, and that it is important to weigh the risks and benefits of each research trial. While this study did provide important information about the support of genetic editing research, it also demonstrated the difficulty in engaging the public.⁵⁵

Some of those difficulties stem from how the media portrays the uses of CRISPR and how its coverage affects someone's opinion of genetic editing. There tends to be a lot of misinformation in the media about gene editing using CRISPR and its potential uses. Much of the discussion centers around eugenics and the potential creation of a 'new human race' as opposed to the research being done in somatic cells. The media focuses on such fictitious uses of this research, and amplifies the possible negative consequences that may ensue.⁵⁶ It is clear that scientists do not always represent the values and opinions of general society, and academic discourse may not reflect what the public should know. For this reason, involving the public would help bridge gaps in information and ensure that the information that is being disseminated is clear, concise, accurate, and easy to understand. This could be achieved through the inclusion of community members on ethics committees that would be able to provide a non-scientific perspective on a new technology, such as CRISPR-Cas9.⁵⁷

Ideally, oversight of the uses of CRISPR-Cas9 and other genetic editing studies would involve a group of individuals, institutions, and cultures that could work together to advance this

technology in a manner that is universally agreed upon. Groups with all three of these "Giants" of leadership would ideally ensure transparency and objectivity, and address disinterest and skepticism.⁵⁸ The 'individuals' category would include individual scientists and academics who are doing the research, as well as administrators, lawyers, and ethicists. It would also include other individual stakeholders, such as clinical trial participants and volunteers from the public, who recognize the need for input to benefit the greater good. 'Institutions' would go beyond the individuals, and include representatives from research partnership programs, such as educational centers and social structures that provide stability and security, in addition to biobanks, that would need to publicize their work to benefit the research being done. Recommendations must also be made through a cultural lens, which would focus on promoting the greater good when commercial deals are made, which often results in a lack of public access to information and treatment. A cultural perspective would also aim to bridge the differences between public and private institutions. This would challenge frequently vague explanations about corporate benefits without being critical of the processes in place. Cultural sensitivity would also encourage a more informed discussion about short and long-term goals.⁵⁹

Overall, a dynamic, diverse, but integrated group of stakeholders would be able to appropriately promote the risks and benefits of genetic editing research. This would include accurate information for both academics and the general public. However, when translating genomic information for distribution to the public, it is important that the facts are distributed into three categories: conceptual (how can the difficulties of gene editing be explained practically), scientific (how can a framework be created to foster trust, promote progress, and encourage investment) and political/social (how can everyone work together to promote the common good?)⁶⁰
This same oversight should also be applied to research itself. The concept of ethical research has already been discussed throughout this section and the dissertation as a whole, but it would be wise to place genetic editing research into its own category, since it includes many aspects that are not typically encountered in biological research studies. There are uncertainties about how to regulate genetic editing research, especially across jurisdictions, when countries have differing regulations about compassionate use or medical exceptions for unapproved treatments.⁶¹ Furthermore, there is a debate about CRISPR-Cas9 itself. There are disputes about patenting certain genes and aspects of CRISPR, and it is unclear whether it can be considered a procedure or a product, which would need market approval. This also leads to the debate between public and private research and whether there should be more control over gene editing research in order to make it all public.⁶² Dr. He's situation comes to mind, in that private funding may have allowed him to proceed with inappropriate research, whereas public research boards may have prevented it from taking place at all.⁶³

Doubts and debates also arise as to how the research is being conducted. Since the use of CRISPR-Cas9 has a very specific purpose and aims to target diseases, placebo or double-blind controlled trials are difficult to administer, because the patient who needs this treatment is so specific and often unable to receive adequate treatment elsewhere. CRISPR-Cas9 trials have mostly required tissue to be taken from a participant, then modified, and then put back into the same patient, which is a new way of conducting research, which requires additional supervision. This oversight would need to include periodic review of trial protocols to ensure they are being administered safely and that the researchers are acting in an ethical manner, which would include frequently weighing new risks and benefits as further information emerges. Oversight is also crucial when uses for CRISPR-Cas9 begin to include genetic enhancement.

B: Human Enhancement and Transhumanism

It is important to start by exploring the background of genetic enhancement and transhumanism, and whether modifications to our current genome would impact human nature and how humans evolve. Would this genetic practice and its result potentially lead to parents being able to 'design' their future children? If post-humans did emerge, their moral status could be questioned. A new set of rights for such trans-humans would need to be created, and the existing rights of 'conventional' humans might also need to be redefined and safeguarded.

Although a discussion of theoretical issues dealing with the humanity and morality involved in these technologies is necessary, practical implications and risks must also be analyzed. A common argument against genetic enhancement is that it might give rise to the popularization of eugenic beliefs and practices. Some might feel that this would be neither dangerous nor disadvantageous, but others may view such an occurrence as a negative consequence of the therapy. Moreover, there is a risk that economic gaps among societies and communities might develop, and that justice issues, such as the diminishment of equality among all human beings, would develop. Such concerns could be dealt with through strict organizational oversight, both locally and internationally, but should also be presented to the public, so that opinions and value statements can be gathered in order to determine the best method for ensuring the safe introduction of this new technological possibility, similar to the mechanisms described above. In the past, transhumanism and genetic enhancement may have seemed like a hoax, but as genetic modification becomes plausible, the ethical considerations associated with enhancement must be seriously considered and thoroughly addressed.

CRISPR has allowed scientists to go beyond targeting somatic cells, and has enabled them to experiment with embryos or hereditary cells. This technique directly modifies a germline

and affects all future generations of that particular embryo.⁶⁴ As discussed above, researchers hope that by starting editing at this initial stage of development, they will be able to ensure that all cells of a potential person will have a desired modification so that children will not be susceptible to hereditary diseases, such as Huntington's or Sickle Cell Anemia.⁶⁵ Editing the genetic makeup of embryos poses numerous ethical questions and concerns, of course, predominantly concerning the possibility that non-medical traits, such as intelligence, height, or athletic ability, will be able to be added to or modified within an embryo, allowing for the resulting potential being to become enhanced.⁶⁶

It was mentioned above that one of the factors that is hindering hereditary genome editing research is the regulatory practice with regard to the use of embryos. Currently, each state with the US is entitled to mandate its own specific laws and policies regarding embryonic research. Most states prohibit embryonic research, including on donated embryos from In-Vitro Fertilization (IVF). ⁶⁷ Some states, such as California and Connecticut, do permit embryonic research, but insist that no individual is paid for the embryo that is donated. ⁶⁸ Along with these restrictions, the National Institute of Health (NIH) does not fund any gene-editing research projects involving human embryos, requiring scientists to pursue private funding and resources in order to conduct these studies. ⁶⁹ Globally, many countries require that, if embryonic research is conducted, the embryo must be destroyed after 14 days to ensure that development does not continue and to prevent moral concerns from arising. ⁷⁰ These restrictions may actually be hindering research, since they prevent scientists from truly discovering whether the CRIPSR – Cas9 technique could be successful. While these regulations may be intentional from a governmental standpoint, they may not be ideal from a scientific perspective.

If and when embryonic research becomes less restricted, and the CRISPR-Cas9 technique comes to be more widely used to edit embryos, scientists may be able to target specific genes that go beyond medicine.⁷¹ Information from the Human Genome Project, as well as ongoing studies looking at which genes are responsible for specific traits, have provided evidence that genes do, in fact, code for specific parts of personality or character traits. These include intelligence, empathy, and athletic ability, as well as others that may be attractive to future parents.⁷² By knowing which genes influence these social traits, there may come a time when parents will be able to choose which genes their offspring will have, in the hopes that their child will grow up exhibiting the desired qualities. Ethical implications of so-called 'designer babies' and whether genes will be solely responsible for a child's ultimate character will be discussed in more detail below.

If this new medical advancement is successful, parents who can afford to use it will have the opportunity to choose the specific genes that their child will have, genes that focus on nonmedical aspects of a child's character or identity.⁷³ Initially, gene editing was promoted as being a simple and effective way to rid individuals of terrible diseases, but now considerations have to be taken into account regarding what may happen when this mechanism is used beyond the scope of medicine, and whether it will eventually create a new type of human being.

i. Does Enhancement Interfere with 'Human Nature?'

With scientific advancements continuously evolving, there is the potential that genes that do not code for medical issues will begin to be targeted. If researchers know which set of genes indicate a higher intelligence or an increased musical ability, for instance, they may be able to give prospective parents the option of choosing specific traits that they wish their child to have.⁷⁴ These choices clear the path for enhanced human beings to be born, and their implementation

generates ethical questions, as well as feelings of fear and uncertainty. The theory that future generations could all be genetically modified intimidates scholars and lay people alike. Some philosophers believe that enhancing human beings is not right and should be prohibited because it tampers with human nature, or because it might only be available to those who can afford the technique, which would create a further gap between the wealthy and the poor.⁷⁵ Other scientists feel that genetic enhancement does not have many troublesome issues associated with it and, therefore, should be allowed everywhere, with the goal of creating human beings that are better suited to succeed.⁷⁶

Those who feel that it would be dangerous to pursue this type of research argue that the creation of post-humans would spin out of control, and would render the world that we currently live in unfavorable to 'mere' humans.⁷⁷ It is important to recognize that this doubt and apprehension are causing some scholars to advise that research should not even be started; that it is better to stop now and never go beyond gene editing for somatic cells as a way to treat disease.⁷⁸ This line of reasoning can be debated, since it is not always wise to be so cautious, for it prevents any new and potentially beneficial research from being conducted.⁷⁹ Nevertheless these fears should be acknowledged, because dealing with ethical issues about an unexplored concept is difficult. The future becomes less terrifying if we openly approach and wrestle with issues before a concept becomes a reality. Debate also benefits scientists who may forget about ethical implications and focus only on a novel scientific possibility.

Other scholars have the opposite view and feel that enhancement to the point of creating trans-humans would be beneficial, and should be pursued if it can be done safely.⁸⁰ These academics feel that we actually have a duty to enhance ourselves if the means to do so are available.⁸¹ They believe that it is a part of evolution and that it would not be detrimental to the

current human race. On the contrary, developing post-humans would be an improvement on the human being living today, and these new individuals would be better equipped to deal with life and its hardships.⁸² These same philosophers and scientists feel that introducing enhancement technologies or even presenting the benefits of becoming enhanced would follow a process similar to that which has been seen with vaccinations around the world. Some individuals feel that vaccines are, indeed, enhancements, since they equip the body with a new method of fighting disease that was not previously present, and that they have improved lives through avoidance of disease. The process which was used to promote immunizations and demonstrate their advantages could be replicated or expanded upon when presenting the idea that enhancement could be beneficial.⁸³

It is universally understood that enhancement could improve the health of post-humans, by eliminating diseases with known genetic markers, as well as by making human organisms better able to adapt to the environment and cope with the onset of illnesses. Furthermore, mental, as well as physical disabilities could be reduced. By improving general cognitive capacities, disabilities could be dealt with in a more effective manner, since innovative ideas might be easier to conceive.⁸⁴ While these enhancements go beyond the capacities of a current human being, there may first be a need to simply bring certain traits up to a desired level. For example, some individuals are not able to demonstrate empathy as well as others. By using enhancement techniques, it would be possible for a person with a lower capacity for empathy would have it raised to the 'normal' level of a kind and compassionate human being.⁸⁵ This also brings with it the problem of deciding what 'normal' means and which current human beings possess ideal levels of such traits.

In addition to genetic enhancements, there are other examples of enhancement that may lead to the creation of post-humans, such as enhancing drugs or technological limbs. While these modifications might not result in generational changes, they would allow humans in the present to arm themselves with advantages.⁸⁶ For example, students who take medications that increase their ability to focus and retain information may be better suited to succeed in academia.⁸⁷ These are considered enhancements, since they allow students to perform better than their peers who do not use these drugs, or it allows them to perform as well as others who are naturally able to succeed in school. Furthermore, the use of technological limbs for amputees has enhanced them to be able to function like an individual who has all of their limbs, and in some circumstances, the person with the artificial limb performs better. This enhancement demonstrates what it may mean to be a post-human in the future. The major concern with any enhancement is that a being may be created or will exist who is 'more' than human. They would have both mentally and physically enhanced capabilities, making them a 'post-human'.⁸⁸

Going forward, it is important to keep in mind that research using genetic enhancement techniques is in its infancy, and practically non-existent.⁸⁹ The scenarios that are discussed are hypothetical, but the consideration of them is extremely important and real. If ethical issues regarding genetic enhancement and transhumanism can be addressed in advance, it may make the inevitable introduction of these possibilities less daunting and more positive. It is also important to continue having ethical discussions about enhancement and transhumanism so that the public can remain informed and engaged, and scientists can direct their research and approach their findings from a broader ethical perspective.

A primary concern that bioethicists have with enhancement is that it interferes with human nature. They believe that any disturbance to our natural being should be avoided.⁹⁰ Having

children, a natural human behavior, will most certainly be deeply affected by enhancement as the concept of 'designer babies' comes to fruition. Parents might have the ability to pick and choose which genes they wish their child to have, which would impact the type of person, both physically and mentally, that would emerge in the future. The nature vs. nurture debate must be entered into if a decision is to be made regarding the accessibility of enhancement, and how it should be made available to those wishing to use it.

All human beings are said to possess a general 'human nature' as an inherent component of their human identity – one which involves how we act and make decisions.⁹¹ Some scholars feel that genetically enhancing future children directly distorts human nature. Both the act of modifying, as well as specific modifications, are not considered natural.⁹² Therefore, they argue that any form of enhancement should be avoided, as human beings today are considered to be at the pinnacle of their capabilities.⁹³ This line of thought may be common, but it might not be completely valid. In the past, enhancements, such as the introduction of literacy, have exposed human beings to information and inspired reflection of the very traits that make up their human nature. Significant benefits have been generated, including an enriched self-awareness of human nature, and a desire to promote our positive characteristics and behaviors rather than our negative traits. While this was not a genetic enhancement, it does demonstrate that enhancements can have a beneficial impact on human nature.⁹⁴

While the fear that human nature would be tarnished is understandable, it is important to realize that it would take an extensive amount of time for a change to actually occur. In order to truly modify human nature, the human species as a whole would have to change. Considering that there are billions of human beings living on earth, and only a small percentage would have access to enhancement technologies, it seems unrealistic that human nature would ultimately be

altered.⁹⁵ However, small modifications could gradually occur over time, as more people gain access to enhancement techniques. For example, improved cognitive capacities may develop more quickly than entirely new post-humans in general, since these modifications can only happen on an individual level. Genetic enhancement will not happen quickly, as opposed to an environmental occurrence, such as climate change, which would be more likely to change such new humans in a physical way, bringing with it the ability to withstand warmer temperatures, for example.⁹⁶

Furthermore, if a goal to improve or change human nature was, indeed, set, the feasibility of it would need to be thoroughly analyzed and assessed. For example, we would have to ascertain which traits would need to be different in order to effect a true change in the nature of humanity, an exercise which would lead to a consideration of what it means to be a human, and what comprises our inherent nature. These questions will not be answered in this dissertation, but they are serious issues that merit serious thought. A governing body would have to be established to oversee all scientific developments that would be capable of improving human nature and it would need to be in place for an extended amount of time, until this change becomes a reality. Organizational considerations will be discussed below.⁹⁷

Another common argument that scholars make against enhancement is that it defies the natural evolution of human beings and, with it, human nature, and that we should not interfere with evolution or try to speed up the process.⁹⁸ Evolutionary biology dictates that evolved traits within humans are simply improvements, and not necessarily the best possible solution. For example, human beings still have physical parts that are not efficiently used, such as the appendix, which evolution may eventually eliminate. Conversely, interfering with progression should not be seen as a negative act, as enhancement would be doing the same job that evolution

does: improving the species physically, as well as changing human nature. This viewpoint is controversial, since some people also feel that human beings cannot be improved upon and we should strive to maintain our current physical and mental status for as long as possible. However, it may actually be beneficial to enhance ourselves, as it could correct mutations for disease or make human beings more efficient.⁹⁹

Although evolution may be regarded as a natural process that takes place over the course of many years, it is impossible to deny that the use of technologies has allowed human beings to control aspects of evolution and improve the human condition. Enhancement may be a method through which traditional 'Darwinian' evolution can actually advance by speeding up the process, which brings benefits and improvements sooner than expected.¹⁰⁰ In the past, animals aided the course of evolution, and it took time for an organism to adapt to an environment. While adaptation may still take time, technology has replaced the role of the animal and is playing a central part in the evolution of humans.¹⁰¹ Giorgio Tintino presents the idea that the post-humans created through enhancements would not be entirely new beings, but rather a hybrid version of the humans we are familiar with in the present. These hybrids would presumably be better suited to adapt to the environment and exhibit a more advanced fitness for survival. These beings may eventually be known as homo-technologicus; a species more evolved than homo-sapiens, which were improved upon by technology.¹⁰² When looking at the process of enhancement and creation of post-humans from this perspective, the benefits seem to outweigh negative aspects, and the interference with human nature seems minimal.

Behavior plays an important part in how we define human nature. It seems to be a recognized human behavior that we always strive towards improving our character and ensuring that we act morally and can interact positively within society. As a result, some scholars feel that

character should be a factor in the debate about enhancement and transhumanism. Judgement is often passed upon those who are proponents of enhancement, and it is said that they are of questionable character, simply because they feel this may be beneficial for society. Anyone who feels that human nature should not be protected, or believe that post-humans should exist, is considered to be of poor character.¹⁰³ Furthermore, it is also felt that anyone who is eventually enhanced will have their character compromised as a result of the enhancement. Individuals who believe this feel that an embryo whose genetic markers have been tampered with may not exhibit the same characteristics or be able to have the same type of character that is associated with a moral human being.¹⁰⁴ This argument is questionable, since character would be affected by more than just genetic makeup, and would rely on environment and society to be shaped and determined.

Just as enhancement is seen to directly interfere with human nature, it is also believed to negatively impact the natural process of having children. The CRISPR technique described previously indicates that germline modifications would be done at the embryonic stage of development, and would have to be done ex-vivo, unless the technique becomes advanced enough to do while an embryo is in utero. This process entails the use of In-Vitro Fertilization (IVF) in order to create an embryo.¹⁰⁵ The concern with this method of editing is that once a few traits have been discovered to have genetic influence, others will follow, and parents will, essentially, be able to design the genetic makeup of their child so that it is born with particular traits which they feel are advantageous. This leaves very little to chance, and the fear is that diversity among children will decrease. The effects this practice would actually have on society are currently unknown.¹⁰⁶

It is important to note, however, that it has been demonstrated that children are not predestined to a specific future based on their genetic makeup. Environments and parenting styles seem to have more of an influence on children than their genes do.¹⁰⁷ For example, if a parent decides that their child will have a gene manipulated so that they have advanced musical abilities, they may assume that their child will become a talented musician. In addition to a genetic modification, it is known that a parent must also instill specific habits in their children, such as motivation and discipline, in addition to ensuring that they practice their skills.¹⁰⁸ Without these additional elements, a child may not exhibit their genetic predisposition for musical talents and may choose to pursue another career path. It is important to remember that while genes do have an impact on an individual's life, especially with regard to disease susceptibility, they do not completely make up a person, and other factors do contribute to the development of an identity.¹⁰⁹ For this reason, even if genetic enhancements did become more frequent, they may not completely change the way individuals end up living their lives.

In any event, the notion of 'designing' may be a very appealing capability to a parent. It is human nature for a parent to want the best for their child, and providing a method of parental control designed to try and equip their child with traits that will help them in life is tempting.¹¹⁰ Furthermore, a parent should think about their goals before beginning the process of embryo-editing in order to ensure that what they want is possible. For example, some parents might want to modify genes so that their child has an increased level of happiness, whereas another set of parents might wish for their child to be more rational and self-governing. While both of these goals are valid, scientists may be able to do only a fraction of what is requested. As discussed previously, genetics only contribute slightly to a child's ultimate personality or identity. It may

be possible to be genetically disposed toward happiness, but it is the environment the child experiences and how they are treated that matters more for overall joy in life.¹¹¹

During the process of determining enhancement goals, parents may be overwhelmed by the eventual options available regarding which traits can be chosen. Hughes provides a list based on universal virtues that he believes can be impacted through genetic enhancement. They encompass various character traits as well.¹¹² He has created four categories of virtues: self-control, which includes restraint, consciousness and temperance; niceness, which corresponds to agreeableness, extraversion, empathy, and fairness; intelligence, which contains open-mindedness, curiosity, love of learning, and prudence; and positivity, which encompasses a lack of neuroticism, emotional self-regulation, bravery, and humor. All of these traits seem ideal for a child to possess, but parents should understand that creating a perfect child is not yet possible, and all of these traits, while they have genetic components, are not proven to be fully influenced by a set of particular genes. However, Hughes' list provides a detailed inventory of the character traits and virtues that a parent may be able to modify within their future child's genome.¹¹³

The listing given above is quite detailed, and suggests that if a parent could choose all of those virtues they would, which would create a presumably 'perfect' child. The idea of perfection can be both subjective and objective, especially when discussing favorable character and behavioral qualities. A subjective view of perfection allows an individual to decide for themselves what it means, and when applied to enhancement, would allow each set of parents or individual parents to choose what they felt were the best components of their child's genome. Subjectivity, however, may lead to relativism and would permit parents to choose objectively unfavorable qualities for their unborn child. The parents' level of education, societal pressures, and the inability to relate to a community may all influence which traits are chosen for a specific

embryo.¹¹⁴ An objective view of perfection also creates social challenges. It is unreasonable to think that all members of a society, especially a diverse and multicultural one, would agree on which traits lead to perfection and which should be ideal for a child to possess. If a parent chooses a quality that does not fit into the objective view of perfection, they might experience discrimination, causing them to make a choice that is not ultimately autonomous. The ideal balance between subjectivity and objectivity allows parents to choose which traits reflect their vision of perfection, but there may also need to be some oversight to ensure that children are created safely.¹¹⁵

Although it may seem in the best interest of an unborn child for their parent to choose genetic enhancements, it also brings up the question of whether a parent is benefitting as well, and if they are modifying a genome for the correct reasons. A parent may choose for their child to become enhanced in order to decrease the burden of having to care for a disabled or sick child, or one that will need additional supports in school, for example.¹¹⁶ Parents often underestimate their parenting abilities and feel that making the child more desirable and 'normal' will help them in their role as a parent. Furthermore, it must be ensured that the child is not being considered a product as opposed to a person. This is especially the case for parents who might use genetic enhancement to create a 'savior sibling' for an existing child. Savior siblings are conceived to be organ or tissue donors for disease-stricken siblings, since it can be ensured that they would be a match. While this topic will not be discussed in detail, this type of practice should be discouraged, since it often places unfair expectations on a young child, and it does not recognize the savior sibling as a person in their own right. It can be exciting for parents to be able to pick and choose desirable traits for a son or daughter, but it should be understood that this embryo will still become a human being, and their decisions may alter their expected course of

life. Parents are expected to love their children unconditionally, and must recognize that although one can attempt to manipulate the genetics of an embryo, it may not grow up to meet their expectations, and should be loved regardless.¹¹⁷

ii. A New Set of 'Human Rights'

Another common concern with regard to enhancement is what a post-human's moral status would be, compared to a 'mere' human being. Our conception of morality would need to be adjusted in order to accommodate these newly enhanced individuals. We would have to decide whether creating post-humans is favorable morally, and if enhancing ourselves to do so should, perhaps, be compulsory. Some scholars feel that it might ultimately be detrimental to society, hence they recommend ceasing this line of research.¹¹⁸ If, however, the research continues and there is the potential for others to have a higher moral status than we have, it would lead to a discussion of human rights. The question of whether post-humans would have the same human rights that we do now, or if they would be entitled to their own set of rights, rendering unenhanced humans a lesser kind of human, would have to be posed. There is a fear that 'mere' humans could not follow the moral reasoning of post-humans, which would reduce their status to disposable humans, akin to animals, and would certainly result in little respect being shown to them. A discussion of morality is often missing in the scientific literature, but must be added to research conversations and goals to ensure that we are thoroughly prepared when enhancement becomes a reality.

Currently, all human beings have equal moral status. They should be able to discern right from wrong and make decisions that are in accordance with their beliefs and morals. All human beings are in theory, therefore, considered equal, and this baseline allows individuals to be moral or immoral.¹¹⁹ Based on this, all humans, regardless of their genetic makeup, are the same with

regard to having moral status, implying that genes do not define us as humans. If a genetically enhanced individual is created from embryonic research, do they have the same moral status as an unenhanced individual? The definition outlined above would imply that they do, because a genome does not define a person. Furthermore, other considerations, such as the environment in which a person is raised, would be more influential than genetics with regard to determining the person they become.¹²⁰ However, opinions are abound regarding whether moral enhancement would generate a new level of moral status in post-humans, and whether we ought to pursue the creation of such beings if this is indeed the case.

The notion that a post-human could have a higher moral status than the humans of today seems unlikely to some scholars, but possible to others. Wasserman, for example, feels that since post-humans would presumably have a higher cognitive ability than we do, we would not be able to understand post-human moral reasoning, elevating them to a higher moral status.¹²¹ Hauskeller, on the other hand, feels that post-humans would simply have morality, and that it would not exceed ours in degree, since we are unable to identify exactly what a higher moral status entails. Furthermore, Buchanan feels that we have already reached the highest moral status possible.¹²² It is plausible that a higher moral status might exist, even if we do not understand it or cannot imagine it. For this very reason, post-humans might be able to experience and think about issues and actions differently, rendering them more evolved.¹²³ If an increased morality is truly possible, it raises the question of how 'mere' humans who do not have the highest level of moral reasoning will fare in a new society. It can be predicted that humans may be treated the way that we currently treat animals, allowing post-humans to sacrifice 'mere' humans for research or in emergencies.

Since we cannot predict the nature of an enhanced morality, we should focus on whether to pursue the creation of post-humans with moral enhancements at all. Savalescu and Persson argue that moral enhancements should be compulsory for every human being once the technology is safe to use.¹²⁴ Since the moral choices we make are not solely caused by genes or biology, there would be little harm in enhancing what we can through genetic modification to aid us in making moral decisions. This would simply complement the morality we exhibit already. Vojin Rakic argues against this view, however, maintaining that this obligatory enhancement deprives human beings of their freedom to make autonomous choices.¹²⁵ While this may be true, it can be disputed with the fact that not all limitations to freedom are negative. For example, society puts limits on all citizens by emphasizing and teaching that everyone should act morally. Furthermore, biology allows us to show and feel disgust, which can protect us from disease if we are aware something would not be appealing to consume. If we did not have any instinctual control, we might be inclined to partake in unhealthy actions that would, to a 'regular' person, seem disgusting and that would cause harm.¹²⁶

Nicholas Agar feels that the creation of post-humans would be extremely dangerous and should be avoided.¹²⁷ He argues that the existence of morally-superior beings would not be beneficial for current human beings, and the unknown factors related to their existence and capabilities should convince us not to pursue further research.¹²⁸ He even postulates that moral enhancement would make individuals less adept at moral reasoning. He argues that enhancing their morality would actually bestow a more utilitarian nature upon post-humans, and that, as a result, they could more easily justify killing or acting destructively than most 'mere' humans do now. For example, physicians would, presumably, never take a heart or lung out of a healthy individual for the sake of decreasing the number of patients waiting on a transplant list. While it

is acceptable to donate a kidney to a loved one, or harvest the organs of a brain-dead patient, physicians would not be able to morally justify the removal of an organ that sustains life. Posthuman doctors, however, may have no issue with this, since they would see taking organs as helping others and contributing to public need.¹²⁹ Agar feels that utilitarian aspects of posthuman populations should discourage the public from supporting enhancement techniques.

Agar also argues that genetic enhancements may not be able to completely transform the morality of a new human being. He feels that morality is ultimately informed by reason and needs three parts to succeed: cognitive, affective, and behavioral components, which all contribute to making a moral decision or acting morally. Enhancement techniques may only be able to target one of these areas, making it a "piece-meal" process of augmentation. This type of enhancement would be beneficial for individuals who are lacking in one of these areas, in order to get them to a 'normal' level, but it would not create a post-human that would have a greater impulse to act morally and be better at moral reasoning.¹³⁰ Hughes, however, feels that moral enhancement could go beyond the three areas mentioned, and has four essential virtues that would also contribute to a moral individual. It is predicted that an eventual post-human would exhibit an equal balance of all of Hughes' described virtues, self-control, niceness, intelligence, and positivity, and would be able to make morally sound decisions.¹³¹ However, the process of creating a post-human with an equal or ideal balance of these four virtues might, in fact, realize Agar's "piece-meal" prediction.

If post-humans are considered to have a higher moral status, should they have a different set of rights that corresponds to their enhanced morality? Some scholars predict that enhanced individuals will feel different enough from unenhanced people to warrant the creation of a varied set of rights specifically for post-humans. Post-humans may feel that they deserve more or are

more valuable to society, and that they need, therefore, a set of post-human rights that only apply to themselves. This seems extreme, especially if enhancement technology is only available to a small number of individuals, as a larger enhanced population would take many years to actually create. However, a risk exists, as mentioned above, that these post-humans will feel different enough from the unenhanced to consider themselves eligible for new rights that are advantageous for them, and exclusive of others.¹³²

It does seem possible that if post-humans are created successfully, their cognitive abilities will exceed ours, and they will feel entitled to things that 'mere' humans might not understand. Post-humans may not even recognize that they have an increased moral status, and would simply believe that 'mere' humans who were not enhanced do not matter as much as they do.¹³³ Many philosophers currently agree that there are three levels of morality: the lowest for inanimate objects (rocks, for example), the next for animals, and the third for humans. A fourth would need to be added for post-humans, and they would simply treat the individuals or objects lower on the list in the same manner with which we do now.¹³⁴ Yet other scholars recognize that this may not be an ideal way to approach the comparison of humans, animals and objects. Some believe that post-humans would treat humans as if they were lesser versions of themselves, but it would not be to the extent that humans now treat some animals. It is difficult to predict how post-humans will act and how they will behave toward other humans in society.¹³⁵

It has already been mentioned that a fear exists that 'mere' humans will be sacrificed or harmed by post-humans. For example, post-humans may institute the enslavement of unenhanced individuals if they are seen as lesser beings, which would lead to a further division between the enhanced and the unenhanced, and bring up human rights issues.¹³⁶ Post-humans might feel as though 'mere' humans do not contribute enough to society and can be used as

required. For instance, the process of organ donation may be applicable, which would allow post-humans to take healthy organs, albeit unenhanced ones, from 'common' people and use them as they see fit.¹³⁷ There might also be an unfair distribution of resources, which is already experienced today. A gap in moral standing would convince post-humans that 'mere' humans would not deserve certain commodities, such as food or shelter. They would do so only after all of the post-humans were taken care of.¹³⁸ It is hoped that post-humans would recognize that harming other beings is immoral and should not be done, similar to how many human beings today would not hurt animals for items like fur or horns. While there are those individuals who do not see these actions as problematic, post-humans should be able to determine the moral way to regard others.¹³⁹

Although post-humans might be able to treat human beings with respect, it can be questioned whether 'mere' humans would be used for research purposes, similar to the ways scientists use monkeys and other animals today. Unenhanced people would be ideal candidates for post-human research since they closely match the biology of a trans-human. Researchers would be able to conduct experiments similar to those ones being done at present. However, if this were to occur, a set of policies and guidelines should be created to ensure that research studies were ethical and that they treated people fairly. Humans who were not enhanced would probably insist on a set of rules, similar to the ones in place today for human research that follow strict guidelines to ensure safety. But post-humans may argue against this, and compare human subjects to animals that are frequently not treated ethically and are abused in order to gain useful results. Furthermore, sick humans may not receive adequate treatment. Currently, when a treatment is discovered through animal research for humans, the animal with the disease, whether given to them by a human or naturally-occurring, will not have access to the treatment,

unless humans are all cured and there are leftover resources. The same could potentially happen between post-humans and unenhanced individuals.¹⁴⁰

Scholars have suggested that a two-tiered set of rights may be created. All individuals, both enhanced and unenhanced, would have a basic set of human rights that applied to everyone. This would include a right to freedom, a right not to be discriminated against, and a right to healthcare. However, there would also be a second set of rights that only applied to post-humans, which may include a right to a specific type of education or a right to political involvement. Since morality is not determined by genetics, it would be clear that all individuals, whether or not they were enhanced, should have the same moral status, but having this system of different rights would not support that.¹⁴¹

This type of tiered system may be difficult to imagine, but it already exists to a degree in today's society, with regard to mentally disabled individuals. All human beings, regardless of their mental capacities or environments, have the same basic human rights in theory, but often, people who are mentally incapable, such as those with Down syndrome, are considered to be 'lesser' people, simply because they are unable to perform in ways others can. This provokes a debate, on one side of which are people who believe that the mentally-incapable should not have the same moral status. On the other side are individuals who feel that they have the same moral status and the same rights as everyone else, and that they should not be treated differently. Further debate arises when physically-disabled people are considered, as they still have basic human rights and should be able to exhibit the same morality as everyone else, but sometimes are not afforded the same opportunities as individuals without disabilities. In a sense, there is even now, a two-tiered system of rights in existence, in which healthy, mentally-capable people are better able to succeed in society, have access to more opportunities, and regard those who do

not as 'lesser' people.¹⁴² This should be avoided as it is unethical, but if it already happens currently, there is the potential that similar contrasts will occur in the future with regard to post-humans and the unenhanced.

iii. Potential of Eugenics

Philosophers have postulated numerous theories about what would happen to human nature and our moral reasoning skills if post-human societies emerge. These hypothetical theories must also include practical concerns. The majority of scholars that discuss genetic enhancement and transhumanism are worried that eugenic actions will unleash justice issues among communities and societies worldwide. While eugenic practices are a serious fear, it is important to recognize that they may not be as detrimental as they are believed to be. Furthermore, other risks, such as a wider divide between the rich and the poor demonstrate the need for organizational oversight and guidance to ensure that these techniques are executed safely and carefully. There must be a neutral body that is able to take liberal and conservative viewpoints into consideration and be mindful of who might benefit from, and who might be harmed by the creation of post-humans. This discussion must also include public opinion, to prevent scientists, philosophers, and politicians from unilaterally making decisions that ultimately affect the public.

The term 'eugenics' has a negative connotation associated with it as a result of atrocities that have occurred throughout history. The concept of eugenics, however, was initially presented as a scientific method to advance the human race, and was viewed as a positive idea.¹⁴³ At first, individuals of the middle or upper class were held to a higher standard than those in the lower class, which was encouraged not to reproduce in order to decrease the number of people in poverty.¹⁴⁴ In the present, this logic would not hold, since it is known that genetics do not determine social status or economic class. Originally eugenic measures went beyond

socioeconomic concerns. The United States was one country that favored such measures. It promoted and sometimes forced sterilization on citizens who had a particular disease or were seen as a lesser human being not worthy of reproducing on the basis of mental incapacity.¹⁴⁵ The main association with eugenic practices is the extreme abuse that occurred in wartime Germany, where it was deemed acceptable to end a life in order to eliminate the chance of a similar human being born. Physicians there were committing eugenic acts even before the Nazis, when they killed infants and children suffering from terrible diseases. Afterwards, the WWII Nazi regime justified their eugenic actions with the notion that they were creating a superior human race.¹⁴⁶ It would be appalling for events like these to repeat themselves, and when the term 'eugenics' is brought into the conversation about genetic enhancement, many people feel that similar events will occur once again. However, if we consider what eugenics really means, improving the human being, we may be able to alter the negative connotation of this term.

Eugenic practices are aimed at promoting a better version of a human being. While it should not be permissible to end the life of a living individual so that they will not be able to reproduce, it may be acceptable to enhance humans to become better versions of themselves. This new liberal eugenic movement would allow individuals to choose to either enhance themselves, if possible, or enhance future generations of their lineage. Many scholars insist that this should be voluntary so that autonomy is upheld and so that it does not become a coercive practice. From this perspective, the goal would not be to improve the human race, but rather to improve specific individuals. In addition, it would remove unfavorable disease-bearing elements from individuals, making them more likely to live a life free of suffering from illness.¹⁴⁷ This practice still causes unease, but it redefines how society interprets the word 'eugenics' and shifts

the connotation from completely negative, toward a more positive and appealing meaning that indicates possible improvement.

One of the concerns associated with the eugenic nature of genetic enhancement is that the genetic diversity of society will decrease. For example, cognitive diversity might suffer. It has been proven that having a team of individuals who have different cognitive strengths is more successful in cooperating, solving problems, and accomplishing tasks.¹⁴⁸ It would be problematic if everyone used enhancement technologies to achieve the same cognitive enhancements, thereby decreasing the diversity among a large group of people. If every person had the same cognitive strengths, society would suffer since people would have a harder time working together. This fear may be unwarranted, however. It is difficult to determine universally beneficial cognitive traits that everyone would wish to possess. If all people could choose which cognitive aspects were being enhanced, the diversity among a community would remain the same or increase. If it was possible, it would be beneficial to pursue methods of enhancing our cognitive abilities, while still ensuring that diversity among communities was abundant.¹⁴⁹

Furthermore, the diversity of other traits may decrease if the traits are essentially eliminated from society. Some see this as a negative side-effect of genetic enhancement, since communities will see more uniformity among people, and children will be raised to ignore and no longer embrace differences. For instance, de Melo-Martín postulates that if there were genetic components associated with sexuality and a new generation was born that was completely heterosexual, homophobia would be more prevalent, as a result of not having homosexual individuals within the community. There might be an increase in single-minded opinions as well as the potential for abuse should any of those children come into contact with a homosexual

individual. This example is extreme and unlikely, but demonstrates the idea that diversity is necessary to promote acceptance and peace within a society.¹⁵⁰

There are practices being pursued today, such as pre-implantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) and abortions, that some would consider eugenic. Currently in the United States, it is common for some parents to terminate their pregnancy if they discover that their fetus has a physical abnormality or suffers from Down syndrome, for example, or they may choose an embryo with a preferred genetic makeup.¹⁵¹ This, in a sense, is a form of eugenics, since parents are determining which factors would give a child the best life and, thereby, discarding a fetus or unfavorable embryo. This practice is widely accepted, both socially and legally, even though it has eugenic undertones that people may not consider.¹⁵² Is there really a difference, therefore, between choosing favorable genes for a child to possess through enhancement and ensuring that those with diseases are not being born by way of PGD or abortion? Genetic enhancement may actually be better-received if compared to these actions. While abortion and embryo destruction is permitted, it is not accepted everywhere. Gene editing through CRISPR would eliminate the need to destroy an embryo, because its genes could simply be modified as opposed to just looked at and analyzed. There would be no need to dispose of an embryo with unwanted genes.¹⁵³

If we frame eugenics in a more positive way, it may seem that the desire to improve our biology can be considered to be a preferred act. While many scholars feel that we should cease any research that may lead to post-humans and that risk eugenic practices, it is more realistic to proceed with caution.¹⁵⁴ Scientists will continue to develop enhancement techniques, and the field of bioethics should participate in ensuring that negative or historic eugenic actions do not repeat themselves. Promoting a 'kinder and gentler' view of eugenics as a necessary component

of the natural evolution of humans may make genetic enhancement more attractive to the public, and ease the fears of some philosophers that it will lead to catastrophic ethical events.

A major misgiving that is associated with genetic enhancement is whether wealthy individuals will be the only ones able to access this technology. Similar to advanced medical techniques, the process of genetic enhancement is predicted to cost a significant amount when it is introduced, and it is feared that only a small percentage of even the wealthy population will be able to afford these modifications, leaving everyone else without it. This would add a new moral dimension to the already existing economic gap between the wealthy and the poor.¹⁵⁵ It emphasizes that individuals who could not afford it, or who would not get access to the procedure were 'lesser' in a way, which may eventually lead to the concerns that have been discussed. The creation of a wealthy enhanced population may lead to exploitation of poorer individuals, and if this population continued to grow, the definition of being 'poor' would eventually have less to do with money, and more to do with being unenhanced.¹⁵⁶

An increased economic gap emphasizes the need for scholars to promote equality just as much as liberty when discussing genetic enhancements. Generally speaking, individuals in the U.S. are at liberty to freely make decisions that work best for them and their families. For example, if a family is able to afford them, it will certainly send its children to elite private schools.¹⁵⁷ The same is true with regard to healthcare. If a patient has insurance, they will seek the best and most advanced medical services. However, equality is not guaranteed, since medical care is not available for all citizens as a result of insurance issues or lack of access to health centers. Once enhancement becomes a reality, it is expected that these technologies will also not be readily available to everyone, which further increases the inequality between groups of people living in the same country.¹⁵⁸ Liberty is important within this society, but equality must also be

considered to ensure that people are being treated fairly and that there is no potential for the abuse of individuals who cannot afford it by those able to become enhanced.¹⁵⁹

This would also apply to the currently existing relationship between developed and underdeveloped countries. There is a significant disparity gap in access to healthcare around the world, as the United States, for example, has vaccinations and hospital services readily available in most areas, whereas countries in Africa do not have the means to provide these interventions for all of its citizens.¹⁶⁰ The introduction of genetic enhancement would increase that gap, making those living in developed countries even more fortunate than those who do not have it made available to them. This issue will continue indefinitely if developed countries only pursue research for themselves, and do not consider the injustices in the rest of the world. For this reason, many scholars believe that genetic enhancement should not be the focus of research and funding, because it would only benefit a small number of individuals, whereas a better focus would be to develop better ways to provide basic healthcare to those in need.

While justice issues are probable, there may be a solution or an assistive body that could combat disparities. Buchanan suggests the creation of an oversight organization that would be responsible for creating policies and monitoring enhancement progress as this technique continues to develop and integrate itself into society.¹⁶¹ While this type of group would be beneficial to ensure that human rights were maintained and that scientific and medical standards were being upheld, it would be difficult to create one organization that would be able to achieve these goals for multiple countries, especially those with differing values. It may also be challenging to obtain accurate information about all the research being done and to be aware of who is being enhanced. Currently, many countries have an oversight committee or regulations, at least, about embryonic research and whether enhancement is permitted to be studied. In the

future, these organizations may want to broaden their responsibilities, and it would be ideal for countries to collaborate and cooperate to uphold safety. Since the idea of genetic enhancement is still only an idea, it is difficult to predict which hardships oversight committees will face, and if there is an overarching solution that would allow multiple nations to work together.¹⁶²

When discussing the potential to have oversight committees and organizations create guidelines about genetic enhancement research, one factor that is often forgotten is the opinion of the public. Ensuring that communities have correct information can be difficult, especially when media has a tendency to oversimplify or over-exaggerate research triumphs and exciting possibilities. For this reason, lawmakers and scientists do not always include the public when making decisions or formulating regulations. Since this new technology could be used by all individuals and they would be the ones deciding whether to enhance themselves or their future children, it is crucial that the public be part of the conversation. Public engagement should include citizens from all walks of life, with varying education levels, in order to gain a true depiction of what communal opinions are regarding genetic enhancement. This step should not be omitted, especially if the majority of the public feels strongly one way or another. While this process might be considered tedious and time-consuming, it is an important aspect of debating and deciding how genetic enhancement should affect our futures.

As genetic therapies become more prevalent, the possibility of genetic enhancement and transhumanism becomes ever more realistic. While there are many scholars who feel that going down this path would be detrimental to the human race, others are strong proponents. Although there are fears and concerns, this technology will continue to develop, and it is crucial that related ethical issues are discussed. Among the topics that need to be addressed are the elements and development of human nature, the moral status of both humans and potential post-humans,

including the possibility for the formation of a different set of human rights for the latter, the risk involved in the consideration of eugenic practices along with ensuing justice issues that might occur, and finally, the organizational oversight efforts which would need to exist to monitor progress. While many questions remain unanswered, it is necessary for us to continue asking them, as humanity may be called upon to accept post-humans as members of our society in the future. ⁷ Heidi Ledford, <u>"Mini enzyme moves gene editing closer to the clinic," Nature 520, no. 7545</u>

(April 2015):18. doi: 10.1038/520018a.

⁸ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 84-85.

⁹ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 85-86.

¹⁰ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 83.

¹¹ James N. Warnock, Claire Daigre, and Mohamed Al-Rubeai, "Introduction to Viral Vectors,"

in Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy: Methods and Protocols, eds. Otto-Wilhelm Merten and

Mohamed Al-Rubeai, (New York: Humana Press, 2011), 1-20.

¹² National Academies, Human Genome Editing, 88-89

¹³ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 111.

¹⁴ Denèfle, "Introduction to Genetic Therapy," 32-34.

¹⁵ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 115-116.

¹⁶ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 69-70.

¹⁷ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 70-72.

¹⁸ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 45-57.

¹⁹ Gardner et.al., "Intent-to-treat leukemia remission," 3322-3331.

²⁰ University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, "CRISPR-edited CAR T cells enhance fight against blood cancers," *Science Daily*, December 7, 2020,

https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2020/12/201207161535.htm

²¹ Heidi Ledford, "CRISPR treatment inserted directly into the body for first time," *Nature* 579 (March 2020):185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-00655-8</u>

²² NIH U.S. National Library of Medicine Clinical Trials Database (clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT03872479; accessed March 1, 2020), <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03872479</u>

²³ "CRISPR-Cas Clinical Trials," CRISPR Medicine News, accessed March 2, 2020,

https://crisprmedicinenews.com/clinical-trials/crispr-cas-clinical-trials/

²⁴ Rasmus Kragh Jakobsen, "CRISPR clinical trials overview 2020," CRISPR Medicine News, last modified April 8, 2020, <u>https://crisprmedicinenews.com/news/crispr-clinical-trials-overview-2020/</u>

²⁵NIH U.S. National Library of Medicine Clinical Trials Database (clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT03745287; accessed March 1, 2020),

https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03745287?term=NCT03745287&draw=2&rank=1

²⁶ Kelly Servick, "First U.S. Team to Gene-Edit Human Embryos Revealed," *Science*, July 27, 2017. Accessed July 28, 2017. http://www.sciencemag.org/news/2017/07/first-us-team-gene-edit-human-embryos-revealed.

²⁷ David Cyranoski, "The CRISPR-baby scandal: what's next for human gene-editing," *Nature* 566 (February 2019): 440-442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-019-00673-1</u>

²⁸ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 113-117.

²⁹ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 116.

³⁰ Greely,"CRISPR'd babies," 117.

¹ Denèfle, "Introduction to Genetic Therapy," 27-30.

² National Academies, Human Genome Editing, 2-3.

³ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 62-67.

⁴ Doudna, "Genome-editing revolution," 470.

⁵ Zhang, Wen, and Guo. "CRISPR/Cas9 for genome editing," 41-42.

⁶ Zhang, Wen, and Guo, "CRISPR/Cas9 for genome editing," 44.

³⁶ Fuchs, "Ethical Consideration," 408-409.

³⁷ Xiang Jin Kang, Chiong Isabella Noelle Caparas, Boon Seng Soh, and Yong Fan, "Addressing challenges in the clinical applications associated with CRISPR/Cas9 technology and ethical questions to prevent its misuse," Protein and Cell 8, no.11 (2017):793-794, DOI 10.1007/s13238-017-0477-4.

³⁸ Bryan Cwik, "Designing Ethical Trials of Germline Gene Editing," New England Journal of Medicine 37, no.20 (November 2017):1911-1913, DOI: 10.1056/NEJMp1711000.

³⁹ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 117-118.

⁴⁰ Berliner, *Ethical Dilemmas*, 81-82.

⁴¹ Shawna Benston, "Everything in moderation, even hype: learning from vaccine controversies to strike balance with CRISPR," Journal of Medical Ethics 43, no.12 (December 2017):1-5, doi:10.1136/medethics-2016-103666.

⁴² National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 118-120.

- ⁴³ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 112-113.
- ⁴⁴ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 116, 119.
- ⁴⁵ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 163-165.
- ⁴⁶ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 152-162.
- ⁴⁷ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 156.
- ⁴⁸ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 160.
- ⁴⁹ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 167-168.
- ⁵⁰ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 103-105.
- ⁵¹ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 106-108.
- ⁵² National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 123.
- ⁵³ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 171-177.
- ⁵⁴ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 127-128.

⁵⁵ Steven M. Weisberg, Daniel Badgio and Anjan Chatterjee, "A CRISPR New World: Attitudes in the Public toward Innovations in Human Genetic Modification," Frontiers in Public Health 5, no.117 (May 2017): 1-9, doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00117.

⁵⁶ Raheleh Heidari, David Martin Shaw and Bernice Simone Elger, "CRISPR and the Rebirth of Synthetic Biology," Science and Engineering Ethics 23, no.2 (April 2017): 355-357, doi: 10.1007/s11948-016-9768-z.

⁵⁷ Heidari et.al., "CRISPR and the Rebirth of Synthetic Biology," 357-361.

- ⁵⁸ Capps, et.al., "Falling Giants," 1-5.
- ⁵⁹ Capps et.al., "Falling giants," 5-7.
- ⁶⁰ Capps et.al., "Falling giants," 7-10.

⁶¹ Dianne Nicol et.al., "Key challenges in bringing CRISPR-mediated somatic cell therapy into the clinic," Genome Medicine 9, no.1 (September 2017): 1-2, DOI 10.1186/s13073-017-0475-4

- ⁶² Nicol et.al., "Key challenges," 3-4.
- ⁶³ Greely, "CRISPR'd babies," 142-144.
- ⁶⁴ Denèfle, "Introduction to Genetic Therapy," 32-34.
- ⁶⁵ National Academies. *Human Genome Editing*, 115-116.

³¹ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 111.

³² National Academies, Human Genome Editing, 113.

³³ Fuchs, "Ethical Consideration," 413-414.

³⁴ October et.al., "The Parent Perspective," 293-299.

³⁵ Fuchs, "Ethical Consideration," 410-413.

⁶⁶ Erik Malmqvist, "Reproductive Choice, Enhancement, and the Moral Continuum Argument," *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* 39, no.1 (February 2014): 41-42, doi:10.1093/jmp/jht058.

⁶⁷ "Embryonic and Fetal Research Laws," National Conference of State Legislatures, Last modified January 1, 2016, http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/embryonic-and-fetal-research-laws.aspx .

⁶⁸ Kelly E. Ormond et.al., "Human Germline Genome Editing," *American Journal of Human Genetics* 101, no. 2 (August 2017):171-172. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.06.012.

⁶⁹ Francis S. Collins, "Statement on NIH Funding of Research using Gene-editing Technologies in Human Embryos," National Institutes of Health, Written April 28, 2015,

https://www.nih.gov/about-nih/who-we-are/nih-director/statements/statement-nih-funding-research-using-gene-editing-technologies-human-embryos.

⁷⁰ Christopher Gyngell, Thomas Douglas, and Julian Savalescu, "The Ethics of Germline Gene Edting," *Journal of Applied Philosophy* 34, no.4 (2017):505, doi: 10.1111/japp.12249.

⁷¹ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 128-130.

⁷² Capps et.al., "Falling Giants," 1-3.

⁷³ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 118-120.

⁷⁴ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 128-130.

⁷⁵ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*? 13-15.

⁷⁶ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity?* 215-216.

⁷⁷ Agar, "We Must Not Create Being with Moral Standing Superior to Our Own,"709.

⁷⁸ Thomas Douglas, "The Harms of Enhancement and the Conclusive Reasons View,"

Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics 24, no. 1(January 2015):28-30.

doi:10.1017/S0963180114000218.

⁷⁹ Ewan Callaway, "Embryo-editing Research Gathers Momentum," *Nature* 532, no.7599 (April 2016):289-290.

⁸⁰ Nicholas Drake, "Is Moral Bioenhancement Dangerous?" *Journal of Medical Ethics* 42, no.1 (January 2016): 5, doi: 10.1136/medethics-2015-102944.

⁸¹ Ingmar Persson and Julian Savalescu, "Should Moral Enhancement be Compuslory? A response to Vojin Rakic," *Journal of Medical Ethics* 40, no. 4 (April 2014): 251-252, doi: 10.1136/medethics-2013-101423.

⁸² Vojin Rakic and James Hughes, "Reflections on Moral Enhancement: Can we? Should we?" *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.1 (January 2015):4. doi: 10.1017/S0963180114000267.

⁸³ Benston, "Everything in Moderation," 819-823.

 ⁸⁴ Nicholas Agar, "Why is it Possible to Enhance Moral Status and Why Doing so is Wrong?" *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no. 2 (February 2013):70, doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-100597
 ⁸⁵ James J. Hughes, "Moral Enhancement Requires Multiple Virtues: Toward a Posthuman model of Character Development," *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.1 (January 2015):90, doi: 10.1017/S0963180114000334.

⁸⁶ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 25-28.

⁸⁷ Tom Koch, "Enhancing Who? Enhancing What? Ethics, Bioethics, and Transhumanism," *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* 35, (December 2010): 688-689, Doi: 10.1093/jmp/jhq051.

⁸⁸ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity?* 119-121.

⁸⁹ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*? 270-274.

⁹⁰ Powell, "In Genes We Trust," 672-673.

⁹¹ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*? 117-119.

- ⁹⁷ Murphy, "The Ethics of Impossible and Possible Changes," 193-194.
- ⁹⁸ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*? 155-158.
- ⁹⁹ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*? 164-167.

Lottery," Cuadernos de bioetica 25, no.85 (Sept-Dec 2014): 387-388.

¹⁰¹ Tintino, "From Darwinian," 389.

- ¹⁰² Tintino, "From Darwinian," 392.
- ¹⁰³ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 71-77.
- ¹⁰⁴ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*? 94-96.
- ¹⁰⁵ National Academies, *Human Genome Editing*, 113.
- ¹⁰⁶ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*? 128-130.
- ¹⁰⁷ Wasserman, "Better Parenting," 226.
- ¹⁰⁸ Wasserman, "Better Parenting," 227-230.
- ¹⁰⁹ Steinbock, "Designer babies," 1294-1295.
- ¹¹⁰ Wasserman, "Better Parenting," 217-218.
- ¹¹¹ Wasserman, "Better Parenting," 219.
- ¹¹² Hughes, "Moral Enhancement," 86-89.
- ¹¹³ Hughes, "Moral Enhancement," 89-92.

¹¹⁴ Johann A.R. Roduit, Jan-Christoph Heilinger, and Holger Baumann, "Ideas of Perfection and the Ethics of Human Enhancement," *Bioethics* 29, no.9 (November 2015):622-625, doi:

10.1111/bioe.12192.

- ¹¹⁵ Roduit, Heilenger, and Baumann, "Ideas of Perfection," 626-627.
- ¹¹⁶ Wasserman, "Better Parenting," 230-232.
- ¹¹⁷ Felipe E. Vizcarrondo, "Human Enhancement: The New Eugenics," *The Linacre Quarterly* 81, no.3 (August 2014): 242, doi: 10.1179/2050854914Y.0000000021.
- ¹¹⁸ Powell, "The Biomedical Enhancement of Moral Status," 65-66.
- ¹¹⁹ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 221-223.
- ¹²⁰ DeGrazia, Creation Ethics, 124-126.

¹²¹ David Wasserman, "Devoured by our own Children: The Possibility and Peril of Moral Status Enhancement," *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no.2 (February 2013): 78-79, doi:

10.1136/medethics-2012-100843.

¹²² Michael Hauskeller, "The Moral Status of Post-Persons," *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no.2 (February 2013): 76-77, doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-100837.

¹²³ Agar, "Why is it Possible," 69-70.

¹²⁴ Persson and Savalescu, "Should Moral Enhancement be Compulsory?" 251.

¹²⁵ Vojin Rakic, "We Must Create Beings with Moral Standing Superior to our own," *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.1 (January 2015): 58-60, doi:

10.1017/S0963180114000309.

¹²⁶ Persson and Savalescu, "Should Moral Enhancement be Compulsory?" 251.

⁹² Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*? 115-117.

⁹³ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity?* 121-134.

⁹⁴ Buchanan, *Beyond Humanity*? 24-25.

⁹⁵ Murphy, "The Ethics of Impossible and Possible Changes," 191-192.

⁹⁶ Murphy, "The Ethics of Impossible and Possible Changes," 192.

¹⁰⁰ Giorgio Tintino, "From Darwinian to Technological Evolution: Forgetting the Human

- ¹²⁷ Nicholas Agar, "Moral Bioenhancement and the Utilitarian Catastrophe," Cambridge
- Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics 24, no.1 (January 2015): 37-39, doi:

- ¹²⁸ Rakic, "We must Create Beings," 60.
- ¹²⁹ Agar, "Moral Bioenhancement," 38-41.
- ¹³⁰ Agar, "Moral Bioenhancement," 40.
- ¹³¹ Hughes, "Moral Enhancement," 89-92.
- ¹³² Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 227-236.
- ¹³³ Wasserman, "Devoured by our own Children," 78-79.
- ¹³⁴ Agar, "Why is it Possible," 71.
- ¹³⁵ Agar, "We must not Create Beings," 709.
- ¹³⁶ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 225-227.
- ¹³⁷ Hauskeller, "Moral Status of Post-Persons," 76-77.
- ¹³⁸ Agar, "Why is it Possible," 71-72.
- ¹³⁹ Rakic, "We must Create Beings," 63.
- ¹⁴⁰ Agar, "Why is it Possible," 72-73.
- ¹⁴¹ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 231-233.
- ¹⁴² Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 231-233.
- ¹⁴³ Michael J. Selgelid, "Moderate Eugenics and Human Enhancement," Medicine, Healthcare,
- and Philosophy 17, no.1 (February 2014): 3-4, doi: 10.1007/s11019-013-9485-1.
- ¹⁴⁴ Vizcarrondo, "Human Enhancement," 239.
- ¹⁴⁵ Selgelid, "Moderate Eugenics," 5.
- ¹⁴⁶ Vizcarrondo, "Human Enhancement," 240.
- ¹⁴⁷ Vizcarrondo, "Human Enhancement," 240-241.
- ¹⁴⁸ Gyngell and Easteal, "Cognitive Diversity," 66-69.
- ¹⁴⁹ Gyngell and Easteal, "Cognitive Diversity," 70-73.
- ¹⁵⁰ Inmaculada De Melo-Martín, "On the Value of Diversity," American Journal of Bioethics 15, no.9 (2015): W1-2, doi: 10.1080/15265161.2015.1065023.
- ¹⁵¹ National Academies, Human Genome Editing, 113.
- ¹⁵² Seligeld, "Moderate Eugenics," 6-8.
- ¹⁵³ Vizcarrondo, "Human Enhancement," 241-242.
- ¹⁵⁴ Rakic, "We must Create Beings," 64-65.
- ¹⁵⁵ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 51-54.
- ¹⁵⁶ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 225-227.
- ¹⁵⁷ Selgelid, "Moderate Eugenics," 10-11.
- ¹⁵⁸ Selgelid, "Moderate Eugenics," 9.
 ¹⁵⁹ Selgelid, "Moderate Eugenics," 9-10.
- ¹⁶⁰ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 246-247.
- ¹⁶¹ Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 255-258.
- ¹⁶² Buchanan, Beyond Humanity? 270-274.

^{10.1017/}S0963180114000280.

Chapter 7: Conclusion

This dissertation has presented and examined the different ethical considerations that medical organizations must bear in mind when embarking upon the introduction of genetic therapies and the use of CRISPR-Cas9 as an editing technique. It provides a foundation of ideas and methodologies that should assist these institutions with their decision-making process, policy development, and education process, in order to promote safety and comfort among both staff and patients. While it may be quite some time before genetic editing and enhancement becomes a regular practice, it is beneficial for health care organizations to recognize how gene therapies are perceived at this time, and how they can be safely and effectively incorporated into our current health care system. This work does not include all of the ethical concerns associated with gene therapy and gene editing technologies, but it does consider many practical aspects of these new treatment options that will help to achieve the goal successfully introducing these medical advancements.

There are many steps in the process of introducing CRISPR into the current health care system, including ensuring an initial understanding of how the technique works, educating workers who are able to administer the treatment, and communicating information to patients and families about the risks, benefits, limitations, and success rates of genetic editing. All of these practical components are complemented by ethical understanding that applies to the current uses and short-term expectations of genetic therapies. This dissertation is unique in that it explores the more practical considerations of this undertaking, as opposed to focusing entirely on the ethical fears for the future. While enhancement and transhumanism must be included in all ethical discourse about using CRISPR for genetic editing, there are other ethics-related topics that contribute to a solid basis for the development of an understanding of this new technology

and its implications. In addition to the scientific and economic information that will become available in the near future, organizations would benefit from ethical guidance reflected in the points made in this dissertation with regard to keeping multiple perspectives and ethical considerations in mind, during both their individually-based and hospital-wide decision making process

One of the driving forces in how decisions are made regarding CRISPR is relational decision-making autonomy. Capable patients have the right to make their own choices about which treatments to try, despite any known risks. If a patient suffering from cancer, for example, discovers a clinical trial using genetic therapy, they have the right to decide for themselves whether this treatment is something they wish to pursue. However, when a patient is not capable of making a decision, especially one of the magnitude of altering their genome, an organization has a higher responsibility to ensure that autonomy is upheld. Substitute decision makers (SDMs) have to follow established guidelines when providing consent on someone else's behalf, and it is up to both individual physicians, and institutions to ensure that this process takes place appropriately. In the case of a novel technology such as gene therapy, strong relationships between physicians and patients or SDMs will contribute to a successful consent process and a positive medical experience. Understanding why autonomy is at the pinnacle of a modern health care system, and what role providers can play within it, will ideally lead to more professional and public confidence when introducing CRISPR.

Even closer attention should be paid when SDMs are parents making decisions for their children, who frequently do not possess adequate decision-making capacity to consent to the use of genetic therapies or editing systems. A parent has the unique responsibility of deciding when to pursue a risky procedure and whether the risk is worth it in order to save their child's life. The
process of obtaining consent is similar to one with adults and their SDMs, but must also include the opinion of the child if possible. For example, a child with cancer may not be able to fully understand their available treatment options, but they are able to express how they feel, which could influence whether they should participate in a clinical trial using gene therapy. Researchers have an additional responsibility to consider all of the stakeholders in this situation, and how their decisions impact the patient. All aspects of a choice, including ulterior motives, socioeconomic factors, and parental values, should be disclosed in order to achieve an outcome that is in the best interest of the child.

While autonomous decision making relies on individual's making choices in accordance with their own beliefs and values, autonomy may also be influenced by factors that are out of a patient's control. Therapies that use CRISPR are extremely expensive, and there is significant concern that accessing and affording them will be impossible for most, except for a small group of wealthy people. This apprehension speaks to the fact that not only are there differing standards of health care around the world, but also within a single country, such as the United States, despite the global consensus that humans have a right to health care. It can be daunting to address health disparities that exist with regard to basic needs, such as nutrition and clean water, let alone inequalities with regard to accessing genetic editing. Differences in health care must be considered, however, because organizations who are implementing these new technologies have to determine how they are going to promote equitable access while maintaining the highest level of care possible. If this aspect in the implementation process is not taken into account, if the research process has been completed and the procedure is approved at an institution outside of local boundaries, and if the desired procedure is being offered at lower cost abroad, individuals will seek care elsewhere, leading to an increase in medical tourism.

Individualized decisions are clearly relevant, but the best interests of a population or community must also be taken into account when implementing a new genetic therapy. Genetic enhancement and individual therapies do not only affect the patient receiving them, but also have an impact on the public around them. Current discourse includes the question of how genetic enhancement could affect society, but does not touch upon how genetic therapies could be integrated into public health models of prevention. Many public health measures are designed to lead to disease prevention as opposed to providing curative options, in order to reduce burdens on the health care system and to improve the overall health of a community. In order for a public health campaign to be successful, utilitarian practices must allow for the guarantee of autonomy, which allows for individuals to make some of their own choices with regard to the resources that are available. Understanding this concept ensures that once genetic editing becomes more popular and accepted among the medical community, it may be able to be marketed as a public health tool for screening and elimination of certain diseases. Its use also promotes the human right to health as well as the right to health care.

Currently CRISPR is being used in research studies, and requires a specific focus on informed consent. Many of the components that make consent informed for medical treatment apply to research as well, but when a new technology is being researched and some of the risks are unknown, informed consent is more important than ever. Researchers must exercise extreme caution and be transparent about their work in the course of discussions with patients regarding risks and benefits. This would assure organizations who are introducing these techniques, either during or after clinical trials, that they are able to ensure patient safety and treatment efficacy. While significant safeguards to protect patients from harm already exist, there are groups who remain vulnerable when they are involved in research, many of whom would be targeted for

genetic therapy studies. For example, pregnant women are rarely included in scientific research generally, but they will be the main focus in future research using hereditary gene editing, such as the case with Dr. He's work in China. Additional vulnerability must be recognized and addressed in order to ensure that ethical research results in findings that are applicable to all.

Vulnerability is especially prevalent at the beginning and end of life, when difficult choices must be made, but an individual may not have the capacity to make their own decisions at that time. It can be challenging to make choices that might end in death, for example, and patients and families use a variety of methods to make those choices. Religious beliefs often influence a patient's end of life decisions, and also figure prominently when choices are being made at the beginning of life, such as in the case of abortion. It is important to be aware of how religious traditions affect patient's feelings about how CRISPR is being used, since it may be a treatment option at the beginning of life through embryo manipulation, or at the end of life as it provides treatment for a fatal cancer. Ultimately, a patient or SDM's choice based on religion is justified and upholds autonomy in decision-making. It is up to them how to make decisions regarding controversial procedures, and organizations should have a process in place that respects these choices, and allows patients to express their opinions and feelings about genetic editing.

Organizations do not yet have concrete data about the feasibility and efficacy of using CRISPR in embryos. They are, however, employing Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis (PGD) as a technique that allows parents to choose which embryo to implant based on their genetic makeup. Conversations about the use of PGD include controversial topics, such as IVF, destruction of embryos, and its use to choose non-medical characteristics such as the sex of the child. Institutions can learn from the implementation of PGD and tailor the introduction process

of CRISPR to address some concerns already being raised. For example, if a Catholic organization does not allow IVF to be carried out within its walls, it seems reasonable to predict that the use of CRISPR in embryos will also be prohibited. The opposite may be true at hospitals with robust fertility clinics, therefore, risks regarding sex selection will have to be addressed. Having a foundation for discussion and implementation supports organizations, especially with regard to understanding the implications of germline manipulation, and can inform the planning of the introduction process for genetic editing.

More generally, an organization should examine how it has previously introduced new technologies. Common considerations apply regardless of the nature of the new technology, such as prioritizing patient safety and ensuring accountability to the institution's stakeholders. This recognizes the hospital's commitment to the community that it serves and also upholds its corporate values. The organization would have to consider how a technique such as CRISPR would affect patients and families, staff who may disagree with the practice, and other individuals who would be newly tasked with administering this recent technology. Additional resources would have to be allocated to create education platforms for staff and methods and means of communication to patients. In addition to these resources, cost must be addressed and plans should be created to consider how this procedure could be covered for individuals without insurance, or for those who cannot afford this technique, especially when CRISPR is being employed to eliminate a disease. The information and discussion presented in this dissertation is meant to bring to the attention of medical institutions the many ethical considerations that could inform the mechanisms that be put into place in order to appropriately introduce genetic editing into their organizational framework.

All of the above-described ethical issues are valuable to consider, but it is also beneficial to understand the progress of the CRISPR technique in practice. Gene therapies targeting somatic cells are most frequently being researched because there is more control in the consent process, and there is no risk of future generations being affected. There are a variety of clinical trials being conducted which provide hope to patients dealing with different types of cancers, blood diseases, and other illnesses related to the eye, skin, and liver. Along with supporting research, organizations can play a role in overseeing the research that is being done both locally and globally, in order to avoid further inappropriate research on hereditary genes after the work of Dr. He in China. The need for oversight is paramount in order to ensure that research is being monitored from a variety of perspectives, including on behalf of the public who will be affected by the studies being conducted.

While somatic cell gene therapies are accepted for the most part, hereditary germline editing is feared, mainly due to the risk of using CRISPR-Cas9 to enhance a person beyond medical traits and create a new human race. Scholars believe that using CRISPR to edit genes that code for social traits, such as intelligence or reasoning abilities, will lead to a significant difference in what it means to be human. A new set of human beings – 'post humans,' would be created, which would include a change in the fabric of our human nature. The possibility of such a future would require broad thinking about how to treat these new 'post-humans;' would they have different human rights than unenhanced people? Would there be a risk to mere humans? The most significant worry is that eugenic practices will take place and that the enhanced population will only want to pursue more enhancement. However, eugenic practices that arise due to genetic enhancement need not be considered negative if appropriate oversight takes place and if the use of enhancement technologies becomes widely available. Nevertheless,

apprehension is warranted, since it is not expected that enhancement will be possible in the near future. Attention should be directed toward current ethical concerns first.

As an extensive source of material relating to ethical issues around genetic editing and the implementation of new technologies, this dissertation should provide organizations with ideas that will support the evolving process of CRISPR-Cas9 use. It proposes that there are many factors that contribute to the successful introduction of this new technology which should be considered at each step of implementation. In the short-term, work such as this dissertation will be able to inform high-level discussion about somatic cell therapies and their contributions to science and health care. Cost and accessibility considerations involve ethical issues that can be addressed at once, and would be of benefit to future plans for CRISPR's use in hereditary gene editing. Furthermore, beginning the education process for physicians, health care staff, insurance companies, and the public would give all stakeholders the time to understand the intricacies and implications of the use of CRISPR and provide the opportunity to ask questions about its uses in health care systems.

Beyond these practical suggestions, the research highlighted throughout this dissertation should inspire organizations, and individuals alike to ponder what it means to be human, and whether enhancement would be a positive or a negative contribution to modern medicine. Dr. He chose to go forward with germline editing research, despite a lack of international support. While this may have triggered an unofficial global moratorium on hereditary gene editing, it is only a matter of time before another scientist makes the same attempt. This dissertation does not address or answer all of the questions raised about the unknown risks and uses of CRISPR, but it does lay a foundation upon which organizations can begin to construct their positions with regard to how humanity will change in the future. It is a worthwhile exercise for all humans to consider

the implications of genome editing, and to get involved in or at least make themselves aware of the scientific discourse around this topic, in order to prepare for the new future of humanity.

Bibliography

Abbasi, Mahmoud, Ehsan Shamski Gooshki, and Neda Allahbedashti. "Abortion in Iranian Legal System." *Iranian Journal of Asthma, Allergy, and Immunology* 13, no.1 (2014): 71-84.

Abou-El-Enein, Mohamed, Gerhard Bauer, and Petra Reinke. "Gene Therapy: A Possible Future Standard for HIV Care." *Trends in Biotechnology* 2015 33, no.7 (July 2015): 374-376. Doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2015.03.006.

Acuff, Katherine L. "Healthcare Ethics, Public Policy, and the Healthcare Organization." In *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, edited by Gary Filerman, Ann E.Mills, and Paul P. Schyve. 223-242. Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014..

Agar, Nicholas. "Moral Bioenhancement and the Utilitarian Catastrophe." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.1 (January 2015): 37-47. doi: 10.1017/S0963180114000280.

Agar, Nicholas. "Why is it Possible to Enhance Moral Status and Why Doing so is Wrong?" *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no. 2 (February 2013):67-74. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-100597.

Agar, Nicholas. "We Must Not Create Beings with Moral Standing Superior to Our Own." *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no.11 (November 2013):709. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-101257.

Aggarwal, Ajay and Joanna Davies, Richard Sullivan. ""Nudge" in the Clinical Consultation – an Acceptable Form of Medical Paternalism?" *BMC Medical Ethics*. 15 (April 2014):31. doi: 10.1186/1472-6939-15-31.

Akyil, Yudum, Anne Prouty, Amy Blanchard, and Kevin Lyness, "Experiences of Families Transmitting Values in a Rapidly Changing Society: Implications for Family Therapists," *Family Process* 55, no.2 (June 2016):368-381. doi: 10.1111/famp.12163.

Alderson, Priscilla and Virginia Morrow, *The Ethics of Research with Children and Young People: A Practical Handbook*, London: SAGE, 2011.

Allen, Emily-Charlotte Frances, and Bruce Arroll. "Physician Self-Disclosure in Primary Care: a Mixed Methods Study of GP's Attitudes, Skills, and Behaviour." *British Journal of General Practice*. 65, no.638 (September 2015):e601-8. doi: 10.3399/bjgp15X686521.

Allmark, Peter, Angela Tod and Jo Abbott. "The evaluation public health education initiatives on smoking and lung cancer: an ethical critique." In *Public Health Ethics and Practice* edited by Stephen Peckham and Alison Hann, 65-81. Bristol: Policy Press, 2010.

Altman, Drew. "Understanding the US failure on coronavirus – an essay by Drew Altman." *BMJ* 370, m3417 (September 2020):1-3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m3417.

Amagwula, Tochi, Peter L. Chang, Amjad Hossain, Joey Tyner, Aimee L. Rivers, and John Y. Phelps. "Preimplantation genetic diagnosis: a systematic review of litigation in the face of new technology." *Fertility and Sterility* 98, no.5 (November 2012):1277-82. Doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.07.1100.

American Pregnancy Association. "Amniocentesis." Last modified April 25, 2017. https://americanpregnancy.org/prenatal-testing/amniocentesis-733/

"An Act to Amend the Criminal Code and to make related amendments to other acts (Medical Assistance in Dying)," Bill C-14, 1st sess., 42nd Parliament, 64-65 Elizabeth II, 2015-2016 http://www.parl.gc.ca/HousePublications/Publication.aspx?Language=E&Mode=1&DocId=8384 014.

Andorno, Roberto. "Human Dignity and Human Rights." In *UNESCO Universal Declaration on Bioethics and Human Rights*, edited by Henk ten Have and Michele S. Jean, 91-98. Paris: UNESCO Publishing, 2009.

Annas George J. and Michael A. Grodin. "The Nuremberg Code." In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 136-140. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Appel, Jacob M. "Neonatal Euthanasia: Why Require Parental Consent?" *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry* 6, no.477 (May 2009):477-482. Doi: 10.1007/s11673-009-9156-3.

Appelbaum, Paul S. and Charles W. Lidz. "The Therapeutic Misconception." in In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 633-644. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Arbuthnot, P., M.B. Maepa, A. Ely, and M.S. Pepper. "The state of gene therapy in Africa, its significance and implications for the future." *Gene Therapy* 24, (2017): 581-589. doi: 10.1038/gt.2017.57.

Ariès, Philippe. *Western Attitudes toward Death: from the Middle Ages to the Present*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1974.

Árnason, Vilhjálmur, Hongwen Li, and Yali Cong. "Informed Consent." In *The SAGE Handbook* of *Healthcare Ethics: Core and Emerging Issues*, edited by Ruth Chadwick, Henk ten Have, and Eric Meslin, 106-116. Los Angeles: SAGE, 2011.

Ashcroft, Richard E. "The Declaration of Helsinki." In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 141-148. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Assisted Human Reproduction Act, S.C. 2004, c. 2 (Canada).

Atighetchi, Dariusch. "The Position of Islamic Tradition on Contraception." *Medicine and Law* 13, no.7-8 (1994):717-725.

Atkinson, Kathleen, Barry Zuckerman, Joshua M. Sharfstein, Donna Levin, Robin J. R. Blatt, and Howard K. Koh. "A Public Health Response to Emerging Technology: Expansion of the Massachusetts newborn screening program." *Public Health Reports* 116, no.2 (Mar-Apr 2001): 122-31. doi: 10.1093/phr/116.2.122.

Backman, Gunilla, Paul Hunt, Rajat Khosla, Camila Jaramillo-Strouss, Belachew Mekuria Fikre, Caroline Rumble, David Pevalin et.al. "Health Systems and the Right to Health: An Assessment of 194 Countries." *Lancet* 372, no.9655 (December 2008): 2047-85. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61781-X.

Baffoe-Bonnie, Marilyn S. "A justice-based argument for including sickle cell disease in CRISPR/Cas9 clinical research." Bioethics 33, no.6 (February 2019):661-668. doi:10.1111/bioe.12589.

Bailey, Chris. "Gene therapies offer breakthrough results but extraordinary costs." *Massachusetts Municipal Association*, March 18, 2020. <u>https://www.mma.org/gene-therapies-offer-breakthrough-results-but-extraordinary-costs/</u>

Beauchamp, Tom L., and James F. Childress. *Principles of Biomedical Ethics: Seventh Ed.* New York: Oxford University Press, 2009.

Bengtsson, Niclas E., Jane T. Seto, John K. Hall, Jeffrey S. Chamberlain, and Guy L. Odom. "Progress and Prospects of Gene Therapy Clinical Trials for the Muscular Dystrophies." *Human Molecular Genetics* 2016 25, R1 (April 2016):R9-17. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv420.

Benston, Shawna. "Everything in moderation, even hype: learning from vaccine controversies to strike balance with CRISPR." *Journal of Medical Ethics* 43, no.12 (December 2017):1-5. doi:10.1136/medethics-2016-103666.

Berer, Marge. "Termination of Pregnancy as Emergency Obstetric Care: The Interpretation of Catholic Health Policy and the Consequences of Pregnant Women." *Reproductive Health Matters* 21, no.41 (May 2013):9-17. Doi:10.1016/S0968-8080(13)41711-1.

Berg, Jessica W., Paul S. Appelbaum, Charles W. Lidz, and Lisa S. Parker. *Informed Consent: Legal Theory and Clinical Practice*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2001.

Berliner, Janice. *Ethical Dilemmas in Genetics and Genetic Counseling: Principles through Case Scenarios*. Oxford University Press, 2014.

Birchley, Giles, "Harm is all you need? Best interests and disputes about parental decision-making," *Journal of Medical Ethics* 42, no.2 (Feb 2016):111-115. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2015-102893.

Bishop, Jeffrey P. "Finitude." In *Dying in the Twenty-First Century: Toward a New Ethical Framework for the Art of Dying Well* edited by Lydia Dugdale, 19-32. Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2005.

Blumenthal-Barby, J.S. "Between Reason and Coercion: Ethically Permissible Influence in Health Care and Health Policy Contexts." *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal* 22, no.4 (December 2012):345-66.

Boitte, Pierre. "Elderly Persons with Advanced Dementia: An Opportunity for a Palliative Culture in Medicine." in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, edited by Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, 97-112. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004.

Bollig, G., G. Schmidt, JH Rosland, and A. Heller, "Ethical Challenges in Nursing Homes – Staff's Opinions and Experiences with Systematic Ethics Meetings with Participation or Residents' Relatives." *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* 29, no.4 (December 2015):810-823. doi 10.1111/scs.12213.

Bovens, Luc. "Child Euthanasia: Should we just not talk about it?" *Journal of Medical Ethics* 41, no.8 (August 2015): 630-634. Doi: 10.1136/medethics-2014-102329.

Bowdin, S.C., R.Z. Hayeems, N. Monfared, R.D. Cohn, and M.S. Meyn. "The SickKids Genome Clinic: Developing and Evaluating a Pediatric Model for Individualized Genomic Medicine." *Clinical Genetics* 89, no.1 (January 2016):10-19. Doi: 10.1111/cge.12579.

Bowen, Donna Lee. "Contemporary Muslim Ethics of Abortion." In *Islamic Ethics of Life: Abortion, War, and Euthanasia*, edited by Jonathan E. Brockopp, 51-80. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2003.

Bozic, Kevin J., Read G. Pierce, and James H. Herndon. "Health Care Technology Assessment: Basic Principles and Clinical Applications." *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery* 86, no.6 (June 2004): 1305-1313.

Bringman, Jay J. "Invasive Prenatal Genetic Testing: A Catholic Healthcare Provider's Perspective." *The Linacre Quarterly* 81, no.4 (November 2014): 302-313. Doi: 10.1179/2050854914Y.000000022.

Brock, Dan W. "Ethical Issues in Applying Quantitative Models for Setting Priorities in Prevention." In *Ethics, Prevention, and Public Health,* edited by Angus Dawson and Marcel Verweij, 111-128. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007.

Brockopp, Jonathan E., ed. *Islamic Ethics of Life: Abortion, War, and Euthanasia.* Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2003.

Brockopp, Jonathan E. "Taking Life and Saving Life: The Islamic Context." In *Islamic Ethics of Life: Abortion, War, and Euthanasia*, edited by Jonathan E. Brockopp, 1-19. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2003.

Brockopp, Jonathan E. "The "Good Death" in Islamic Theology and Law." In *Islamic Ethics of Life: Abortion, War, and Euthanasia*, edited by Jonathan E. Brockopp, 177-193. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2003.

Brockopp, Jonathan, and Thomas Eich, eds. *Muslim Medical Ethics: From Theory to Practice*. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2008.

Browne, Tamara Kayali. "Why parents should not be told the sex of their fetus." *Journal of Medical Ethics* 43, no.1 (January 2017):5-10. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2015-102989

Brudney, Daniel. "Is health care a human right?" *Theoretical medicine and bioethics*. 37, no.4 (August 2016):249-57, doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9376-6.

Brumback, Roger A. "Neuropathology and Symptomatology in Alzheimer Disease: Implications for Caregiving and Competence." In *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease* edited by Ruth Purtilo and Henk ten Have, 24-46.Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004.

Buchanan, Allen. Beyond Humanity? Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011.

Callahan, Daniel. "The Elderly and Dementia." In *Dying in the Twenty-First Century: Toward a New Ethical Framework for the Art of Dying Well* edited by Lydia Dugdale, 149-160.Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2005.

Callaway, Ewan. "Embry-editing Research Gathers Momentum." *Nature* 532, no.7599 (April 2016):289-290.

Capps, Benjamin, Ruth Chadwick, Yann Joly, John J. Mulvihill, Tamra Lysaght, and Hub Zwart. "Falling Giants and the Rise of Gene Editing: Ethics, Private Interests, and the Public Good." *Human Genomics* 11, no.1 (August 2017): 1-10. doi: 10.1186/s40246-017-0116-4.

Capron, Alexander M. "Legal and Regulatory Standards of Informed Consent in Research." in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics* edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al. 613-632. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Carr, David R. and Steven E. Bradshaw. "Gene Therapies: The Challenge of Super-High-Cost Treatments and How to Pay For Them." *Regenerative Medicine* 11, no.4 (Jun 2016):381-393. doi: 10.2217/rme-2016-0010.

Carranza, María. "The Therapeutic Exception: Abortion, Sterilization, and Medical Necessity in Costa Rica." *Developing World Bioethics* 7, no.2 (August 2007): 56-63. Doi: 10.1111/j.1471-8847.2007.00200.x.

Catholic Health Association of the United States. "Catholic Healthcare in the United States." Last modified March 2021. <u>https://www.chausa.org/about/about/facts-statistics</u>.

Catholic Health Association of the United States. "Ethical and Religious Directives." Accessed December 1, 2019. <u>https://www.chausa.org/ethics/ethical-and-religious-directives</u>.

Centers for Disease Control. "Guidance for wearing masks." COVID-19. Last modified February 11, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/cloth-face-cover-guidance.html</u>

Chadwick, Ruth, Henk ten Have, and Eric Meslin (eds.): *The SAGE Handbook of Healthcare Ethics: Core and Emerging Issues.* SAGE, Los Angeles, 2011.

Chin, Jean Lau, "Culturally Competent Health Care," *Public Health Reports* 115, no.1 (Jan-Feb, 2000):25-33. doi: 10.1093/phr/115.1.25.

Christian Medical and Dental Society of Canada v. College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario, [2019] ONCA 393.

Christopher, Paul P., Yan Leykin, Paul S. Appelbaum, Paul E. Holtzheimer III, Helen S. Mayberg, and Laura B. Dunn. "Enrolling in Deep Brain Stimulation Research for Depression: Influences on Potential Subjects' Decision Making." *Depression and anxiety* 29, no.2 (February 2012):139-46. doi: 10.1002/da.20916.

Chung, Esther, Benjamin Siegel, Arvin Garg, Kathleen Conroy, Rachel Gross, Dayna Long, Gena Lewis et.al., "Screening for Social Determinants of Health Among Children and Families Living in Poverty: A Guide for Clinicians," *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care* 46, no.5 (May 2016):135-153. doi: 10.1016/j.cppeds.2016.02.004.

Clarke, Daniel. "Stop denying migrants their fundamental right to healthcare." *BMJ* 353 (April 2016)::i1971. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i1971.

Cleveland Clinic. "Why it's so important to take the Coronavirus pandemic seriously." Last modified November 18, 2020. <u>https://health.clevelandclinic.org/take-coronavirus-covid-19-pandemic-seriously/</u>

Coggon, John and Jose Miola. "Autonomy, Liberty, and Medical Decision-Making." *Cambridge Law Journal*. 70, no.3 (November 2011): 523-547. doi: 10.1017/S0008197311000845.

Cohen, Andrew B., and Megan S. Wright, Leo Cooney, Terri Fried. "Guardianship and End-of-Life Decision-Making." *JAMA Internal Medicine*. 175, no.10 (October 2015):1687-9. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.3956.

Cohen, Jon. "Did CRISPR help – or harm – the first ever gene-edited babies?" *Science*, August 1, 2019.

https://www.sciencemag.org/news/2019/08/did-crispr-help-or-harm-first-ever-gene-edited-babies.

College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario. "Medical Assistance in Dying." Last modified December 2018. <u>https://www.cpso.on.ca/Physicians/Policies-Guidance/Policies/Medical-Assistance-in-Dying</u>

Collins, Francis S. "Statement on NIH Funding of Research using Gene-editing Technologies in Human Embryos." National Institutes of Health. Written April 28, 2015. https://www.nih.gov/about-nih/who-we-are/nih-director/statements/statement-nih-fundingresearch-using-gene-editing-technologies-human-embryos.

Comte-Sponville, André. A Small Treatise on the Great Virtues: The Uses of Philosophy in Everyday Life. New York: Metropolitan Books, 2002.

Conis, Elena. *Vaccine Nation: America's Changing Relationship with Immunization*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2014.

Conly, Sarah. "The Right to Preventative Health Care." *Theoretical medicine and bioethics*. 37, no.4 (August 2016): 307-321, doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9374-8.

Connolly, Ruairi, Timothy O'Brien, and Gerard Flaherty. "Stem Cell Tourism – A web-based analysis of clinical services available to international travellers." *Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease* 12, no.6 Pt B (Nov-Dec 2014):695-701. doi: 10.1016/j.tmaid.2014.09.008.

Cowley, Christopher, "A Defence of Conscientious Objection in Medicine: A Reply to Schuklenk and Savulescu," *Bioethics* 30, no.5 (June 2016):358-364. doi: 10.1111/bioe.12233.

Coye, Molly Joel and Jason Kell. "How Hospitals Confront New Technology." *Health Affairs* 25, no.1 (Jan-Feb 2006):163-173. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.25.1.163.

CRISPR Medicine News. "CRISPR-Cas Clinical Trials." Accessed March 2, 2020. <u>https://crisprmedicinenews.com/clinical-trials/crispr-cas-clinical-trials/</u>

Crowe, Kelly. "Canadian breakthrough that became the world's most expensive drug, then vanished, gets second chance." CBC News, October 17, 2019. https://www.cbc.ca/news/health/glybera-lpld-rare-drug-orphan-disease-nrc-cbc-price-1.5312177.

Crowe, Kelly. "The million-dollar drug." *CBC News*, November 17, 2018. <u>https://newsinteractives.cbc.ca/longform/glybera</u>.

Cushing, Annie M. "Learning Patient-Centred Communication: The Journey and the Territory." *Patient Education and Counseling*. 98, no.10 (October 2015): 1236-42. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2015.07.024.

Cwik, Bryan. "Designing Ethical Trials of Germline Gene Editing." *New England Journal of Medicine* 37, no.20 (November 2017):1911-1913. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMp1711000.

Cyranoski, David. "The CRISPR-baby scandal: what's next for human gene-editing." *Nature* 566 (February 2019): 440-442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-019-00673-1.</u>

Datta, Jessica and Anthony Kessell. "Unlinked anonymous blood testing for public health purposes: an ethical dilemma?" In *Public Health Ethics and Practice* edited by Stephen Peckham and Alison Hann, 101-115. Bristol: Policy Press, 2010.

Davies, Sara E. Global Politics of Health. Malden: Polity Press, 2010.

Dawson, Angus and Marcel Verweij (eds.). *Ethics, Prevention, and Public Health.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007.

Death with Dignity National Center. "Death and Dignity Acts." Accessed February 23, 2021. <u>https://www.deathwithdignity.org/learn/death-with-dignity-acts/</u>

Death with Dignity National Center. "How do Aid-in-Dying Laws Protect Patients?" Accessed April 10, 2017. <u>https://www.deathwithdignity.org/faqs/#safeguards</u>

De Beaufort, Inez D. and Suzanne van de Vathorst. "Dementia and Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia." *Journal of Neurology* 263, no.7 (July 2016):1463-1467. Doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8095-2.

Degrazia, David. *Creation Ethics: Reproduction, Genetics, and Quality of Life*. Oxford University Press, 2014.

DeJong, Colette, Catherine R. Lucey, and R. Adams Dudley. "Incorporating a New Technology While Doing No Harm, Virtually." *JAMA* 314, no. 22 (December 2015): 2351-2352. Doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.13572.

Dekker, Sidney. Patient Safety: A Human Factors Approach. Boca Raton: CRC Press, 2011.

De Melo-Martín, Inmaculada. "On the Value of Diversity." *American Journal of Bioethics* 15, no.9 (2015): W1-2. doi: 10.1080/15265161.2015.1065023.

Denèfle, Patrice P. "Introduction to Genetic Therapy: A Clinical Aftermath." In *Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy: Methods and Protocols*, edited by Otto-Wilhelm Merten and Mohamed Al-Rubeai, 27-44. New York: Humana Press, 2011.

Denny, Colleen and Christine Grady. "Research Involving Women." In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 407-422. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Desine, Stacy, Brittany M. Hollister, Khadijah E. Abdallah, Anitra Persaud, Sara Chandros Hull, and Vence L. Bonham. "The Meaning of Informed Consent : Genome Editing Clinical Trials for Sickle Cell Disease." *AJOB Empir Bioeth* 11, no.4 (December 2020):12-13. doi:10.1080/23294515.2020.1818876.

"Developmental Disability Across Cultures," *Canadian Pediatric Society*, Last modified March 2018. <u>http://www.kidsnewtocanada.ca/mental-health/developmental-disability</u>.

Dickman, Holly, Kyle Fletke, and Roberta E. Redfern. "Prolonged Unassisted Survival in an Infant with Anencephaly." *BMJ Case Reports* (October 2016): bcr2016215986. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2016-215986.

Diodati, Catherine. *Immunization: History, Ethics, Law, and Health.* Windsor: Integrated Aspects Inc., 1999.

Diniz, Debora. "Selective Abortion in Brazil: The Anencephaly Case." *Developing World Bioethics* 7, no.2 (August 2007): 64-67. Doi: 10.1111/j.1471-8847.2007.00202.x.

Dore, Rebecca, Eric Stone, and Christy Buchanan, "A Social Values Analysis of Parental Decision-Making," *The Journal of Psychology* 148, no.4 (Jul-Aug 2014):477-504. doi: 10.1080/00223980.2013.808603.

Doudna, Jennifer. "Genome-editing revolution: My whirlwind year with CRISPR." *Nature*, 528, no.7583 (December 2015):469-471, doi:10.1038/528469a.

Dougherty, Charles J. and Ruth Purtilo. "Physicians' Duty of Compassion." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 4, no.4 (Fall 1995):426-433. doi: 10.1017/s0963180100006241.

Douglas, Thomas. "The Harms of Enhancement and the Conclusive Reasons View." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no. 1(January 2015):23-36. doi:10.1017/S0963180114000218.

Drake, Nicholas. "Is Moral Bioenhancement Dangerous?" *Journal of Medical Ethics* 42, no.1 (January 2016): 3-6. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2015-102944.

Dugdale, Lydia, ed. *Dying in the Twenty-First Century: Toward a New Ethical Framework for the Art of Dying Well*. Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2015.

Edwards, R.G. "Ethics of PGD: thoughts on the consequences of typing HLA in embryos." *Reproductive Biomedicine Online* 9, no.2 (August 2004): 222-224, doi: <u>10.1016/S1472-6483(10)62133-5</u>.

Edwards, Steven D. "Is There a Distinctive Care Ethics?" *Nursing Ethics* 18, no.2 (March 2011): 184-191. doi: 10.1177/0969733010389431.

Eich, Thomas. "Decision-Making Processes among Contemporary '*Ulama*': Islamic Embryology and the Discussion of Frozen Embryos." In *Muslim Medical Ethics* edited by Jonathan Brockopp and Thomas Eich, 61-77.Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2008.

Ellenchild Pinch, Winifred J. "Advance Directives and End-of-Life Decision Making in Alzheimer Disease: Practical Challenges." in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for*

Alzheimer Disease. Edited by Ruth Purtilo and Henk ten Have, 181-199. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004.

Emanuel, Ezekiel J., Christine Grady, Robert A. Crouch, Reidar K. Lie, Franklin G. Miller, and David Wendler. (eds.): *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Emanuel, Ezekiel J., David Wendler and Christine Grady. "An Ethical Framework for Biomedical Research." in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 123-135. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Evitt, Niklaus, Shamik Mascharak, and Russ Altman. "Human germline CRISPR-Cas modification: toward a regulatory framework." *The American Journal of Bioethics* 15, no.12 (2015):25-29. doi: 10.1080/15265161.2015.1104160.

Fagan, Andrew, "Challenging the Bioethical Application of the Autonomy Principle within Multicultural Societies," *Journal of Applied Philosophy* 21, no.1 (2004):15-31. doi: 10.1111/j.0264-3758.2004.00260.x.

Farmer, Paul. *Pathologies of Power: Health, Human rights, and the new war on the poor.* Berkeley: University of California Press, 2005.

Fields, Arielle, Manjusha Abraham, John Gaughan, Christopher Haines, and K. Sarah Hoehn, "Language Matters: Race, Trust, and Outcomes in the Pediatric Emergency Department," *Pediatric Emergency Care* 32, no.4 (April 2016):222-226. doi: 10.1097/PEC.00000000000453.

Filerman, Gary L., Ann E. Mills, and Paul M. Schyve, eds. *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare: A New Perspective*. Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014.

Fiscella, Kevin, Peter Franks, Mark P. Doescher, and Barry G. Saver, "Disparities in Health Care by Race, Ethnicity, and Language Among the Insured," *Medical Care* 40, no.1 (January 2002):52-59. doi: 10.1097/00005650-200201000-00007.

Fisher, Bernard A., Robert P. McMahon, Walter A. Meyer, Daniel J. Slack, Paul S. Appelbaum, and William T. Carpenter. "Participants With Schizophrenia Retain the Information Necessary for Informed Consent During Clinical Trials." *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 74, no.6 (June 2013): 622-7. doi: 10.4088/JCP.12m07997.

Flory, James H., David Wendler, and Ezekiel J. Emanuel. "Empirical Issues in Informed Consent for Research." in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. Edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 645-660. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Forster, Alan J., Jeff Turnbull, Shaun McGuire, Michael L. Ho, and J.R. Worthington. "Improving Patient Safety and Physician Accountability using the Hospital Credentialing Process." *Open Medicine* 5, no.2 (2011):e79-e86. Frader, Joel and Charles L. Bosk. "The Personal is Political, the Professional is Not: Conscientious Objection to Obtaining/Providing/Acting On Genetic Information." *The American Journal of Medical Genetics* 151C, no.1 (February 2009):62-67. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.c.30200.

Friedel, Marie. "Does the Belgian Law Legalizing Euthanasia for Minors really Address the Needs for Life-Limited Children?" *International Journal of Palliative Nursing* 20, no.6 (June 2014): 265-267. doi: 10.12968/ijpn.2014.20.6.265.

Friedman Ross, Lainie. *Children in Medical Research: Access versus Protection*. New York: Oxford, 2006.

Friedmann, Theodore, Erica C. Jonlin, Nancy M. P. King, Bruce E. Torbett, Nelson A. Wivel, Yasufumi Kaneda, and Michel Sadelain. "ASGCT and JSGT Joint Position Statement on Human Genomic Editing." *Molecular Therapy* 31, no.8 (August 2015):1282. Doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.118.

Fuchs, Michael. "Ethical Consideration." In *Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy: Methods and Protocols*, edited by Otto-Wilhelm Merten and Mohamed Al-Rubeai, 407-424. New York: Humana Press, 2011.

Furlong, Elizabeth. "The Role of Nurses and Nursing Education in the Palliative Care of Patients and Their Families." in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, edited by Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, 243-260. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004.

Galle, Anna, An-Sofie Van Parys, Kristien Roelens, and Ines Keygnaert. "Expectations and Satisfaction with Antenetal Care Among Pregnant Women with a Focus on Vulnerable Groups: a Descriptive Study in Ghent." *BMC Women's Health*. 15 (December 2015):112. Accessed Dec. 1, 2019. doi: 10.1186/s12905-015-0266-2.

Ganzini, Linda, Ladislav Volicer, William A. Nelson, Ellen Fox, and Arthur R. Derse. "Ten Myths about Decision-Making Capacity." *Journal of American Medical Directors Association* 5, no.4 (July-August 2004): 263-267. doi: 10.1097/01.JAM.0000129821.34622.A2.

Gardner, Rebecca A., Olivia Finney, Colleen Annesley, Hannah Brakke, Corinne Summers, Kasey Leger, Marie Bleakley, et.al. "Intent-to-treat leukemia remission by CD19 CAR T cells of defined formulation and dose in children and young adults." *Blood* 129, no. 25 (June 2017): 3322-3331. Doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-769208.

Gastmans, Chris and Yvonne Denier. "What if Patients with Dementia use Decision Aids to Make an Advance Euthanasia Request?" *American Journal of Bioethics* 10, no.4 (April 2010): 25-26. Doi: 10.1080/15265161003632955.

Gatti, Chiara. "The Question of Disability in the Post-human Debate: Critical Remarks." *Cuadernos de bioetica* 25, no.85 (Sep-Dec 2014):445-456.

Gawande, Atul. Being Mortal. Doubleday Canada, 2014.

Gelhaus, Petra. "The Desired Moral Attitude of the Physician: (II) Compassion." *Medicine, Healthcare and Philosophy: A European Journal* 15, no.4 (September 2012):397-410.doi: 10.1007/s11019-011-9368-2.

Gert, Bernard, Charles M. Culver, and K. Danner Clouser. *Bioethics: A Systemic Approach*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2006.

Gimeno-Fileu, Luis A., Amaia Calderón-Larrañaga, Esperanza Diaz, Beatriz Poblador-Plou, Rosa Macipe-Costa, and Alexandra Prados-Torres. "Global Healthcare Use by Immigrants in Spain according to morbidity burden, area of origin, and length of stay." *BMC Public Health* 16 (May 2016):450. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3127-5.

Gonzalez, Daniel, Kim A. Boggess, and Michael Cohen-Wolkoweiz. "Lessons Learned in Pediatric Clinical Research to Evaluate Safe and Effective Use of Drugs in Pharmacy." *Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 125, no.4 (April 2015): 953-958. doi:10.1097/AOG.00000000000743.

Gostin, Lawrence O. and Lesley Stone. "Health of the People: The Highest Law?" In *Ethics*, *Prevention, and Public Health*, edited by Angus Dawson and Marcel Verweij, 59-77. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007.

Greely, Henry T. "CRISPR'd Babies: human germline genome editing in the 'He Jiankui affair." Journal of Law and the Biosciences 6, no.1 (August 2019):111-183. doi:10.1093/jlb/lsz010.

Green, Ronald M. "Research With Fetuses, Embryos, and Stem Cells." in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics* edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 488-502. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Grimsrud, Anna, Helen Bygrave, Meg Doherty, Peter Ehrenkranz, Tom Ellman, Robert Ferris, Nathan Ford, et.al.. "Reimagining HIV Service Delivery: The role of differentiated care from prevention to suppression." *Journal of the International AIDS Society* 19, no.1 (December 2016):21484, doi: 10.7448/IAS.19.1.21484.

Groenhout, Ruth E. *Connected Lives: Human Nature and an Ethics of Care*. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers Inc., 2004.

Gyngell, Christopher, Thomas Douglas, and Julian Savalescu. "The Ethics of Germline Gene Edting." *Journal of Applied Philosophy* 34, no.4 (2017):498-513. doi: 10.1111/japp.12249.

Gyngell, Christopher and Simon Easteal. "Cognitive Diversity and Moral Enhancement." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.1 (2015): 66-74. doi: 10.1017/S0963180114000310.

Hain, Richard D.W. "Euthanasia: 10 Myths." *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2014 99, no.9 (September 2014): 798-799. Doi:10.1136/archdischild-2014-306218.

Hamric, Ann B., Elizabeth G. Epstein, and Kenneth R. White. "Moral Distress and the Healthcare Organization." In *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, edited by Filerman, Mills, and Schyve, 121-136. Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014.

Hanna, Eve, Cecile Remuzat, Pascal Auquier, and Mondher Toumi. "Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products: Current and Future Perspectives." *Journal of Market Access and Health Policy* 4 (April 2016):1-10. doi: 10.3402/jmahp.v4.31036.

Hanna, Eve, Cecile Remuzat, Pascal Auquier, and Mondher Toumi. "Gene Therapies Development: Slow Progress and Promising Prospect." *Journal of Market Access and Health Policy* 2017 5, no.1 (January 2017):1-9. Doi: 10.1080/20016689.2017.1265293.

Hanna, Eve, Cecile Remuzat, Pascal Auquier, and Mondher Toumi. "Risk of Discontinuation of Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products Clinical Trials." *Journal of Market Access and Health Policy* 4 (August 2016):1-4. doi: 10.3402/jmahp.v4.32232.

Hauskeller, Michael. "The Moral Status of Post-Persons." *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no.2 (February 2013): 76-77. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-100837.

Health Care Consent Act, S.O.1996, c. 2, Sched. A (Ont).

Heidari, Raheleh, David Martin Shaw and Bernice Simone Elger. "CRISPR and the Rebirth of Synthetic Biology." *Science and Engineering Ethics* 23, no.2 (April 2017): 355-357. doi: 10.1007/s11948-016-9768-z.

Held, Virginia. *The Ethics of Care: Personal, Political, and Global*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006.

Hermann, Helena, and Manuel Trachsel, Nikola Biller-Andorno. "Physicians' Personal Values in Determining Medical Decision-Making Capacity: A Survey Study." *Journal of Medical Ethics*. 41, no.9 (September 2015): 739-44. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2014-102263.

Hessini, Leila. "Abortion and Islam: Policies and Practice in the Middle East and North Africa." *Reproductive Health Matters* 15, no.29 (May 2007): 75-84. doi: 10.1016/S0968-8080(06)29279-6.

Hohm, Carly and Jeremy Snyder. "It was the best decision of my life: a thematic content analysis of former medical tourists' patient testimonials." *BMC Medical Ethics* 16, no.8 (January 2015): 1-7. doi: 10.1186/1472-6939-16-8.

Holland, Stephen. Public Health Ethics. Cambridge: Polity Press, 2015.

Hughes, James J. "Moral Enhancement Requires Multiple Virtues: Toward a Posthuman model of Character Development." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.1 (January 2015):86-95. doi: 10.1017/S0963180114000334.

Human Fertilisation & Embryology Authority, "Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis (PGD)." Accessed December 1, 2020. <u>https://www.hfea.gov.uk/treatments/embryo-testing-and-treatments-for-disease/pre-implantation-genetic-diagnosis-pgd/</u>

Illhardt, Franz J. "Saying No to Patients with Alzheimer Disease: Rethinking Relations among Personhood, Autonomy, and World." in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, edited by Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, 200-217. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004.

Inhorn, Marcia and Pasquale Patrizio. "Infertility around the globe: New thinking on gender, reproductive technologies and global movements in the 21st century." *Human Reproduction Update* 21, no.4 (July-August 2015):411-26. Doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv016.

Ishii, Tetsuya. "Potential impact of human mitochondrial replacement on global policy regarding germline gene modification." *Reproductive Biomedicine Online* 29, no.2 (August 2014):150-155. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2014.04.001.

Jakobsen, Rasmus Kragh. "CRISPR clinical trials overview 2020" CRISPR Medicine News. Last modified April 8, 2020. <u>https://crisprmedicinenews.com/news/crispr-clinical-trials-overview-2020/</u>

Janssens, Louis. "Artificial Insemination: Ethical Considerations." *Louvain Studies* 8, no.1 (1999):3-29.

Janvier, Annie, Keith Barrington and Barbara Farlow, "Communication with parents concerning withholding or withdrawing of life-sustaining interventions in neonatology," *Seminars in Perinatology* 38, no.1 (February 2014):38-46. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2013.07.007.

Jiang, Boran, Arnold S.C. Tan, and Samuel S. Chong. "Molecular Strategies for preimplantation genetic diagnosis of single gene and chromosomal disorders." *Best Practice and Research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology.* 26, no.5 (October 2012):551-9, accessed February, 1, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2012.06.007.

Johns Hopkins University. "COVID-19 Dashboard by the Center for Systems Science and Engineering (CSSE) at Johns Hopkins University." Coronavirus Resource Center. Accessed February 17, 2021. <u>https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html</u>

Johnson, Craig E. *Organizational Ethics: A Practical Approach*. California: SAGE Publications Inc., 2016.

Johnson, Liza-Marie, Christopher L. Church, Monika Metzger, and Justin N. Baker, "Ethics Consultation in Pediatrics: Long-Term Experience from a Pediatric Oncology Center," *American Journal of Bioethics* 15, no.5 (2015):3-17. doi: 10.1080/15265161.2015.1021965.

Jonsen, Albert R. The Birth of Bioethics. New York: Oxford University Press, 1998.

Junkerman, Charles, Arthur Derse, and David Schiedermayer. *Practical Ethics for Students, Interns, and Residents: A Short Reference Manual*. Hagerstown: University Publishing Group, 2008.

Kang, Xiang Jin, Chiong Isabella Noelle Caparas, Boon Seng Soh, and Yong Fan. "Addressing challenges in the clinical applications associated with CRISPR/Cas9 technology and ethical questions to prevent its misuse." *Protein and Cell* 8, no.11 (2017):793-794. DOI 10.1007/s13238-017-0477-4

Kelley, Maureen and Cyan James, et.al., "Patient Perspectives on the Learning Health System: The Importance of Trust and Shared Decision Making." *American Journal of Bioethics*. 15, no.9 (2015):4-17. doi: 10.1080/15265161.2015.1062163.

Kelly, David F. *Medical Care at the End of Life: A Catholic Perspective*. Washington D.C: Georgetown University Press, 2006.

Kelly, David F., Gerard Magill, and Henk ten Have. *Contemporary Catholic Health Care Ethics*. Washington: Georgetown University Press, 2013.

Keto, Jaana, Jari Jokelainen, Markku Timonen, Kari Linden, and Tero Ylisaukko-oja. "Physicians Discuss the Risks of Smoking with their Patients, but Seldom Offer Practical Cessation Support." *Substance Abuse, Treatment, Prevention and Policy*. 10 (November 2015):43. doi: 10.1186/s13011-015-0039-9.

Khorfan, Rhami and Aasim I. Padela. "The Bioethical Concept of Life for Life in Judaism, Catholocism, and Islam: Aborion when the Mother's Life is in Danger." *Journal of IMA* 42, no.3 (November 2010): 99-105. Doi: 10.5915/42-3-5351.

Killen Jr., John Y. "HIV Research." In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 97-109. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Kim, Scott Y.H., Jason H. Karlawish, H. Myra Kim, Ian F. Wall, Andrea C. Bozoki, and Paul S. Appelbaum. "Preservation of the Capacity to Appoint a Proxy Decision Maker: Implications for Dementia Research." *Archives of General Psychiatry* 68, no.2 (February 2011): 214-20. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.191.

King, Nancy M.P. and Larry R. Churchill. "Assessing and Comparing Potential Benefits and Risks of Harm." In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Emanuel et.al., 514-526. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Klaver, Klaartje and Andries Baart. "How can Attending Physicians be more Attentive? On Being Attentive versus producing Attentiveness." *Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy* 19, no.3 (September 2016):351-359. Doi: 10.1007/s11019-015-9669-y.

Kleiderman, Erika and Ubaka Ogbogu. "Realigning gene editing with clinical research ethics: What the "CRISPR twins" debacle means for Chinese and international research ethics governance." *Accountability in Research* 26, no. 4 (May 2019): 261-262. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2019.1617138

Klevins, Joanne, Feijun Luo, Likang Xu, Cora Peterson, and Natasha E. Latzman, "Paid Family Leave's Effect on Hospital Admissions for Pediatric Abusive Head Trauma," *Injury Prevention* 22, no.6 (December 2016): 442-445. doi: 10.1136/injuryprev-2015-041702.

Klitzman, Robert, Paul S. Appelbaum, Wendy Chung, and Mark Sauer. "Anticipating issues related to increasing preimplantation genetic diagnosis use: a research agenda." *Reproductive Biomedicine Online*. 17 (2008): 33-42. doi: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60188-5.

Knapp, Caprice, Melanie Sberna-Hinojosa, Jacqueline Baron-Lee, Charlotte Curtis, and I-Chan Huang, "Does Decisional Conflict Differ Across Race and Ethnicity Group? A Study of Parents whose Children have a Life-Threatening Illness," *Journal of Palliative Medicine* 17, 5. (May 2014):559-567. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2013.0604.

Koch, Tom. "Enhancing Who? Enhancing What? Ethics, Bioethics, and Transhumanism." *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* 35, (December 2010): 685-699. Doi: 10.1093/jmp/jhq051.

Kohn, Nina A., "Matched Preferences and Values: A New Approach to Selecting Legal Surrogates." *San Diego Law Review*. 52 (September 2015): 399-425.

Kollek, Regine. "Consent." In *UNESCO Universal Declaration on Bioethics and Human Rights*, edited by Henk ten Have and Michele S. Jean, 123-138. Paris: UNESCO Publishing, 2009.

Kon, Alexander, Judy Davidson, Wynne Morrison, Marion Danis, and Douglas White, "Shared Decision Making in ICUs: An American College of Critical Care Medicine and American Thoracic Society Statement," *Critical Care Medicine* 44, no.1 (January 2016):188-201. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001396.

Kraetschmer, Nancy, Janak Jass, Cheryl Woodman, Irene Koo, Seija K. Kromm, Raisa B. Deber. "Hospitals' Internal Accountability." *Healthcare Policy* 10, spec issue (September 2014):36-44.

Krawietz, Birgit. "Brain Death and Islamic Traditions: Shifting Borders of Life?" In *Islamic Ethics of Life: Abortion, War, and Euthanasia*, edited by Jonathan E. Brockopp, 194-213. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2003.

Kukora, Stephanie and Naomi Laventhal, "Resident Attitudes on Ethical and Medical Decision-Making for Neonates at the Limit of Viability," *American Journal of Perinatology* 33, no.5 (April 2016):449-455. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1565916.

Kuthning, Maria and Ferdinand Hundt. "Aspects of Vulnerable Patients and Informed Consent in Clinical Trials." *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*. 11 (2013): Doc 03. doi: 10.3205/000171.

Lachman, Vicki D. "Conscientious Objection in Nursing: Definition and Criteria for Acceptance." *Medsurg Nursing* 23, no.3 (May-June 2014):196-198.

Lafreniere, Justin P., Rebecca Rios, Hillary Packer, Sharon Ghazarian, Scott M. Wright, and Rachel B. Levine. "Burned Out at the Bedside: Patient Perceptions of Physician Burnout in an Internal Medicine Resident Continuity Clinic." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 31, no.2 (February 2016):203-208. doi: 10.1007/s11606-015-3503-3.

LaVeist, Thomas, Darrell Gaskin, and Patrick Richard, "Estimating the Economic Burden of Racial Health Inequalities in the United States," *International Journal of Health Services* 41, no.2 (2011):231-238. doi: 10.2190/HS.41.2.c.

Ledford, Heidi. "CRISPR treatment inserted directly into the body for first time." *Nature* 579 (March 2020):185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-00655-8</u>

Ledford, Heidi. "Mini enzyme moves gene editing closer to the clinic." *Nature* 520, no. 7545 (April 2015):18. doi: 10.1038/520018a.

Levine, Carol. "Research Involving Economically Disadvantaged Participants." in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics* edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 431-436. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Levine, Robert J. "The Nature, Scope, and Justification of Clinical Research: What Is Research? Who Is a Subject?" in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics* edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 211-221. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Liao, S. Matthew. "Health (care) and human rights: a fundamental conditions approach." *Theoretical medicine and bioethics*. 37, no.4 (August 2016):259-74. doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9373-9.

Liemen, Harry J. and Andrzej K. Breborowicz, "Sex Selection for Family Balancing." *Virtual Mentor* 16, no.10 (October 2014):797-802. doi: 10.1001/virtualmentor.2014.16.10.ecas3-1410.

Lo, Bernard. *Resolving Clinical Dilemmas: A Guide for Clinicians*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2013.

Lo, Bernard and Nesrin Garan. "Research with Ethnic and Minority Populations." in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics* edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 423-430. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Lobo, Rebecca and Garnett Genuis. "Socially repugnant or the standard of care: Is there a distinction between sex-selective and ability-selective abortion?" *Canadian Family Physician* 60, no.3 (March 2014):212-216.

Lysaught, M. Therese. "Ritual and Practice." In *Dying in the Twenty-First Century: Toward a New Ethical Framework for the Art of Dying Well* edited by Lydia Dugdale, 67-86. Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2005.

Mackler, Aaron. *Introduction to Jewish and Catholic Bioethics: A Comparative Analysis*. Washington: Georgetown University Press, 2003.

Magee-Women's Hospital of UPMC, "In Vitro Fertilization." Accessed April 1, 2016. <u>http://www.upmc.com/locations/hospitals/magee/services/center-for-fertility-and-reproductive-endocrinology/treatment/Pages/in-vitro-fertilization.aspx</u>.

Maia, Sammya Bezerra, Holanda Moura, Stefan Charles Kane, and Fabricio Da Silva Costa. "Pre-implantation genetic screening and diagnosis: what doctors should know." *Revista brasileira de ginecologia e obstetricia*. 37, no.2 (February 2015):53-58 doi: 10.1590/SO100-720320140004963.

Mallia, Pierre. "Problems Faced with Legislating for IVF Technology in a Roman Catholic Country." *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy* 13, no.1 (February 2010): 77-87. Doi: 10.1007/s11019-009-9224-9.

Malmqvist, Erik. "Reproductive Choice, Enhancement, and the Moral Continuum Argument." *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* 39, no.1 (February 2014):41-54. doi:10.1093/jmp/jht058.

March, Raymond J. "Why this new gene therapy drug costs \$2.1 million." *Foundation for Economic Education*, June 3, 2019. <u>https://fee.org/articles/why-this-new-gene-therapy-drug-costs-21-million/</u>

Mariscal, Carlos and Angel Petropanagos. "CRISPR as a Driving Force: the Model T of Biotechnology." *Monash Bioethics Review* 34, no.2 (June 2016):101-116. Doi: 10.1007/s40592-016-0062-2.

Matheny Antommaria, Armand H. "Conscientious Objection: Widening the Temporal and Organizational Horizons." *Journal of Clinical Ethics* 27, no.3 (Fall 2016): 248-250.

Matthews, Kristin R.W. and Erin H. Yang. "Politics and Policies Guiding Human Embryo Research in the United States." Centre for Health and Biosciences, Rice University's Baker Institute for Public Policy. Last modified January 2019.

https://www.bakerinstitute.org/media/files/files/a9096889/chb-pub-greenwall-hesc-011519.pdf

Mathewson Denny, Frederick. "Muslim Ethical Trajectories in the Contemporary Period." In Schweiker (ed.): *The Blackwell Companion to Religious Ethics*, Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2005, 268-277.

Mauron, Alex. "Choosing among possible persons: The ethics of prenatal selection in the postgenomic age." *Comptes Rendus Biologies* 338, no.8-9 (Aug-Sept 2015):566-70. doi: 10.1016/j.crvi.2015.07.004.

May, Carl R. "Making Sense of Technology Adoption in Healthcare: Meso-Level considerations." *BMC Medicine* 13 (April 2015):92. Doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0305-8.

McCarthy, Birdie. "Patients' Perceptions of how Healthcare Providers Communicate with them and their Families Following a Diagnosis of Colorectal Cancer and Undergoing Chemotherapy Treatment." *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*. 18, no.5 (October 2015): 452-458. doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2014.05.004.

McCarthy, Michael. "Patient Safety took Second Place to Research Needs at NIH Hospital, report says." *BMJ (Clinical Research ed.)* 353 (April 2016):i2376. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i2376.

McCombe, K., and Bogod D.G. "Paternalism and Consent: Has the Law Finally Caught up with the Profession?" *Anaesthesia*. 70, no.9 (September 2015): 1016-1019. doi:10.1111/anae.13210.

McMurtrie, Stephanie M., Sandra G. García, Kate S. Wilson, Claudia Diaz Olavarrieta, and Gillian M. Fawcett. "Public Opinion about Abortion-related Stigma among Mexican Catholics and Implications for Unsafe Abortion." *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 118, no.2 (September 2012): 160-166. doi: 10.1016/S0020-7292(12)60016-2.

McGowan, Michelle L. and Richard R. Sharpe. "Justice in the context of family balancing." *Science Technology and Human Values* 38, no.2 (March 2013):1-15. doi: 10.1177/0162243912469412.

McLean, David, Dan Williams, Sonia Lamont, and Hans Krueger. *Community Based Prevention: Reducing the Risk of Cancer and Chronic Disease*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2013.

Meltzer, Leslie A. and James F. Childress. "What is Fair Participant Selection?" In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 377-385. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Menzel, Paul T. and Bonnie Steinbock. "Advance Directives, Dementia, and Physician-Assisted Death." *The Journal of Law, Medicine, and Ethics* 41, no.2 (Summer 2013): 484-500. Doi: 10.1111/jlme.12057.

Merrick, Janna C. "Death and Dying: The American Experience." In *End-of-Life Decision Making: A Cross-National Study* edited by Janna C. Merrick and Robert H. Blank, 219-241.Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2005.

Merrick, Janna C. and Robert H. Blank, eds. *End-of-Life Decision Making: A Cross-National Study*. Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2005.

Merten, Otto-Wilhelm and Mohamed Al-Rubeai (eds.) Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy: Methods and Protocols. New York: Humana Press, 2011.

Michalowski, Sabine, "Reversal of Fortune – ReA(Conjoined Twins) and beyond: who should make treatment decisions on behalf of young children," *Health Law Journal* 9 (2001):149-169.

Milgram, Rabbi Goldie, "When does life begin: A Jewish View," *Reclaiming Judaism*. <u>http://www.reclaimingjudaism.org/teachings/when-does-life-begin-jewish-view.</u>

Mills, Ann E. "Ethics and the Healthcare Organization." In *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, edited by Gary Filerman, Ann. E. Mills, and Paul P. Schyve, 19-50. Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014.

Mitchell, Susan L. "Palliative Care of Patients with Advanced Dementia." *UpToDate*. November 22, 2019. <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/palliative-care-of-patients-with-advanced-dementia.</u>

Moosa, Ebrahim. "Muslim Ethics?" In *The Blackwell Companion to Religious Ethics* edited by William Schweiker, 237-243. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2005.

Mullin, Emily. "Tracking the cost of gene therapy." *MIT Technology Review*, October 24, 2017. <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/2017/10/24/148183/tracking-the-cost-of-gene-therapy/</u>

Mulvihill, John J., Benjamin Capps, Yann Joly, Tamra Lysaught, Hub A.E. Zwart, and Ruth Chadwick. "Ethical Issues of CRISPR Technology and Gene Editing Through the Lens of Solidarity." *British Medical Bulletin* 122, no.1 (June 2017):1-13. Doi: 10.1093/bmb/ldx002.

Murphy, Timothy F. "The Ethics of Impossible and Possible Changes to Human Nature." *Bioethics* 26, no.4 (May 2012):191-197. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8519.2010.01851.x.

Mytton, Oliver T., Adriana Velazquez, Reiner Banken, Joseph L. Matthew, Tuija S. Ikonen, Kevin Taylor, Frank Painter, Rachel Jean-Baptiste, Albert Poon, and Enrique Ruelas. "Introducing New Technology Safely." *Quality & Safety in Health Care* 19, Suppl 2 (August 2010):i9-14. doi: 10.1136/qshc.2009.038554.

National Abortion Federation. "Abortion After 12 weeks." Last modified 2003 <u>https://5aa1b2xfmfh2e2mk03kk8rsx-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/abortion_after_12_weeks.pdf</u>

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. *Human Genome Editing: Science, Ethics and Governance*. Washington: National Academies Press, 2017.

National Conference of State Legislatures. "Embryonic and Fetal Research Laws." Last modified January 1, 2016. http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/embryonic-and-fetal-research-laws.aspx.

National District Attorneys Association. *Minor Consent to Medical Treatment Laws*. 2013. <u>https://ndaa.org/wp-content/uploads/Minor-Consent-to-Medical-Treatment-2.pdf</u>

Navidi, W. and Arnheim, N., "Using PCR in preimplantation genetic disease diagnosis." *Human Reproduction* 7, no.2 (February 1992):288. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a137635.

Ndebele, Paul. "Research Ethics." In *The SAGE Handbook of Healthcare Ethics: Core and Emerging Issues*, edited by Ruth Chadwick, Henk ten Have, and Eric Meslin, 306-325. Los Angeles: SAGE, 2011.

Neuhaus, Carolyn P. and Rachel L. Zacharias. "Compassionate use of gene therapies in pediatrics: An ethical analysis." *Seminars in Perinatology* 42, no.8 (December 2018):508-514. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2018.09.010.

Ngwena, Charles G., Eunice Brookman-Amissah, and Patty Skuster. "Human Rights Advances in Women's Reproductive Health in Africa." *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 129, no.2 (May 2015): 184-187. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.02.001

Nicol, Dianne, Lisa Eckstein, Michael Morrison, Jacob S. Sherkow, Margaret Otlowski, Tess Whitton, Tania Bubela et.al. "Key challenges in bringing CRISPR-mediated somatic cell therapy into the clinic." Genome Medicine 9, no.1 (September 2017): 1-2, DOI 10.1186/s13073-017-0475-4.

NIH U.S. National Library of Medicine Clinical Trials Database (clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT03872479; Accessed March 1, 2020). <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03872479</u>

NIH U.S. National Library of Medicine Clinical Trials Database (clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT03745287; accessed March 1, 2020).

https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03745287?term=NCT03745287&draw=2&rank=1

Nuffield Council on Bioethics. Public Health: Ethical Issues. London, 2007.

O'Brien, George Dennis. *The Church and Abortion: A Catholic Dissent*. Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc., 2010.

O'Brien, Richard L. "Darkness Cometh: Personal, Social, and Economic Burdens of Alzheimer Disease." in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, edited by Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, 7-23. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004.

O'Rourke, Kevin D. *Medical Ethics: Sources of Catholic Teachings*. Washington: Georgetown University Press, 1993.

October, Tessie, Kiondra Fisher, Chris Feudtner, and Pamela S. Hinds, "The Parent Perspective: 'Being a Good Parent' when making critical decisions in the PICU," *Pediatric Critical Care Medicine* 15, no. 4 (May 2014): 291-298. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000000076.

Oliver, Paul. The Student's Guide to Research Ethics. New York: Open University Press, 2010.

Oregon Health Authority. "Death with Dignity Act." O.R.S. 127.865. (1997).

Ormond, Kelly E., Douglas P. Mortlock, Derek T. Scholes, Yvonne Bombard, Lawrence C. Brody, W. Andrew Faucett, Nanibaa' A. Garrison, et.al. "Human Germline Genome Editing."

American Journal of Human Genetics 101, no. 2 (August 2017):167-176. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.06.012.

Paulsen, Jens Erik. "A Narrative Ethics of Care." *Health Care Analysis* 19, no.1 (March 2011):28-40. Doi: 10.1007/s10728-010-0162-8.

Pauly, Mark V. "Competition and New Technology." *Health Affairs* 24, no.6 (Nov-Dec 2005):1523-1535. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.24.6.1523.

Peckham, Stephen, and Alison Hann (eds.). *Public Health Ethics and Practice*. Bristol: Policy Press, 2010.

Pellegrino, Edmund D. "Benefit and Harm." In *UNESCO Universal Declaration on Bioethics and Human Rights*, edited by Henk ten Have and Michele S. Jean, 99-110. Paris: UNESCO Publishing, 2009.

Persson, Ingmar, and Julian Savalescu. "Should Moral Enhancement be Compuslory? A response to Vojin Rakic." *Journal of Medical Ethics* 40, no. 4(April 2014): 251-252. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2013-101423.

Pettersen, Tove. "The Ethics of Care: Normative Structures and Empirical Implications." *Health Care Analysis* 19, no.1 (March 2011):51-64. Doi: 10.1007/s10728-010-0163-7.

Porter, Joan P. and Greg Koski. "Regulations for the Protection of Humans in Research in the United States: The Common Rule." In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al.,156-166. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Powell, Russell. "In Genes We Trust: Germline Engineering, Eugenics, and the Future of the Human Genome." *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* 40, no.6 (December 2015): 669-695. Doi: 10.1093/jmp/jhv025.

Powell, Russell. "The Biomedical Enhancement of Moral Status." *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no.2 (February 2013):65-66. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-101312.

Pronovost, Peter J., Michael Armstrong, Renee Demski, Tiffany Callender, Laura Winner, Marlene R. Miller, J. Matthew Austin et.al. "Creating a High-Reliability Health Care System: Improving Performance on Core Processes of Care at Johns Hopkins Medicine." *Academic Medicine* 90, no.2 (February 2015):165-172. Doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000000610.

Purtilo, Ruth B. and Henk ten Have. (eds.): *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004.

Racine, Andrew, "Child Poverty and the Health Care System," *Academic Pediatrics* 3suppl (April 2016):S83-89. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2015.12.002.

Rakic, Vojin and James Hughes. "Reflections on Moral Enhancement: Can we? Should we?" *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.1(January 2015): 3-6. doi: 10.1017/S0963180114000267.

Rakic Vojin. "We Must Create Beings with Moral Standing Superior to our own." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.1 (January 2015): 58-65. doi: 10.1017/S0963180114000309.

Regalado, Antonio. "Chinese scientists are creating CRISPR babies. *MIT Technology Review*, November 25, 2018. <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/s/612458/exclusive-chinese-scientists-are-creating-crispr-babies/</u>

Reidy, David A. "A Right to Health Care? Participatory Politics, Progressive Policy, and the Price of Loose Language." *Theoretical medicine and bioethics* 37, no.4 (August 2016):323-342. doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9370-z.

Reinhart, A. Kevin. "Origins of Islamic Ethics: Foundations and Constructions." In Schweiker (ed.): *The Blackwell Companion to Religious Ethics*, Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2005, 244-253.

Rich, Ben A. "Your Morality, My Morality: Conscientious Objection and the Standard of Care." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 24, no.2 (April 2015): 214-230. doi: 10.1017/S0963180114000528.

Rispler-Chaim, Vardit. "Genetic Engineering in Contemporary Islamic Thought." *Science in Context* 11, no.3-4 (Autumn-Winter 1998):567-73. doi: 10.1017/s0269889700003215.

Roduit, Johann A.R., Jan-Christoph Heilinger, and Holger Baumann. "Ideas of Perfection and the Ethics of Human Enhancement." *Bioethics* 29, no.9 (November 2015):622-630. doi: 10.1111/bioe.12192.

Rogers, Wendy and Yishai Mintzker. "General Practice Ethics: Overdiagnosis, Harm and Paternalism." *Australian Family Physician.* 44, no.10 (October 2015): 765-766.

Rorty, Mary V. "Introduction to Ethics." In *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, edited by Gary Filerman, Ann E. Mills, and Paul P. Schyve, 1-18. Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014.

Rosenstein, Donald L. and Franklin G. Miller. "Research Involving Those at Risk for Impaired Decision-Making Capacity." in *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics* edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 437-445. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Rothstein, Mark A., "Autonomy and Paternalism in Health Policy." *The Journal of Law, Medicine, and Ethics.* 42, no.4 (2014): 590-594. doi: 10.1111/jlme.12178.

Ruibal, Alba. "Movement and Counter-movement: A History of Abortion Law Reform and the Backlash in Colombia 2006-2014." *Reproductive Health Matters* 22, no.44 (November 2014): 42-51. Doi: 10.1016/S0968-8080(14)44803-1.

Sachedina, Abdulaziz. *Islamic Biomedical Ethics: Principles and Application*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2009.

Sachedina, Abdulaziz. "Islamic Ethics: Differentiations." In *The Blackwell Companion to Religious Ethics* edited by William Schweiker, 254-267.Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2005.

Samuël, Julie, Bartha Maria Knoppers and Denise Avard. "Medical Research Involving Children: A Review of International Policy Statements." In *The SAGE Handbook of Healthcare Ethics: Core and Emerging Issues*, edited by Ruth Chadwick, Henk ten Have, and Eric M. Meslin, 261-277. SAGE, Los Angeles, 2011.

Sandler, Ronald L. (ed.). *Ethics and Emerging Technologies*. London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2014.

Santoro, Maya, Charles Van Liew, Breanna Holloway, Symone McKinnon, Timothy Little, and Terry Cronan, "Honor thy parents: An ethnic multigroup analysis of filial responsibility, health perceptions, and caregiving decisions," *Research on Aging* 38, no.6 (August 2016):665-688. doi: 10.1177/0164027515598349.

Sargeant, Jonathon, and Deborah Harcourt. *Doing Ethical Research with Children*. New York: Open University Press, 2012.

Sasongko, Teguh H., Abd Razak Salmi, Bin Alwi Zilfalil, Mohammed Ali Albar, and Zabidi Azhar Mohd Hussin. "Permissibility of Prenatal Diagnosis and Abortion for Fetuses with Severe Genetic Disorder: Type I Spinal Muscular Atrophy." *Annals of Saudi Medicine* 30, no.6 (nov-Dec 2010): 427-431. Doi: 10.4103/0256-4947.72259.

Schaefer, G. Bradley, and James N. Thompson (eds.). *Medical Genetics: An Integrated Approach*. McGraw Hill, 2014.

Schotsmans, Paul. "Personalism in Medical Ethics." Ethical Perspectives 6, no.1 (1999):10-20.

Schulman, J.D. and H.J. Stern. "Low utilization of prenatal and preimplantation genetic diagnosis in Huntington disease – risk discounting in preventive genetics." *Clinical Genetics* 88, no.3 (September 2015):220-223 doi:10.1111/cge.12523.

Schur, Claudia L. and Marc L. Berk. "Views on Health Care Technology: Americans Consider the Risks and Sources of Information." *Health Affairs* 27, no.6 (Nov-Dec 2008):1654-1664. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.27.6.1654.

Schwartz, Sheree R. and Stefan Baral. "Fertility-Related Research Needs Among Women at the Margins." *Reproductive Health Matters.* 23, no.45 (May 2015): 30-46. doi:0.1016/j.rhm.2015.06.006.

Schweiker, William, ed. *The Blackwell Companion to Religious Ethics*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2005.

Selgelid, Michael J. "Moderate Eugenics and Human Enhancement." *Medicine, Healthcare, and Philosophy* 17, no.1 (February 2014): 3-12. doi: 10.1007/s11019-013-9485-1.

Selling, Joseph. "Is a Personalist Ethic Necessarily Anthropocentric?" *Ethical Perspectives* 6, no 1 (1999): 60-66.

Serour, G.I. "Islamic Perspectives in Human Reproduction." *Reproductive Medicine Online* 17, no.3 (2008): 34-38. doi: 10.1016/s1472-6483(10)60328-8.

Servick, Kelly. "First U.S. Team to Gene-Edit Human Embryos Revealed." *Science*, July 27, 2017. Accessed July 28, 2017. http://www.sciencemag.org/news/2017/07/first-us-team-gene-edit-human-embryos-revealed.

Shalowitz, David I., Elizabeth Garrett-Mayer, and David Wendler. "The Accuracy of Surrogate Decision Makers." *Archives of Internal Medicine* 166, no.5 (March 2006):493-497. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.5.493.

Shanner, Laura. "The Right to Procreate: When Rights Claims Go Wrong." *McGill Law Journal* 40, no.4 (August 1995): 823-874.

Sharma, Akshay, Manu Easow Mathew, Vasumathi Sriganesh, and Ulrike M. Reiss. "Gene Therapy for Haemophilia." *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 4, no.4 (April 2016):1-16. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010822.pub3.

Shaw, Alison. "They say Islam has a solution for everything, so why are there no guidelines for this?: Ethical Dilemmas Associated with the Births and Deaths of Infants with Fatal Abnormalities from a small sample of Pakistani Muslim couplies in Britain." *Bioethics* 26, no.9 (November 2012): 485-492. Doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8519.2011.01883.x.

Shaw, Charles D. "How can healthcare standards be standardised?" *BMJ* quality & safety. 24, no.10 (October 2015):15-9. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2015-003955.

Sheppard, Maria Kreszentia. "Vulnerability, Therapeutic Misconception and Informed Consent: is there a Need for Special Treatment of Pregnant Women in Fetus-Regarding Clinical Trials?" *Journal of Medical Ethics* 42, no.2 (February 2016):127-131. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2014-102595.

Siegel, Andrew M., Dominic A. Sisti, and Arthur L. Caplan. "Pediatric Euthanasia in Belgium: Disturbing Developments." *JAMA* 311, no.19 (May 2014):1963-1964. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.4257.

Smith, Stephen W. "The Killing of Severely Disabled Newborns: The Spectre Behind the Legalisation of Physician-Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia." *Medicine and Law* 24, no.4 (December 2005):791-802.

Snyder, Jeremy, Valorie A. Crooks, Rory Johnston, Krystyna Adams, and Rebecca Whitmore. "Medical Tourism's Impact on Health Worker Migration in the Caribbean: five examples and their implications for global justice." *Global Health Action* 8 (April 2015):27348. doi: 10.3402/gha.v8.27348.

Sorhaindo, Annik M., Clara Juárez-Ramírez, Claudia Díaz Olavarrieta, Evelyn Aldaz, María Consuelo Mejía Piñeros, and Sandra Garcia. "Qualitative Evidence on Abortion Stigma from Mexico City and Five States in Mexico." *Women and Health* 54, no.7 (2014):622-640. Doi: 10.1080/03630242.2014.919983.

Sreenivasan, Gopal. "Health care and human rights: against the split duty gambit." *Theoretical medicine and bioethics*. 37, no.4 (August 2016):343-64, doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9375-7.

Stafford, Mai, Diana L. Kuh, Catharine R. Gale, Gita Mishra, and Marcus Richard, "Parent-child relationships and offspring's mental wellbeing from adolescence to early older age," *The Journal of Positive Psychology* 11, no. 3 (May 2016):326-337. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2015.1081971.

Steinbock, Bonnie. "Designer babies: choosing our children's genes." *The Lancet.* 372, no.9646 (October 2008):1294-1295. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61538-X

Sulmasy, Daniel P., "Heart and Soul: The Case of the Conjoined Twins," *America* 183, no.18 (2000):12-14.

Swart, Reece P., Ronel Pretorius, and Hester Klopper. "Educational Background of Nurses and their Perceptions of the Quality and Safety of Patient Care." *Curationis* 38, no.1 (April 2015):1126. doi: 10.4102/curationis.v38i1.1126.

Takala, Tuija. "Concepts of "person" and "liberty," and their implications to our fading notions of autonomy." *Journal of Medical Ethics*. 33, no.4 (April 2007): 225-228. doi: 10.1136/jme.2006.016816.

Tasioulas, John and Effy Vayena. "The place of human rights and the common good in global health policy." *Theoretical Medicine and bioethics*. 37, no.4 (August 2016):365-82, doi: 10.1007/s11017-016-9372-x.

Ten Have, Henk. Global Bioethics: An Introduction. London: Routledge, 2016.

Ten Have, Henk. Vulnerability: Challenging bioethics. London: Routledge, 2016.

Ten Have, Henk A.M.J. and Michele S. Jean, eds. *The UNESCO Universal Declaration on Bioethics and Human Rights: Background, principles and application*. Paris: UNESCO Publishing, 2009.

Ter Meulen, Rund. "Ethics of Care." In *The SAGE Handbook of Healthcare Ethics: Core and Emerging Issues* edited by Ruth Chadwick, Henk ten Have, and Eric M. Meslin, 39-48. SAGE, Los Angeles, 2011.

"The Washington Death with Dignity Act," H.R. 70.245. (2009).

The World Factbook. "Turkey: People and Society." Central Intelligence Agency. Last modified March 1, 2021. <u>https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/turkey/#people-and-society</u>

The World Factbook. "United States." Central Intelligence Agency. Last modified March 1, 2021. <u>https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/united-states/</u>

Thomasma, David C. and Thomasine Kushner. "A Dialogue on Compassion and Supererogation in Medicine." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 4, no.4 (Fall 1995):415-425. doi: 10.1017/s096318010000623x.

Tintino, Giorgio. "From Darwinian to Technological Evolution: Forgetting the Human Lottery." *Cuadernos de bioetica* 25, no.85 (Sept-Dec 2014): 387-95.

Tobin, Bernadette, "When doctors and parents disagree: A recent example of morally appropriate collaboration between parents, doctors, and the court," *Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health* 50, no.8 (August 2014):586-587. doi: 10.1111/jpc.12681.

Tricouncil Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, "Research involving materials related to human reproduction," *Government of Canada Panel on Research Ethics*.

Tronto, Joan C. *Moral Boundaries: A Political Argument for an Ethic of Care*. London: Routledge, 1993.

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division. "Reproductive Rights." Accessed December 1, 2016.

http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/theme/rights/

University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine. "CRISPR-edited CAR T cells enhance fight against blood cancers." *Science Daily*. December 7, 2020. https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2020/12/201207161535.htm

Upshur, Ross. "What does it mean to 'know' a disease? The tragedy of XDR-TB." In *Public Health Ethics and Practice* edited by Stephen Peckham and Alison Hann, 51-64. Bristol: Policy Press, 2010.

Van Bogaert, Louis-Jacques. "The Right to Procreate – Freedom and Necessity." *South African Medical Journal* 95, no.1 (January 2005): 32-34.

Vandrunen, David. *Bioethics and the Christian Life: A Guide to Making Difficult Decisions*. Illinois: Crossway Books, 2009.

Vanlaere, Linus and Chris Gastmans. "A Personalist Approach to Care Ethics." *Nursing Ethics* 18, no.2 (March 2011):161-173. doi: 10.1177/0969733010388924.

Van Nistelrooij, Inge and Carlo Leget. "Against Dichotomies: On Mature Care and Self-Sacrifice in Care Ethics." *Nursing Ethics* 24, no.6 (September 2017): 1-10. doi: 10.1177/0969733015624475.

Verweij, Marcel and Angus Dawson. "The Meaning of 'Public' in 'Public Health." In *Ethics, Prevention, and Public Health,* edited by Angus Dawson and Marcel Verweij, 13-29. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007.

Vizcarrondo, Felipe E. "Human Enhancement: The New Eugenics." *The Linacre Quarterly* 81, no.3 (August 2014): 239-243. doi: 10.1179/2050854914Y.0000000021.

Volicer, Ladislav, "End-of-Life Care for People with Dementia in Residential Care Settings." *Alzheimer's Association*, 2005.

Votteler, Theodore P. and Katherine Lipsky. "Long Term Results of 10 Conjoined Twin Separations." *Journal of Pediatric Surgery* 40, no.4 (April 2005):618-629. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2004.12.011.

Vrakking, Astrid M., Agnes van der Heide, Bregje D. Onwuteaka-Philipsen, Paul J. van der Maas, and Gerrit van der Wal. "Regulating Physician-Assisted Dying for Minors in the Netherlands: Views of Paediatricians and Other Physicians." *Acta Paediatrica* 96, no.1 (January 2007):117-121.

Wachter, Robert M. Understanding Patient Safety. New York: McGraw Hill, 2011.

Wallenhorst, John F. "Ethics and Governance." In *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare* edited by Gary Filerman, Ann E. Mills, and Paul P. Schyve, 51-78. Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014.

Wallner, Paul E. and Andre Konski. "A Changing Study in the Paradigm in the Study and Adoption of Emerging Health Care Technologies: Coverage with Evidence Development." *Journal of the American College of Radiology* 5, no.11 (November 2008):1125-1129. Doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2008.06.008.

Walter, James J. and Thomas A. Shannon. *Contemporary Issues in Bioethics*. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers Inc., 2005.

Warnock, James N., Claire Daigre, and Mohamed Al-Rubeai. "Introduction to Viral Vectors." In *Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy: Methods and Protocols*, edited by Otto-Wilhelm Merten and Mohamed Al-Rubeai, 1-25. New York: Humana Press, 2011.

Wasserman, David. "Better Parenting through Biomedical Modification: A Case for Pluralism, Deference, and Charity." *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal* 27, no.2 (2017): 217-247. doi: 10.1353/ken.2017.0016.

Wasserman, David. "Devoured by our own Children: The Possibility and Peril of Moral Status Enhancement." *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39, no.2 (February 2013): 78-79. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-100843.

Watson, Rory. "Belgium Extends Euthanasia Law to Children." *BMJ* 348 (February 2014):g1633. Doi: 10.1136/bmj.g1633.

Weinick, Robin and Nancy Krauss, "Racial/Ethnic Differences in Children's Access to Care," <u>American Journal of Public Health 90, no.11 (November 2000):1171-1174.</u> doi: 10.2105/ajph.90.11.1771.

Weinstock, Donna, "Deer in the Headlights: Improving Patient Literacy," *The Journal of Medical Practice Management* 30, no.4 (Jan-Feb 2015):273-275.

Weisberg, Steven M., Daniel Badgio and Anjan Chatterjee. "A CRISPR New World: Attitudes in the Public toward Innovations in Human Genetic Modification." Frontiers in Public Health 5, no.117 (May 2017): 1-9. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00117.

Welch, Mary Jane, Rachel Lally, Jennifer E. Miller, Stephanie Pittman, Lynda Brodsky, Arthur L. Caplan, Gina Uhlenbrauck, Darcy M Louzao, James H. Fischer, and Benjamin Wilfond. "The ethics and regulatory landscape of including vulnerable populations in pragmatic clinical trials." *Clinical Trials* 12, no.5 (October 2015):503-510. Accessed April 10, 2017. doi:10.1177/1740774515597701.

Welie, Jos V.M. "Sympathy as the Basis of Compassion." *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* 4, no.4 (Fall 1995):476-487. doi: 10.1017/s0963180100006307.

Welie, Jos V.M. "The Tendency of Contemporary Decision-making Strategies to Deny the Condition of Alzheimer Disease." in *Ethical Foundations of Palliative Care for Alzheimer Disease*, edited by Ruth B. Purtilo and Henk ten Have, 163-180. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004.

Wendler, D., S. Shah, A. Whittle, and B.S. Wilfond. "Non-beneficial Research with Individuals who cannot Consent: Is it Ethically Better to Enroll Healthy or Affected Individuals?" *IRB: A Review of Human Subjects Research.* 25, no.4(2003):1-4.
Wendler, David and Franklin G. Miller. "Risk-Benefit Analysis and the Net Risks Test." In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 503-513. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Werhane, Patricia H. "The Healthcare Organization, Business Ethics, and Stakeholder Theory." In *Managerial Ethics in Healthcare*, edited by Gary Filerman, Ann E. Mills, and Paul P. Schyve, 79-94. Chicago: Health Administration Press, 2014.

Wertheimer, Alan. "Exploitation in Clinical Research." In *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*, edited by Ezekiel Emanuel et.al., 201-210. Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Whetstine, Leslie M. "Ethical challenges in assisted reproduction: the place of preimplantation genetic diagnosis in a just society." *Journal of Child Neurology*. 30, no.5 (April 2015):547-50. doi: 10.1177/0883073813511151.

"Why Don't Jehovah's Witnesses Accept Blood Transfusions?" accessed April 20, 2016. https://www.jw.org/en/jehovahs-witnesses/faq/jehovahs-witnesses-why-no-blood-transfusions/

Wikler, Daniel and Dan W. Brock. "Population-level Bioethics: Mapping a New Agenda." In *Ethics, Prevention, and Public Health,* edited by Angus Dawson and Marcel Verweij, 78-94. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007.

Woodson, Ashley. H., Kimberly I. Muse, Heather Lin, Michelle Jackson, Danielle N. Mattair, Leslie Schover, Terri Woodard et al. "Breast Cancer, BRCA Mutations, And Attitudes Regarding Pregnancy And Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis". *The Oncologist* 19, no.8 (August 2014): 797-804. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0057.

Wong, Chi Heem, Dexin Li, Nina Wang, Jonathan Gruber, Rena Corti, and Andrew W. Lo. "Estimating the Financial Impact of Gene Therapy." *Medrxiv* (2017):1-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.27.20220871</u>.

Woolf, Steven H., Steven Jonas and Evonne Kaplan-Liss. *Health Promotion and Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008.

World Health Organization. "Access and Allocation: How will there be fair and equitable allocation of limited supplies?" Last modified January 12, 2021. <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/access-and-allocation-how-will-there-be-fair-and-equitable-allocation-of-limited-supplies</u>

World Health Organization. "Human Rights." Accessed February 10, 2017. https://www.who.int/topics/human_rights/en/

Worthen, Larry. "Statement on Court Ruling January 31, 2018." Canadian Federation of Catholic Physicians and Surgeons, Last modified February 1, 2018. https://canadiancatholicphysicians.com/statement-on-court-ruling-jan-31-2018/ Xafis, Vicki, Dominic Wilkinson, and Jane Sullivan, "What Information do Parents Need when Facing End-of-Life Decisions for their Child? A meta-synthesis of parental feedback," *BMC Palliative Care* 14 (April 2015):19. doi: 10.1186/s12904-015-0024-0.

Zapka, Jane, and Elaine Amella, Gayenell Magwood, Mohan Madisetti, Donald Garrow, Melissa Batchelor-Aselage. "Challenges in efficacy research: the case of feeding alternatives in patients with dementia." *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 70, no.9 (September 2014): 2072-85. doi:10.1111/jan.12365.

Zarkowsky, Harold. "Managed Care Organizations' Assessment of Reimbursement for New Technology, Procedures, and Drugs." *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine* 123, no.8 (August 1999): 677-679. doi: 10.1043/0003-9985(1999)123<0677:MCOAOR>2.0.CO;2.

Zhang, Feng, Yan Wen, and Xiong Guo. "CRISPR/Cas9 for genome editing: progress, implications and challenges." *Human Molecular Genetics* 23 R1 (September 2014):40-46. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu125.

Zimmerman, Kanecia, Daniel Gonzalez, Geeta K. Swamy, and Michael Cohen-Wolkowiez. "Pharmacologic Studies in Vulnerable Populations: Using the Pediatric Experience." *Seminars in Perinatology*. 39, no.7 (November 2015):532-536. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2015.08.007.